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18/12 – COUNCILLOR INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
 

Reference:   File No. F23.00 
Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate and Community 
 

PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide information to the Councillors on changes 
to the Local Government Regulation which will require General Managers to 
deliver induction and professional development programs that will help Mayors 
and Councillors acquire and maintain the knowledge and skills necessary to 
perform their roles. Mayors and Councillors have a reciprocal obligation to 
participate in these programs.  
 

Each Council is required to publicly report on the activities offered to the Mayor 
and Councillors as part of the Council’s induction and professional development 
programmes and their participation in those activities. 
 

REPORT 
 

The Consultation draft sets out the benefits of a professional development 
program for Mayors and Councillors including: 

 representing their communities to the best of their ability 
 feeling confident and supported in their roles 
 making decisions based on a full understanding of the key issues and 

consequences 
 Improved performance of council overall 
 Greater understanding of and compliance with, legal responsibilities 
 Better management of the Council’s finances and resources and, 
 Developing skills and knowledge that they can take into their personal and 

professional lives. 
 

Council is required to enshrine its commitment to the ongoing professional 
development of the Mayor and Councillors. 
 

As part of Council’s professional development program, council should develop 
a professional development plan for the Mayor and the Councillors. The 
professional development plan is informed by a needs analysis or and assessment 
of each Councillor’s skills and knowledge gaps.  Local Government NSW have 
developed a framework on the skills and knowledge required by Councillors and 
Mayors. (Appendix G of Attachment 1).   
 

The skills they have identified for Councillors are: 
 Leadership 
 Communication and working with others 
 Ethical conduct and accountability 
 Governance 
 Strategic Planning 
 Decision-making 
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 Land Use Planning and regulatory Functions 
 Financial Management 
 Environment and Asset Management 

 

Mayors and Councillors are ultimately accountable to the community that elects 
them for the performance of their functions.  For this reason, Councils are required 
to publicly report on the activities offered to the Mayor and Councillors as part of 
induction and professional development programs and their participation in those 
activities. 
 

STATUTORY PROVISIONS 
 

 Local Government Act  
 

CONSULTATION 
 

It is recommended that consultation be undertaken in accordance with the 
legislation prior to endorsement by Council.  
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Office of Local Government suggests that the Council may wish to develop a 
professional development policy for Councillors in order to demonstrate and 
enshrine Council’s commitment to ongoing professional development of elected 
members. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
Costs for professional development are met by the Council as part of Council’s 
ongoing operational costs. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 
Attachment 1 - Councillor Induction and Professional Development 

Guidelines, Consultation Brief, December 2017. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that Council;  
 

1. Note the report and Councillors provide feedback on the guidelines so a 
submission can be prepared; and 

2. If no feedback is given, then Council write to the Office of Local 
Government, saying it is in broad agreement with the content of the 
Councillor Induction and Professional Development Guidelines, 
Consultation Draft, December 2017. 
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About these guidelines
The Councillor Induction and Professional Development Guidelines (the Guidelines) have been 
issued under section 23A of the Local Government Act 1993 (the Act) to assist general managers 
and council staff to develop, deliver, evaluate and report on the induction and professional 
development programs they are required to provide mayors and councillors under the Local 
Government (General) Regulation 2005 (the Regulation). Councils are required to consider the 
Guidelines when undertaking these activities.

The Guidelines have also been developed to ensure mayors and councillors are aware of the 
knowledge, skills and personal attributes expected of them in their civic roles under the Act, and of 
the support their council should be providing to ensure they are able to effectively fulfil their roles. 

THESE GUIDELINES ARE DIVIDED INTO FIVE PARTS:

Part 1 introduction

Part 2  explains the statutory requirements for induction and professional development programs 
for mayors and councillors in NSW.

Part 3  guides councils on how to develop and deliver information sessions to potential 
candidates considering nominating for election.

Part 4  guides councils on how to develop and deliver induction programs for newly elected and 
returning mayors and councillors. 

Part 5  guides councils on how to develop and deliver ongoing professional development 
programs that ensure mayors and councillors continue to develop their skills and 
knowledge throughout their terms in office.

Part 6  outlines how councils are to report on the induction and professional development 
activities offered to mayors and councillors and their participation in those activities.

It is acknowledged that many NSW councils already have induction and ongoing professional 
development programs for mayors and councillors. It is also recognised that the needs and 
circumstances of councils vary, as do the skills and needs of individual mayors and councillors. 
The aim of the Regulation and the Guidelines is to ensure that all mayors and councillors across 
the state have access to such programs, and that the programs delivered by councils meet a 
consistent minimum standard. The Guidelines have therefore been designed to be used flexibly by 
councils and to accommodate, and in some cases build upon, existing programs.

These Guidelines include:

 • details of the knowledge and skills that mayors and councillors are required to have or acquire 
in order to fulfil their roles effectively

 • a framework for the development of pre-election information sessions for candidates, and 
induction and ongoing professional development programs for elected members

 • information about the developmental stages of each program and what to consider at each 
stage, and

 • checklists of the content that could be included in each program.
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Introduction

Background
Mayors and councillors come from a diverse range 
of backgrounds and bring different knowledge, 
skills, perspectives and insights to their roles. 
This is one of the strengths of a democratic and 
representative system of local government. 

However, few new mayors or councillors have 
extensive knowledge of the system of local 
government, how a council works or the full 
range of their roles and responsibilities when 
they assume office for the first time. Some are 
unaware of the need for mayors and councillors 
to work as a team, despite their political 
differences, to make decisions that are in the 
best interests of the community. There may 
be others who, if they had been fully aware, 
prior to their election, of the nature of the 
role of a mayor or councillor, and of the time 
commitment involved, may not have nominated 
to stand.

The role exercised by mayors and councillors 
is a very demanding one and the community 
rightly has high expectations of the 
performances of the mayor and councillors. As 
the governing body of the council, mayors and 
councillors must work together as a cohesive 
team to meet the needs of the community. The 
multi-faceted nature of the roles also requires 
mayors and councillors to have a wide variety 
of skills, experience and knowledge, along with 
the time, passion and commitment to achieve 
results for the community.

From their first council meeting, mayors and 
councillors will be required to work together 
to make important decisions on behalf of 
their communities, and to take responsibility 
for those decisions. These decisions will 
impact on local communities, the services 
and infrastructure delivered by the council, 
and the local natural and built environments. 
They will often involve significant use of public 
money. Proper induction into their roles, and 
the building of the governing body as a unified 
and collaborative team, are vital if mayors and 
councillors are to be effective from the start of 
their terms in office.

Some mayors and councillors may need to 
develop knowledge and skills in areas that 
are unfamiliar to them in order to undertake 
the breadth of their roles successfully. These 
may include, for example, understanding 
council meeting procedures, understanding 
land use planning regulatory requirements, or 
interpreting financial statements. 

Even experienced mayors and councillors say 
they can find it challenging to keep abreast of 
changes to the legislative and policy context 
for local government as well as changes to their 
councils’ policies and procedures.

Ongoing professional development and 
training, as well as early relationship building 
between councillors, is essential if the 
community is to be well served by their elected 
representatives on council.

Statutory requirements
The Act prescribes the roles and responsibilities 
of mayors and councillors collectively as the 
governing body of the council and as individual 
members of the governing body. It also places 
a responsibility on each mayor and councillor 
to make all reasonable efforts to acquire and 
maintain the knowledge and skills necessary to 
perform their roles.

To assist mayors and councillors to meet this 
obligation, the Regulation requires general 
managers to deliver induction and professional 
development programs that will help mayors 
and councillors to acquire and maintain the 
knowledge and skills necessary to perform their 
roles. Mayors and councillors have a reciprocal 
obligation to participate in these programs. 
Part 2 of these Guidelines further explains what 
is required of councils, mayors and councillors 
under the Regulation.

Each council is required to publicly report on the 
activities offered to the mayor and councillors 
as part of council’s induction and professional 
development programs, and their participation 
in those activities. Part 6 of these Guidelines 
outlines these reporting requirements.
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Induction and professional development –  
an overview
Pre-election candidate 
information sessions
Whilst not a regulatory requirement, it is 
recommended that general managers begin 
induction and professional development 
activities by holding at least one candidate 
information session prior to the election for 
people considering nominating for election.

These sessions should be designed to ensure 
potential candidates are fully aware and 
informed of what will be expected of them if 
they are elected. Part 3 of these Guidelines 
provides more information about how each 
council should develop and deliver candidate 
information sessions.

Induction programs
An induction program is a process used within 
many businesses, government agencies and 
non-government bodies to welcome new 
people to an organisation and to prepare them 
for their new roles. 

It ensures the organisation provides a person 
commencing a role with all the information they 
need to do their job in the first few months. It 
also enables the person to become a useful, 
integrated member of the organisation, rather 
than being ‘thrown in at the deep end’ without 
understanding how to perform their role, or 
how it fits in with the rest of the organisation. 

A good councillor induction program can build 
early positive relationships and teamwork 
between councillors, increase productivity and 
provide essential knowledge from the moment 
a mayor or councillor is elected. This can ensure 
newly elected mayors and councillors are more 
productive in a shorter period of time.

Part 4 of these Guidelines outlines how 
each council should develop its councillor 
induction program.

Professional development 
programs
A professional development program is any 
program which involves a deliberate and 
ongoing process of improving and increasing 
the professional knowledge, competence, skill 
and effectiveness of people in the workplace 
through training specific to their needs. 

In local government, an effective professional 
development program can ensure mayors and 
councillors fill any skills or knowledge gaps they 
have that may otherwise prevent them from 
making the best possible contributions to their 
communities. Part 5 of these Guidelines outlines 
how each council should develop its councillor 
professional development program.
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Statutory Context

Under section 232(1)(g) of the Act, all mayors 
and councillors have a responsibility to make all 
reasonable efforts to acquire and maintain the 
skills necessary to perform their roles.

To support this, the general manager is 
required under clause x of the Regulation to 
ensure the delivery of:

 • an induction program for newly elected 
and returning councillors and a specialised 
supplementary induction program for the 
mayor within six months of their election, and

 • an ongoing professional development 
program for the mayor and each councillor 
over the term of the council to assist them 
to acquire and maintain the skills and 
knowledge necessary to perform their roles. 
The content of the ongoing professional 
development program is to be determined 
in consultation with the mayor and each 
councillor. It must be needs-based and 
reflect the specific skills and knowledge 
required by the mayor, each individual 
councillor and the governing body as a 
whole, to perform their roles effectively. 

Under the Regulation, mayors and councillors 
must make all reasonable efforts to participate 
in the activities offered to them as part of an 
induction or professional development program. 

Principles, roles and 
responsibilities under the Act
Councils are required to apply the five sets of 
guiding principles prescribed under the Act 
in exercising their functions. These principles 
(outlined in Appendix A) seek to ensure that 
each council carries out its functions in a way 
that facilitates the creation of a strong, healthy 
and prosperous local community. Mayors and 
councillors must understand these principles 
and be able to apply them when exercising 
their functions.

The Act also prescribes the roles and 
responsibilities of mayors and councillors, 
both collectively as the governing body of 
the council, and individually as members of 
the governing body (these are outlined in 

Appendix B). Mayors and councillors must have 
a strong understanding of their prescribed roles 
and responsibilities under the Act in order to be 
able to fulfil them. 

Councils must design their induction and 
professional development programs to 
ensure that mayors and councillors have the 
knowledge and skills needed to apply the 
guiding principles, and to undertake their roles 
and responsibilities prescribed under the Act. 

Reporting requirements
Mayors and councillors are ultimately 
accountable to the community that elects them 
for the performance of their duties. 

To facilitate this accountability, the general 
manager is required under clause x of the 
Regulation to report to the first council meeting 
held after the induction program is delivered:

 • the activities offered to the mayor and each 
councillor as part of the induction program, 
and 

 • whether or not the mayor and each 
councillor participated in them. 

The general manager is also required to report 
to the first council meeting held after 30 June 
each year:

 • the ongoing professional development 
activities that were offered to the mayor and 
each councillor in the year to 30 June, and 

 • whether or not the mayor and each 
councillor participated in these activities. 

The general manager is also required to 
ensure these reports are published on the 
council’s website. 

The Chief Executive of the Office of Local 
Government may, at the request of the 
general manager, exempt the council from the 
requirement to publish details of induction and 
ongoing professional development activities 
offered to the mayor or an individual councillor 
where he or she is satisfied that there are 
exceptional circumstances.
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Benefits of a pre-
election candidate 
information session
It is vital that people who are considering 
nominating for election to a council have a solid 
understanding of the role before they nominate. 
This includes an understanding of what will be 
expected of them should they be elected, and 
the legislative boundaries they must work within. 

Being fully informed will ensure that candidates 
who nominate have seriously considered 
whether they have the skills and personal 
attributes required to fulfil the responsibilities 
of civic office (noting that the specific 
knowledge required can be developed if these 
skills and personal attributes are present). 
Being fully informed will also assist them to 
judge whether they will be able to effectively 
meet the demands of representing their 
community on council.

The general manager should therefore ensure 
that at least one candidate information session 
is held prior to nomination day for people 
considering nominating for election to council. 

The benefits of a pre-election information 
session/s include:

 • candidates being fully informed about the:

 – roles and responsibilities of a mayor and/
or councillor 

 – the legislation and council policies they 
are expected to comply with

 – time commitment required, and 

 – the skills, knowledge and personal 
attributes needed.

 • candidates being given the opportunity 
to learn from experienced mayors 
and councillors

 • candidates being given the opportunity to 
ask council any questions about the role 

 • candidates being aware of the financial and 
other support available to them to fulfil the 
role of a mayor and/or councillor

 • candidates understanding that their 
behaviour as a mayor and/or councillor will 
be governed by council’s code of conduct 
and that there are penalties for breaches

 • council being able to provide potential 
candidates ahead of time the key dates of 
any known events that they will be required 
to participate in during council’s term if they 
are elected (for example, council meetings, 
induction) so that candidates may then 
make tentative arrangements to enable 
them to attend the induction program if they 
are elected

 • the community benefiting from each 
candidate seeking election based on a 
platform that reflects what they can and 
cannot do or achieve as councillor, and

 • reduced tension and conflict due to newly 
elected mayors and councillors having a 
better understanding of their roles and what 
can be achieved by a unified governing body.

Delivering a pre-election 
candidate information 
session 
Timing
Councils should plan to hold at least one 
candidate information session before the 
deadline for nomination. The session/s could 
be held at council premises, or another 
appropriate public venue/s, at a convenient 
time that will enable as many potential 
candidates as possible to attend. For councils 
divided into wards, consideration should be 
given to holding sessions in different wards. 

Councils will need to ensure that the details of 
the candidate information session/s are well 
advertised in the local community (for example, 
the council’s website, local radio, social media, 
newspapers, and/or any other effective means) 
so that any potential candidates are aware the 
information session/s is being held.

Pre-Election Session for Potential Candidates
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Content
A checklist of the content to be included in a 
candidate information session/s is provided in 
Appendix C. Recommended content covers:

 • the role of council

 • the roles and responsibilities of the 
governing body and mayor and councillors, 
and of the general manager and other staff

 • legal and ethical responsibilities

 • the time commitment required of a mayor 
and councillor

 • the support available to assist the mayor and 
councillors in their roles, and

 • the knowledge, skills and personal attributes 
required to successfully fulfil the roles of 
mayor and councillor.

The NSW Electoral Commission provides a range 
of information and educational resources about 
the election process and the legal obligations of 
candidates when nominating and campaigning. 
More information can be found at  
www.elections.nsw.gov.au and www.votensw.info.

Delivery
The candidate information session/s should 
be delivered by the person who is best able to 
engage attendees and deliver the content in a 
way that will achieve the outcomes sought. This 
person could be the general manager, another 
staff member or an external provider. The 
general manager should be present, however, 
to answer any questions.

Previous or current mayors or councillors may 
also be invited to provide overview/s of their 
experience in council, and any significant 
issues they think potential candidates should 
consider before deciding whether to nominate. 
This could take the form of an informal talk, a 
panel discussion or a councillor question and 
answer session. 

Consideration should be given to which delivery 
method, or combination of delivery methods, 
would best suit the information being conveyed 
and should recognise that attendees are likely 
to have a variety of learning styles.

Candidate information pack
Councils should prepare a candidate 
information pack for attendees that provides 
key information for continued consideration 
after the session/s. This can take the form of 
printed material presented in a folder that 
potential candidates can take away and read, 
or a dedicated section on council’s website 
that provides all the necessary information. The 
pack can also include any relevant information 
or resources made available by external bodies. 
The NSW Electoral Commission, for example, 
provides a range of educational resources that 
guide candidates through the election process.

Cost
The cost of the information session/s should be 
covered by council’s councillor induction and 
professional development budget.

Evaluation
The information session/s should be evaluated 
by council to determine how effective it was in 
helping potential candidates understand what 
is involved in being a councillor or mayor, and 
to enable them to assess their suitability for 
these roles. 

The outcomes achieved from the information 
session/s should include, at a minimum, 
potential candidates fully understanding:

 • the roles and responsibilities of a councillor 
and mayor, including the personal attributes, 
skills and knowledge needed to perform 
these roles effectively

 • the legislation, code of conduct and 
other council policies they will need to 
comply with

 • the time commitment that will be required 
from them, and

 • the financial and other support available 
to them to fulfil the role of a mayor and/or 
councillor.

The evaluation should assess whether these 
outcomes were achieved. 

12
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Induction Program for Mayors and Councillors

Benefits of a councillor induction program
An induction program enables the mayor and 
councillors to quickly become familiar with 
how the council works, the rules under which it 
operates and the complexities of the roles. It is 
a vital way to ensure new and returning mayors 
and councillors get the information they need 
to be effective leaders from the very beginning 
of the council’s term.

It is important that an induction program is 
not simply used to present dry facts. It is also 
a vital opportunity to talk with councillors 
and the mayor about the accepted values 
and behaviours of the council that they have 
become a part of. 

The induction program is also an invaluable 
opportunity to sow the seeds for a governing 
body that functions as a strong, collaborative 
team. It provides the chance for the mayor and 
each councillor to understand what motivated 
their new colleagues to become councillors, 
and to bond as a team with a common focus 
on making a difference for the community. It 
can also be used as an opportunity to have 
early conversations about how they would like 
to operate as a team to work towards common 
goals and to identify success factors for council 
and the community.

In this way, an induction program also provides 
an opportunity to set a positive tone for the 
governing body, establish clear roles and 
responsibilities and build trust and positive 
working relationships from the outset. This lays 
the foundations for a successful, collaborative 
and cooperative term in office for new mayors 
and councillors.

The induction program will benefit mayors and 
councillors by:

 • providing them with access to essential 
information in a structured and consistent 
way that will assist them to function well 
in their role and to make informed and 
effective decisions from the start of their 
term in office

 • enabling more active and rapid participation 
in the business of the council

 • enabling them to meet, build rapport, share 
knowledge and experiences, and form 
positive working relationships with each other

 • identifying common goals and a shared 
vision as a governing body

 • introducing councillors to staff to help break 
down any ‘us and them’ divide and create 
one team working for the community whilst 
still recognising the legislated separation 
between the two groups

 • providing an opportunity for appropriate 
role models and mentoring relationships to 
be established between experienced mayors 
and councillors and new councillors

 • helping participants to understand 
key legislation

 • helping participants to understand their 
prescribed roles and responsibilities

 • briefing them on the ‘big picture’, and 
providing them with a clear understanding 
of council’s health and performance 

 • enabling them to understand and agree on 
the key issues and tasks for the new council, 
and to build a vision for the governing 
body’s term

 • enabling them to understand key council 
information, policies and procedures

 • enabling them to understand the council and 
the local government area

 • enabling them to feel empowered with 
key information about the integrated 
planning and reporting processes and their 
opportunities for influence, and

 • increasing their self-confidence in their 
ability to perform their roles.

Returning councillors
Because local government is complex 
and subject to change, the mayor and all 
councillors, both new and experienced, should 
attend council’s induction program at the 
commencement of each term. 
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Whilst returning councillors may already 
know much of the information provided in 
the induction program, their attendance 
at these sessions will demonstrate to new 
councillors that their roles and responsibilities 
are important. Returning councillors can also 
contribute valuable information and lessons 
learnt from previous council terms, and help 
build a positive and collaborative culture for the 
new governing body. 

Important aspects of the induction program 
include building trust and positive relationships 
between the members of the new governing 
body, establishing working bonds and 
determining how they can work together 
as a team. All councillors need to be part of 
this process.

Delivering a councillor 
induction program
Planning
Councils should aim to have their induction 
programs finalised in time to provide potential 
candidates the proposed induction timetable at 
the candidate information sessions. Candidates 
can then make tentative arrangements to 
enable them to attend the induction program if 
they are elected.

It is important that councillors feel welcome 
when they start their terms. This will send a 
supportive message that builds on the positive 
culture being encouraged for the governing 
body. Council should also ensure that the 
resources each councillor and the mayor needs 
are set up and ready when they start. This 
includes any IT equipment, office facilities or 
other necessary resources that will ensure they 
are productive from their first day in office. 

Timing
The Regulation allows a maximum of six months 
for the delivery of the induction program to 
provide councils the flexibility to develop an 
approach that best meets the needs of its 
mayor and councillors.

The first induction training session should 
take place as soon as possible after the results 
of the election are declared and prior to the 
first council meeting. It should aim to provide 
councillors with the information they need to 
function in their roles, including in meetings, 
until the rest of the induction program is 
delivered. The rest of the induction program 
must be delivered within six months of the polls 
being declared. 

The delivery of the components of the 
induction program should be timed to reflect 
the information the councillors and the mayor 
need in the first week, the first month and the 
first three months of council. In addition, the 
relevant components of the induction program 
should be delivered before the review of the 
council’s community strategic plan, and before 
the adoption of its delivery program.

Some councils prefer to deliver the full induction 
program as soon as possible to provide councillors 
with all of the information and induction training 
they need from the start of their term in office. 
However, this approach runs the risk of councillors 
feeling overloaded with information.

Other councils prefer to deliver the induction 
program approximately six weeks after the 
election so that new councillors have the 
opportunity to gain some practical experience 
first. However, this approach runs the risk 
of councillors not being effective or lacking 
confidence during the weeks preceding the 
induction training.

Alternatively, some councils choose to do a 
mixture of these approaches by staging the 
induction program over a number of weeks. 
Ultimately, the optimum timing for delivery of 
an induction program will vary depending on 
local circumstances.

Content
A checklist of recommended content for 
induction programs for councillors and a 
supplementary program for mayors is provided 
at Appendix D. 
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There should be two core components of 
council’s induction program:

 • a knowledge-based component that ensures 
new mayors and councillors have the 
information they need to undertake their roles 
during the first few weeks of their term, and 

 • a team-building component designed to bring 
councillors together to form a collaborative, 
positive and united governing body.

Knowledge component

In the first few weeks in particular, new mayors 
and councillors will need to know:

 • their roles, responsibilities and 
legislative obligations 

 • what the council does and how the 
council operates, including an overview of 
integrated planning and reporting and land 
use planning

 • their financial management responsibilities

 • the key issues and tasks for the new council

 • the legislation, rules, principles and political 
context under which councils operate

 • the council’s organisational structure and 
the roles and responsibilities of staff

 • key council policies and procedures they 
must comply with

 • the role of council meetings and how to 
participate effectively in them

 • the support available to the mayor and 
councillors, and where they can go to get 
more information or assistance 

 • how to speak to the media appropriately and 
effectively, and

 • information on the process for electing the 
mayor (where applicable).

Mayors will also need to know:

 • the roles and responsibilities of the 
mayor as leader of the council, including 
ceremonial functions

 • how to chair council meetings

 • the role and functions of regional and other 
external bodies council is a member of

 • how to oversee the general manager, 
including understanding recruitment 
processes and leading performance reviews 

 • how to lead council’s integrated planning 
and reporting, and

 • how to manage code of conduct complaints 
about the general manager.

Team building component

Team building activities should be held, where 
necessary, depending on the relationships 
that exist between councillors and how they 
are likely to function as a team. The activities 
should aim to ensure mayors and councillors, as 
a governing body, understand the need to:

 • build relationships with each other based on 
trust and mutual respect

 • contribute to a positive and ethical culture 
within the governing body

 • encourage and facilitate collaboration with 
each other 

 • work towards consensus as members 
of the governing body for the benefit of 
the community 

 • win concessions without damaging 
relationships within the governing body

 • champion and communicate the council’s 
vision and strategic plans as a cohesive team

 • respect the diversity of skills and 
experiences on the governing body, and

 • communicate and uphold the decisions of 
council in a respectful way, even if their own 
positions are not adopted.

Induction Program for Mayors and Councillors
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Activities should also help the mayor, as the 
leader of the governing body, to:

 • act as a stabilising influence and show 
leadership, and

 • promote a culture of integrity and 
accountability within council and when 
representing council in the community 
and elsewhere.

Structure and delivery
Each component of the induction program 
should be presented by the person who is 
best able to deliver the content and achieve 
the outcomes sought. This could be the 
general manager, another staff member or an 
external provider. Previous or current mayors 
or councillors may also be invited to provide 
an overview of their experiences on council, as 
might an experienced former or current mayor 
from outside the council. 

The induction program should be conducted 
in a way that avoids the mayor and councillors 
being overloaded with information, particularly if 
this is at the expense of team building. This may 
be achieved by limiting the length of sessions, 
having a number of short sessions rather than 
one longer session and/or through the use of a 
range of delivery modes and materials. 

Some councils structure their councillor 
induction programs intensively over two or 
more days – possibly a weekend – while others 
choose to hold shorter, evening sessions over 
several weeks. Others choose a combination of 
these two approaches.

When planning and delivering their induction 
programs, councils may consider making 
use of resource sharing arrangements with 
other councils, including Joint Organisations 
or Regional Organisations of Councils. For 
example, one part of the induction may be 
provided at the regional level to cover the 
more generic and regional issues, and another 
part within the council may cover local issues, 
policies and procedures. Printed and face-to-
face training resources could also be utilised.

The Office of Local Government also offers ‘Hit 
the Ground Running’ workshops, held shortly 
after each council election, which councils may 
wish to include in their induction program.

Consideration should be given to which 
delivery method, or combination of methods, 
would best suit the information being conveyed 
and the different learning styles of councillors. 
Options could include:

 • intensive blocks over two or more days 
(including weekends)

 • evening or dinner sessions over several weeks

 • a mix of regional and local level 
induction sessions

 • informal briefings from the general manager 
and other senior staff

 • guest speakers and presenters from other 
councils, state government agencies or 
other local government groups

 • a guided tour of the council’s administration 
building/s, depot, council facilities and local 
government area

 • in-house workshops by council staff and/or 
professional training providers

 • seminars and conferences

 • panel discussions

 • a mock council meeting or meetings

 • training booklets and discussion papers 
distributed to councillors to work through at 
their own pace, and/or

 • online information and training resources.

Where possible, presentations should be 
supported by written materials, including an 
induction manual or handbook that councillors 
can retain and refer to.

Induction manual
Councils should develop an induction manual 
or handbook to support councillors in the 
first weeks following the commencement of 
the council’s term of office. This resource may 
also include relevant background reference 
material for the longer term, and printed or 
online resources specifically developed for 
new councillors. It could also include a copy 
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of the Councillor Handbook which has been 
developed by the Office of Local Government 
for councillors. The induction handbook may be 
provided prior to, at or after induction training.

How the information is presented in the 
induction manual will affect how useful it 
is. For example, some councils have found 
that a manual is most likely to be used if the 
information is presented in a folder. Some 
councils may consider also providing the 
information as an online resource. An online 
resource may be easier for councils to keep 
updated and can make topic searching easier 
for users.

Appendix E provides a checklist of the content 
that could be included in an induction manual 
or online resource. Recommended content 
includes:

 • basic information about the council

 • profiles (demographic, economic etc.) of the 
local government area 

 • information about council meetings

 • key planning and policy documents and 
information

 • key legislation 

 • information about support for councillors, and

 • other useful resources, such as Bluett’s Local 
Government Handbook NSW, and/or details 
about where they may be accessed.

It is suggested that online resources include 
hyperlinks to electronic versions of any plans, 
policies or other documents referred to in the 
councillor induction manual.

Cost
The cost of the induction program should be 
budgeted for within the council’s councillor 
induction and professional development budget.

By-elections
Under the Regulation, an induction program 
must also be delivered by a council for any 
newly elected mayor or councillor who joins 
the council as a result of a by-election to fill a 
casual vacancy.

Evaluation
Council should evaluate the induction program 
to determine what elements worked well and 
whether there were any deficiencies that need 
to be addressed. 

The methodology for the evaluation should 
be determined when the induction program is 
being developed to ensure that relevant data is 
collected. At a minimum, the evaluation should 
assess whether the induction program resulted 
in councillors and the mayor:

 • understanding the need to build trusting 
and positive relationships with a common 
purpose as a team of councillors

 • understanding the need to build a cohesive 
and positive culture for the governing body

 • understanding the need to build a positive 
working relationship with the general 
manager and other staff

 • understanding their roles and the roles of 
internal and external stakeholders, and 
feeling confident in their ability to perform 
their roles

 • understanding key council information and 
how council works

 • being aware of all relevant legislation and 
council policies and procedures, and being 
committed to complying with them

 • understanding the key issues and tasks for 
the new council 

 • being able to make informed and effective 
decisions from the start of their term in office

 • being able to effectively participate in council 
meetings and apply meeting rules correctly 
from the start of their term in office

 • being able to fulfil their integrated planning 
and reporting responsibilities, including 
financial management responsibilities

 • knowing how to speak to the media 
appropriately, and

 • feeling confident in understanding and 
using financial information to manage 
council’s finances.

Induction Program for Mayors and Councillors
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In the case of the mayor, being able to:

 • act as a stabilising influence and show 
leadership in times of crisis

 • build a positive working relationship with the 
general manager

 • oversee the general manager, including 
leading recruitment processes and 
performance reviews 

 • chair council meetings 

 • undertake his or her ceremonial functions

 • lead the council’s integrated planning and 
reporting, and

 • manage code of conduct complaints about 
the general manager.
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Professional Development Program for Mayors and Councillors

Benefits of a 
professional 
development program 
for mayors and 
councillors
Ongoing professional development for mayors 
and councillors is an investment which will 
enhance the effectiveness of a council’s 
performance in achieving its goals.

The benefits of an ongoing professional 
development program for councillors and 
mayors include:

 • mayors and councillors representing their 
communities to the best of their ability

 • mayors and councillors feeling confident and 
supported in their roles

 • the governing body making decisions based 
on a full understanding of all the key issues 
and consequences

 • improved performance of council overall

 • greater understanding of, and compliance 
with, legal responsibilities 

 • better management of the council’s finances 
and resources, and

 • mayors and councillors developing skills 
and knowledge that they can take into their 
personal and professional lives.

Enshrine commitment in 
council policies
Each council needs to enshrine its commitment 
to the ongoing professional development of 
mayors and councillors in all relevant council 
policies. This will ensure that this commitment 
is embedded in council’s values and operations, 
and that an effective ongoing professional 
development program is implemented.

Policy on the provision of 
expenses and facilities to 
councillors
Each council’s ongoing professional 
development program should be 
accommodated by and reflected in its 
councillor expenses and facilities policy. The 
expenses and facilities policy should make clear 
and adequate provision for relevant training 
and professional development activities as 
legitimate expenses. 

Other mechanisms
Councils may also wish to consider other 
mechanisms to reinforce their commitment 
to ongoing professional development for the 
mayor and councillors, and they may wish to 
develop a structured approach for realising this 
commitment in practice.

This may be done through developing and 
adopting a resolution or a charter as a statement 
of commitment to support ongoing professional 
development for the mayor and councillors. 

Alternatively, councils may wish to develop and 
adopt a councillor training and professional 
development policy. A model policy is provided 
in Appendix F.

Development of a 
training and professional 
development plan
As part of council’s professional development 
program, council should develop a professional 
development plan for the mayor and each 
councillor. The plan should be developed in 
consultation with the mayor, each individual 
councillor and the governing body as a whole, 
and the general manager. 
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Depending on the needs of the council and 
the governing body, council’s professional 
development program could comprise:

 • generic activities delivered to all councillors 
which address the needs of council 
(identified in council’s needs analysis), with a 
supplementary program for the mayor, or

 • an individualised program for each 
councillor or mayor which caters to 
their specific professional development 
needs, and which addresses the skills and 
knowledge gaps that the councillor or mayor 
is identified as having, or

 • a generic program that offers activities 
to meet council’s skill and knowledge 
requirements, supplemented with individual 
activities to meet the specific needs 
of individual councillors or groups of 
councillors and the mayor.

The program can span the council’s term, with 
individual activities implemented over time 
according to priority.

Needs analysis
The first step in creating a professional 
development plan is to identify any gaps in the 
knowledge and skills required by the mayor 
and each councillor to perform their roles and 
responsibilities effectively. These needs should 
be assessed individually for the mayor and each 
councillor, and for the governing body as a whole.

To do this, each council will first need to 
conduct a needs analysis prior to each new 
council term to determine what knowledge and 
skills their mayor and councillors must have to 
effectively serve their local community. 

The knowledge and skills listed in Appendix G, 
together with any additional needs a council 
may have (for example, specific services or 
particular environmental, social or economic 
challenges facing their community), should 
form the basis of this needs analysis. 

Assessment of skills and 
knowledge gaps
Once the council has determined the knowledge 
and skills required of the mayor and councillors, 
an assessment should be undertaken of what 
skills and knowledge the mayor and each 
councillor bring to their roles. The assessment 
should identify areas where they require 
development. This should be done for both new 
and experienced mayors and councillors. 

Council, the mayor and councillors can use 
information obtained through a range of 
activities to identify any gaps. Examples of 
information sources include: self-assessments, 
questionnaires, councillor feedback, 
observations during council meetings and 
workshops, and interviews.

Any deficit identified through the assessment 
process should form the basis of the 
professional development plans for the mayor 
and councillors.

Structure and timing
Councillors’ professional development plans 
should outline:

 • the outcome of council’s needs analysis

 • the knowledge and skills the councillor or 
mayor brings to their role

 • the development needs of each councillor or 
mayor

 • the priority given to each development need 

 • how the knowledge or skill will be developed 
(i.e. on-the-job training, mentoring, 
internal training, external training, briefing 
session etc.)

 • timeframes for development

 • who is responsible for organising training/
development

 • approval processes, and 

 • estimated costs.
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The timing of the delivery of each component 
of the professional development plans for the 
mayor and councillors should be designed in 
such a way so as to not overload councillors 
with learning activities in the early part of 
council’s term. The timing should reflect what 
knowledge and skills councillors and the mayor 
need at various points in council’s term to 
undertake their roles. 

For example, council should ensure that the 
mayor and councillors have acquired the 
knowledge and skills necessary to effectively 
contribute to the review of the community 
strategic plan and the development of the 
delivery program before these activities 
are undertaken.

Delivery
A range of delivery methods and materials 
should be used to support the training 
and development needs of the mayor and 
councillors, recognising the varied learning 
styles councillors may have. These could include:

 • in-house workshops, seminars and briefing 
sessions conducted by the council with 
appropriate staff, trainers and guest speakers

 • workshops, seminars and conferences for 
mayors and councillors offered by external 
training providers and industry bodies 

 • printed material, including training booklets 
and discussion papers, that may be 
distributed to councillors for information, and

 • online training courses and webinars. 

Councils could also consider making use of 
resource sharing arrangements with other 
councils, including Joint Organisations and 
Regional Organisations of Councils. 

Each councillor’s professional development 
plan should outline possible delivery methods 
for each training need identified.

Cost
Each year the council should allocate a budget 
to support professional development activities 
to be undertaken in that year. Progress against 
expenditure of the budget allocation should 
be reported on a quarterly basis as part of the 
budgetary cycle.

Councils will need to determine the size of 
the budget allocation, which may change 
annually, depending on training needs. It is to 
be expected that costs will be higher in the 
first year of council’s term due to the need to 
deliver candidate information sessions and 
the induction program. The delivery program 
financial estimates and the Long Term Financial 
Plan will reflect the varying training and 
development budget requirements over the 
term of the council.

Evaluation
As with the pre-election information session 
and the councillor induction program, the 
professional development program should be 
evaluated to assist the council to determine the 
program’s effectiveness and to identify areas of 
possible improvement. 

The outcomes of the professional development 
program should, at a minimum, include 
councillors and mayors demonstrating the core 
skills and knowledge areas listed in council’s 
needs analysis.

The evaluation should assess whether these 
outcomes were achieved.

Professional Development Program for Mayors and Councillors
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Public Reporting

Holding elected office in a council is a role 
that carries with it significant responsibilities. 
All holders of elected offices in councils owe 
it to the communities that entrust them with 
this responsibility to ensure that they hold and 
maintain the knowledge and skills necessary to 
exercise their functions effectively on behalf of 
the community.

Mayors and councillors are ultimately 
accountable to the community that elects them 
for the performance of their functions. For this 
reason, councils are required to publicly report 
on the activities offered to the mayor and each 
councillor as part of induction and professional 
development programs and their participation 
in those activities.

In the case of induction programs, the general 
manager must prepare a report for the first 
council meeting held after the induction 
program is delivered. The report must identify 
the activities offered to the mayor and each 
councillor as part of the induction program and 
indicate whether they participated in them. 

In the case of ongoing professional 
development programs, general managers 
must prepare a report to the first council 
meeting held after 30 June in each year. 
The report must identify the professional 
development activities offered to the mayor 
and each councillor in the year to 30 June and 
indicate whether they participated in them. 

The general manager is also required to 
ensure these reports are published on the 
council’s website. 

Under the Regulation, the Chief Executive 
of the Office of Local Government may, at 
the request of a general manager, exempt a 
council from the requirement to publish details 
of induction and professional development 
activities offered to the mayor or an individual 
councillor where he or she is satisfied that there 
are exceptional circumstances.

Such an exemption would be likely to be 
granted in circumstances where the public 
reporting of a development activity offered to 
a mayor or councillor would cause them undue 
embarrassment, may serve to deter them from 
identifying a training or development need, 
or where there are other compelling public 
interest grounds not to do so.

Appendix H of these Guidelines provides 
a suggested template for public reporting 
on participation in induction and ongoing 
professional development program activities.
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Guiding Principles for Councils

General principles 
(section 8A(1))
Councils should: 

 • provide strong and effective representation, 
leadership, planning and decision-making

 • carry out functions in a way that provides 
the best possible value for residents 
and ratepayers

 • plan strategically, using the integrated 
planning and reporting framework, for the 
provision of effective and efficient services 
and regulation to meet the diverse needs of 
the local community

 • apply the integrated planning and reporting 
framework in carrying out their functions 
so as to achieve desired outcomes and 
continuous improvements

 • work cooperatively with other councils and 
the state government to achieve desired 
outcomes for the local community

 • manage lands and other assets so that 
current and future local community needs 
can be met in an affordable way

 • work with others to secure appropriate 
services for local community needs

 • act fairly, ethically and without bias in the 
interests of the local community, and

 • be responsible employers and provide 
a consultative and supportive working 
environment for staff.

Decision-making principles 
(section 8A(2))
Councils should: 

 • recognise diverse local community needs 
and interests

 • consider social justice principles

 • consider the long-term and cumulative 
effects of actions on future generations, and

 • consider the principles of ecologically 
sustainable development

Council decision-making should be transparent 
and decision-makers are to be accountable for 
decisions and omissions.

Community participation 
principle (section 8A(3))
Councils should actively engage with their 
local communities, through the use of the 
integrated planning and reporting framework 
and other measures.

Principles of sound financial 
management (section 8B)
Council spending should be responsible and 
sustainable, aligning general revenue and 
expenses.

Councils should:

 • invest in responsible and sustainable 
infrastructure for the benefit of the 
local community

 • have effective financial and asset 
management, including sound policies and 
processes for: 

 – performance management and reporting

 – asset maintenance and enhancement

 – funding decisions, and 

 – risk management practices

 • have regard to achieving intergenerational 
equity, including by ensuring that policy 
decisions are made after considering their 
financial effects on future generations, and 
by ensuring that the current generation 
funds the cost of its services.
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Integrated planning and 
reporting principles  
(section 8C)
Councils should:

 • identify and prioritise key local community 
needs and aspirations and consider 
regional priorities

 • identify strategic goals to meet those needs 
and aspirations

 • develop activities, and prioritise actions, to 
work towards the strategic goals

 • ensure that the strategic goals, and the 
activities developed to work towards them, 
may be achieved within council resources

 • regularly review and evaluate progress 
towards achieving strategic goals

 • maintain an integrated approach to 
planning, delivering, monitoring and 
reporting on strategic goals

 • collaborate with others to maximise the 
achievement of strategic goals

 • manage risks to the local community or area 
or to the council effectively and proactively, 
and

 • make appropriate evidence-based 
adaptations to meet changing needs 
and circumstances.
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Roles and Responsibilities Under the Act

Governing body of a council 
(section 223)
The mayor and councillors collectively comprise 
the governing bodies of councils. The role of 
the governing body is to:

 • direct and control the affairs of the council 
in consultation with the general manager 

 • provide effective civic leadership to the 
local community

 • ensure as far as possible the financial 
sustainability of the council 

 • ensure as far as possible that the council 
acts in accordance with the principles 
prescribed under the Act and the council’s 
plans, programs, strategies and policies 

 • develop and endorse the community strategic 
plan, delivery program and other strategic 
plans, programs, strategies and policies

 • determine and adopt a rating and revenue 
policy and operational plans that support 
the optimal allocation of the council’s 
resources to implement the council’s 
strategic plans and for the benefit of the 
local area

 • keep the performance of the council under 
review, including service delivery

 • make decisions necessary for the proper 
exercise of the council’s regulatory functions

 • determine the process for the appointment 
of the general manager and for monitoring 
their performance

 • determine the senior staff positions within 
the organisation structure of the council

 • consult regularly with community 
organisations and other key stakeholders 
and keep them informed of the council’s 
decisions and activities, and

 • ensure that the council acts honestly, 
efficiently and appropriately.

The governing body is to consult with the 
general manager in directing and controlling 
the affairs of the council.

Individual councillors  
(section 232)
Councillors are individually and collectively 
accountable to the local community for the 
performance of the council. Each councillor has 
a responsibility to:

 • be an active and contributing member of the 
governing body

 • make considered and well informed decisions 
as a member of the governing body

 • participate in the development of 
the council’s integrated planning and 
reporting framework

 • represent the collective interests 
of residents, ratepayers and the 
local community

 • facilitate communication between the local 
community and the governing body

 • uphold and represent accurately the policies 
and decisions of the governing body, and

 • make all reasonable efforts to acquire and 
maintain the skills necessary to perform the 
role of a councillor.

The mayor (section 226)
The mayor is often considered the voice of 
the council and the leader of the community. 
While the mayor has the same roles and 
responsibilities as councillors, the mayor is 
essentially the “first among equals” and is 
expected to exercise a leadership role within a 
council. This leadership role is reflected in the 
mayor’s extra responsibilities.

The role of the mayor is to:

 • be the leader of the council and a leader in 
the local community 

 • advance community cohesion and promote 
civic awareness

 • be the principal member and spokesperson 
of the governing body, including 
representing the views of the council in 
regard to its local priorities

 • exercise, in cases of necessity, the policy-
making functions of the governing body of 
the council between meetings of the council
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 • preside at meetings of the council and 
ensure that meetings of the council are 
conducted efficiently, effectively and in 
accordance with the Act 

 • ensure the timely development and adoption 
of the council’s strategic plans, programs 
and policies

 • promote the effective and consistent 
implementation of the council’s strategic 
plans, programs and policies 

 • promote partnerships between the council 
and key stakeholders

 • advise, consult with and provide strategic 
direction to the general manager in relation 
to the implementation of the council’s 
strategic plans and policies

 • in conjunction with the general manager, 
ensure adequate opportunities and 
mechanisms for engagement between the 
council and the local community

 • carry out the civic and ceremonial functions 
of the mayoral office

 • represent the council on regional 
organisations and at inter-governmental 
forums at the regional, state and 
commonwealth levels

 • in consultation with the councillors, lead 
performance appraisals of the general 
manager, and

 • exercise any other functions of the council 
that the council determines.
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Candidate Information Sessions Content Checklist

Topic Area Suggested Content

Role of council  • The role and responsibilities of local government 

 • The guiding principles under the Act that govern council’s functions

 • The purpose of council and committee meetings

Roles and 
responsibilities of 
councillors and staff 
under the Act

 • The roles and responsibilities of the governing body and individual 
councillors under the Act, including in relation to integrated planning 
and reporting

 • The roles and responsibilities of the mayor as leader of the governing 
body, including oversight of the general manager

 • The strategic nature of the roles of elected members compared to the 
operational roles of the general manager and council staff

 • The regional and other bodies the council is a member of and the roles of 
those bodies

Legal and ethical 
responsibilities

 • Requirement to take an oath of office

 • Requirement to meet the ethical standards prescribed under the Act, 
including managing pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests

 • Outline of the legal responsibilities of councillors under the Act and their 
personal responsibilities under other legislation, for example in relation to:

 – work health and safety

 – anti-discrimination

 – privacy

 – public access to information

 – records management

 • Outline of any council policies that councillors will be expected to comply 
with, for example:

 – councillor and staff interaction policy

 – code of meeting practice

 – code of conduct

 – councillor expenses and facilities policy

 – gifts and benefits policy

 – councillor induction and professional development policy
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Topic Area Suggested Content

Skills and  
knowledge

 • Participation in council’s councillor induction program 

 • Participation in the mayor’s supplementary induction program 

 • Expected attendance at council meetings, their frequency and 
possible duration

 • Preparation required for council meetings, for example:

 – attending pre-meeting briefings

 – reading business papers

 – ensuring councillors have a full understanding of issues requiring 

 •  decisions

 • Potential participation in other meetings, for example extraordinary 
council meetings, regional bodies, external bodies

 • Potential attendance at community events, ceremonies and 
other functions

 • Responding to media requests and inquiries

 • Potential participation in formal community consultation processes

 • Answering letters, emails and phone calls from residents and ratepayers 
as well as participating in regular informal conversations

 • Participation in any other activities that are likely to arise and require the 
mayor or councillors’ time

Support available to 
assist councillors in 
the role

 • The annual fees paid to councillors and the mayor

 • Council’s policy on the payment of expenses incurred and the provision of 
facilities and resources to the mayor and councillors 

 • Induction and professional development programs for councillors and 
the mayor

 • The responsibility of the general manager and staff to provide timely 
information and advice and the administrative and professional support 
necessary for councillors to effectively discharge their functions.
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Induction Program Content Checklist

Topic Area Suggested Content

Establishment of 
a well-functioning 
governing body

 • Team building activities to help councillors and the mayor:

 – identify how they would like to work together as a team

 – understand why each councillor is in office and help identify a common 
purpose and bond between councillors

 – identify a common vision for the governing body 

 – identify what a successful term in office will look like for council and 
the community and what is needed from individual councillors and the 
mayor to achieve this

 – identify accepted values and behaviours

 – build relationships with each other based on trust and mutual respect

 – contribute to a positive and ethical culture within the governing body

 – value and develop teamwork and collaboration skills

 – work towards consensus as members of the governing body for the 
benefit of the community 

 – win concessions without damaging relationships within the 
governing body

 – develop respectful negotiation and conflict resolution skills

 – champion and communicate the council’s vision and strategic plans as 
a cohesive team

 – respect the diversity of skills and experience of the other members of 
the governing body

 – communicate and uphold the decisions of council in a respectful way, 
even if their own position was not adopted

 – understand what supports or undermines the effective functioning of 
the governing body

 – identify appropriate council meeting practice and behaviours

 – understand their opportunities for influence

Orientation to 
council facilities and 
local government 
area

 • Guided tour of the council facilities available to councillors, for example, 
chambers, offices, utilities 

 • Guided tour of the local government area including council facilities, 
significant sites and projects 

 • Introduction to council staff to help build a positive team culture between 
the governing body and administration (whilst respecting the legislated 
separation between the two) 
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Topic Area Suggested Content

Overview of the key 
issues and tasks for 
the new council

 – The demographic profile of the local government area 

 – Council’s current social and economic health and performance

 – The key social, environmental and economic concerns facing the community

 – The key issues and tasks the new council will need to address

 – Any issues faced by previous councils or useful historical information 
that may impact or assist the new council 

 – The current community strategic plan and the process that led to its 
development, including its role in informing the new council’s activities

 – Council’s current delivery program, operational plan, resourcing 
strategy and community engagement strategy

Legal and political 
context of local 
government

 • The relationship of state and commonwealth governments to local 
government

 • The guiding principles under the Act that govern council’s functions

 • The roles and responsibilities of oversight agencies such as the:

 – Office of Local Government

 – Department of Planning and Environment

 – Environment Protection Authority

 – Audit Office

 – Independent Commission Against Corruption, and

 – NSW Ombudsman

Roles and 
responsibilities of 
councillors and staff

 – The roles and responsibilities of the governing body and individual 
councillors under the Act

 – The role and responsibilities of the mayor

 – The roles and responsibilities of the general manager and council staff

 – Council’s policy on councillor and staff interaction and how councillors 
can request assistance from staff

 – The regional and other bodies the council is a member of and the roles 
of those bodies

 – Delegations

 – Integrated planning and reporting responsibilities

Overview of the key 
functional areas of 
council operations 
and staffing

 • Council’s organisational structure

 • The role and responsibilities of each business unit within council, for example:

 – planning and other regulatory functions

 – assets and infrastructure

 – financial management

 – community services

 – governance

 – teams responsible for implementing key council policies, strategies 
or programs

 • Council’s workforce strategy
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Topic Area Suggested Content

Legal and ethical 
responsibilities and 
risk management

 • Preparation for taking the oath or affirmation of office

 • Requirement to meet the ethical standards prescribed under the Model 
Code of Conduct for Local Councils in NSW, including disclosing and 
managing pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests

 • The legal responsibilities of councillors under the Act and their personal 
responsibilities under other legislation, for example in relation to:

 – work health and safety

 – anti-discrimination

 – privacy

 – public access to information

 – records management

 • Council policies that councillors will be expected to comply with, for 
example:

 – councillor and staff interaction policy

 – code of meeting practice

 – code of conduct

 – councillor expenses and facilities policy

 – gifts and benefits policy

 • Participation in the councillor induction and professional 
development program

 • How the council manages risk, including:

 – council’s risk management framework

 – the role of the Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee

 – internal audit 

Decision-making  • The purpose of council meetings

 • Prescribed meeting rules

 • Council’s code of meeting practice

 • The role of the chair 

 • How to use closed meetings appropriately

 • What an orderly, effective and efficient council meeting looks like and how 
it is conducted

 • How councillors should prepare for a council meeting, including pre-
meeting briefings 

 • The role of business papers and meeting minutes and how to understand 
and interpret them

 • The role of committees and how they are established and structured

Induction Program Content Checklist
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Topic Area Suggested Content

Strategic planning  • The statutory requirements for integrated planning and reporting

 • How integrated planning and reporting is conducted by council including:

 – council’s integrated planning and reporting frameworks, timelines 
and processes

 – the mayor’s and councillors’ roles 

 – community consultation and participation

 – change management processes

 – reporting mechanisms

Land use planning  • Overview of the land use planning system, including:

 – relevant legislation

 – the role of council in land use and development approvals

 – how development applications are considered and decided by council, 
including independent panels

 – the role of environmental planning instruments and how to 
interpret them

 – delegations

 – the role of oversight agencies, for example, the Department of Planning

Natural resource 
management

 • Council’s public land management responsibilities and regulatory frameworks

 • Council’s natural resource management responsibilities and 
regulatory frameworks

Financial processes 
and financial 
management

 • The responsibility of councillors for the financial management and 
sustainability of the council under the Act

 • Council’s long-term financial plan and other components of council’s 
resourcing strategy

 • How to interpret and understand the financial information contained in 
financial reports prepared by council

Customer services 
and complaints 
handling

 • Council’s complaints handling process and how councillors should handle 
constituents’ concerns

Support available to 
assist councillors in 
the role

 • The annual fees paid to councillors and the mayor

 • Council’s policy on the payment of expenses incurred and the provision of 
facilities and resources to the mayor and councillors 

 • Ongoing professional development for the mayor and councillors

 • The responsibility of the general manager and staff to provide timely 
information and advice and the administrative and professional support 
necessary for councillors to effectively discharge their functions

Supplementary 
topics for mayor

 • How to be an effective leader of the governing body and the council

 • The role of the chair and how to chair council meetings

 • How to manage code of conduct complaints about the general manager

 • How to conduct day-to-day oversight of the general manager

 • How to lead recruitment and performance reviews of the general manager

 • Citizenship and other ceremonial functions.
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Councillor Induction Manual Content Checklist

Topic Area Suggested Content

Governing body  • Summary of the shared purpose, goals, vision and success markers 
identified by the governing body during the induction process

 • Summary of the values and behaviours identified by the governing body 
during the induction process that will characterise the council term 

Basic information 
about the council

 • Organisational chart and outline of key function and service areas, 
including those of senior staff

 • Information and/or chart showing the relationships between councillors 
and council staff and decision-making processes

 • List of council facilities and map of the local government area

Profile of the local 
government area

 • Wards

 • Population statistics

 • Useful information about the local government area

 • Useful information about key issues or tasks for the new council

Information about 
council meetings

 • Code of meeting practice

 • Agenda and minutes of recent meetings

 • Meeting times and venues

 • Deadlines related to meetings, business papers and minutes

 • List of council committees and their composition

Key planning and 
policy documents 
and information

 • Integrated planning and reporting documents, for example, the current 
community strategic plan, delivery program, operational plan, community 
engagement strategy and resourcing strategy etc.

 • Delegations

 • Most recent annual report

 • End-of-term report of last council

 • Code of conduct

 • Policy on the provision of councillor expenses and facilities

 • Policy on access to information

 • Policy on councillor and staff interaction

 • Policy on gifts and benefits

 • Council’s workforce strategy

 • Council’s risk management framework and relevant audit- and risk 
management-related documents

 • Other relevant plans, policies and procedures

 • Policy register/list of policies
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Topic Area Suggested Content

Key legislation  • Copy of key legislation or relevant excerpts from legislation such as the 
Act and the Regulation 

 • List of key legislation under which council exercises its functions, 
for example:

 – Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 

 – Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997

 – Work Health and Safety Act 2011

 – State Records Act 1998

 • How to access up-to-date versions of the legislation online  
(www.legislation.nsw.gov.au)

Information 
about support for 
councillors

 • How to make a request or claim under council’s expenses and 
facilities policy

 • Information about the induction and professional development program

 • Contact details of council officer/s that councillors may contact 
for information

Other useful 
resources and/
or details about 
where they may be 
accessed

 • Induction program presentations and materials

 • Contact details for key organisations such as the Office of Local 
Government and Local Government NSW

 • A copy of useful publications such as the Councillor Handbook and the 
Meetings Practice Note and Bluett’s Local Government Handbook NSW.
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Model Councillor Training and Development Policy

Purpose
The purpose of this policy is to demonstrate 
X Council’s commitment to ensuring that the 
mayor and councillors have access to training 
and educational opportunities which will assist 
them to develop and maintain the skills and 
knowledge required to effectively perform their 
civic role and responsibilities under the Local 
Government Act 1993 (‘the Act’).

Scope
This policy applies to all councillors of X 
Council, including the mayor.

Policy 
Statement of commitment
X Council is committed to developing 
an induction and ongoing professional 
development program for the mayor and 
councillors to ensure they can fulfil their 
statutory roles and responsibilities. As part of 
this program, the general manager will work 
with the mayor and each councillor to develop 
a professional development plan that identifies 
and addresses the specific gaps in skills and 
knowledge that the mayor and councillors and/
or Council has recognised as needing attention.

Induction program
X Council will develop an induction program 
for new and returning councillors as well as 
a supplementary program for the mayor to 
ensure they are provided all the information 
they need to effectively fulfil their roles in the 
first few months of Council’s term and feel 
confident in their ability to do so. The induction 
program will cover:

 • their roles, responsibilities and formal 
obligations 

 • what the council does and how the 
council operates, including an overview of 
integrated planning and reporting and land-
use planning

 • their financial management responsibilities

 • the key issues and tasks for the new council

 • the legislation, rules, principles and political 
context under which councils operate

 • Council’s organisational structure and the 
roles and responsibilities of staff

 • key Council policies and procedures they 
must comply with

 • the role of Council meetings and how to 
participate effectively in them

 • the support available to the mayor and 
councillors and where they can go to get 
more information or assistance, 

 • how to speak to the media appropriately and 
effectively, and

 • information on the process for electing the 
mayor (where applicable).

In the case of the mayor, the program will 
also cover:

 • the role and responsibilities of the mayor as 
leader of the council, including ceremonial 
functions

 • how to chair Council meetings

 • the roles and functions of regional and other 
external bodies Council is a member of

 • how to oversee the general manager, 
including understanding recruitment 
processes and leading performance reviews 

 • how to lead Council’s integrated planning 
and reporting, and

 • how to manage code of conduct complaints 
about the general manager.

The mayor and councillors must have a working 
knowledge and understanding of these areas 
by the end of the induction program.

The induction program will also include 
activities to help the governing body establish 
itself as a cohesive and collaborative team 
focused on a common purpose with shared 
values and goals. Activities will aim to ensure 
mayors and councillors, as a governing body, 
understand the need to:

 • build relationships with each other based on 
trust and mutual respect
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 • contribute to a positive and ethical culture 
within the governing body

 • encourage and facilitate collaboration with 
each other 

 • work towards consensus as members of 
the governing body for the benefit of the 
community 

 • win concessions without damaging 
relationships within the governing body

 • champion and communicate the council’s 
vision and strategic plans as a cohesive team

 • respect the diversity of skills and 
experiences on the governing body, and

 • communicate and uphold the decisions of 
Council in a respectful way, even if their own 
position was not adopted.

Activities should also help the mayor, as the 
leader of the governing body, to:

 • act as a stabilising influence and show 
leadership, and

 • promote a culture of integrity and 
accountability within Council and when 
representing Council in the community and 
elsewhere.

The mayor and councillors must attend all 
induction sessions when first elected. Returning 
councillors (including the mayor) must also 
attend all induction sessions to ensure the 
effective and cohesive operation of the 
governing body.

X Council will evaluate the induction program 
at the end of each Council term to determine 
whether it has achieved these outcomes, and to 
identify and address areas for improvement.

Assessment of skills and 
knowledge
The minimum skills and knowledge required 
of councillors to perform their roles and 
responsibilities effectively are listed at the end 
of this policy. Council will conduct a needs 
analysis prior to each new term to determine 
whether this list is appropriate and whether it 
reflects Council’s needs.

An assessment will be made of the skills and 
knowledge each councillor brings to their role 
against these minimum requirements to identify 
any gaps that their professional development 
plan should address. 

To identify any gaps, Council will obtain 
this information through activities such as 
self-assessments, questionnaires, councillor 
feedback, observations during Council 
meetings and workshops and interviews.

Ongoing professional 
development program
A professional development plan will be 
developed for the mayor and each councillor 
to address the gaps identified. The plans 
will include:

 • the outcome of Council’s needs analysis

 • the knowledge and skills the councillor or 
mayor brings to their roles

 • the development needs of each councillor 
or mayor and the priority given to each 
development need 

 • how the knowledge or skill will be developed 
(i.e. on-the-job training, mentoring, internal 
training, external training, briefing session 
etc.), and 

 • operational information such as timeframes 
for development, who is responsible for 
organising training/development, approval 
processes and estimated costs.

Training activities may include:

 • in-house workshops and briefing sessions 
conducted by the council with appropriate 
staff, trainers and guest speakers

 • attendance at external training courses and 
events, for example, seminars, conferences 
and workshops

 • practical on-the-job training

 • printed materials such as training booklets

 • mentoring and/or

 • online training resources.
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The professional development plans are to be 
developed in consultation with the mayor, each 
individual councillor and the governing body as 
a whole, and the general manager. 

X Council will evaluate the professional 
development program at the end of each 
council term to assess whether it was effective 
in assisting the mayor and councillors to 
develop the skills and knowledge listed in 
Council’s needs analysis.

Responsibilities
The mayor and each councillor are responsible 
for making themselves available to attend 
any development activities identified in the 
professional development plan. The mayor 
and all councillors must make all reasonable 
endeavours to attend and participate in 
the induction sessions and professional 
development activities arranged for them 
during the term of the council.

[Identify the role or responsible staff member] 
is responsible for planning, scheduling 
and facilitating induction and professional 
development sessions for the mayor 
and councillors in consultation with the 
general manager.

The general manager has overall responsibility 
for X Council’s induction and professional 
development program.

Notification of induction and 
professional development 
activities to the mayor and 
councillors 
The mayor and councillors will be provided 
with as much notice as possible for 
upcoming induction and professional 
development activities.

Budget
An annual budget allocation will be provided 
to support the training and professional 
development activities undertaken by the 
mayor and councillors. Expenditure will be 
monitored and reported quarterly.

Approval of training and/or 
expenses
The mayor and councillors are encouraged 
to identify professional development 
opportunities and may seek approval from the 
general manager to attend any such activities. 

Approval of training and payment and 
reimbursement for expenses relating to a 
councillor’s registration and attendance at 
training, will be determined in accordance 
with X Council’s Councillor Expenses and 
Facilities Policy.

Reporting
[Identify responsible team or unit] will maintain 
data pertaining to councillor induction 
and professional development activities 
and attendance.

The general manager of X Council will:

 • report to the first Council meeting held 
after the induction program is delivered the 
activities offered to the mayor and each 
councillor as part of the induction program, 
and whether or not they participated in them

 • report to the first Council meeting held 
after 30 June each year identifying the 
professional development activities offered 
to the mayor and each councillor in the 
year to 30 June and whether or not they 
participated in them, and 

 • publish these reports on Council’s website.

Model Councillor Training and Development Policy
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Skills and Knowledge Required by Councillors and Mayors

The core skills and knowledge required by 
mayors and councillors to exercise their roles 
and responsibilities are listed below. These 
are drawn from the Municipal Association of 
Victoria’s Councillor Competency Framework 
(but have been adapted to reflect NSW 
statutory and operational requirements) and 
the Local Government Capability Framework 
developed by Local Government NSW. 

Additional attributes, skills and knowledge 
are included for mayors given the additional 
responsibilities of their roles under the Act. 
Induction and professional development in 
these areas can be included in the mayor’s 
supplementary program if required.

Highest priority
A ranking system has been applied to the 
skills, attributes and knowledge needed by 
councillors and mayors to reflect the influence 
each has on how successfully a person will be 
able to fulfil these roles.

To ‘understand’ means to know and be able 
to apply this knowledge in a practical way 
without the assistance of others. This refers 
to the knowledge that a councillor or mayor 
must have and be able to apply if they are to be 
successful in their civic role.

To ‘be able to’ means is capable of 
demonstrating in action without the assistance 
of others. This phrase is generally used in 
connection with the personal attributes or 
skills that a councillor or mayor must have in 
order to fulfil their roles effectively.

Skills, attributes and knowledge that mayors and 
councillors need to ‘understand’ or ‘be able to’ 
demonstrate are classified the highest priority 
because a councillor or mayor will not be able 
to fulfil their roles or responsibilities effectively 
if they do not know or are unable to apply this 
skill, attribute or knowledge in a practical way 
while performing their civic duties.

Lower priority
To ‘have knowledge of’ means to know that 
this information/policy exists and affects their 
role, and to be able to source more information 
or assistance if application is needed. These 
attributes, skills or knowledge are considered 
a lower priority as they can be acquired 
when needed.
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A. LEADERSHIP

Mayors and 
councillors

are able to:

 • fulfil their civic roles in accordance with the Act

 • be positive and unifying members of the governing body

 • provide effective and positive leadership to their community, as well as the 
council administration

 • build relationships with a diverse range of people in the community

 • listen to, understand and promote the interests of the community they 
represent, particularly on complex issues 

 • initiate, support and champion change in their community

 • work with external stakeholders for the benefit of the community, including 
regional bodies, organisations, private businesses and other levels 
of government 

 • represent council and the community in the media effectively.

understand:

 – the prescribed roles and responsibilities of the governing body, councillors 
and the mayor

 – each of the guiding principles under the Act 

 – the key accountabilities of the council to the community, the NSW 
Government and oversight agencies. 

have knowledge of:

 • council’s media policy

 • the regional and other bodies the council is a member of and the roles of 
those bodies.

Mayors  
(additional)

are able to:

 • lead and unify the governing body, particularly through contentious issues and 
decision-making

 • promote a positive community and council culture

 • represent council at community events and on regional/ external bodies to the 
benefit of the community.

understand:

 • the prescribed role and responsibilities of the mayor under the Act

 • the mayor’s civic and ceremonial role and the functions they exercise under it

 • how to be an effective leader.
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B. COMMUNICATION AND WORKING WITH OTHERS

Mayors and 
councillors

are able to:

 • communicate effectively with individuals and groups and adjust their 
communication styles to cater to different audiences

 • work collaboratively and cooperatively with other councillors, the mayor, the 
general manager, council staff, external stakeholders and community members

 • listen to others and ask appropriate respectful questions

 • show sensitivity to religious and cultural differences

 • be open to the advice of others and reflect on and integrate feedback

 • negotiate and resolve differences respectfully and sensitively, with the aim of 
reaching consensus and finding common ground

 • manage their emotions and remain objective in challenging situations.

understand:

 • the functions of the general manager and council staff prescribed under the Act

 • the different roles of the governing body and the general manager in relation to 
council’s organisational structure and statutory requirements for consultation 

 • the governing body’s responsibility for appointing the general manager and 
monitoring their performance 

 • the mayor’s responsibility for exercising day-to-day oversight of the general 
manager and for leading performance reviews of the general manager 

 • the strategic nature of their role compared to the operational roles and 
responsibilities of the general manager and council staff

 • the importance of good working relationships with the general manager to the 
effective performance of the council

 • the responsibility of the general manager and staff to provide timely information 
and advice and the administrative and professional support necessary to 
effectively discharge their functions

 • the council’s adopted protocol for interaction with council staff 

 • how to forward constituent and other action requests or information requests to 
council staff 

 • their obligations under the council’s code of conduct and the Work Health 
and Safety Act 2011 in their dealings with and behaviour towards the general 
manager and other council staff.

have knowledge of:

 • the council’s workforce management strategy 

 • each of the functional areas of responsibility of the council

 • the general manager’s contract of employment and the need for key 
performance indicators for the general manager to align with council’s 
integrated planning and reporting goals

 • the Guidelines for the Appointment and Oversight of General Managers.

Skills and Knowledge Required by Councillors and Mayors
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Mayors 
(additional)

are able to:

 • foster collaboration between councillors to build a unified governing body

 • support productive working relationships between the governing body and the 
general manager

 • guide debate towards achieving acceptable outcomes

 • build a productive working relationship with the general manager based on clear 
expectations, trust and respect

 • provide strategic direction and day-to-day oversight of the general manager 

 • build partnerships between council and external stakeholders that are of 
strategic value to council and benefit the broader region.

understand:

 • how to lead the general manager’s performance review and recruitment.

C. ETHICAL CONDUCT AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Mayors and 
councillors

are able to:

 • follow all legislation, rules, policies and the code of conduct applicable to 
councillors and mayors

 • observe the highest standards of personal and ethical conduct at all times

 • be honest, transparent and accountable for their words, actions, decisions 
and behaviour

 • demonstrate council values

 • identify and manage different types of conflicts of interest

 • treat all people in the community equally

 • maintain confidentiality

 • contribute to a positive and ethical culture within the governing body 

 • take responsibility and be accountable for fulfilling the roles of councillor and 
mayor to the best of their ability

 • uphold the principles of social justice.

understand:

 • their ethical obligations under the council’s code of conduct 

 • their obligations under council’s councillor expenses and facilities policy.

have knowledge of:

 • the process for making and managing code of conduct complaints under the 
Procedures for the Administration of the Model Code of Conduct for Local 
Councils in NSW

 • the consequences of a breach of council’s code of conduct

 • the definition of “corrupt conduct” under the Independent Commission 
Against Corruption Act 1988 and the potential consequences of engaging in 
corrupt conduct. 

Mayors 
(additional)

are able to:

 • manage code of conduct complaints about the general manager

 • promote a culture of integrity and ethical conduct within council and when 
representing council in the community and elsewhere.
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D. GOVERNANCE

Mayors and 
councillors

understand:

 • what is good governance and its importance

 • the statutory framework that applies to local government

 • the role of the council’s Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee and the role of 
internal audit

have knowledge of:

 • council’s statutory compliance and risk management frameworks

 • council’s obligations in relation to the management of council information under 
the State Records Act 1988, the Government Information (Public Access) Act 
2009 and the Privacy and Personal Information Act 1998 and understand their 
personal responsibilities under that legislation

 • council’s complaints management processes

E. STRATEGIC PLANNING

Mayors and 
councillors

are able to:

 • contribute effectively to integrated planning and reporting at council 

 • contribute to and communicate the strategic plan, goals, priorities and vision 
for the community

 • make resourcing and budget decisions and strategies to achieve these goals

 • take account of the wider context and long-term impacts on future generations 
when considering options

 • participate effectively in community engagement processes relating to 
strategic planning

 • set performance goals that include quality measures, timeframes and 
budgets for delivery

 • consider the impact of changes (e.g. government policy, economic conditions) 
on council’s strategic plan and goals

 • identify potential risks to the achievement of council goals and take steps to 
address these

 • understand council performance reports and develop strategies to 
improve performance.

Skills and Knowledge Required by Councillors and Mayors
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understand:

 • the statutory requirements for integrated planning and reporting, including its 
conceptual basis and the guiding principles under the Act 

 • the relevance of integrated planning and reporting to the general principles and 
decision-making principles prescribed under the Act

 • the prescribed roles and responsibilities of the governing body, individual 
councillors, the mayor and the general manager in relation to integrated 
planning and reporting

 • the community strategic plan and the process that led to its development, 
as well as its role in informing council’s activities over the current term of 
the council

 • council’s delivery program, operational plan, resourcing strategy and 
community engagement strategy

 • the reporting mechanisms under the integrated planning and reporting 
framework and the importance of clear and measurable key performance 
indicators to ensure progress towards council’s goals can be measured. 

Mayors 
(additional)

are able to:

 • work with the general manager to translate the council’s strategic direction into 
a delivery program and operational plan

 • continuously monitor progress against the delivery program and operational 
plan, ensuring the resourcing strategy is appropriate.

F. DECISION-MAKING

Mayors and 
councillors

are able to:

 • make and uphold considered, timely and transparent decisions based on merit 
and the best interests of the community as a whole

 • exercise good judgement

 • research, understand and evaluate a wide range of information 

 • understand how to read and interpret council business papers and contribute 
constructively to debate in council

 • work towards consensus as a member of the governing body for the benefit of 
the community

 • weigh up the following when making decisions:

 – financial and budget implications (including value for money)

 – legislative and regulatory requirements

 – community and social impacts

 – environmental, social and economic sustainability

 – the wider context 

 – the long-term impacts on future generations.
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understand:

 • the purpose of council and committee meetings

 • the meeting rules prescribed under the Act and the council’s code of 
meeting practice

 • how to use closed meetings appropriately

 • the importance and attributes of orderly, effective and efficient meetings, and 
their individual roles in creating these types of meetings

 • the importance of preparing for meetings, including attending pre-meeting 
briefings and reading business papers

 • recognise the role of the Chair.

have knowledge of:

 • the committee structure adopted by the council and the functions of each of the 
council’s committees

 • the delegations made by the council.

Mayors are able to:

 • lead constructive, orderly council meetings with a view to reaching consensus.

understand:

 • their role and responsibilities as Chair. 

G. LAND-USE PLANNING AND REGULATORY FUNCTIONS

Mayors and 
councillors

are able to:

 • make appropriate land-use planning and development approval decisions.

understand:

 • the role of the council in relation to land use planning and development approvals. 

have knowledge of:

 • the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 and relevant land use 
planning concepts 

 • the environmental planning instruments that apply to the council’s area and the 
development control plans adopted by the council

 • the role of the Minister for Planning, the Department of Planning and 
Environment and the Greater Sydney Commission (where relevant) in relation to 
land use planning

 • the development assessment and approval process and the statutory criteria 
prescribed under section 79C of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 1979

 • the delegations made with respect to development assessments and approvals

 • the role of Joint Regional Planning Panels and Independent Hearing and 
Assessment Panels in relation to development approvals. 

Skills and Knowledge Required by Councillors and Mayors
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H. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

Mayors and 
councillors

are able to:

 • use basic financial terminology and demonstrate an understanding of recurrent 
and capital spending

 • interpret information in council’s financial reports

 • make informed contributions to debate about the allocation of financial 
resources to community priorities

 • display an awareness of financial risk and exposure and solutions to 
mitigate these

 • identify and discuss the implications of council’s long-term financial plan, 
audited financial statements and budget reviews.

understand:

 • the statutory responsibility of the governing body to ensure as far as possible 
the financial sustainability of the council

 • the statutory responsibility of the governing body to determine and adopt 
a rating and revenue policy and operational plans that support the optimal 
allocation of the council’s resources for the benefit of the local area

 • the guiding principles of sound financial management under the Act

 • council’s long-term financial plan and other components of the council’s 
resourcing strategy

 • financial reporting requirements 

 • their responsibilities in relation to the review and approval of capital expenditure

 • the statutory principle that councils should manage lands and other assets so 
that current and future local community needs can be met in an affordable way. 

have knowledge of:

 • council’s revenue sources

 • the role of external audit and the Audit Office

 • the tendering requirements under the Act and their responsibilities in relation to 
the acceptance of tenders.

I. ENVIRONMENTAL AND ASSET MANAGEMENT 

Mayors and 
councillors

are able to:

 • meet their obligations as custodians of council and community assets.

understand:

 • the council’s public land management responsibilities and the statutory 
requirements that apply to public land management

 • the importance of sound asset management and its impact on council finances

 • asset management planning requirements

 • the council’s natural resource management responsibilities and the regulatory 
frameworks under which it exercises its functions.

have knowledge of:

 • the principles of ecologically sustainable development

 • council’s asset management strategy.
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Reporting Template

Councillor name:

Induction/Professional Development activities for the period from:

(start date) to (end date)

Activity Applicable knowledge 
or skills developed

Date of activity Participated (Yes/No) 
if no, provide reasons
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HILLTOPS COUNCIL ORDINARY MEETING AGENDA 

28 February 2018 

Held in the Hilltops Council, Boorowa Chamber, 6-8 Market Street, Boorowa 
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18/13 – MODEL CODE OF MEETING PRACTICE 
 

Reference:   File No. 33.00   
Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate and Community 
 

PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Council with information on the 
proposed changes to the Code of Meeting Practice. 
 

REPORT 
 

The Office of Local Government has prepared a consultation draft on the Model 
Code of Meeting Practice. The Code has been under development for 2 years 
and came about due to concerns over abuse of procedures during meetings in 
some Councils. 
 

The Code is designed to tighten up the rules and procedures for Council meetings.  
It strengthens up the procedures around giving notice of business to be 
considered at Council meetings. For example, the Council must limit the number 
of notices of motion an individual Councillor can submit for a meeting. Where a 
notice of motion has policy, financial, legal or strategic implications the General 
Manager can prepare a report in relation to the notice of motion or by written 
notice sent to all Councillors with the business papers for the meeting defer 
consideration of the matter by the Council to such as specified in the notice, 
pending the preparation of such a report. 
 

If the notice of motion is for the expenditure of funds for works and services other 
than those already provided for in the Council’s operational plan, the source of 
funding must be identified.  If the source of funding is not identified the general 
manager must prepare a report or by written notice to the councillors defer 
consideration of the item until the General Manager prepares a report. 
 

The Code now mandates that a pre-meeting briefing session prior to each Council 
meeting.  The meetings are presided over by the General Manager and 
Councillors are required to make all reasonable efforts to attend pre-meeting 
briefing sessions.  Councillors must not use pre-meeting briefing sessions to make 
preliminary decisions and any debate must be left to the formal Council meeting. 
Conflicts of interest must be managed in the usual manner at pre-meeting briefing 
sessions. 
 

The Council must hold a public forum prior to each ordinary meeting of the 
Council for the purpose of hearing oral submissions from the public. Council must 
also set a limit on the number of items a member of the public can speak on as 
well as limiting the number of “for” or “against”. Further, Councillors and 
nominated candidates at federal, state or local government elections are not 
permitted to speak at a public forum.  Legal representatives acting on behalf of 
others are required to identify their status as a legal representative if they are 
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speaking at a public forum.  The General Manager is able to refuse an application 
to speak at a public forum. 
Approved speakers are able to register any written, visual or audio material to be 
presented in support of their address and their equipment needs. Again, the 
General Manager may refuse to allow such material to be presented. 
 

Speakers at a public forum cannot digress from the item on the agenda. The 
Chairperson is to direct the speaker not to digress. If the speaker fails to observe 
this direction, the speaker will not be further heard. Public forums are not to be part 
of the Council or committee meeting. 
 

A Councillor (including the Chairperson), may ask questions of a speaker following 
their address. Questions put to a speaker must be direct, succinct and without 
argument. The speaker does not have to answer the question. The Council must 
put a time limit on questions to a speaker. 
 

Speakers at public forums must refrain from engaging in disorderly conduct, 
publicly alleging breaches of the code of conduct or making other potentially 
defamatory statements. Where this behaviour occurs, the Chairperson may 
require the person to withdraw and unreservedly apologise. If the person does not 
comply with this request the Chairperson may immediately require the person to 
stop speaking.  The General Manager may refuse further applications to speak at 
public forums from community members who engage in inappropriate behaviour 
for such a period the General Manager considers appropriate. 
 

The Code does not enable speakers to speak on items not contained in the 
business paper. 
 

The Code mandates the webcasting of all Council meetings and committee 
meetings. (apart from parts closed to the public under Section 10A of Act). All 
meetings of the Council and committees are also to be audio recorded. It is 
unclear whether or not this applies to the closed part of meeting including those 
parts where staff are excluded. 
 

The new code also sets out the general order of business. All voting at Council 
meetings is to be recorded with the names of Councillors who voted for or against 
a motion or amendment. 
 

A new section on “dealing with items by exception” has been added.  The Council 
is able to resolve to adopt multiple items of business on the agenda by way of a 
single resolution.  This would enable the streamlining of large business papers. 
 

The new Code has a new section on Expulsion from meetings.  A Chairperson can 
expel a person from the meeting but a Councillor can only be expelled by a 
resolution of Council.   
 

The rescinding or altering of Council decisions is also strengthened as well as a new 
section on recommitting resolutions to correct an error.  In the Code the Council 
must specify the time at which meetings must conclude.  The Council can extend 
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the time for the meeting but if no extensions is called by the specified time then 
the meeting must be adjourned and reconvened at a later date. 
 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

 
 Local Government Act  
 

CONSULTATION 
 

The Office of Local Government have prepared a consultation draft and are 
seeking submissions from Councils.  Once a new Code is finalised for the Hilltops 
Council it will be subject to a 30-day public consultation period. 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Council’s Code of Meeting Practice will be required to be updated in line with 
the Model Code. Council is required to adopt all of the provision in the model 
code.  The proposed code strengthens the processes for the running of Council 
meetings. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 
Attachment 1 - Model Code of Meeting Practice for Local Councils in NSW – 

Consultation Draft December 2017. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that Council;  
 

1. Note the report and ask Councillors provide feedback on the guidelines so 
a submission can be prepared; and 

2. If no feedback is given, then the Council write to the Office of Local 
Government, saying it is in broad agreement with the content of the Draft 
Code of Meeting Practice, Consultation Draft, December 2017. 
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This Model Code of Meeting Practice for Local Councils in 
NSW (the Model Meeting Code) is made under section 360 
of the Local Government Act 1993 (the Act) and the Local 
Government (General) Regulation 2005 (the Regulation). 

This code applies to all meetings of councils and committees of councils of which all the 
members are councillors (committees of council). Council committees whose members include 
persons other than councillors may adopt their own rules for meetings unless the council 
determines otherwise. 

Councils must adopt a code of meeting practice that incorporates the mandatory provisions of the 
Model Meeting Code. 

A council’s adopted code of meeting practice may also incorporate the non-mandatory 
provisions of the Model Meeting Code and other supplementary provisions. However, a code of 
meeting practice adopted by a council must not contain provisions that are inconsistent with the 
mandatory provisions of this Model Meeting Code.

The provisions of the Model Meeting Code that are not mandatory are indicated in red font.

A council and a committee of the council of which all the members are councillors must conduct 
its meetings in accordance with the code of meeting practice adopted by the council.
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2.1 Council and committee meetings should be:

Transparent Decisions are made in a way that is open and accountable.

Informed Decisions are made based on relevant, quality information.

Inclusive Decisions respect the diverse needs and interests of the 
local community.

Principled Decisions are informed by the principles prescribed under Chapter 3 
of the Act.

Trusted  The community has confidence that councillors and staff act ethically 
and make decisions in the interests of the whole community.

Respectful Councillors, staff and meeting attendees treat each other with respect.

Effective Meetings are well organised, effectively run and skilfully chaired.

Orderly  Councillors, staff and meeting attendees behave in a way that 
contributes to the orderly conduct of the meeting.
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Timing of ordinary 
council meetings
3.1  The council shall, by resolution, set the 

frequency, time, date and place of its 
ordinary meetings. 

  Note: Under section 365 of the Act, 
councils are required to meet at least 
ten (10) times each year, each time in 
a different month unless the Minister 
for Local Government has approved a 
reduction in the number of times that 
a council is required to meet each year 
under section 365A.

Extraordinary meetings
3.2  If the mayor receives a request in writing, 

signed by at least two (2) councillors, 
the mayor must call an extraordinary 
meeting of the council to be held as soon 
as practicable, but in any event, no more 
than fourteen (14) days after receipt of 
the request. The mayor can be one of the 
two councillors requesting the meeting.

  Note: Clause 3.2 reflects section 366 of 
the Act.

3.3  The mayor or the general manager, in 
consultation with the mayor, may call an 
extraordinary meeting without the need 
to obtain the signature of two councillors 
to consider urgent business.

3.4  For the purpose of clause 3.3, urgent 
business is any matter that, in the opinion 
of the mayor or the general manager, 
requires a decision by the council before 
the next scheduled ordinary meeting of 
the council.

Notice to the public of 
council meetings 
3.5  The council must give notice to the public 

of the time, date and place of each of 
its meetings, including extraordinary 
meetings and of each meeting of 
committees of the council. 

  Note: Clause 3.5 reflects section 9(1) of 
the Act.

3.6  For the purposes of clause 3.5, notice 
of a meeting of the council and of a 
committee of council is to be published 
before the meeting takes place. The 
notice must be:

 a)  published on the council’s website, 
and

 b) published:

  i)  where practicable, in a local 
newspaper or in a newspaper 
circulating throughout the 
state (or both), as determined 
by the council, or

  ii)  in such other manner as is 
determined by the council, 
with the object of bringing 
notice of the meeting to the 
attention of as many people 
as possible.

3.7  For the purposes of clause 3.5, notice of 
more than one (1) meeting may be given 
in the same notice.

9
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Notice to councillors 
of ordinary council 
meetings 
3.8  The general manager must send to each 

councillor, at least three (3) days before 
each meeting of the council, a notice 
specifying the time, date and place at 
which the meeting is to be held, and the 
business proposed to be considered at 
the meeting.

  Note: Clause 3.8 reflects section 367(1) 
of the Act.

3.9  The notice and the agenda for, and the 
business papers relating to, the meeting 
may be given to councillors in electronic 
form, but only if all councillors have 
facilities to access the notice, agenda and 
business papers in that form.

  Note: Clause 3.9 reflects section 367(3) 
of the Act.

Notice to councillors of 
extraordinary meetings
3.10   Notice of less than three (3) days may be 

given to councillors of an extraordinary 
meeting of the council in cases of 
emergency.

  Note: Clause 3.10 reflects section 367(2) 
of the Act.

Giving notice of 
business to be 
considered at council 
meetings 
3.11  A councillor may give notice of any 

business they wish to be considered by 
the council at its next ordinary meeting 
by way of a notice of motion. To be 
included on the agenda of the meeting, 
the notice of motion must be in writing 
and must be submitted [council to 
specify notice period required] business 
days before the meeting is to be held. 

3.12  A councillor may, in writing to the general 
manager, request the withdrawal of a 
notice of motion submitted by them 
prior to its inclusion in the agenda and 
business paper for the meeting at which 
it is to be considered.

3.13  A councillor may submit no more than 
[number to be specified by the council] 
notices of motion to be considered at 
each ordinary meeting of the council. 

3.14  If the general manager considers 
that a notice of motion submitted by 
a councillor for consideration at an 
ordinary meeting of the council has legal, 
strategic, financial or policy implications 
which should be taken into consideration 
by the meeting, the general manager may 
either:

 (a)  prepare a report in relation to the 
notice of motion for inclusion with 
the business papers for the meeting 
at which the notice of motion is to 
be considered by the council, or

 (b)  by written notice sent to all 
councillors with the business 
papers for the meeting for which 
the notice of motion has been 
submitted, defer consideration of 
the matter by the council to such 
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a date specified in the notice, 
pending the preparation of such a 
report.

3.15  A notice of motion for the expenditure 
of funds on works and/or services other 
than those already provided for in the 
council’s current adopted operational 
plan must identify the source of funding 
for the expenditure that is the subject 
of the notice of motion. If the notice 
of motion does not identify a funding 
source, the general manager must either:

 (a)  prepare a report on the availability 
of funds for implementing the 
motion if adopted, or 

 (b)  by written notice sent to all 
councillors with the business 
papers for the meeting for which 
the notice of motion has been 
submitted, defer consideration of 
the matter by the council to such 
a date specified in the notice, 
pending the preparation of such 
a report.

Questions with notice
3.16  A councillor may, by way of a notice 

submitted under clause 3.11, ask a 
question for response by the general 
manager about the performance or 
operations of the council. 

3.17  A councillor is not permitted to ask a 
question with notice under clause 3.16 
that comprises a complaint against the 
general manager or a member of staff 
of the council, or a question that implies 
wrongdoing by the general manager or a 
member of staff of the council.

3.18  The general manager or their nominee 
may respond to a question with notice 
submitted under clause 3.16 by way of a 
report included in the business papers 
for the relevant meeting of the council or 
orally at the meeting. 

Agenda and business 
papers for ordinary 
meetings
3.19  The general manager must cause the 

agenda for a meeting of the council or a 
committee of the council to be prepared 
as soon as practicable before the 
meeting. 

3.20   The general manager must ensure that 
the agenda for an ordinary meeting of 
the council states: 

 (a)  all matters to be dealt with arising 
out of the proceedings of previous 
meetings of the council, and 

 (b)  if the mayor is the chairperson 
– any matter or topic that the 
chairperson proposes, at the time 
when the agenda is prepared, to 
put to the meeting, and

 (c)  all matters, including matters that 
are the subject of staff reports 
and reports of committees, to be 
considered at the meeting, and 

 (d)  any business of which due notice 
has been given under clause 3.11. 

3.21  Nothing in clause 3.20 limits the powers 
of the mayor to put a mayoral minute to a 
meeting under clause 9.6.

3.22  The general manager must not include 
in the agenda for a meeting of the 
council any business of which due notice 
has been given if, in the opinion of the 
general manager, the business is, or the 
implementation of the business would 
be, unlawful. The general manager must 
report, without giving details of the item 
of business, any such exclusion to the 
next meeting of the council.
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3.23  Where the agenda includes the receipt 
of information or discussion of other 
matters that, in the opinion of the general 
manager, is likely to take place when 
the meeting is closed to the public, the 
general manager must ensure that the 
agenda of the meeting:

 (a)  identifies the relevant item of 
business and indicates that it is of 
such a nature (without disclosing 
details of the information to be 
considered when the meeting is 
closed to the public), and

 (b)  states the grounds under section 
10A(2) of the Act relevant to the 
item of business.

  Note: Clause 3.23 reflects  
section 9(2A)(a) of the Act.

3.24  The general manager must ensure that 
the details of any item of business which, 
in the opinion of the general manager, is 
likely to be considered when the meeting 
is closed to the public, are included in a 
business paper provided to councillors 
for the meeting concerned. Such details 
must not be included in the business 
papers made available to the public, and 
must not be disclosed by a councillor or 
by any other person to another person 
who is not authorised to have that 
information.

Availability of agenda 
and business papers to 
the public 
3.25  Copies of the agenda and the associated 

business papers, such as correspondence 
and reports for meetings of the council 
and committees of council, are to be 
published on the council’s website, and 
must be made available to the public 
for inspection, or for taking away by any 
person free of charge at the offices of 
the council, at the relevant meeting and 
at such other venues determined by the 
council. 

  Note: Clause 3.25 reflects section 9(2) 
and (4) of the Act.

3.26  Clause 3.25 does not apply to the 
business papers for items of business 
that the general manager has identified 
under clause 3.23 as being likely to be 
considered when the meeting is closed to 
the public.

  Note: Clause 3.26 reflects section 9(2A)(b) 
of the Act.

3.27  For the purposes of clause 3.25, copies 
of agendas and business papers must be 
published on the council’s website and 
made available to the public at a time 
that is as close as possible to the time 
they are available to councillors. 

  Note: Clause 3.27 reflects section 9(3) of 
the Act.

3.28  A copy of an agenda, or of an associated 
business paper made available under 
clause 3.25, may in addition be given or 
made available in electronic form. 

  Note: Clause 3.28 reflects section 9(5) of 
the Act.
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Agenda and business 
papers for extraordinary 
meetings 
3.29  The general manager must ensure that 

the agenda for an extraordinary meeting 
of the council deals only with the matters 
stated in the notice of the meeting. 

3.30  Despite clause 3.29, business may be 
considered at an extraordinary meeting 
of the council, even though due notice of 
the business has not been given, if: 

 (a)  a motion is passed to have the 
business considered at the meeting, 
and 

 (b)  the business to be considered is 
ruled by the chairperson to be of 
great urgency. 

3.31  A motion moved under clause 3.30(a) can 
be moved without notice but only after 
the business notified in the agenda for 
the extraordinary meeting has been dealt 
with. 

3.32  Despite clauses 10.19–10.27, only the 
mover of a motion moved under clause 
3.30(a) can speak to the motion before it 
is put. 

3.33  A motion of dissent cannot be moved 
against a ruling of the chairperson under 
clause 3.30(b) on whether a matter is of 
great urgency.

Pre-meeting briefing 
sessions
3.34   Prior to each ordinary meeting of the 

council, the general manager will arrange 
a pre-meeting briefing session to brief 
councillors on the items of business to be 
considered at the meeting. Pre-meeting 
briefing sessions may also be held for 
extraordinary meetings of the council and 
meetings of committees of the council.

3.35  Pre-meeting briefing sessions are to be 
held in the absence of the public.

3.36  The general manager or a member of 
staff nominated by the general manager 
is to preside at pre-meeting briefing 
sessions.

3.37  Councillors (including the mayor) are to 
make all reasonable efforts to attend pre-
meeting briefing sessions.

3.38  Councillors must not use pre-meeting 
briefing sessions to debate or make 
preliminary decisions on items of 
business they are being briefed on, and 
any debate and decision-making must be 
left to the formal council or committee 
meeting at which the item of business is 
to be considered.

3.39  Councillors (including the mayor) must 
disclose and manage any conflicts of 
interest they may have in relation to any 
item of business that is the subject of a 
briefing at a pre-meeting briefing session, 
in the same way that they are required to 
do at a council or committee meeting.
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4.1  The council will hold a public forum 
prior to each ordinary meeting of the 
council for the purpose of hearing oral 
submissions from members of the public 
on items of business to be considered 
at the meeting. Public forums may also 
be held prior to extraordinary council 
meetings and meetings of committees of 
the council.

4.2  Public forums are to be chaired by the 
mayor or their nominee.

4.3  To speak at a public forum, a person must 
first make an application to the council in 
the approved form. Applications to speak 
at the public forum must be received 
by [date and time to be specified by 
the council] before the date on which 
the public forum is to be held, and must 
identify the item of business on the 
agenda of the council meeting the person 
wishes to speak on, and whether they 
wish to speak ‘for’ or ‘against’ the item.

4.4  A person may apply to speak on no more 
than [number to be specified by the 
council] items of business on the agenda 
of the council meeting. 

4.5  Nominated candidates at federal, state or 
local government elections and serving 
councillors are not permitted to speak at 
a public forum.

4.6  Legal representatives acting on behalf of 
others are not to be permitted to speak at 
a public forum unless they identify their 
status as a legal representative when 
applying to speak at the public forum.

4.7  The general manager or their delegate 
may refuse an application to speak at a 
public forum.

4.8  No more than [number to be specified 
by the council] speakers are to be 
permitted to speak ‘for’ or ‘against’ each 
item of business on the agenda for the 
council meeting.

4.9  If more than the permitted number 
of speakers applies to speak ‘for’ or 
‘against’ any item of business, the 
general manager or their delegate may 
request the speakers to nominate from 
among themselves the persons who are 
to address the council on the item of 
business. If the speakers are not able to 
agree on whom to nominate to address 
the council, the general manager or their 
delegate is to determine who will address 
the council at the public forum.

4.10  Approved speakers at the public forum 
are to register with the council any 
written, visual or audio material to be 
presented in support of their address to 
the council at the public forum, and to 
identify any equipment needs no more 
than [number to be specified by the 
council] days before the public forum. 
The general manager or their delegate 
may refuse to allow such material to be 
presented.

4.11  The general manager or their delegate is 
to determine the order of speakers at the 
public forum.

4.12  Each speaker will be allowed [number 
to be specified by the council] minutes 
to address the council. This time is to be 
strictly enforced by the chairperson. 

4.13  Speakers at public forums must not 
digress from the item on the agenda of 
the council meeting they have applied 
to address the council on. If a speaker 
digresses to irrelevant matters, the 
chairperson is to direct the speaker not 
to so digress. If a speaker fails to observe 
a direction from the chairperson, the 
speaker will not be further heard.

4.14  A councillor (including the chairperson) 
may, through the chairperson, ask 
questions of a speaker following their 
address at a public forum. Questions put 
to a speaker must be direct, succinct and 
without argument.
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4.15  Speakers are under no obligation to 
answer a question put under clause 4.14. 
Answers by the speaker, to each question 
are to be limited to [number to be 
specified by the council] minutes. 

4.16  Speakers at public forums cannot ask 
questions of the council, councillors or 
council staff. 

4.17  The general manager or his or her 
nominee may, with the concurrence of the 
chairperson, address the council for up to 
[number to be specified by the council] 
minutes in response to an address to 
the council at a public forum after the 
address and any subsequent questions 
and answers have been finalised. 

4.18  Where an address made at a public 
forum raises matters that require further 
consideration by council staff, the general 
manager may recommend that the 
council defer consideration of the matter 
pending the preparation of a further 
report on the matters.

4.19  When addressing the council, speakers 
at public forums must comply with this 
code and all other relevant council codes, 
policies and procedures. Speakers must 
refrain from engaging in disorderly 
conduct, publicly alleging breaches of 
the council’s code of conduct or making 
other potentially defamatory statements.

4.20  If the chairperson considers that a 
speaker at a public forum has engaged 
in conduct of the type referred to 
in clause 4.19, the chairperson may 
request the person to refrain from 
the inappropriate behaviour and to 
withdraw and unreservedly apologise 
for any inappropriate comments. Where 
the speaker fails to comply with the 
chairperson’s request, the chairperson 
may immediately require the person to 
stop speaking.

4.21  Clause 4.20 does not limit the ability of 
the chairperson to deal with disorderly 
conduct by speakers at public forums in 
accordance with the provisions of Part 15 
of this code.

4.22  Where a speaker engages in conduct of 
the type referred to in clause 4.19, the 
general manager or their delegate may 
refuse further applications from that 
person to speak at public forums for such 
a period as the general manager or their 
delegate considers appropriate. 

4.23  Councillors (including the mayor) must 
disclose and manage any conflicts of 
interest they may have in relation to any 
item of business that is the subject of an 
address at a public forum, in the same 
way that they are required to do at a 
council or committee meeting.

 Note: Public forums should not be held as part 
of a council or committee meeting. Council or 
committee meetings should be reserved for 
decision-making by the council or committee 
of council.
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Attendance by 
councillors at meetings 
5.1  All councillors must make reasonable 

efforts to attend meetings of the council 
and of committees of the council of which 
they are members.

5.2  A councillor cannot participate in a 
meeting of the council or of a committee 
of the council unless personally present 
at the meeting. 

5.3  Where a councillor is unable to attend 
one or more ordinary meetings of the 
council, the councillor should request that 
the council grant them a leave of absence 
from those meetings. This clause does 
not prevent a councillor from making 
an apology if they are unable to attend 
a meeting. However the acceptance of 
such an apology does not constitute the 
granting of a leave of absence for the 
purposes of this code and the Act.

5.4  A councillor’s request for leave of 
absence from council meetings should, if 
practicable, identify (by date) the meetings 
from which the councillor intends to be 
absent and the grounds upon which the 
leave of absence is being sought.

5.5  The council must act reasonably when 
considering whether to grant a councillor’s 
request for a leave of absence.

5.6  A councillor’s civic office will become 
vacant if the councillor is absent from 
three (3) consecutive ordinary meetings 
of the council without prior leave of the 
council, or leave granted by the council 
at any of the meetings concerned, unless 
the holder is absent because he or she 
has been suspended from office under 
the Act, or because the council has 
been suspended under the Act, or as 
a consequence of a compliance order 
under section 438HA.

  Note: Clause 5.6 reflects section 234(1)(d) 
of the Act.

5.7  A councillor who intends to attend a 
meeting of the council despite having 
been granted leave of absence should, 
if practicable, give the general manager 
at least two (2) days’ notice of their 
intention to attend. 

The quorum for a 
meeting 
5.8  The quorum for a meeting of the council 

is a majority of the councillors of the 
council who hold office at that time and 
are not suspended from office.

  Note: Clause 5.8 reflects section 368(1) 
of the Act.

5.9  Clause 5.8 does not apply if the 
quorum is required to be determined in 
accordance with directions of the Minister 
in a performance improvement order 
issued in respect of the council.

  Note: Clause 5.9 reflects section 368(2) 
of the Act.

5.10  A meeting of the council must be 
adjourned if a quorum is not present: 

 (a)  within half an hour after the time 
designated for the holding of the 
meeting, or 

 (b)  at any time during the meeting.

5.11  In either case, the meeting must be 
adjourned to a time, date and place fixed:

 (a) by the chairperson, or

 (b)  in his or her absence, by the 
majority of the councillors present, 
or

 (c) failing that, by the general manager.
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5.12  The general manager must record in 
the council’s minutes the circumstances 
relating to the absence of a quorum 
(including the reasons for the absence of 
a quorum) at or arising during a meeting 
of the council, together with the names of 
the councillors present. 

5.13  Where, prior to the commencement of 
a meeting, it becomes apparent that 
a quorum may not be present at the 
meeting, or that the safety and welfare of 
councillors, council staff and members of 
the public may be put at risk by attending 
the meeting because of a natural disaster 
(such as, but not limited to flood or 
bushfire), the mayor may, in consultation 
with the general manager and, as far 
as is practicable, with each councillor, 
cancel the meeting. Where a meeting is 
cancelled, notice of the cancellation must 
be published on the council’s website 
and using such other means as will bring 
notice of the cancellation to the attention 
of as many people as possible.

5.14  Where a meeting is cancelled under 
clause 5.13, the business to be considered 
at the meeting may instead be considered 
at an extraordinary meeting called under 
clause 3.3.

Entitlement of the 
public to attend council 
meetings 
5.15  Everyone is entitled to attend a meeting 

of the council and committees of the 
council. The council must ensure that all 
meetings of the council and committees 
of the council are open to the public.

  Note: Clause 5.15 reflects section 10(1) of 
the Act.

5.16  Clause 5.15 does not apply to parts of 
meetings that have been closed to the 
public under section 10A of the Act.

5.17  A person (whether a councillor or another 
person) is not entitled to be present at a 
meeting of the council or a committee of 
the council if expelled from the meeting: 

 (a) by a resolution of the meeting, or 

 (b)  by the person presiding at the 
meeting if the council has, by 
resolution, authorised the person 
presiding to exercise the power of 
expulsion.

  Note: Clause 5.17 reflects section 10(2) of 
the Act.

 Note: If adopted, clauses 15.13 and 15.14 confer 
a standing authorisation on all chairpersons 
of meetings of the council and committees of 
the council to expel persons from meetings. If 
adopted, clause 15.13 authorises chairpersons to 
expel any person, including a councillor, from a 
council or committee meeting. Alternatively, if 
adopted, clause 15.14 authorises chairpersons 
to expel persons other than councillors from a 
council or committee meeting.
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Webcasting of meetings 
5.18  All meetings of the council and 

committees of the council are to be 
webcast.

5.19  Clause 5.18 does not apply to parts of 
a meeting that have been closed to the 
public under section 10A of the Act.

5.20  At the start of each meeting the 
chairperson is to make a statement 
informing those in attendance that the 
meeting is being webcast and that those 
in attendance should refrain from making 
any defamatory statements.

Audio recording of 
meetings
5.21  Audio recordings are to be made of all 

meetings of the council and committees 
of the council for the dominant purpose 
of assisting with the preparation of the 
minutes for meetings.

Attendance of the 
general manager and 
other staff at meetings 
5.22  The general manager is entitled to attend, 

but not to vote at, a meeting of the 
council or a meeting of a committee of 
the council of which all of the members 
are councillors.

  Note: Clause 5.22 reflects section 376(1) 
of the Act.

5.23  The general manager is entitled to attend 
a meeting of any other committee of 
the council and may, if a member of the 
committee, exercise a vote.

  Note: Clause 5.23 reflects section 376(2) 
of the Act.

5.24  The general manager may be excluded 
from a meeting of the council or 
a committee while the council or 
committee deals with a matter relating 
to the standard of performance of 
the general manager or the terms of 
employment of the general manager.

  Note: Clause 5.24 reflects section 376(3) 
of the Act.

5.25  The attendance of other council staff at 
a meeting, (other than as members of 
public) shall be with the approval of the 
general manager.
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The chairperson at 
meetings
6.1  The mayor, or at the request of or in 

the absence of the mayor, the deputy 
mayor (if any) presides at meetings of the 
council.

  Note: Clause 6.1 reflects section 369(1) 
of the Act.

6.2  If the mayor and the deputy mayor (if 
any) are absent, a councillor elected 
to chair the meeting by the councillors 
present presides at a meeting of the 
council.

  Note: Clause 6.2 reflects section 369(2) 
of the Act.

Election of the 
chairperson in the 
absence of the mayor 
and deputy mayor
6.3  If no chairperson is present at a meeting 

of the council at the time designated 
for the holding of the meeting, the first 
business of the meeting must be the 
election of a chairperson to preside at the 
meeting.

6.4  The election of chairperson must be 
conducted:

  (a)  by the general manager or, in 
their absence, an employee of the 
council designated by the general 
manager to conduct the election, or 

  (b)  by the person who called the 
meeting or a person acting on 
their behalf if neither the general 
manager nor a designated 
employee is present at the meeting, 
or if there is no general manager or 
designated employee.

6.5  If, at an election of a chairperson, two 
(2) or more candidates receive the same 
number of votes and no other candidate 
receives a greater number of votes, the 
chairperson is to be the candidate whose 
name is chosen by lot.

6.6  For the purposes of clause 6.5, the 
person conducting the election must:

 (a)  arrange for the names of the 
candidates who have equal 
numbers of votes to be written on 
similar slips, and

 (b)  then fold the slips so as to prevent 
the names from being seen, mix the 
slips and draw one of the slips at 
random.

6.7  The candidate whose name is on the 
drawn slip is the candidate who is to be 
the chairperson.

6.8  Any election conducted under clause 6.3, 
and the outcome of the vote, are to be 

recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

Chairperson to have 
precedence 
6.9  When the chairperson rises or speaks 

during a meeting of the council:

 (a)  any councillor then speaking or 
seeking to speak must, if standing, 
immediately resume their seat, and 

 (b)  every councillor present must be 
silent to enable the chairperson to 
be heard without interruption.
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7.1  If the chairperson is the mayor, they 
are to be addressed as ‘Mr Mayor’ or 
‘Madam Mayor’. 

7.2  Where the chairperson is not the mayor, 
they are to be addressed as either ‘Mr 
Chairperson’ or ‘Madam Chairperson’.

7.3  A councillor is to be addressed as 
‘Councillor [surname]’.

7.4  A council officer is to be addressed by 
their official designation.
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8.1  At a meeting of the council, the general 
order of business is as fixed by resolution 
of the council. 

8.2  The general order of business for an 
ordinary meeting of the council shall be: 
[councils may adapt the following order 
of business to meet their needs]

 01  Opening meeting

 02  Acknowledgement of country 

 03  Prayer 

 04   Apologies and applications for 
leave of absence by councillors

 05  Confirmation of minutes 

 06  Disclosures of interests 

 07  Mayoral minute(s) 

 08  Reports of committees

 09  Reports to council

 10   Notices of motions/questions 
with notice

 11  Confidential matters

 12  Conclusion of the meeting

 Note: Councils must use either clause 8.1 or 8.2.

8.3  The order of business as fixed under 
clause [8.1/8.2] [delete whichever is 
not applicable] may be altered for a 
particular meeting of the council if a 
motion to that effect is passed at that 
meeting. Such a motion can be moved 
without notice. 

 Note: If adopted, Part 13 allows council to deal 
with items of business by exception.

8.4  Despite clauses 10.19–10.27, only the mover 
of a motion referred to in clause 8.3 may 
speak to the motion before it is put.
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Business that can be 
dealt with at a council 
meeting
9.1  The council must not consider business at 

a meeting of the council: 

 (a)  unless a councillor has given notice 
of the business, as required by 
clause 3.11, and 

 (b)  unless notice of the business has 
been sent to the councillors in 
accordance with clause 3.8 in 
the case of an ordinary meeting 
and clause 3.10 in the case of an 
extraordinary meeting.

9.2  Clause 9.1 does not apply to the 
consideration of business at a meeting, if 
the business: 

 (a)  is already before, or directly relates 
to, a matter that is already before 
the council, or 

 (b)  is the election of a chairperson to 
preside at the meeting, or 

 (c)  subject to clause 9.9, is a matter or 
topic put to the meeting by way of 
a mayoral minute, or 

 (d)  is a motion for the adoption of 
recommendations of a committee, 
including, but not limited to, a 
committee of the council.

9.3  Despite clause 9.1, business may be 
considered at a meeting of the council 
even though due notice of the business 
has not been given to the councillors if: 

 (a)  a motion is passed to have the 
business considered at the meeting, 
and

 (b)  the business to be considered is 
ruled by the chairperson to be of 
great urgency.

9.4  A motion moved under clause 9.3(a) can 
be moved without notice. Despite clauses 
10.19–10.27, only the mover of a motion 
referred to in clause 9.3(a) can speak to 
the motion before it is put. 

9.5  A motion of dissent cannot be moved 
against a ruling by the chairperson under 
clause 9.3(b).

Mayoral minutes 
9.6  If the mayor is the chairperson at a 

meeting of the council, the mayor may, 
by minute signed by the mayor, put to 
the meeting without notice any matter 
or topic that is within the jurisdiction 
of council, or of which the council has 
official knowledge. 

9.7  A mayoral minute, when put to a meeting, 
takes precedence over all business on 
the council’s agenda for the meeting. The 
chairperson (but only if the chairperson 
is the mayor) may move the adoption of a 
mayoral minute without the motion being 
seconded. 

9.8  A recommendation made in a mayoral 
minute put by the mayor is, insofar as it 
is adopted by the council, a resolution of 
the council.

9.9  A mayoral minute must not be used 
to put without notice matters that are 
routine and not urgent, or matters for 
which proper notice should be given 
because of their complexity.
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Staff reports
9.10  A recommendation made in a staff report 

is, insofar as it is adopted by the council, 
a resolution of the council.

Reports of committees 
of council
9.11  The recommendations of a committee 

of the council are, insofar as they are 
adopted by the council, resolutions of 
the council. 

9.12  If in a report of a committee of the 
council distinct recommendations are 
made, the council may make separate 
decisions on each recommendation.

Questions
9.13  A question must not be asked at a 

meeting of the council unless it concerns 
a matter on the agenda of the meeting or 
notice has been given of the question in 
accordance with clauses 3.11 and 3.16.

9.14  A councillor may, through the 
chairperson, put a question to another 
councillor about a matter on the agenda.

9.15  A councillor may, through the general 
manager, put a question to a council 
employee about a matter on the agenda. 
Council employees are only obliged to 
answer a question put to them through 
the general manager at the direction of 
the general manager.

9.16  A councillor or council employee to 
whom a question is put is entitled to be 
given reasonable notice of the question 
and, in particular, sufficient notice to 
enable reference to be made to other 
persons or to documents. Where a 
councillor or council employee to whom 
a question is put is unable to respond to 
the question at the meeting at which it is 
put, they may take it on notice and report 
the response to the next meeting of the 
council.

9.17  The councillor must put every such 
question directly, succinctly and without 
argument. 

9.18  The chairperson must not permit 
discussion on any reply to, or refusal to 
reply to, a question put to a councillor or 
council employee.
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Motions to be seconded 
10.1  Unless otherwise specified in this 

code, a motion or an amendment 
cannot be debated unless or until it has 
been seconded. 

Notices of motion
10.2  A councillor who has submitted a notice 

of motion under clause 3.11 is to move 
the motion the subject of the notice of 
motion at the meeting at which it is to 
be considered.

10.3  If a councillor who has submitted a 
notice of motion under clause 3.11 wishes 
to withdraw it after the agenda and 
business paper for the meeting at which 
it is to be considered have been sent to 
councillors, the councillor may request 
the withdrawal of the motion when it is 
before the council. 

10.4  In the absence of a councillor who has 
placed a notice of motion on the agenda 
for a meeting of the council:

 (a)  any other councillor may move the 
motion at the meeting, or 

 (b)  the chairperson may defer the 
motion until the next meeting of 
the council at which the motion can 
be considered.

Chairperson’s duties 
with respect to motions 
10.5  It is the duty of the chairperson at a 

meeting of the council to receive and put 
to the meeting any lawful motion that is 
brought before the meeting. 

10.6  The chairperson must rule out of order 
any motion or amendment to a motion 
that is unlawful or the implementation of 
which would be unlawful. 

10.7  Before ruling out of order a motion or 
an amendment to a motion under clause 
10.6, the chairperson is to give the mover 
an opportunity to clarify or amend the 
motion or amendment. 

10.8  Any motion, amendment or other matter 
that the chairperson has ruled out of 
order is taken to have been rejected.

Motions requiring the 
expenditure of funds 
10.9  A motion or an amendment to a motion 

which if passed would require the 
expenditure of funds on works and/
or services other than those already 
provided for in the council’s current 
adopted operational plan must 
identify the source of funding for the 
expenditure that is the subject of the 
motion. If the motion does not identify 
a funding source, the council must defer 
consideration of the matter, pending a 
report from the general manager on the 
availability of funds for implementing the 
motion if adopted.
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Amendments to motions
10.10  An amendment to a motion must be 

moved and seconded before it can be 
debated.

10.11  An amendment to a motion must relate to 
the matter being dealt with in the original 
motion before the council and must 
not be a direct negative of the original 
motion. An amendment to a motion 
which does not relate to the matter 
being dealt with in the original motion, or 
which is a direct negative of the original 
motion, must be ruled out of order by the 
chairperson.

10.12  The mover of an amendment is to be 
given the opportunity to explain any 
uncertainties in the proposed amendment 
before a seconder is called for.

10.13  If an amendment has been rejected, a 
further amendment can be moved to the 
motion to which the rejected amendment 
was moved, and so on, but no more than 
one (1) motion and one (1) proposed 
amendment can be before council at any 
one time. 

10.14  While an amendment is being considered, 
debate must only occur in relation to the 
amendment and not the original motion. 
Debate on the original motion is to be 
suspended while the amendment to the 
original motion is being debated.

10.15  If the amendment is carried, it becomes 
the motion and is to be debated. If the 
amendment is rejected, debate is to 
resume on the original motion.

Foreshadowed motions
10.16  A councillor may propose a 

foreshadowed motion without a seconder 
during debate on the original motion. 
The foreshadowed motion is only to be 
considered if the original motion is lost 
or withdrawn and the foreshadowed 
motion is then moved and seconded. 
If the original motion is carried, the 
foreshadowed motion lapses.

10.17  Where an amendment has been moved 
and seconded, a councillor may, without 
a seconder, foreshadow a further 
amendment that they propose to move 
after the first amendment has been dealt 
with. There is no limit to the number of 
foreshadowed amendments that may 
be put before the council at any time. 
However, no discussion can take place 
on foreshadowed amendments until the 
previous amendment has been dealt with 
and the foreshadowed amendment has 
been moved and seconded. 

10.18  Foreshadowed motions and 
foreshadowed amendments are to be 
considered in the order in which they 
are proposed. However, foreshadowed 
motions cannot be considered until all 
foreshadowed amendments have been 
dealt with.
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Limitations on the 
number and duration of 
speeches 
10.19  A councillor who, during a debate at a 

meeting of the council, moves an original 
motion, has the right to speak on each 
amendment to the motion and a right 
of general reply to all observations that 
are made during the debate in relation 
to the motion, and to any amendment to 
it at the conclusion of the debate before 
the motion (whether amended or not) 
is finally put. 

10.20  A councillor, other than the mover of an 
original motion, has the right to speak 
once on the motion and once on each 
amendment to it. 

10.21  A councillor must not, without the 
consent of the council, speak more than 
once on a motion or an amendment, or 
for longer than five (5) minutes at any 
one time. However, the chairperson may 
permit a councillor who claims to have 
been misrepresented or misunderstood to 
speak more than once on a motion or an 
amendment, and for longer than five (5) 
minutes on that motion or amendment 
to enable the councillor to make a 
statement limited to explaining the 
misrepresentation or misunderstanding. 

10.22  Despite clauses 10.19 and 10.20, a 
councillor may move that a motion or an 
amendment be now put: 

 (a)  if the mover of the motion or 
amendment has spoken in favour 
of it and no councillor expresses an 
intention to speak against it, or 

 (b)  if at least two (2) councillors have 
spoken in favour of the motion or 
amendment and at least two (2) 
councillors have spoken against it.

10.23  The chairperson must immediately put to 
the vote, without debate, a motion moved 
under clause 10.22. A seconder is not 
required for such a motion. 

10.24  If a motion that the original motion or an 
amendment be now put is passed, the 
chairperson must, without further debate, 
put the original motion or amendment 
to the vote immediately after the mover 
of the original motion has exercised their 
right of reply under clause 10.19. 

10.25  If a motion that the original motion or an 
amendment be now put is rejected, the 
chairperson must allow the debate on 
the original motion or the amendment to 
be resumed. 

10.26  All councillors must be heard without 
interruption and all other councillors 
must, unless otherwise permitted under 
this code, remain silent while another 
councillor is speaking. 

10.27  Once the debate on a matter is closed 
and a matter has been dealt with, the 
chairperson must not allow further 
debate on the matter.
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Voting entitlements of 
councillors 
11.1 Each councillor is entitled to one (1) vote.

  Note: Clause 11.1 reflects section 370(1) 
of the Act.

11.2  The person presiding at a meeting of the 
council has, in the event of an equality of 
votes, a second or casting vote.

  Note: Clause 11.2 reflects section 370(2) 
of the Act.

11.3  Where the chairperson declines to exercise, 
or fails to exercise, their second or casting 
vote, in the event of an equality of votes, 
the motion being voted upon is lost.

Voting at council 
meetings 
11.4  A councillor who is present at a meeting 

of the council but who fails to vote on 
a motion put to the meeting is taken to 
have voted against the motion. 

11.5  If a councillor who has voted against 
a motion put at a council meeting so 
requests, the general manager must 
ensure that the councillor’s dissenting 
vote is recorded in the council’s minutes. 

11.6  The decision of the chairperson as to the 
result of a vote is final, unless the decision 
is immediately challenged and not fewer 
than two (2) councillors rise and call for a 
division. 

11.7  When a division on a motion is called, the 
chairperson must ensure that the division 
takes place immediately. The general 
manager must ensure that the names of 
those who vote for the motion and those 
who vote against it are recorded in the 
council’s minutes for the meeting. 

11.8  When a division on a motion is called, 
any councillor who fails to vote will be 
recorded as having voted against the 
motion in accordance with clause 11.4 of 
this code.

11.9  Voting at a meeting, including voting 
in an election at a meeting, is to be by 
open means (such as on the voices, by 
show of hands or by a visible electronic 
voting system). However, the council may 
resolve that the voting in any election by 
councillors for mayor or deputy mayor is 
to be by secret ballot. 

11.10  All voting at council meetings must be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting 
with the names of councillors who voted 
for or against a motion or amendment 
being recorded as if a division had been 
called under clause 11.6.
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Voting on planning 
decisions
11.11  The general manager must keep a 

register containing, for each planning 
decision made at a meeting of the council 
or a council committee (including, but not 
limited to a committee of the council), the 
names of the councillors who supported 
the decision and the names of any 
councillors who opposed (or are taken to 
have opposed) the decision.

11.12  For the purpose of maintaining the 
register, a division is taken to have been 
called whenever a motion for a planning 
decision is put at a meeting of the council 
or a council committee.

11.13  Each decision recorded in the register 
is to be described in the register or 
identified in a manner that enables the 
description to be obtained from another 
publicly available document.

11.14  Clauses 11.11–11.13 apply also to meetings 
that are closed to the public.

 Note: Clauses 11.11–11.14 reflect section 375A 
of the Act.
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12.1  The council may resolve itself into a 
committee to consider any matter before 
the council. 

  Note: Clause 12.1 reflects section 373 of 
the Act.

12.2  All the provisions of this code relating 
to meetings of the council, insofar as 
they are applicable, extend to and 
govern the proceedings of the council 
when in committee of the whole, except 
the provisions limiting the number and 
duration of speeches.

  Note: Clauses 10.19–10.27 limit the 
number and duration of speeches.

12.3  The general manager or, in the absence 
of the general manager, an employee of 
the council designated by the general 
manager, is responsible for reporting 
to the council the proceedings of 
the committee of the whole. It is not 
necessary to report the proceedings 
in full but any recommendations of the 
committee must be reported. 

12.4  The council must ensure that a report 
of the proceedings (including any 
recommendations of the committee) 
is recorded in the council’s minutes. 
However, the council is not taken to have 
adopted the report until a motion for 
adoption has been made and passed. 
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13.1  The council or a committee of council 
may, at any time, resolve to adopt 
multiple items of business on the agenda 
together by way of a single resolution.

13.2  Before the council or committee resolves 
to adopt multiple items of business on the 
agenda together under clause 13.1, the 
chairperson is to list the items of business 
to be adopted and ask councillors to 
identify any of the individual items of 
business listed by the chairperson that 
they wish to speak on.

13.3  The council or committee must not resolve 
to adopt any item of business under clause 
13.1 that a councillor has identified as being 
one they wish to speak on. 

13.4  Where the consideration of multiple 
items of business together under clause 
13.1 involves a variation to the order of 
business for the meeting, the council or 
committee must resolve to alter the order 
of business in accordance with clause 8.3.

13.5  A motion to adopt multiple items of 
business together under clause 13.1 must 
identify each of the items of business 
to be adopted and state that they are 
to be adopted as recommended in the 
business paper.

13.6  Items of business adopted under clause 
13.1 are to be taken as having been 
unanimously adopted.

13.7  Councillors must ensure that they disclose 
and manage any conflicts of interest they 
may have in relation to items of business 
considered together under clause 13.1 in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
council’s code of conduct.
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Grounds on which 
meetings can be closed 
to the public
14.1  The council or a committee of the council 

may close to the public so much of its 
meeting as comprises the discussion or 
the receipt of any of the following types 
of matters:

 (a)  personnel matters concerning 
particular individuals (other than 
councillors),

 (b)  the personal hardship of any 
resident or ratepayer,

 (c)  information that would, if disclosed, 
confer a commercial advantage on 
a person with whom the council 
is conducting (or proposes to 
conduct) business,

 (d)  commercial information of a 
confidential nature that would, if 
disclosed:

  (i)   prejudice the commercial 
position of the person who 
supplied it, or

  (ii)  confer a commercial 
advantage on a competitor of 
the council, or

  (iii) reveal a trade secret,

 (e)  information that would, if disclosed, 
prejudice the maintenance of law,

 (f)  matters affecting the security of the 
council, councillors, council staff or 
council property,

 (g)  advice concerning litigation, or 
advice that would otherwise be 
privileged from production in legal 
proceedings on the ground of legal 
professional privilege,

 (h)  information concerning the nature 
and location of a place or an item 
of Aboriginal significance on 
community land,

 (i)  alleged contraventions of the 
council’s code of conduct.

  Note: Clause 14.1 reflects section 10A(1) 
and (2) of the Act.

14.2  The council or a committee of the council 
may also close to the public so much of its 
meeting as comprises a motion to close 
another part of the meeting to the public.

  Note: Clause 14.2 reflects section 10A(3) 
of the Act.

Matters to be 
considered when closing 
meetings to the public
14.3  A meeting is not to remain closed during 

the discussion of anything referred to in 
clause 14.1:

 (a)  except for so much of the 
discussion as is necessary 
to preserve the relevant 
confidentiality, privilege or security, 
and

 (b)  if the matter concerned is a matter 
other than a personnel matter 
concerning particular individuals, 
the personal hardship of a resident 
or ratepayer or a trade secret – 
unless the council or committee 
concerned is satisfied that 
discussion of the matter in an open 
meeting would, on balance, be 
contrary to the public interest.

  Note: Clause 14.3 reflects section 10B(1) 
of the Act.
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14.4  A meeting is not to be closed during the 
receipt and consideration of information or 
advice referred to in clause 14.1(g) unless 
the advice concerns legal matters that:

 (a)  are substantial issues relating to 
a matter in which the council or 
committee is involved, and

 (b)  are clearly identified in the advice, 
and

 (c) are fully discussed in that advice.

  Note: Clause 14.4 reflects section 10B(2) 
of the Act.

14.5  If a meeting is closed during the 
discussion of a motion to close another 
part of the meeting to the public 
(as referred to in clause 14.2), the 
consideration of the motion must not 
include any consideration of the matter 
or information to be discussed in that 
other part of the meeting other than 
consideration of whether the matter 
concerned is a matter referred to in 
clause 14.1.

  Note: Clause 14.5 reflects section 10B(3) 
of the Act.

14.6  For the purpose of determining whether 
the discussion of a matter in an open 
meeting would be contrary to the public 
interest, it is irrelevant that:

 (a)  a person may misinterpret or 
misunderstand the discussion, or

 (b) the discussion of the matter may:

  (i)  cause embarrassment to 
the council or committee 
concerned, or to councillors 
or to employees of the 
council, or

  (ii)  cause a loss of confidence in 
the council or committee.

  Note: Clause 14.6 reflects section 10B(4) 
of the Act.

14.7  In deciding whether part of a meeting 
is to be closed to the public, the council 
or committee concerned must consider 
any relevant guidelines issued by the 
Chief Executive of the Office of Local 
Government.

  Note: Clause 14.7 reflects section 10B(5) 
of the Act.

Notice of likelihood of 
closure not required in 
urgent cases
14.8  Part of a meeting of the council, or of 

a committee of the council, may be 
closed to the public while the council or 
committee considers a matter that has 
not been identified in the agenda for the 
meeting under clause 3.23 as a matter 
that is likely to be considered when the 
meeting is closed, but only if:

 (a)  it becomes apparent during the 
discussion of a particular matter 
that the matter is a matter referred 
to in clause 14.1, and

 (b)  the council or committee, after 
considering any representations 
made under section 14.9, resolves 
that further discussion of the 
matter:

  (i)  should not be deferred 
(because of the urgency of 
the matter), and

  (ii)  should take place in a part of 
the meeting that is closed to 
the public.

  Note: Clause 14.8 reflects section 10C of 
the Act.
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Representations by 
members of the public
14.9  The council, or a committee of the 

council, may allow members of the 
public to make representations to or at a 
meeting, before any part of the meeting 
is closed to the public, as to whether that 
part of the meeting should be closed.

  Note: Clause 14.9 reflects section 10A(4) 
of the Act.

14.10  A representation under clause 14.9 is 
to be made after the motion to close 
the part of the meeting is moved and 
seconded.

14.11  Where the matter has been identified 
in the agenda of the meeting under 
clause 3.23 as a matter that is likely 
to be considered when the meeting is 
closed to the public, in order to make 
representations under clause 14.9, 
members of the public must first make an 
application to the council in the approved 
form. Applications must be received by 
[date and time to be specified by the 
council] before the meeting at which the 
matter is to be considered.

14.12  The general manager (or their delegate) 
may refuse an application made under 
clause 14.11.

14.13  No more than [number to be specified 
by the council] speakers are to be 
permitted to make representations under 
clause 14.9. 

14.14  If more than the permitted number of 
speakers applies to make representations 
under clause 14.9, the general manager or 
their delegate may request the speakers 
to nominate from among themselves the 
persons who are to make representations 
to the council. If the speakers are not able 
to agree on whom to nominate to make 
representations under clause 14.9, the 
general manager or their delegate is to 
determine who will make representations 
to the council.

14.15  The general manager (or their delegate) 
is to determine the order of speakers.

14.16  Where the council or a committee of 
the council proposes to close a meeting 
or part of a meeting to the public in 
circumstances where the matter has not 
been identified in the agenda for the 
meeting under clause 3.23 as a matter 
that is likely to be considered when 
the meeting is closed to the public, the 
chairperson is to invite representations 
from the public under clause 14.9 after 
the motion to close the part of the 
meeting is moved and seconded. The 
chairperson is to permit no more than 
[number to be specified by the council] 
speakers to make representations in such 
order as determined by the chairperson.

14.17  Each speaker will be allowed [number 
to be specified by the council] minutes 
to make representations, and this time 
limit is to be strictly enforced by the 
chairperson. Speakers are to confine 
their representations to whether the 
meeting should be closed to the public. If 
a speaker digresses to irrelevant matters, 
the chairperson is to direct the speaker 
not to so digress. If a speaker fails to 
observe a direction from the chairperson, 
the speaker will not be further heard.
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Expulsion of non-
councillors from meetings 
closed to the public
14.18  If a meeting or part of a meeting of the 

council or a committee of the council is 
closed to the public in accordance with 
section 10A of the Act and this code, 
any person who is not a councillor and 
who fails to leave the meeting when 
requested, may be expelled from the 
meeting as provided by section 10(2)(a) 
or (b) of the Act.

14.19  If any such person, after being notified 
of a resolution or direction expelling 
them from the meeting, fails to leave the 
place where the meeting is being held, a 
police officer, or any person authorised 
for the purpose by the council or person 
presiding, may, by using only such force 
as is necessary, remove the person from 
that place and, if necessary restrain that 
person from re-entering that place.

Information to be 
disclosed in resolutions 
closing meetings to the 
public
14.20  The grounds on which part of a meeting 

is closed must be stated in the decision 
to close that part of the meeting and 
must be recorded in the minutes of the 
meeting. The grounds must specify the 
following:

 (a)  the relevant provision of section 
10A(2) of the Act, 

 (b)  the matter that is to be discussed 
during the closed part of the 
meeting,

 (c)  the reasons why the part of the 
meeting is being closed, including 
(if the matter concerned is a matter 
other than a personnel matter 
concerning particular individuals, 
the personal hardship of a resident 
or ratepayer or a trade secret) an 
explanation of the way in which 
discussion of the matter in an open 
meeting would be, on balance, 
contrary to the public interest.

  Note: Clause 14.20 reflects section 10D 
of the Act.

Resolutions passed at 
closed meetings to be 
made public
14.21  If the council passes a resolution during 

a meeting, or a part of a meeting, that 
is closed to the public, the chairperson 
must make the resolution public as soon 
as practicable after the meeting, or the 
relevant part of the meeting, has ended, 
and the resolution must be recorded 
in the publicly available minutes of the 
meeting. 

14.22  Resolutions passed during a meeting, 
or a part of a meeting, that is closed to 
the public must be made public by the 
chairperson under clause 14.21 during a 
part of the meeting that is webcast.
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Points of order 
15.1  A councillor may draw the attention of 

the chairperson to an alleged breach 
of this code by raising a point of order. 
A point of order does not require a 
seconder.

15.2  A point of order must be taken 
immediately it is raised. The chairperson 
must suspend business before the 
meeting and permit the councillor 
raising the point of order to state the 
provision of this code they believe has 
been breached. The chairperson must 
then rule on the point of order – either by 
upholding it or by overruling it.

Questions of order
15.3  The chairperson, without the intervention 

of any other councillor, may call any 
councillor to order whenever, in the 
opinion of the chairperson, it is necessary 
to do so.

15.4  A councillor who claims that another 
councillor has committed an act of 
disorder, or is out of order, may call 
the attention of the chairperson to the 
matter.

15.5  The chairperson must rule on a question 
of order immediately after it is raised but, 
before doing so, may invite the opinion of 
the council. 

15.6  The chairperson’s ruling must be obeyed 
unless a motion dissenting from the ruling 
is passed.

Motions of dissent 
15.7  A councillor can, without notice, move to 

dissent from a ruling of the chairperson 
on a point of order or a question of order. 
If that happens, the chairperson must 
suspend the business before the meeting 
until a decision is made on the motion of 
dissent. 

15.8  If a motion of dissent is passed, the 
chairperson must proceed with the 
suspended business as though the ruling 
dissented from had not been given. If, 
as a result of the ruling, any motion or 
business has been discharged as out of 
order, the chairperson must restore the 
motion or business to the agenda and 
proceed with it in due course. 

15.9  Despite any other provision of this code, 
only the mover of a motion of dissent and 
the chairperson can speak to the motion 
before it is put. The mover of the motion 
does not have a right of general reply.
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Acts of disorder 
15.10  A councillor commits an act of disorder if 

the councillor, at a meeting of the council 
or a committee of the council: 

 (a)  contravenes the Act or any 
regulation in force under the Act or 
this code, or 

 (b)  assaults or threatens to assault 
another councillor or person 
present at the meeting, or 

 (c)  moves or attempts to move a 
motion or an amendment that 
has an unlawful purpose or that 
deals with a matter that is outside 
the jurisdiction of the council or 
the committee, or addresses or 
attempts to address the council or 
the committee on such a motion, 
amendment or matter, or 

 (d)  insults or makes personal 
reflections on or imputes improper 
motives to any other council 
official, or alleges a breach of the 
council’s code of conduct, or

 (e)  says or does anything that is 
inconsistent with maintaining order 
at the meeting or is likely to bring 
the council or the committee into 
contempt. 

15.11 The chairperson may require a councillor: 

 (a)  to apologise without reservation 
for an act of disorder referred to in 
clauses 15.10(a) or (b), or 

 (b)  to withdraw a motion or an 
amendment referred to in clause 
15.10(c) and, where appropriate, to 
apologise without reservation, or 

 (c)  to retract and apologise without 
reservation for an act of disorder 
referred to in clauses 15.10(d) and 
(e).

How disorder at a 
meeting may be dealt 
with 
15.12  If disorder occurs at a meeting of the 

council, the chairperson may adjourn the 
meeting for a period of not more than 
fifteen (15) minutes and leave the chair. 
The council, on reassembling, must, on 
a question put from the chairperson, 
decide without debate whether the 
business is to be proceeded with or not. 
This clause applies to disorder arising 
from the conduct of members of the 
public as well as disorder arising from the 
conduct of councillors.

Expulsion from meetings
15.13  All chairpersons of meetings of the 

council and committees of the council 
are authorised under this code to expel 
any person, including any councillor, from 
a council or committee meeting, for the 
purposes of section 10(2)(b) of the Act.

15.14  All chairpersons of meetings of the 
council and committees of the council 
are authorised under this code to expel 
any person other than a councillor, from 
a council or committee meeting, for the 
purposes of section 10(2)(b) of the Act. 
Councillors may only be expelled by 
resolution of the council or the committee 
of the council.

 Note: Councils may use either clause 15.13 or 
clause 15.14.

15.15  Clause [15.13/5.14] [delete whichever 
is not applicable], does not limit the 
ability of the council or a committee of 
the council to resolve to expel a person, 
including a councillor, from a council or 
committee meeting, under section 10(2)
(a) of the Act.
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15.16  A councillor may, as provided by section 
10(2)(a) or (b) of the Act, be expelled 
from a meeting of the council for having 
failed to comply with a requirement 
under clause 15.11. The expulsion of a 
councillor from the meeting for that 
reason does not prevent any other action 
from being taken against the councillor 
for the act of disorder concerned.

15.17  A member of the public may, as provided 
by section 10(2)(a) or (b) of the Act, be 
expelled from a meeting of the council 
for engaging in or having engaged in 
disorderly conduct at the meeting. 

15.18  Where a councillor or a member of the 
public is expelled from a meeting, the 
expulsion and the name of the person 
expelled, if known, are to be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. 

15.19  If a councillor or a member of the public 
fails to leave the place where a meeting 
of the council is being held immediately 
after they have been expelled, a police 
officer, or any person authorised for 
the purpose by the council or person 
presiding, may, by using only such force 
as is necessary, remove the councillor 
or member of the public from that place 
and, if necessary, restrain the councillor 
or member of the public from re-entering 
that place.

Use of mobile phones 
and the unauthorised 
recording of meetings
15.20  Councillors, council staff and members 

of the public must ensure that mobile 
phones are turned to silent during 
meetings of the council and committees 
of the council. 

15.21  A person must not use a tape recorder, 
video camera, mobile phone or any 
other device to make a recording of the 
proceedings of a meeting of the council 
or a committee of the council without the 
prior authorisation of the council or the 
committee. 

15.22  Any person who makes a recording or 
attempts to make a recording of a meeting 
of the council or a committee of the council 
in contravention of clause 15.21, may be 
expelled from the meeting as provided for 
under section 10(2) of the Act.

15.23  If any such person, after being notified 
of a resolution or direction expelling 
them from the meeting, fails to leave the 
place where the meeting is being held, a 
police officer, or any person authorised 
for the purpose by the council or person 
presiding, may, by using only such 
force as is necessary, remove the first-
mentioned person from that place and, if 
necessary, restrain that person from re-
entering that place.
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16.1  All councillors and, where applicable, all 
other persons, must disclose and manage 
any conflicts of interest they may have in 
matters being considered at meetings of 
the council and committees of the council 
in accordance with the council’s code 
of conduct.
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Council decisions 
17.1  A decision supported by a majority of the 

votes at a meeting of the council at which 
a quorum is present is a decision of the 
council. 

  Note: Clause 17.1 reflects section 371 of 
the Act.

17.2  Decisions made by the council must be 
accurately recorded in the minutes of the 
meeting at which the decision is made.

Rescinding or altering 
council decisions
17.3  A resolution passed by the council may 

not be altered or rescinded except by a 
motion to that effect of which notice has 
been given under clause 3.11.

  Note: Clause 17.3 reflects section 372(1) 
of the Act.

17.4   If a notice of motion to rescind a 
resolution is given at the meeting at 
which the resolution is carried, the 
resolution must not be carried into effect 
until the motion of rescission has been 
dealt with.

  Note: Clause 17.4 reflects section 372(2) 
of the Act.

17.5  If a motion has been rejected by the 
council, a motion having the same effect 
must not be considered unless notice of 
it has been duly given in accordance with 
clause 3.11.

  Note: Clause 17.5 reflects section 372(3) 
of the Act.

17.6  A notice of motion to alter or rescind a 
resolution, and a notice of motion which 
has the same effect as a motion which 
has been rejected by the council, must be 
signed by three (3) councillors if less than 
three (3) months has elapsed since the 
resolution was passed, or the motion was 
rejected.

  Note: Clause 17.6 reflects section 372(4) 
of the Act.

17.7  If a motion to alter or rescind a resolution 
has been rejected, or if a motion which 
has the same effect as a previously 
rejected motion is rejected, no similar 
motion may be brought forward within 
three (3) months of the meeting at 
which it was rejected. This clause may 
not be evaded by substituting a motion 
differently worded, but in principle the 
same.

  Note: Clause 17.7 reflects section 372(5) 
of the Act.

17.8  The provisions of clauses 17.5–17.7 
concerning rejected motions do not apply 
to motions of adjournment.

  Note: Clause 17.8 reflects section 372(7) 
of the Act.

17.9  A notice of motion submitted in 
accordance with clause 17.6 may only 
be withdrawn under clause 3.12 with the 
consent of all signatories to the notice of 

motion. 

17.10  A notice of motion to alter or rescind 
a resolution relating to a development 
application must be submitted to the 
general manager no later than [council 
to specify the period of time] after the 
meeting at which the resolution was 

adopted.
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17.11  A motion to alter or rescind a resolution 
of the council may be moved on the 
report of a committee of the council and 
any such report must be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting of the council

  Note: Clause 17.11 reflects section 372(6) 
of the Act.

 17.12  Subject to clause 17.7, in cases of urgency, 
a motion to alter or rescind a resolution 
of the council may be moved at the same 
meeting at which the resolution was 
adopted, where:

 (a)  a notice of motion signed by three 
councillors is submitted to the 
chairperson, and

 (b)  a motion to have the motion 
considered at the meeting is 
passed, and

 (c)  the chairperson rules the business 
that is the subject of the motion is 
of great urgency.

17.13  A motion moved under clause 17.12(b) can 
be moved without notice. Despite clauses 
10.19–10.27, only the mover of a motion 
referred to in clause 17.12(b) can speak to 
the motion before it is put. 

17.14  A motion of dissent cannot be moved 
against a ruling by the chairperson under 
clause 17.12(c).

Recommitting 
resolutions to correct 
an error
17.15  Despite the provisions of this Part, 

a councillor may, with the leave of 
the chairperson, move to recommit a 
resolution adopted at the same meeting 
to correct any error, ambiguity or 
imprecision in the council’s resolution.

17.16  In seeking the leave of the chairperson 
under clause 17.15 to move to recommit a 
resolution adopted at the same meeting, 
the councillor is to propose alternative 
wording for the resolution.

17.17  The chairperson must not grant leave 
under clause 17.15, unless he or she is 
satisfied that the proposed alternative 
wording of the resolution would not alter 
the substance of the resolution previously 
adopted at the meeting.

17.18  A motion moved under clause 17.15 can 
be moved without notice. Despite clauses 
10.19–10.27, only the mover of a motion 
referred to in clause 17.15 can speak to the 
motion before it is put. 

17.19  A motion of dissent cannot be moved 
against a ruling by the chairperson under 
clause 17.15.

17.20  A motion moved under clause 17.15 with 
the leave of the chairperson cannot 
be voted on unless or until it has been 

seconded.
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18.1  Meetings of the council and committees 
of the council are to conclude no later 
than [council to specify the time].

18.2   If the business of the meeting is unfinished 
at [council to specify the time], the 
council or the committee may, by 
resolution, extend the time of the meeting. 

18.3  If the business of the meeting is 
unfinished at [council to specify the 
time], and the council does not resolve to 
extend the meeting, the chairperson must 
adjourn the meeting to a time, date and 
place fixed by the chairperson.

18.4  Clause 18.3 does not limit the ability of 
the council or a committee of the council 
to resolve to adjourn a meeting at any 
time. The resolution adjourning the 
meeting must fix the time, date and place 
that the meeting is to be adjourned to.

18.5  Where a meeting is adjourned under 
clause 18.3 or 18.4, the general manager 
must:

 (a)  individually notify each councillor 
of the time, date and place at which 
the meeting will reconvene, and 

 (b)  publish the time, date and place at 
which the meeting will reconvene:

  (i) on the council’s website, and 

  (ii)  by using such other means 
that will bring notice of the 
time, date and place at which 
the meeting will reconvene 
to the attention of as many 

people as possible.
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Minutes of meetings
19.1  The council is to keep full and accurate 

minutes of the proceedings of meetings 
of the council. 

  Note: Clause 19.1 reflects section 375(1) 
of the Act.

19.2  At a minimum, the general manager must 
ensure that the following matters are 
recorded in the council’s minutes:

 (a)  details of each motion moved 
at a council meeting and of any 
amendments moved to it,

 (b)  the names of the mover and 
seconder of the motion or 
amendment,

 (c)  whether the motion or amendment 
was passed or lost, and

 (d)  such other matters specifically 
required under this code.

19.3  The minutes of a council meeting must be 
confirmed at a subsequent meeting of the 
council. 

  Note: Clause 19.3 reflects section 375(2) 
of the Act.

19.4  Any debate on the confirmation of the 
minutes is to be confined to whether the 
minutes are a full and accurate record of 
the meeting they relate to. 

19.5  When the minutes have been confirmed, 
they are to be signed by the person 
presiding at that subsequent meeting. 

  Note: Clause 19.5 reflects section 375(2) 
of the Act.

19.6  The confirmed minutes of a meeting may 
be amended to correct typographical or 
administrative errors after they have been 
confirmed.

19.7  The confirmed minutes of a council 
meeting must be published on the 
council’s website. This clause does not 
prevent the council from also publishing 
unconfirmed minutes of its meetings on 
its website prior to their confirmation.

Access to 
correspondence and 
reports laid on the table 
at, or submitted to, a 
meeting 
19.8   The council and committees of the 

council must, during or at the close of 
a meeting, or during the business day 
following the meeting, give reasonable 
access to any person to inspect 
correspondence and reports laid on the 
table at, or submitted to, the meeting. 

  Note: Clause 19.8 reflects section 11(1) of 
the Act.

19.9  Clause 19.8 does not apply if the 
correspondence or reports relate to a 
matter that was received or discussed or 
laid on the table at, or submitted to, the 
meeting when the meeting was closed to 
the public.

  Note: Clause 19.9 reflects section 11(2) of 
the Act.

19.10  Clause 19.8 does not apply if the council 
or the committee resolves at the 
meeting, when open to the public, that 
the correspondence or reports are to 
be treated as confidential because they 
relate to a matter specified in section 
10A(2) of the Act. 

  Note: Clause 19.10 reflects section 11(3) 
of the Act.
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19.11  Correspondence or reports to which 
clauses 19.9 and 19.10 apply are to be 
marked with the relevant provision of 
section 10A(2) of the Act that applies to 
the correspondence or report.

Implementation of 
decisions of the council
19.12  The general manager is to implement, 

without undue delay, lawful decisions of 
the council.

  Note: Clause 19.12 reflects section 335(b) 
of the Act.
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Application of this Part
20.1  This Part only applies to committees 

of the council whose members are all 
councillors.

Council committees 
whose members are all 
councillors
20.2  The council may, by resolution, establish 

such committees as it considers necessary.

20.3  A committee of the council is to consist 
of the mayor and such other councillors 
as are elected by the councillors or 
appointed by the council. 

20.4  The quorum for a meeting of a committee 
of the council is to be:

 (a)  such number of members as the 
council decides, or

 (b)  if the council has not decided 
a number – a majority of the 
members of the committee.

Functions of committees
20.5  The council must specify the functions 

of each of its committees when the 
committee is established, but may from 
time to time amend those functions.

Notice of committee 
meetings
20.6  The general manager must send to each 

councillor regardless of whether they 
are a committee member, at least three 
(3) days before each meeting of the 
committee, a notice specifying:

 (a)  the time, date and place of the 
meeting, and

 (b)  the business proposed to be 
considered at the meeting. 

20.7  Notice of less than three (3) days may be 
given of a committee meeting called in 
an emergency. 

Attendance at 
committee meetings
20.8  A committee member (other than the 

mayor) ceases to be a member of a 
committee if the committee member:

 (a)  has been absent from three 
(3) consecutive meetings of 
the committee without having 
given reasons acceptable to the 
committee for the member’s 
absences, or

 (b)  has been absent from at least half 
of the meetings of the committee 
held during the immediately 
preceding year without having 
given to the committee acceptable 
reasons for the member’s absences. 

20.9  Clause 20.8 does not apply if all of the 
members of the council are members of 
the committee.
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Non-members entitled 
to attend committee 
meetings
20.10  A councillor who is not a member of a 

committee of the council is entitled to 
attend, and to speak at a meeting of the 
committee. However, the councillor is not 
entitled:

 (a)  to give notice of business for 
inclusion in the agenda for the 
meeting, or

 (b)  to move or second a motion at the 
meeting, or

 (c) to vote at the meeting.

Chairperson and deputy 
chairperson of council 
committees
20.11  The chairperson of each committee of the 

council must be:

 (a) the mayor, or

 (b)  if the mayor does not wish to be 
the chairperson of a committee, a 
member of the committee elected 
by the council, or

 (c)  if the council does not elect 
such a member, a member of 
the committee elected by the 
committee.

20.12  The council may elect a member of a 
committee of the council as deputy 
chairperson of the committee. If 
the council does not elect a deputy 
chairperson of such a committee, 
the committee may elect a deputy 
chairperson.

20.13  If neither the chairperson nor the deputy 
chairperson of a committee of the council 
is able or willing to preside at a meeting 
of the committee, the committee must 
elect a member of the committee to be 
acting chairperson of the committee.

20.14  The chairperson is to preside at a 
meeting of a committee of the council. 
If the chairperson is unable or unwilling 
to preside, the deputy chairperson (if 
any) is to preside at the meeting, but if 
neither the chairperson nor the deputy 
chairperson is able or willing to preside, 
the acting chairperson is to preside at the 
meeting.

Procedure in 
committee meetings
20.15  Subject to any specific requirements of 

this code, each committee of the council 
may regulate its own procedure. The 
provisions of this code are to be taken 
to apply to all committees of the council 
unless the council or the committee 
determines otherwise.

20.16  Without limiting clause 20.15, whenever 
the voting on a motion put to a 
meeting of the committee is equal, the 
chairperson of the committee is to have a 
casting vote as well as an original vote. 

20.17  Voting at a council committee meeting 
is to be by open means (such as on the 
voices, by show of hands or by a visible 
electronic voting system).
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Legislation, Policy and Guidance

Closure of committee 
meetings to the public
20.18  The provisions of the Act and Part 14 of 

this code apply to the closure of meetings 
of committees of the council to the public 
in the same way they apply to the closure 
of meetings of the council to the public.

20.19  If a committee of the council passes a 
resolution, or makes a recommendation, 
during a meeting, or a part of a 
meeting that is closed to the public, the 
chairperson must make the resolution 
or recommendation public as soon as 
practicable after the meeting or part of 
the meeting has ended, and report the 
resolution or recommendation to the next 
meeting of the council. The resolution or 
recommendation must also be recorded 
in the publicly available minutes of 
the meeting.

20.20  Resolutions passed during a meeting, 
or a part of a meeting that is closed to 
the public must be made public by the 
chairperson under clause 20.19 during a 
part of the meeting that is webcast. 

Disorder in 
committee meetings
20.21  The provisions of the Act and this code 

relating to the maintenance of order in 
council meetings apply to meetings of 
committees of the council in the same way 
as they apply to meetings of the council.

Minutes of council 
committee meetings
20.22  Each committee of the council is to 

keep full and accurate minutes of 
the proceedings of its meetings. At a 
minimum, a committee must ensure that 
the following matters are recorded in 
the committee’s minutes:

 (a)  details of each motion moved at a 
meeting and of any amendments 
moved to it,

 (b)  the names of the mover and 
seconder of the motion or 
amendment,

 (c)  whether the motion or 
amendment was passed or lost, 
and

 (d)  such other matters specifically 
required under this code.

20.23  All voting at meetings of committees 
of the council must be recorded in the 
minutes of the meetings with the names 
of councillors who voted for or against 
a motion or amendment being recorded 
as if a division had been called under 
clause 11.6.

20.24  The minutes of meetings of each 
committee of the council must be 
confirmed at a subsequent meeting of 
the committee. 

20.25  Any debate on the confirmation of the 
minutes is to be confined to whether the 
minutes are a full and accurate record of 
the meeting they relate to. 

20.26  When the minutes have been confirmed, 
they are to be signed by the person 
presiding at that subsequent meeting. 

20.27  The confirmed minutes of a meeting 
may be amended to correct 
typographical or administrative errors 
after they have been confirmed.

20.28  The confirmed minutes of a meeting 
of a committee of the council must be 
published on the council’s website. This 
clause does not prevent the council from 
also publishing unconfirmed minutes of 
meetings of committees of the council on 
its website prior to their confirmation.
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21.1    Proceedings at a meeting of a council or 
a council committee are not invalidated 
because of:

 (a) a vacancy in a civic office, or

 (b)  a failure to give notice of the  
meeting to any councillor or 
committee member, or

 (c)  any defect in the election or 
appointment of a councillor or 
committee member, or

 (d)  a failure of a councillor or a 
committee member to disclose a 
conflict of interest, or to refrain from 
the consideration or discussion of, 
or vote on, the relevant matter, at 
a council or committee meeting in 
accordance with the council’s code 
of conduct, or

 (e) a failure to comply with this code.

   Note: Clause 21.1 reflects section 374 of 
the Act.

71



21  Definitions

Model Code Of Meeting Practice for Local Councils in NSW

72



December 2017

CONSULTATION DRAFT

the Act means the Local Government Act 1993 

act of disorder means an act of disorder as defined in clause 15.10 of this code. 

amendment in relation to an original motion, means a motion moving an 
amendment to that motion. 

business day means any day except Saturday or Sunday or any other day 
the whole or part of which is observed as a public holiday 
throughout New South Wales.

chairperson in relation to a meeting of the council – means the person 
presiding at the meeting as provided by section 369 of the Act 
and clauses 6.1 and 6.2 of this code; and 

in relation to a meeting of a committee – means the person 
presiding at the meeting as provided by clause 20.11 of this code. 

this code means the council’s adopted code of meeting practice

committee of council means a committee established by the council in accordance 
with clause 20.2 of this code (being a committee consisting 
only of councillors) or the council when it has resolved itself into 
committee of the whole under clause 12.1. 

council official has the same meaning as in the Model Code of Conduct for Local 
Councils in NSW and includes councillors, administrators, council 
staff, council committee members and delegates of the council. 

day means calendar day.

division means a request by two councillors under clause 11.6 of this 
code requiring the recording of the names of the councillors who 
voted both for and against a motion.

foreshadowed amendment means a proposed amendment foreshadowed by a councillor 
under clause 10.17 of this code during debate on the first 
amendment.

foreshadowed motion means a motion foreshadowed by a councillor under clause 10.16 
of this code during debate on an original motion.

open voting means voting on the voices or by a show of hands or by a visible 
electronic voting system or similar means. 

planning decision means a decision made in the exercise of a function of a council 
under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 
including any decision relating to a development application, 
an environmental planning instrument, a development control 
plan or a development contribution plan under that Act, but not 
including the making of an order under Division 2A of Part 6 of 
that Act.
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performance improvement 
order 

means an order issued under section 438A of the Act. 

quorum means the minimum number of councillors or committee 
members necessary to conduct a meeting. 

the Regulation means the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005

tape recorder includes a video camera and any electronic device capable of 
recording speech, whether a magnetic tape is used to record 
or not. 

year means the period beginning 1 July and ending the following 
30 June.
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18/14 – RE-ENDORSEMENT OF SECTION 355 COMMITTEES 
 
Reference:   File No. F23.08                    
Responsible Officer: Executive Director – Corporate and Community 
 
PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of this report is to present to Council recommendations for 
membership of S355 Committees, changes to the Standard Instrument for Section 
355 Committees (Constitution) and a streamlined way in which Committees 
operate and interact with Council. 
 
REPORT 
 
In October, the Council considered a report on Council Committees and they 
resolved to undertake a process to re-form Section 355 Committees.  During this 
process a number of issues became apparent with the process and also the 
Standard Instrument (Constitution) of S355 Committees.  Generally, these are: 
 

1 Past practice has been that Progress Associations and other section 
355 committees have advised Council of who would make up the 
section 355 committee after their Annual General Meeting at which 
their members were duly elected by the community. The current 
process could see a situation arise where a Council endorsed 
community committee is different from the committee that was 
elected at the AGM.  Where there is an issue of either no AGM being 
held, or unsuitable candidates being elected under the Standard 
Instrument, Council is still able to either disband the committee or 
nominate further members for the committee.   
 
It is preferable that Committee members are elected at an Annual 
General Meeting (AGM) of the Community and/or the members, 
which has been publicly advertised. The AGM can determine 
whether or not executive positions are nominated from the floor or 
whether the Committee elects the executive positions at its first 
meeting.  After this the names would then be forwarded to the 
Council for ratification as is the common practice.  This would apply 
for example to Wombat Progress Association, Murringo Community 
Association and the Jugiong Advancement Group. The Wombat 
Progress Association and Murringo Community Association recently 
carried out AGM’s with elections being held. The Jugiong 
Advancement Group’s AGM is scheduled for 22 March at which time 
their elected members would be recommended to Council for 
endorsement as the Section 355 Committee. 
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2 Some of the Committees have their own Constitutions and have 
sought clarification on which constitution takes precedence. The 
Standard Instrument has been amended to say that the Standard 
Instrument takes precedence over other constitutions in matters 
relating to Council business. 

3 The Standard Instrument has some deficiencies such as the 
allowance of proxy voting, defining specific months of the year when 
an AGM can be held, and guidance on how to deal with unruly or 
offensive behaviour during a meeting or behaviour of committee 
members that may bring the Council into disrepute.  The standard 
instrument has been updated to include procedures for dealing with 
the issues raised above. 
 

Late Applications 
Council received a late application for the Boorowa Showground Committee 
from Mr Stephen Pescud who was overseas at the time that Council called for 
nominations.  He is a representative of the Boorowa Picnic Races and would add 
significant value to the Committee. For this reason, he has been included on this 
list. 
 
Council received a late application for the Boorowa Showground from Lynelle 
Warren. Mrs Warren is a Pony Club representative, a major user group of the 
Boorowa Showground.  For this reason, she has been included on the list. 
 
Seniors Week and Australia Day 
No community nominations were received for the Harden and Young Australia 
Day Committees and only one community nomination was received for Seniors 
week.  Council staff recommend that the Events management Staff continue to 
coordinate these events with targeted community consultation and assistance.  
Boorowa Australia Day Committee will continue to function, and it is 
recommended that Council endorses the recent community nominations. 
 
Family Adventure Playground 
No community nominations were received.  It is recommended that it be an 
advisory Committee which meets when required with Council staff. 
 
Young Sports Advisory Committee 
Consideration of these nominations will be deferred pending a further meeting 
between members of this committee as it currently operated and the Mayor and 
General Manager. 
 
Regional Sports Committee 
There was one nomination received. It is recommended that this Committee not 
be formed, and that Council holds an annual sports forum inviting representatives 
from all sports clubs to attend. 
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Hilltops Youth Council 
Council received three nominations for this Committee with none being from 
youth.  It is recommended that Council have a 6-monthly facilitated forum for 
youth including those people who nominated for the Youth Council. 
 
Regional Weeds Committee, Hilltops Health Advisory, Galong Progress Association 
Due to underrepresentation from certain parts of the LGA, it is recommended that 
Council endorse the Committees as nominated and undertake targeted 
advertising for further nominations to ensure better representation. Galong 
Progress Association is one member short of the minimum requirement for a 
Section 355 Committee.   
 
Regional Traffic and Access Committee. 
It is recommended that this Committee be split between the Local Traffic 
Committee (as per regulations contained in the Local Government Act) and the 
Regional Access Committee. All nominations received for this committee be 
endorsed for the Access Committee. 
 
Due to there being a Local Traffic Committee which has regulated members, 
further consideration be given to a group to advise on region wide traffic and 
transport issues.   
 
Young Town Band and Young Cherry Festival 
It should be noted that Councillor Walker has nominated for these Committees 
however, he is Council Representative on both committees. 
 
Sibelco Liaison Committee 
The Sibelco Liaison Committee is not a Section 355 Committee. It is a liaison 
Committee set up by Sibelco as part of the consent conditions in their 
Development Application. Sibelco coordinate these meetings and Council will 
forward the nominations to Sibelco.  Council needs to appoint 2 councillors to the 
committee. 
 
Young Healthy Shires 
It is recommended that further discussions be undertaken with this Committee in 
regard to its scope and whether or not a name change to the Young Health 
Advisory Committee would be a better reflection of their activities.  It should be 
noted that Hilltops Council is not a shire.  
 
Other Committees 
Various other committees have been discussed at Councillor workshops and are 
yet to be formed.  Council staff are currently working through the best 
arrangements to facilitate each type of committee and will report back to Council 
in due time. 
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STATUTORY PROVISIONS 
 
 Local Government Act 1993 
 

CONSULTATION 
 
Nominations for Section 355 Committees was publicly undertaken during 
November and December 2017. 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
Re-endorsement of the updated Section 355 Committee Constitution and 
Instrument of Delegation. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 
Attachment 1 - List of nominated members for each committee 
 
Attachment 2 - Hilltops Council Section 355 Committee Constitution and 

Instrument of Delegation 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that Council; 

 
1. Keep the Section 355 Committees of Galong Progress Association, Wombat 

Progress Association, Jugiong Advancement Group, Murringo Community 
Association be kept in place until their next Annual General Meetings 
(AGM) at which time they will elect new members.  These newly elected 
members will form the Section 355 Committee. 

2. Forward the nominations received for the Jugiong Advancement Group to 
the AGM which will be held on 22 March 2018. 

3. Accept the late applications to the Boorowa Showground Committee and 
endorse the recent community nominations. 

4. The Events Management Staff continue to coordinate Seniors Week events 
and Young and Harden Australia Day events with targeted community 
consultation and assistance.   

5. The Boorowa Australia Day Committee will continue to function as per 
previous committee arrangements, and it is recommended that Council 
endorses the recent community nominations. 

6. Endorse the Family Adventure Playground as an advisory Committee which 
meets when required with Council staff. 

7. Consideration of the Young Sports Advisory Committee nominations be 
deferred pending advice from the current members of the Advisory 
Committee. 
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8. Council holds an annual sports forum inviting representatives from all sports 
clubs to attend in place of a Regional Sports Committee. 

9. Hold a 6-monthly facilitated forum for youth in place of a Regional Youth 
Committee and include those people who nominated for the Youth 
Committee. 

10. Endorse the Regional Weeds Committee, Hilltops Health Advisory, Galong 
Progress Association as nominated and undertake targeted advertising for 
further nominations to ensure better representation.   

11. Split the Traffic Committee (as per regulations contained in the Local 
Government Act) and the Access Committee.  All nominations received for 
this committee be endorsed for the Access Committee. 

12. Further consider a group to advise on region wide traffic and transport 
issues.   

13. Forward the nominations to the Sibelco Liaison Committee to Sibelco.    
14. Appoint 2 Councillors to the Sibelco Liaison committee. 
15. Further discussions be undertaken with the Young Healthy Shires Committee 

in regard to its scope and name. 
16. Council staff formalise arrangements for all other yet to be formed 

committees. 
17. Endorse all other committees as recommended by Attachment 1. 

  



Progress Associations Community Nominations Councillor 

Representative 

Murringo Community 

Association 

Tricia Mack 

Maureen Virgo 

Margaret Gillespie 

Heather Ritchie 

Gina Galvin 

Carol Hewson 

Leah Coggan 

Clr Wallace 

Jugiong Advancement 

Group 

Paul Leseberg 

David Elphick 

Paula Butt 

Tony Willsallen 

Kim Gamble 

Liz Prater 

Carlie Oates 

Barry Coggan 

Alison Delaney 

Michelle Delaney 

Alannah Lord 

Helen Maskell- Knight 

Wesley Leseberg 

Amanda Bourlet 

Clr O’Connor, Clr 

Horton 

Wombat Progress 

Association 

Shelley McRae 

Joanne Norris 

June Gibson 

Christopher Holmes 

Raymond Bloor 

Lois Bloor 

Heidi Stevens 

Martin Williams 

Lee Daley 

Clr O’Connor 

Galong Progress 

Association 

William McCaskill  

John Killick 

Len Dopson 

Clr Horton 

Clr Flanery 

 

 

Community Committees Councillor Representative Community 

Nominations 

Young National Cherry 

Festival 

Clr Walker Caitlin Sheehan 

Tania Noyes 

Vicki Hamill 

Brian Davis 

Julianne Duffey 

Emma Blake 

Jade Nolan 



Roger Carmody 

Young Town Band (Proposal 

to change name to Hilltops 

Town Band) 

Clr Walker Tracey Clark 

Rebecca 

Donges 

Alyssa Thompson 

Cassie Boland 

Liz Boland 

Boorowa Irish Woolfest  Clr Tuckerman Angus Clements 

Sharee Darmody 

Barry Miller 

John Carmody 

Stephen Meere 

Deborah Cotter 

Australia Day  

• Young (Maree Lamb) 

• Boorowa (Janene 

Hurley) 

• Harden (Kim Hill) 

 

• Mayor Ingram & Clr 

Armstrong (Young) 

• Clr 

Tuckerman(Boorowa) 

• Clr Manchester & Clr 

Stadtmiller (Harden) 

 

 

NO NOMINATIONS FOR 

HARDEN OR YOUNG 

COMMITTEES FROM 

COMMUNITY 

Boorowa 

Committee 

John Snelling  

Christopher 

Corcoran 

Angus Clements 

Gavin Campbell 

Judy Ford 

James Best 

Sharon Meere 

Raymond Turner 

Carmen Gordon 

Yvonne Murphy 

Laurell 

Nosworthy 

Robyn Pescud 

Deborah Cotter 

Boorowa Red Hill Director of Sustainable 

Growth 

Heather McLeod 

Ann Clifton 

Patrick Barton 

Pat Thompson 

Albert Wilson 

Melissa Henry 

Boorowa Community 

Garden 

Clr Tuckerman, Clr 

O’Connor 

Ros Gibson 

David Evans 

Stephen Pescud 

Jayne Apps 

Trevor Marchant 

Steve Moss 

Maria Stanton 

Denise Evans 

Harden Kite Festival Clr Horton Caron Cantrill 

Julie Dunstan 

Karen Nicholls 



Nicole Scott 

Wendy Medway 

Richard Fleming 

Healthy Harden  Clr Horton John Ford 

Rev Don 

Jamieson 

Ros Stewart 

Stewart Bruce 

Janice Pettit-

Gray 

Young Healthy Shires Clr Roles Donna Davis 

Jeanette Lautier 

Kelly Rolfe 

Heather Ritchie 

Naomi Peters 

Young Sports Advisory Mayor Ingram Kere Mayo 

Steve Brill 

Robert Everdell 

Janine Hobson 

Harden Sports Advisory Clr Flanery 

Clr Stadtmiller 

Adam Wade 

Greg Brown 

Kai Steele 

Michelle Kennett 

Andrew Kennett 

Peter Beal 

Emily Bowker 

Kevin Brown 

Ged Davis 

Boorowa Showground Clr Tuckerman 

Clr Flanery 

Marty Corcoran 

Julie Harton 

Brendan 

Maynard 

David Evans 

Louise Baer 

Geoffry Mason 

Narelle Nixon 

Bruce Nixon 

Tim McGrath 

Harden Visitor Information 

Centre 

Clr O’Connor Robert Fitzpatrick 

Cathy Sanderson 

Karen Tanswell 

Jan Ryan 

Richard Fleming 

Sibelco Voluntary Planning 

Agreement 

Clr Manchester 

Clr Flanery 

William McCaskill 

Ian Mergard 



Rye Park Wind Farm 

Community Enhancement 

Fund Committee 

Clr Tuckerman Craig Southwell 

Greg Medway 

Andrew 

Southwell 

Bob Searle 
 

Regional Committees Councillor 

Representation 

Nominations 

Traffic & Access Advisory Clr Walker & Clr 

Manchester 

John Ford 

Annie Jacobs 

Phil Armitage 

Lynn Blair 

Kelly Rolfe 

Arts & Cultural 

• Sub-committees 

o Family Adventure 

Playground (nil) 

o Senior’s Week 

(Karen Everdell) 

Clr Horton, Clr Roles James Cronin 

Robin Cooper 

Judith Pugh 

Michelle Kennett 

Annie Jacobs 

James Cronin 

Susan Conroy 

Economic Development Mayor Ingram & Clr 

Armstrong 

Elke Cleverdon 

Brenden McKay 

Greg Medway 

John White 

Chris Gibson 

Justin Fleming 

Jan Ryan 

Michel DeReeper 

Environmental Initiatives Clr O’Connor Julia Atkin 

Paul Parker 

Kathryn McGuirk 

Philip Dodd 

Heather Johnson 

Rosemary Hook 

Tourism Clr O’Connor, Clr Horton 

& Clr Tuckerman 

Wes Leseberg 

Joseph Kinsela 

David Evans 

Brian Mullany 

Michelle Delaney 

Cathy Sanderson 

Youth Initiatives Clr O’Connor & Clr 

Horton 

Samantha Flanery 

Pammy McCloy 

Susan Fagan 

Cathy Sanderson 

Health Advisory Committee Mayor & 1 Councillor David Evans 

Dr Rhys Gray 



Mary-Lou Cusack 

Phil Armitage 

Helen Maskell-

Knight 

Sports Advisory Committee Councillor Stadtmiller Adam Wade 

Weeds Advisory  Cr Cec Burgess 

Paul O’Connor 

Pat O’Connor 
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1. OBJECTIVE 
 
The objectives of this Section 355 Committee Standard Constitution are:  

 to ensure that all meetings of Council and its Committees are conducted in an orderly and 
proper manner; 

 to ensure that all meetings of Council and its Committees are conducted according to the 
principles of procedural fairness and due process; 

 to assist with the conduct of discussion and debate during Council and Committee meetings; 
 to increase Council’s professionalism, transparency and accountability to the community; 
 to ensure that all Committee Members understand their rights and obligations during Council 

and Committee meetings; 
 to ensure that all Committee Members have an equal opportunity to participate fully in the 

meeting; 
 to ensure that Committee Members participate in meetings that engender a positive meeting 

environment that is without malice and avoids insulting, improper or defamatory statements; 
and  

 to be an effective aid to good governance. 
 

2. DEFINITIONS 
 

Constitution  means and includes this document along with all schedules and attachments 
referred to in this document, including but not limited to any policy adopted by 
Council and set out in Item 5 of the Schedule 

 
Chairperson  means: 
  a) for a meeting of the Council – the Mayor; 
           b) for a meeting of a Committee of the Council – a member of the 
   committee whose appointment has been approved by Council 
 
Committee  in relation to the Council, means a Committee appointed or elected by the 

Council  
 
Council means Hilltops Council 
 
Committee Member means a Committee Member of the Hilltops Council 

Deputy Chair means the Deputy Chair of the Committee 

Executive means those members elected from time to time in accordance with Clause 7 
of the Constitution 

EPA Act means the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act, 1979 (as amended) 

Financial Year means the period from 1 July year X to 30 June Year X + 1 

General Manager means the person appointed or acting in the position of General Manager of 
Hilltops Council 

Intellectual Property means and includes the copyrights, trademarks, registered designs, patents 
and databases. In particular, it refers to a range of Council resources including 
written material, design drawings, maps and plans, computer programs and 
databases 

Law means any statute along with any regulation, rule, planning instrument, policy 
or plan having effect under any such statute 

LGA means the Local Government Act, 1993 (as amended) 
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WHS Policy means any Work Health and Safety Policy or Procedure/s adopted by Council 
and includes any Manual or other document forming part of, or associated with 
any such Policy 

Personal Information means “information or an opinion about an individual whose identity is apparent 
or can reasonably be ascertained from the information or the opinion.” Privacy 
and Personal Information Act (PIPPA) 1998, Section 4 

Record means recorded information, in any form, including data in computer systems, 
created or received and maintained by an organisation or person in the 
transaction of business or the conduct of affairs and kept as evidence of such 
activity 

Responsible Officer means the person nominated by the General Manager 

Schedule means the Schedule to Constitution of s.355 (b) Committee attached to this 
Constitution 

Secretary means the Secretary of the Committee 

Treasurer means the Treasurer of the Committee 

Volunteer means a person who assists the committee (either on a regular or casual basis) 
in a voluntary capacity but is not a member of the committee 

 

3. PURPOSE OF THE CONSTITUTION 
 

3.1 Under the Local Government Act, 1993 Council is able to delegate some of its functions to a 
Committee of Council. A Committee is appointed and reappointed in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 355 and Section 377 of the Local Government Act 1993. 

 

3.2 A Committee of Council is in fact acting on Council’s behalf; the Committee is ‘Council’ and any 
action which the Committee undertakes is Council’s responsibility 

3.3 The Constitution provides a mandatory set of rules that defines the functions that Council has 
delegated to the Committee, the manner in which those delegated functions are to be undertaken 
by the Committee, and an administrative structure and procedures to ensure that the Council is 
able to monitor the conduct and performance of the Committee, particularly with regard to 
managing potential liabilities that might arise as a result of the activities of the Committee, in a 
similar manner to that which Council monitors others performing Council’s functions under 
delegation  

 

3.4 The S355 Constitution takes precedence over other constitutions the group may have in regard to 
Council business.  

4. TERM 

4.1 This Constitution operates for a term commencing from the date on which Council, by resolution, 
adopts this Constitution and concluding on the date set out in Item 6 of the Schedule or three 
months after the date of the Council election immediately following the date of commencement of 
this Constitution (whichever occurs first), unless terminated earlier in accordance with this 
Constitution. 
 

4.2 Committee membership is on a quadrennial basis for the term of Council. Committees are formally 
appointed by the Mayor in office. Following a General Election of Councillors, the existing 
committee membership continues until such time as the new council appoints new committee 
members.  
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5. FUNCTIONS OF THE COMMITTEE  
 

5.1 The Committee may, subject to sub-clauses 5.2 - 5.5 (inclusive), exercise any function of Council 
set out in Item 3 of the Schedule subject to any restrictions set out in Item 4 of the Schedule;  

 
5.2 The Committee must comply with any law, including but not limited to the LGA, in exercising any 

function delegated by sub-clause 5.1;  
 

5.3 When exercising any function delegated by sub-clause 5.1the Committee must comply strictly with 
the terms of the Constitution and any Council Policy or Legislation including but not limited to:  
 Work Health and Safety Act, 2011  
 Work Health and Safety Regulations, 2011  
 Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 
 Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009  
 Hilltops Council Code of Conduct  
 Hilltops Council Code of Meeting Practice  

 Additional policies applicable to individual committees are set out in Item 5 of the Schedule 

Notwithstanding anything contained in Item 3 of the Schedule, the Committee must not permit or 
cause any contractor or person to undertake any work on behalf of or at the direction of the Committee 
unless they are registered on Council’s list of service contractors who:  

a)  Have contracted with Council to provide services at quoted prices  
b)  Carry all appropriate insurances  
c)  Have provided Council with an ABN  
d)  Supply Tax Invoices.  
e)  Agree to abide by WorkCover and Council policies  
 

5.4 Notwithstanding sub-clause 5.1, the Committee must not, give or purport to give any consent or 
approval (under the EPA A, the LGA or any other law) to any development or building works on 
any land but may, if requested to do so by Council, make recommendations in respect of any such 
development or building works for consideration by Council; and  

 Must not, by virtue of s.355 of the LGA, undertake or perform any of the following functions of Council 
 the appointment of a General Manager  
 the making of a rate under the LGA  
 a determination unders.549 of the LGA as to the levying of a rate  
 the making of a charge or the fixing of a fee  
 the borrowing of money  
 the voting of money for expenditure on works, services or operations of Council  
 the compulsory acquisition, purchase, sale, exchange or surrender of any land or other 

property (not including the sale of items of   plant or equipment)  
 the acceptance of any tender that Council is required to invite under the LGA  
 the adoption of a Management Plan under the LGA  
 the adoption of a Financial Statement included in an Annual Financial Report under the 

LGA 
 a decision to classify or re-classify public land under Division 1 of Part 2 of Chapter 

6 of the LGA  
 the fixing of an amount or rate for the carrying out by Council of work on private land  
 the decision to carry out work on private land for an amount that is less than the amount or 

rate fixed by Council for the carrying out of such work  
 the review of a determination made by Council, and not by a delegate of Council, or an 

application for approval  
 the power of Council to authorise the use of reasonable force for the purpose of gaining entry 

to premises under s.194 of the LGA  
 the decision under s.356 of the LGA to contribute money or otherwise  
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 grant financial assistance to persons  
 the power of Council under s.455 of the LGA in relation to attendance at meetings of Council  
 the making of an application, or giving of notice, to the Governor of New South Wales or the 

power of delegation under s.355 of the LGA  
 any function that is expressly required to be exercised by resolution of Council  

Must not, unless the Committee has obtained prior written approval from the General Manager, 
engage or contract with any person or corporation to provide any good or service for payment of any 
consideration or fee.  

 

5.5 To act as a representative body of the Community and as a conduit between the Council and the 
Community.  This does not prevent individual residents from contacting Councillors or Council staff 
directly. 

 

Limitations of Powers  

5.6 The Committee must not do anything or allow any person acting under its direction to do anything 
contrary to the interests of Council. For the purposes of this sub-clause this includes but is not 
limited to prohibiting the following:  
a) Acting contrary to any direction from Council, which includes a direction from the General 

Manager or the Mayor;  
b) Acting contrary to Council’s policies, whether as contained in Item 5 of the Schedule or 

otherwise;  
c)  Advising any person that they may have a legal right or action against Council or any 

Committee Member, Council employee or Council contractor exercising a function of Council;  
d) Making any admission of liability or accepting liability on behalf of Council or the Committee.  
e)  Acting contrary to Council's Code of Conduct.  
f)   Acting outside the limits of the Committee's delegation.  
g)  Acting or presenting the Committee as independent of Council.  

5.7 Correspondence 
a)  Committees are not permitted to forward official correspondence to government officials or 

government departments (e.g. Governor-General, Government Ministers).  
b)  All official correspondence must be signed by the General Manager.  

5.8 Media 
a) Committee Members are not permitted to speak to the media on any Council matters in their 

capacity as a Committee Member unless otherwise approved. All such requests received must 
be referred to the General Manager whose decision is final.  

5.9 No powers or functions may be delegated by the Committee to any other person or committee 
unless provided in this Constitution.  
 

5.10 The Committee shall not vary the delegations or conditions of use of the Facility without prior 
consent of Council. 

 
5.11 The Committee shall not: 

a)  do anything that is not within the powers, duties and functions delegated in this instrument;  
b) exercise any of the functions included in 5.5 above which all require Council approval;  
c) employ any staff without the authority of the General Manager and/or Council.  
d)  enter into any contracts or accept tenders.  

5.12 The determination of fees and charges is always subject to the approval of the Council in 
 accordance with Section 377 of the Local Government Act 1993. Accordingly, the Committee is 
 not authorised to waive or discount fees without the prior consent of Council.  
Accordingly, the Committee cannot do any of the above.  
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5.13 Delegated Authority 
  The Committee is authorised to elect a person(s) to exercise the function of booking officer for the 

use of the facility (where applicable for committees managing Council facilities) in accordance 
with the terms of Council’s Conditions of Hire.  

 
  In all other instances, applications should be referred to the Committee.  

5.14 The Committee is authorised to carry out routine inspections of the Facility (where applicable for 
 committees managing Council facilities). 

 
5.15 The Committee is appointed and authorised to operate strictly in accordance with the conditions 

 and delegations outlined in this Constitution and Instrument of Delegation. 
 

5.16 The Committee will advise the appropriate council officer of any major /external items of repair or 
 maintenance required to the Facility (where applicable for committees managing Council facilities). 

6. COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 

6.1 Committees are formed either by voting by members of the organisation or community at a publicly 
advertised meeting or by the Council publicly calling for nominations or by other means approved 
by Council. The Committee will comprise not less than four (4) who have been duly appointed by 
Council. Council may increase the maximum number of members if circumstances warrant. 
 

6.2 Where the committee manages a council facility, user groups of the facility may nominate for 
membership of the committee and when considering member appointments, Council will endeavour 
to limit membership of the committee to an equal number of members from each user group.  

 
6.3 Persons under the age of eighteen years  

a)  must have parent/guardian consent to become members of a committee  
b) must be in the care of a responsible adult (committee member) whilst participating in 

committee activities  

6.4 The Committee may, subject to clause 6.12, appoint members to identified roles and/or form sub-
committees to undertake the work of the Committee.  

 
6.5 The Committee must contain at least the number of Councillors and/or the number of Council 

employees set out in Items 8 & 9 of the Schedule.  
 

6.6 Transportation to and from committee activities is the responsibility of each committee member 
 

6.7 Each committee member must complete and sign the Prohibited Persons Declaration where the 
volunteer work primarily involves direct contact with children and that contact is not directly 
supervised.  

 
6.8 The names and addresses of any nominees are to be forwarded to Council for consideration of 

appointment in accordance with Section 355 of the Local Government Act 1993.  
 

6.9 In the event of a vacancy occurring on the Committee for any reason, the Committee will seek 
nominations from the relevant group in a manner determined by Council.  

 
6.10 Each member of the Committee exercises that capacity, and provides any labour, on an honorary 

and voluntary basis. No member of the Committee shall be entitled to any remuneration or wage 
from Council as a result of that person’s membership of the Committee, and there is no employer 
- employee relationship between Council and any member as a result of that membership.  
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6.11 The General Manager may, by notice in writing, terminate any person’s membership of the 
Committee. Such written notice must be provided to each member of the Committee and to the 
person whose membership has been terminated pursuant to this sub-clause. Such termination 
takes effect on the date specified in the notice regardless of any request under this sub-clause  
for a review. The General Manager may, at his or her absolute discretion, withdraw any notice 
issued pursuant to this sub-clause without prejudice to the General Manager’s ability to issue 
further notices under this sub-clause. Any member of the Committee may seek a review of the 
General Manager’s termination of any membership pursuant to this sub-clause by submitting 
notice in writing to the General Manager, who will then refer the matter to the next available 
meeting of Council for determination of that review by Council.  

 
Sub Committees  

6.12 The formation of any sub-committees or appointment of members to identified roles does not 
 operate as a delegation to such members or sub-committees of any function of Council for the 
 purposes of the LGA and all such sub-committees or members remain subject to the terms of this 
 Constitution.  

 
6.13 The Committee, in the case of a Sports Council, may form a Management Committee (sub-

committee). This sub-committee will be specified in Item 7 of the Schedule. 
 
Voting  

6.14 Each member of the Committee is entitled to one (1) vote on any issue put to the vote of members 
at any meeting of the Committee.  

 
6.15 The Chair at any meeting shall, in the case of an equal number of votes in any resolution put to 

the meeting, have a second or casting vote.  
 
6.16 No member is permitted to participate in any debate before the Committee or vote put to the 

Committee where that member has, either directly or indirectly, a pecuniary interest in the issue(s) 
debated or subject of that vote.  

 
6.17 Each member is required to notify the Committee in writing of the nature of any pecuniary interest 

referred to in sub-clause 6.16 
 
The Executive 

 
6.18 The Executive of the Committee will comprise a Chairperson, Deputy Chairperson, Secretary, 

Treasurer and Booking Officer (if applicable). 
 
6.19 The executive positions of the Committee are elected by participants or members at the annual 

general meeting or by the Committee at its annual first meeting. The Executive must have not 
less than three members. The annual general meeting will decide which form of voting will be 
carried out for the appointment of the Executive.  
a) The Committee, at a minimum, must appoint a Chair, Secretary and a Treasurer.  
b) The Committee may appoint members to other positions, such as, Bookings Officer, Work 

Coordinator as determined by the membership.  
c) The Committee may appoint a combined Secretary/Treasurer position if the minimum 

requirement of three Executive positions is met.  
d) The Committee, in the case of Sports Councils, may vary the positions of the Executive to 

include President, Vice Presidents, and Booking Officers. These positions will be specified in 
Item 7 of the Schedule.  

6.20 Voting is by a simple majority of either those present at the AGM or the Committee.  
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6.21 Notwithstanding the provisions of clauses 6.18, 6.19, 6.20 Council may, either by resolution of 
Council or by written notice signed by the General Manager, terminate the appointment of any 
member of the Executive.  

 
6.22 Subject to clause 6.21 each member of the Executive shall hold the position on the Executive for 

a period of twelve (12) months from the date of such appointment or on the expiration of the 
Constitution, whichever occurs first.  

 
6.23 A maximum of two (2) relatives of any one family can be office bearers on the same Committee 

at the same time. 
a)  Only one (1) of those bearers mentioned above in 6.23 is to sign cheques on behalf of the 

same committee at the same time  
b) This means that relatives of the same family can be appointed to the same Committee 

simultaneously but only two can be office bearers and only one can sign cheques during the 
time that they are members.  

 
6.24 The duties of the Executive shall be: 

 
Chairperson a) To call and preside at meetings and to act as spokesperson for the 

 Committee; 
Deputy Chairperson b) To assist the Chairperson and, during her/his absence, assume the 

 role of Chairperson 
Secretary c) To deal with all incoming and outgoing correspondence and table all 

 correspondence at Committee Meetings for appropriate action 
 d)  To provide notice and agenda of meetings to Committee Members 
 e)  To accurately record minutes of each meeting and to promptly forward 

 all minutes to the General Manager (Hilltops Council) and to all 
 members of the Committee 

  
Treasurer In accordance with any Council document developed to assist the 

committee the Treasurer is responsible for the following:  
 

f)  To receipt of all moneys payable to the Committee and issuing receipts 
 for same; 

 g)  To keep correct accounts and books showing the financial affairs of 
 the Committee; 

 h)  To bank to the credit of the Committee all moneys received; 
i) To submit financial statements at each Committee meeting; 
j) To prepare and have audited: a Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss 

Statement of the Committee for presentation to the Annual General 
Meeting to Council; 

k)  To submit accounts for approval of payment by the Committee at each 
meeting 

l) To prepare and submit monthly GST returns to Council 
 
Booking Officer m) To take enquiries, enter bookings into the bookings diary, send out 

 application forms and conditions of use, issue receipts for hiring fees 
 and insurance cover, issue keys, inspect the facility after use for 
 cleaning and/or damage and informing the Treasurer before 
 reimbursement. Council would prefer that the booking officer and the 
 treasurer not be the same person.  

6.25 Any member of the Committee shall cease to hold office:  
a)  if the Committee is dissolved by Council;  
b) by resignation in writing lodged with the Secretary and forwarded to Council;  
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c)  if absent without leave for three (3) consecutive meetings;  
d) if the member holds any office of profit under or in the gift of the Committee;  
e)  twelve months after the General Election of Council, if so determined in accordance with 

Council’s review of organisation structure pursuant to Section 333 of the Local Government 
Act 1993.  

 

Disclosure of Interest  

6.26 The Committee is a Committee of Council and, as such, Chapter Fourteen (Honesty and 
 Disclosure of Interests) of the Local Government Act 1993 applies to all its members.  

 
6.27 The Committee’s attention is hereby drawn to the following sections of Chapter Fourteen of the 

Local Government Act 1993 (reproduced hereunder) 451, 453,454, 455 and 456: 
 

451 (1) A member of a Council committee who has a pecuniary interest in any matter with which  
 the Council is concerned and who is present at a meeting of the Council or committee at  
 which the matter is being considered must disclose the interest to the meeting as soon as 
  practicable.  

(2) A member must not take part in the consideration or discussion of the matter. 
(3) A member must not vote on any question relating to the matter. 

 
453 A disclosure made at a meeting of a council or council committee must be recorded in the minutes 

 of the meeting. 

454 A general notice given to the General Manager in writing by a Member of a council committee to 
 the effect that the Member, or the Member’s spouse, de facto, partner or relative, is:  

(a)   a member, or in the employment, of a specified company or other body; or  
(b)    a partner, or in the employment, of a specified person, unless and until the notice is 

withdrawn, sufficient disclosure of the Member’s interest in a matter relating to the  
specified company, body or person that may be the subject of consideration by the council or 
council committee after the date of the notice.  

455 A Member of a council committee must not, if the council so resolves, attend a meeting of the 
council or committee while it has under consideration a matter in which the Councillor or member 
has an interest required to be disclosed under this Chapter.  

456 (1) A person who, at the request or with the consent of the council or a council committee, gives 
  advice on any matter at any meeting of the council or committee must disclose any  
  pecuniary interest the person has in the matter to the meeting at the time the advice is given. 

 (2) The person is not required to disclose the person’s interest as an adviser.” 
  

6.28 All members of the Committee and those present at a meeting are expected to behave in a 
courteous and respectful manner towards each other.  In the opinion of the Chairman, if 
behavior at the meeting is disrespectful, discourteous, or unruly, the Chairman can ask for the 
behavior to cease and if this does not happen, adjourn the meeting. The meeting will be 
reconvened at a time agreed upon by the Committee. 

   6.29 All Section 355 committees are governed by Council’s Code of Conduct.   
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7. WORK HEALTH & SAFETY 
 

In undertaking all of its activities Council will seek to ensure that the obligations of the Work Health and 
Safety Act, 2011 are observed. As an employer Council will endeavour to set a high standard of compliance.  

7.1 Committee members and volunteers undertaking work or activities on Council land are subject to 
Work Health & Safety Legislation. 

  
7.2 The Committee must ensure that any member of the Committee or volunteer on the work site 

meets the requirements of the Work Health and Safety Act, 2011 and Work Health and Safety 
Regulations, 2011. This includes:  
a)   Cooperate with Council by complying with all health and safety initiatives.  
b)    Ensure all activities undertaken are supported by sound Work Health and Safety practices 

and follow the risk management approach developed by Council.  
c) Take reasonable care for the health and safety of others, including those who may be 

affected by the work site.  
d)  Utilise information instruction, training and supervision from Council to ensure 

volunteers/committee members understand Work Health and Safety and how it relates to the 
work undertaken.  

e)   Participate, in consultation within the committee about Work Health and Safety matters, to 
contribute to decisions affecting health, safety and welfare.  

 
7.3 Ensure all committee members or volunteers comply with the following before undertaking activities 

on any work site: 
a) The person must be a committee member or a volunteer registered with Council.  
b)  The person is aged not less than 15 years unless the person is part of a group (supervised 

by an adult/s) which is covered by its own insurance and is prepared to indemnify Council.  
c) The person is aged no more than 90 years. Council’s personal accident insurance does not 

cover a person beyond 90 years.  
d)   The person must sign on/off each time they participate in activities.  

7.4 Ensure all committee members or volunteers comply with the following before undertaking activities 
on any work site: 
a) The work site and activity/activities are Council approved.  

 
7.5 Any incidents or injuries to persons or property, including potential incidents or injuries, must be 

reported to Council within 24 hours.  
b) Council’s Incident Report Form must be completed according to instructions inside the book.  
c)  Where there are witnesses to the injury or incident, the Committee must attempt to obtain and 

record the name, address and contact telephone number of each such witness.  

7.6 The Committee shall ensure that all documents and records of compliance required by Council 
shall be tendered at the next ordinary meeting of the committee and shall form part of the minutes 
of that meeting.  

 
7.7 Provide the General Manager or their delegated officer with information, documents and records 

of compliance in accordance with Council’s requirements and the State Records Act, 1998. 

8. MEETINGS 

8.1 At all meetings of the Committee 50% of the members shall constitute a quorum. A quorum must 
be present within fifteen minutes of the nominated commencement time.  

 

8.2 Proxy votes will not be accepted. 
 

8.3 At all meetings of the committee, a quorum must be present. (refer 8.1) 
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8.4 The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Committee at which the Chair is present, and in the 
absence of the Chair, the Deputy Chair shall preside. If both the Chair and the Deputy Chair are 
absent, the first business of every such meeting shall be to elect an Acting Chair to preside over 
that meeting and, for the purpose of so presiding, that person shall have all the powers of the Chair.  

 

8.5 Meetings are to be conducted in accordance with standard meetings procedure and the minutes of 
each meeting are to be forwarded to Hilltops Council.  
a)  The Committee shall hold ordinary meetings at least once in every quarter, on a day and at a 

time to be decided upon by the Committee.  
b) The Committee shall hold an Annual General Meeting, to receive annual reports and elect a 

Committee Executive once every twelve months.  

8.6 Where any Member objects to a resolution carried at a meeting of the Committee, such objections 
must be recorded in the minutes of the Committee and such resolution shall not be valid (and so 
must not be acted upon or implemented by the Committee) until Council resolves to confirm the 
resolution of the meeting of the Committee.  

 
8.7 The majority of the members of a Committee may resolve that a member of the Committee is to 

be disqualified. Such resolution shall be recorded in the minutes of any such meeting and those 
minutes must be submitted to the General Manager by the Secretary within seven (7) days of the 
meeting at which the Committee made that resolution. Such resolution is of no effect unless 
confirmed by resolution of Council, whose determination shall be final and absolute.  

 
8.8 If any member of the Committee is absent, without leave of the Committee, from three (3) 

consecutive meetings (other than special meetings) of the Committee, such member shall be 
disqualified from acting as a member of the Committee but shall be eligible for re-appointment.  

 
8.9 Committee members and the general public are entitled to view the Committee’s Minute Book or 

receive a copy of the Minutes of the Committee resolved by the Committee.  
 Note: Arrangements may be made to view the Minute Book at the Council Chambers.  

8.10 At all meetings of the Committee only business included in the Agenda may be dealt with 
(excepting the Annual General Meeting) unless all the members of the Committee are present 
and they unanimously consent to such other business being transacted or if the Chairperson rules 
the matter is of an urgent nature. 

  
8.11 Minutes of all meetings shall be recorded by the Honorary Secretary in an approved manner and 

a copy forwarded with Notice of Next Meeting to the General Manager of Hilltops Council. 
 
8.12 All Committee members are entitled to attend all meetings of the Committee. 
 
8.13 Committee meetings shall be open for attendance by members of the community and there should 

not be indiscriminate exclusion of anyone wanting to attend, however, the Committee may resolve 
to close a meeting or part thereof where matters under discussion would unnecessarily prejudice 
or embarrass individuals or organisations and/or potentially prejudice any business transactions.  

 

8.14 The Committee should endeavor to give public notice of its meetings.  Annual General Meetings 
are to be publicly advertised as per 8.15 and 8.16. 

 

Annual General Meetings 
8.15 The Annual General Meeting shall be called by the Chairperson of the Committee or, if not so 

called, by the General Manager of Hilltops Council. 
 

8.16 The Secretary shall give at least six weeks’ prior notice of an Annual General Meeting. The notice, 
 giving full details of date, time, place and business of the meeting, is to be displayed in a prominent 
 position at the Facility and sent to all members of the Committee and to the General Manager, 
 Hilltops Council.  
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8.17 The Annual General Meeting of the Committee shall take place at an agreed time each year 
 for the following purposes: - 
a) To confirm the Minutes of the previous Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary General 

Meeting, if any.  
b) To receive the annual reports of officers and audited Statement of Accounts for the preceding 

twelve (12) months.  
c) To receive nominations and conduct the election of office bearers for the ensuing year.  
d) To transact any business of which at least fourteen days’ written notice has been given to the 

Secretary for inclusion in the Agenda.  

8.18 The Executive office bearers shall be elected at the Committee’s Annual General Meeting and 
 hold office for a period of twelve (12) months or until their successors have been appointed as 
 hereinafter provided except where Council exercises its right to dispense with this procedure and 
 determines an alternative method to appoint the executive.  

 
8.19 Council will advertise the Annual General Meeting in the local press on behalf of the Committee. 

 

8.20 Members of the public are entitled to address meetings of the Committee with the consent of the 
 Chairperson. 

 
Extraordinary Meetings  

8.21 The Secretary may, upon receipt of written authority of the Chair or on receipt of a written request 
 signed by no less than three members of the Committee, call a special meeting at a time and at 
 a place determined by the Secretary provided that the time is not less than forty-eight (48) hours 
 prior to the giving of notice of this special meeting by the Secretary. Any such notice must specify 
 the agenda for the special meeting. Failure to receive notice of a special meeting shall not affect 
 the validity of a special meeting.  

 
8.22 Unless all members of the Committee unanimously consent to business other than that contained 

 in the agenda for the special meeting being determined at that special meeting, no special meeting 
 shall consider any business other than that for which the special meeting was convened and as 
 contained in the agenda for that special meeting.  

9. DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEE 

Subject to Council’s policies and its power to override any decision of the Committee and the right of general 
control and direction of the Hilltops Council, the Committee is required to do the following: 

9.1 Adhere to Council’s policies pertaining to the use of facilities. 
 

9.2 Adhere to Council’s Conditions of Hire for public facilities. 
 

9.3 Adhere to Terms & Conditions set out in any council document developed to assist the committee.  
 

9.4 Collect a charge for all hall bookings.  

9.5 Make available for any authorised officer of the Council any records of the Committee as requested. 
 

9.6 Operate the Facility in a manner so as to ensure a balanced budget with expenditure at least being 
equal to income (the Committee may raise funds for the care, control and management of the 
Facility) in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising Act.  

 
9.7 Prepare and submit to Council a Management Plan and Budget Request on an annual basis and 

in accordance with any council document developed to assist the committee.  
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9.8 Submit to Council for approval prior to any action being undertaken:  
a)  any major work to be carried out at the facility  
b) submissions for grants or other forms of assistance (financial or volunteer contribution)  
c)  major projects planned for the Facility  
d)  fundraising activities of the Facility.  

 
9.9 The Committee is required to make recommendations to Council regarding the following: 

a)  Any aspect of the care, control and management of the facility that is outside the scope of this 
Constitution and Instrument of Delegation, noting that Council’s decision thereon shall be final.  

b)  Any necessary structural maintenance to the Facility which is beyond the scope of this 
Constitution and Instrument of Delegation or the Committee’s resources.  

c) Hire charges for the use of the Facility (Note: The Committee shall have no power to waive 
or discount any charge or fee).  

9.10 The Committee must co-operate with any authorised officer of the Council in the carrying out of 
 his/her duties. 

 
9.11 The Council shall have the right to veto any decision of the Committee. 

10. VOLUNTEERS 

10.1  The Committee may arrange for volunteers to carry out work necessary for the care, control, 
maintenance and development of the Facility. 
 

10.2 The names of any volunteers must be forwarded to Council prior to any work being carried out. 
 

10.3 All volunteers carrying out any work on, or associated activities in relation to, the Facility are 
required to give due regard to the safety of themselves and others, with respect to all 
activities/work being carried out and equipment being used, and shall receive cover in 
accordance with Council’s Public Liability and Personal Accident insurance.  

 
10.4 The Committee is required to maintain a register of volunteers detailing the names and 

addresses of volunteers, duties performed, the date and time particular work was commenced 
and completed and details of any incident involving injury to a volunteer. 

 
11. FINANCIAL RECORDS - MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES 

11.1 Committees appointed under Section 355(b) of the Local Government Act are subject to the 
same standards of financial accountability as Council, and it is therefore important that 
Committees manage their finances well. All funds and assets held by the Committee belong to 
Council. The Committee is responsible for the care and control of these funds.  
 

11.2  Committees who handle funds, on behalf of Council, are required to comply with Council 
 procedures and instructions, which are designed to ensure that records and day-to-day 
 transactions are handled according to required standards.  
 

11.3  With the introduction of the Goods and Services Tax effective from 1 July 2000, all Section 355 
 Committees are obliged to comply with the new tax system. 
a)  All committees are covered under Council’s Australian Business Number.  
b) Committees are responsible for administering the requirements of GST Legislation that is, 

charging GST on taxable supplies and correctly identifying input tax credits claimable from ATO.  
c)  Accordingly, each committee must supply Council with details of GST applicable to all financial 

transactions for inclusion in Council’s monthly Business Activity Statements (BAS).  
d) Compliance with this request will ensure Council’s obligation is met on time and will avoid any 

interest or penalty chargeable by Australian Taxation Office.  



 

Section 355 Committee Standard Constitution and Instrument of Delegation 15 

11.4 The Treasurer in addition to the duties set out in 6.29(f)-(l) shall be responsible for ensuring: 
a) The proper keeping of the books and accounts of the Committee, which shall be kept as 

directed by the General Manager and made available to the Council when required for that 
purpose by the General Manager.  

b)  Accounts must be accessible by the General Manager who must be able to authorise, in his 
or her own right, withdrawals from any account held by the Committee.  

c)  Forwarding monthly financial and GST reporting to Council’s designated Responsible Officer   
twice a year in a format as directed by the General Manager.  
 This includes a cash book style financial record keeping system (manual or electronic), 

which is set up to record income, expenditure, GST and reconciliations in a simple format.  
 The cash book is completed each month and the original forwarded to Council with copies 

of tax invoices, tax input receipts and bank statements.  
 The totals of each month are entered onto the Annual Summary Reporting page which is 

forwarded to Council annually.  
d)  Receiving monies on behalf of the Committee and maintaining accurate records of the receipt 

of such monies.  
e)  Attending to the payment of accounts and other expenses approved by the Committee on 

behalf of the Committee, and maintaining an accurate record of such payments.  
f)   Issuing of tax invoices.  

11.5 All monies received by the Committee shall be deposited, within seven (7) days of receipt into an 
account in the financial institution set out in Item 10 of the Schedule. Any such account must have 
the names set out in Item 11 of the Schedule.  
 

11.6 The Committee may only operate those accounts set out in Item 11 of the Schedule or as directed 
in writing by the General Manager.  
a)  The committee shall operate a dual signature bank account in the name as listed in Item 1 of 

the Schedule. Three members of the Committee’s executive shall be designated as signatories 
with cheques to be signed by any two signatories provided that the signatories are not from 
the same family.  

b) All Committees are required to advise Council of the details of the persons who are authorised 
signatories of the Committee’s bank account.  

11.7 The Committee must not, at any time, incur any expenditure in excess of the amount held in the 
Committee’s credit in the account operated by the Committee in compliance with this Constitution. 
In any event, no expenses of any member of the Committee or the Committee shall be paid unless  
authorised by resolution of the Committee.  
 

11.8 The Committee may authorise the transfer of an amount not exceeding the sum of $50.00, to be 
known as “petty cash”, which shall be held by the Treasurer subject to any direction by the 
Committee. 
 

11.9 The financial year shall be the period from the 1st July to 30th June. 

12. RECORDS AND RECORD KEEPING 

12.1 Creation and retention of records 
 The Australian Standard on Records Management (AS 4390-1996, Part 1. Clause 4.2.1) defines 

a record as Recorded information, in any form, including data in computer systems, created or 
received and maintained by an organisation or person in the transaction of business or the 
conduct of affairs and kept as evidence of such activity.  

12.2 The Secretary is responsible in addition to the duties set out in 6.29(c)-(e) for;  
a) Preparing agendas, notices of meetings and circulating same and minutes of meetings.  
b) Recording the minutes of all meetings. In respect of any meeting of the Committee, each 

Committee Member shall be required to sign an attendance sheet, which will form part of the 
minutes.  
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c)  Conducting all correspondence on behalf of the Committee.  
d)  Retaining copies of all outgoing correspondence.  
e)  Retaining the original of all incoming correspondence.  

12.3 Committees need to be aware of the importance of minutes, because of their legal status and their 
 liability to subpoena in court cases.  
a) An agenda is to be sent out to all Committee Members at least one week prior to the meeting.  
b) Minutes of the matters discussed will be kept and a copy forwarded to Council and to all 

Committee members.  
c)  The Chair/Deputy Chair is required to sign the minutes of a meeting as the true record of 

proceedings of the meeting. The minutes must record all motions and amendments put to the 
meeting, and the results. There is no need to record what members said at the meeting, but 
there may be occasions when it is appropriate to record the thrust of the debate.  

d)  The Chair/Deputy Chair and the Secretary are responsible for the form of the minutes for 
proper confirmation, and must check that there have been no un-authorised alterations to those 
minutes. The Chair/Deputy Chair signs the minutes after they have been confirmed by the 
appropriate meeting (usually the next committee meeting). The signing must not take place 
until the motion for confirmation has been completed. The motion to confirm the minutes can 
only be moved and seconded by a person in attendance at that meeting to which the minutes 
relate.  

12.4 Ownership and legislation  
a)  In respect to record keeping, the Committee must act in accordance with Council’s Records   

Management Directive, and associated procedures as determined by Council.  
b) The Management Directive and procedures reflect the requirements of public offices in the 

creation, management, and protection of their records as legally required by the State Records 
Act of 1998.  

c)  As determined by the State Records Act 1998, neither the Committee nor Council is the owner 
of records created and maintained by them. As a public office Council’s records are officially 
records of the state and must be managed by Council and Committees accordingly.  

12.5 Destruction of records 
a) No incoming or outgoing correspondence may be destroyed, with the exception of advertising 

material, newsletters, and magazines.  

12.6 Storage and custody of records  
a) Records should be stored in an area away from potential hazards, e.g. fuel, water, fire, vermin.  
b) Records should be stored in a secure location, e.g. locked cupboard or room.  
c)  Release of original or photocopied records to any person, other than a current Committee 

member or an authorised officer of the Council, is prohibited.  

12.7 Access to records 
a) Access to records by persons other than current Committee members or an authorised officer 

of the Council is prohibited.  
b) Request for access to records, for persons other than those stated above, must be made 

through Council’s Public Officer.  
c)  The Committee acknowledges it has a responsibility under the Privacy and Personal 

Information Protection Act 1998 to protect the personal information and privacy of individuals 
in general. The Committee will not provide to any person other than a committee member any 
personal information unless it has been specifically collected for the purposes for which it is 
being requested. This includes contact details for a member of the Committee unless that 
member has agreed those details can be provided to members of the public.  

12.8 Return of records to Council  
 Any records still held by a Committee prior to 2002 must be returned to Council for archival 

storage. Access to these records can be arranged through Council’s 355(b) Committee 
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Responsible Officers.  
a) Return of original records to Council is to be done annually following each individual 

Committee’s AGM.  
b)  Photocopies of returned records will be provided, within reason, if required for ongoing 

business activities. Arrangements can be made through Council’s 355(b) Committee Officers.  

13. REPORTS 

13.1 Monthly - Financial Reporting and attachments 
 To be forwarded to Council’s designated Responsible Officer twice a year in a format as provided 

by Council.  

13.2 Annual - Financial Summary Statement  
 To be forwarded prior to 31 July each year to the General Manager, for submission to Council in a 

format as provided by Council.  

13.3 Annual Reports 
 To be forwarded prior to 31 July each year to Council’s designated Responsible Officer and include:  

a) A summary of activities and projects undertaken by the Committee during the previous 
financial year proposed projects and activities to be undertaken by the Committee during that 
current financial year.  

b)  Elected Executive  
c)  Updated List of Account Signatories  

13.4 Recommendations for Fees and Charges  
a)  To be forwarded to Council by 1st December each year.  
b) The schedule of fees and charges is set by Council, taking into consideration the 

recommendations of the Committee and the operating requirements of the facility.  
c)  The Committee is not able to provide subsidies or waive hire fees.  

14. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

14.1 The Committee acknowledges and agrees: 
a) It is important for Council to develop, maintain, protect and manage the organisation’s 

intellectual property including copyrights, trademarks, registered designs, patents and 
databases.  

b) The Committee, as a delegate of Council, has a duty to observe and help protect Council’s 
intellectual property by not copying or supplying such property without the express permission 
of Council.  

c) Council retains ownership of all intellectual property created by Committee members in the 
course of their Committee work.  

14.2 The Committee refer to the Responsible Officer any questions relating to intellectual property 
 rights or the use of another organisation’s document.  

 
15. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

  
15.1 Where the Committee is unable to reach a determination of any issue, the Committee must refer 

that issue to the Responsible Officer for determination. Where the Committee resolves that it is 
dissatisfied with the resolution of that dispute by the Responsible Officer it may, by notice in writing 
to the Director, request that the matter be referred to the Director for determination of the dispute. 
Where the Committee resolves that it is dissatisfied with the resolution of that dispute by the 
Director it may, by notice in writing to the General Manager, request that the matter be referred to 
Council for determination of the dispute by resolution of Council, whose determination of the 
dispute shall be final and binding upon the Committee. 
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16. AMENDMENT OF THE CONSTITUTION 

16.1 The Constitution may only be altered by resolution of the Council. 
 
16.2 The Committee may request Council to consider an amendment their Constitution Schedule once 

the proposed alteration is submitted to a General Meeting of the Committee and the notice 
convening such a meeting contains the proposed alteration or the effect thereof AND such 
proposed alteration is approved by at least three-fourths of the members present at such a 
General Meeting.  

17. DISSOLUTION 
 

17.1 Council may dissolve a committee at any time. Council may wish to dissolve a committee to carry 
out the control of the facility itself.  
 

17.2 Council may also dissolve a committee if that Committee is not complying with the roles and 
responsibilities of the Committee.  
 

17.3 The committee shall be dissolved in the event of membership dropping to less than four (4) 
persons. However, if a committee chooses to remain active with less than four members, it is 
given six months to re-establish a viable membership (i.e. minimum of four members).  
 

17.4 If a committee or facility becomes inactive or inoperable, the Committee will be dissolved and all 
responsibilities will be taken over by the designated Council department (in this instance, 
consideration will need to be given to the long- term viability of the facility or function).  
 

17.5 On dissolution of the committee, the Secretary/Treasurer or the responsible member must forward 
immediately all records (minutes, correspondence, financial records) to Council. 
 

17.6 The committee can also be dissolved by a vote of 75% of members entitled to vote present at an 
Extraordinary Meeting convened to consider this option.  
 

17.7 Upon a resolution being passed by Council for the dissolution of the Committee, all assets and 
funds of the Committee shall, after payment of all expenses and liabilities, be handed over to 
Council for the future management of the facility or to be held in trust by Council until a Committee 
is re-established  
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     Appendix -1 

 

 

 

Schedule to Hilltops Council Section 355 Committee Standard Constitution 

Item 1 Name of Committee 
 

 

Item 2 Name of Council Group 
 

 

Item 3 Functions delegated by 
Council to Committee 

 

 

Item 4 Restriction on functions 
delegated 

 

 

Item 5 Policies and legislation the 
committee is required to 

comply with in addition to 
those set out in clause 5.3 of 

the standard constitution 
 

 

Item 6 Date on which constitution 
concludes 

 

 

Item 7 Maximum number and make-
up of committee members 

 

 

Item 8 Councillors 
 

 

Item 9 Council employees  
Item 10 Name of financial institution 

and type of account 
 

Item 11 Name of any account 
operated by the committee 

 

Item 12 Area assigned to committee 
and/or map 

 

Item 13 Additional clauses or 
amendments to Standard 
Constitution or Schedule  

To be listed in full – body of 
constitution not to be altered 

 

Item 14 Changes to Standard 
Constitution or Schedule 

 

Item 15 Minimum number of meetings 
per annum 
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Appendix -2 

 

Nomination Form for Appointment to Committee 

 
1. NOMINEE DETAILS  

Mr     Miss     Ms     Mrs     Full Name: 

Residential Address of nominee: 
 
Postal Address of nominee:  

Name of Committee: 

Group Represented: 

Phone/Mobile: Email: 
 

2. REASONS FOR WISHING TO JOIN THE COMMITTEE  

_________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

I acknowledge receipt of the Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 Pre-Collection 
(Section 10). 

I confirm I have read the contents of the notice and agree that personal information may be used for the 
purposes identified and provided to the recipients identified in the notice. 
 

Nominee Signature: __________________________________ Date: ____________________ 
 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Nominee’s under 18 years of age – Parent/Guardian Consent 

I, _______________________ hereby consent to the nomination of ______________________ 

to the ___________________________ committee. 

 
Parent/Guardian Signature: __________________________________ Date: _______________ 
 

Please return this form to Hilltops Council, Locked Bag 5, Young NSW 2594 
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Appendix -3 

 
 

Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 

Pre-Collection (Section 10) 

Hilltops Council Section 355 Committees 

 
The personal information that Council is collecting from you is personal information for the purposes of 
the Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 (‘the Act’). 
 
The intended recipients of the personal information are: 
 
 Members of the public and Council staff requiring contact information in relation to your 

Committee. 
 The personal information will appear in the Council Agenda at the time that your nomination will 

be considered by Council and the personal information will as a result be available to Council, 
members of staff and members of the public who obtain copies of the Council Agenda. 

 
The provision of the information by you is voluntary. 
 
The personal information will be used by the Council to choose members of the Committee. 
 
Council is collecting this personal information from you in order to maintain an accurate contact list for 
members of the public, Council officers and other Council Committee members who may need to contact 
the appropriate members of your Committee. 
 
If you do not provide this information, we will not be able to include details in the database. 
You may make application for access amendment to information held by Council. You may also make a 
request that Council suppress your personal information from a public register. Council will consider any 
such application in accordance with the Act.  
 
Council is to be regarded as the agency holding the information. 
 
Inquiries concerning this matter may be addressed to Councils’ General Manager. 
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18/15 – PROPOSAL TO ALLOW WINGECARIBEE SHIRE COUNCIL TO JOIN CANBERRA 
REGION JOINT ORGANIZATION 
 
Reference:   File No. 21.04 
Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate and Community 
 
PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of this report is to include the Wingecaribee Shire Council as part of 
the Canberra Region Joint Organisation (CBRJO). 
 
REPORT 
 
Hilltops Council have passed the necessary resolutions to join the CBRJO.  At the 
time those resolutions were passed the Wingecaribee Shire Council had not 
indicated that it supported joining the CBRJO.  It was not a member at that time.  
The Council have now decided to join the CBRJO and the Office of Local 
Government have advised that Council will need to pass a resolution to include 
the Wingecaribee Council as part of the CBRJO.  The resolution at the end of this 
report has been supplied by the Office of Local Government (OLG). 
 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

 
 Local Government Act  
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
A strong CBRJO will enable region wide activities to be undertaken to build 
capacity in the region and enable the region to partner with State and Federal 
governments. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that Council pass the following resolution; 
 

1. For the purposes of the resolution passed by this council on 20 December 
2017, concerning the approval of council’s area being included in the joint 
organisation’s area, that – in addition to those council areas prescribed in 
the previous resolution – council endorses the area of the Wingecaribee 
being included in the area of the joint organisation.” 
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18/16 – DISTRIBUTION REMAINING COUNCIL’S SPONSORSHIP FUND 
 
Reference:   File No. 32.04   
Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate and Community 
 
PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of this report is to recommend to Council the distribution of the 
remainder Council’s sponsorship fund being $1750 to the Young Community 
Transport. 
 
REPORT 
 
Council received a number of applications for sponsorship covering a wide variety 
of events and activities.  These included sporting events, art shows and events in 
support of the Cherry Festival, community group activities and publications.  Part 
of Young Community Transport’s application was attached to another 
application and missed being considered as part of the programme.   
 
Young Community Transport would like sponsorship to undertake a trial of 
providing a service between the three towns once a week to enable residents to 
access services and shopping primarily in Young. 
 
Young Community Transport are often told through their consultation that a 
service between the three centres is an ongoing need.  They would like to run a 
trial in order to test the market for this service. 
 
Mrs Rolfe the Manager has been apologised to by the Executive Director 
Corporate and Community and I have advised her that there is a remaining $1750 
which could be allocated to this trial. 
 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

 
 Section 356 Local Government Act  
 

CONSULTATION 
 

Young Community Transport have been spoken to and been appraised of the 
situation.  The Financial Assistance & Sponsorship Committee has recommended 
that the funds be allocated to the Young Community Transport. 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
Sponsorships are a way the Council can assist groups with undertaking events and 
activities which continue to build and foster the community and build a sense of 
cohesion. 
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FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
A sum of $40,000 has been set aside for sponsorships in the 2017/18 operational 
plan.  The allocation of the remaining $1750 will exhaust the fund and therefore a 
further round will not now be able to be called. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 
Attachment 1 –  Young Community Transport Application. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that Council; 
 

1. provide $1750 to Young Community Transport out of the sponsorship fund; 
and 

2. note that the sponsorship fund is now exhausted and therefore no new 
sponsorships will be considered until the new financial year. 

 
  



I 
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APPLICATION FOR SPONSORSHIP 
I 

Request fpr the Financial Year 2017-2018 
1 

1. Applicant/Organisation: 

NAME OF ORGANISATION Coast &Country Community Services Ltd T/A Young Community T Port 

ADDRESS 133 Main St Young.NSW. 2594 

TELEPHONE 
0263821518 

PRESIDENT/CHAIR (name) 
Bill Cameron I 

SECRETARY (name) 
Ross Dixon ' TREASURER (name) David Wadsworth 

ABN: 
53 729 915 617 

I 
Is your organisation an lncorl?orated body? Yes !(E!§}lf Yes, please attach your last set of financial 

statements. The organisati~n moved from an Inc body to a Company limited by , arantee when it merged 
with Coast and Country Community Services in Feb 2014 ' 

How many members does your organisation have? . .. ~ .. ... . ....... .. ........ .. . .. 

I 

2. Sponsorship (pleas+ tick the sponsorship you are applying for) 

v Sponsorship 1 - region wide event/activity - funding to a maximum of $5, 000 

Sponsorship 2- local specific Town or Village based general community eventlactivity
funding to a maximum of $2, 500 

Sponsorship 3 - Sporting events/activities of State or National significa1ce - funding to a 
maximum of $2,500 

Please explain what your event entails? 

The Young/ Boorowa Community Transport service would like to Trial a bus service to provide a trasnport link 

\ 

between Young, Boorowa andfHarden. It is envisaged the bus service would run wej:kly leaving Young, travelling to 

Boorowa then Harden and back to Young in the morning and the return trip in the aAernoon. It would target 

the transport disadvantaged li( ing in the three communities providing affordable access to services and shopping. 

*The provision of sponsorship Jnder this Fund does not imply that consent for your project has been granted 
under the Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 1979. You must ensure your Group has all necessary 
Planning and Development Consents prior to beginning your project. 



HW!gps 
What outcomes are you plannii g to achieve by holding the event and how will you know your organisation 
has been successful? 

We would like to trial the service from 1st December 2017 till 30th June 2018 to gain data on the numbers of people 

wishing to travel between the three Hilltops communities and the regularity that they wish to travel. This data will 

then be used to plan for future services within our organisation. It is hoped that it will be well supported and it can 

become a regular ongoing service like our Canberra and Wagga Corridor services have become. 

Please provide details of how Council's funds will be expended: 

Councils funds will be utilised to meet the running costs of the bus (fuel and maintenance and replacement costs). 

The bus, driver and all administration and advertising will be supplied by Young Community Transport. 

,, I 
Please list any sponsorship/funding g iven to your organisation by Council, ove the last three years: 

AMOUNT DAT!= PURPOSE TO WHICH FUNDS WERE PUT 
·1 
j 

! 

Please list any sponsorship/funding given to your organisation by other organisations or 

agencies over the last three years· I l 
1 

AMOUNT DATE Received from whom and purpose to which funds were put. 

$340,280 Annually TFNSW( Young/ Boorowa Recurrent Community Trans Fundin~ 

I 

I 
i 

~ 
Do you co~to Council ~valuating how the funds were spent, if Council elects 
to do so? ~/No t 



3. Information Regarding the Organisation 

a) What experience does your organisation have in organizing and running this type of 
event/activity? 

Young Community Transport has been operating for 31 years in Oct 2017 . We currently run a fleet of 16 

vehicles across Young, Boorowa and Weddin. Last year we provided approx 22,5 0 passenger trips across 

the three services. Since 2012 the service has successfully set up and operated a corridor bus service from 

Young to Canberra three days a week and since 2015 to Wagga two days a week providing a vital 

transport link to many transport disadvantaged people in the Hilltops LGA. . 
b) How will the sponsorship1you have requested benefit Hilltops residents? 

I 

An effective trans ort s stemfis essential to the economic and social viablilit of ru I communities like ours. 

All townships in the Hilltops region are disadvantaged by a lack of Public transport linkages as high lighted in the 

last Young Shire Social Plan. ~y assisting our service financially to trial a weekly bus between the three main 

townships we will be able to dscertain the real transport needs of the commun ities, to plan for future services and 

try to attract further funding for the service. 

4. Additional Information 

Any additional information which you consider necessary. 

Over the past 30 years Community Transport has endeavoured to meet the growing needs of our community. 

Thru participation in Council groups and social planning we have moved in response to community need and 

gained ongoing TFNSW funding to sustain the corridor bus service linkages with crnberra and Wagga and we now 

see a transport linkage between Young Boorowa and Harden as our next major need to focus on for the benefit of 

the Hilltops Community. 

5. How will your orga~isation acknowledge the Council's sponsorship? 

Hilltops Council will be ack11owledged in all media and promotional advertising of the new service. 

The service will be known ~s the Hilltops Community Link. t 

Please complete and submit the form to Hilltops Council before 12 noon 
Thursday, 2nd November 2017. 
Fax: 6382 1299 
Email: mail@hilltops.nsw.gov.au 



' \ 
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2017/18 EVENT SPONSORSHIP PROGRAM 
I 
f AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

AND 

HILLTOPS COUNCIL 
~ \-0 C a a.s+. 2" C.:i>~r":::J · C = . . ---+_-, ..S.Z.-.J,;.~ 

~~ a::~r~Jd ~~,~~c~pnu~~g ofxxx (GST inclu0;ve)~~e/~~~i~d7~~;~~;;;-~J--rr"~--r=~ 
2017 /18 Event Sponsorship Program for the ., 

'I Bank Account Details for depositing the above grant are: 

Name of Institution I Commonwealth Bank 

Branch If Nowra 
I 

Account Name 
-, 

Coast & Country Community Services Lfd 

BSB 062 585 
I 

Account Number ~ 28011267 

' By accepting this grant I understand and agree that: 

1. The grant may only be used for the purpose approved by Hilltops Council. 
2. I/We agree to seek approval for any changes to the project for which assistance has been 

3. 
4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

Name: 

Position: 

approved and understand that if the project is cancelled or modified without approval 
Hilltops Council reserves the right to seek full reimbursement of funds. 
This project will be finalised by the 30 June 2018. 
Hilltops Council r~serves the right to seek full reimbursement of funds if this project is not 
completed by the 30th June 2018. 
Hilltops Council'~ support will be acknowledged on all promotiot al material and 
publications relating to the project. 
All promotional material containing Hilltops Council's logo must be appr · ved by Council's 
Tourism & Events Manager prior to production. 
Within 45 days of conclusion of the project I/we will supply a written report to Council. This 
report will includel 

I. Reporting ag~inst the agreed KPl's and outcomes as submitted in the application 
II. An evaluatia.in of the event that includes attendance numbers and data that 

substantiateSfthe origin of visitors to the event. f 
Ill. A review of the event that in particular highlights key learnings th can be used for 

IV. 
v. 

VI. 

development of the event to ensure sustainability 
Minutes of the post event meeting of your committee 
Copies of all promotional/media materials that were produced 
A selection of Hi Res key imagery from the event that you permit Hilltops Council to 
use for futurf promotion in relation to this Sponsorship Program or marketing of 
Hilltops 

Signed: 

Date: 
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18/17 – DRAFT CONTAMINATION POLICY 
 

Reference:   File No. F164.00  
Responsible Officer: Director Sustainable Growth 
 

PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of this report is to consider the attached Draft Contamination Policy, 
which has been developed to support recycling education and a reduction in 
contamination levels in the kerbside Recycling Collections. 
 

REPORT 
 

Background 
Over the past years the amount of contamination in the kerbside recycling 
collection from all three collection areas has been an issue. There was a slight 
decrease earlier this year when the REROC Recycle Right television 
advertisements were first released, however contamination incidents appear to 
be increasing again. 
 

Recycling Education 
Council staff have developed a waste education campaign, with a focus on 
recycling education, which includes; 

 Council staff being available to undertake waste audits in schools 
throughout the Hilltops area. This has already commenced and will 
continue in the New Year,  

 Recycling graphics on the new garbage and recycling trucks (Young & 
Boorowa),   

 magnets that give a brief outline of what goes in the ‘yellow’ bin (provided 
in the recent waste information pack), 

 regular social media posts and media releases, 
 Undertaking waste audits of the kerbside collection in the New Year, and 

providing residents with positive feedback on how they are doing with their 
waste separation, 

 Educational displays and print media, and 
 Working with the Contractors and Council staff to deliver a consistent 

message across the LGA. 
  

The recent Waste Collection Tender and Contract required that Contractors to 
have in place technology to identify and record contamination and assist Council 
in delivering a contamination free product to the Material Recovery Facility for 
processing.  
 

JR Richards have installed the J-Track system in the vehicles, which not only allows 
the driver to view the recycling as it lands in the hopper but also records images 
of the house, the bin and the hopper contents. The system also has the ability to 
generate a letter to the resident to inform them that there were contaminants in 
their bin with images and provide some targeted education.  
All letters will be sent by Council. 
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It is important that in order to reduce contamination rates and the amount of 
recyclables that are then sent to landfill, that Council support this technology, and 
that the positive messages in our education campaign, with a Contamination 
Policy (Attachment 1).  
 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

 
 Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 
 

CONSULTATION 
 

It is recommended that consultation be undertaken in accordance with the 
legislation prior to endorsement by Council. 
The Draft Contamination Policy was provided to the Policy Review Committee 
prior to be presented with Council with no changes proposed by the policy review 
committee. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 
Attachment 1 - Draft Contamination Policy 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that Council; 
 

1. endorse the Hilltops Draft Contamination Policy to be placed on public 
exhibition calling for submissions for 28 days; 

2. if there are substantial changes proposed for any reasons, a report be 
submitted to Council for consideration detailing the public exhibition 
outcomes and with further recommendations regarding adoption; and 

3. if there are no submissions received proposing changes, or there are no 
changes proposed for any other reasons, Council adopt the Contamination 
Policy. 
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Document Control 

Policy Draft Contamination Policy Policy Number           TBA 
 

Author/Reviewer Manager – Environmental 
Health & Waste 

Review Period and Date Reviewed within 12 
months of election/4 
yearly - September 

 
This policy shall be reviewed: - 

 This policy shall be reviewed within 12 months of an election, and thereafter at four yearly 
intervals at least, to ensure it meets all statutory requirements and the needs of Council. It may 
also be reviewed at other times as determined by Council. 

 The Council reserves the right to vary, replace or terminate this policy from time to time. 
 This policy commences as from the last date of adoption by Council as listed in the document 

history and replaces all previous versions. 

Document History 

Date Status Version Resolution Description 
8 December 2017 Draft 0.1  Created 
28 February 2018 Draft 0.2  Presented to Hilltops Council for 

endorsement, public exhibition 28 days. 
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1. Commencement of the Policy 

1.1. This Policy will commence from the date adopted by Council. 

2. Application of the Policy 

2.1. This Policy applies to all residents in the Hilltops Council area.  

3. Definitions 

Contamination   means all materials which are not Recyclables.  
 

Gross contamination  is all materials which are not Recyclables, where it is evident upon 
visual inspection that excessive amounts of these materials are present 
within the Mobile Bin, 

 

Recyclables   means the following containers, packaging and products: 
 recyclable Paper and Cardboard,  
 liquid paperboard cartons 
 glass bottles and jars 
 aluminium cans, packaging and foil 

  

 PET, HDPE   rigid plastic packaging including LDPE, PP, PS, and other, and steel 
     rigid packaging, including aerosol cans;  

4. Gross Contamination 

4.1 A mobile bin will not be collected if it is evident upon visual inspection that it contains Gross 
Contamination. 

4.2 Resident’s will be notified by either a letter or a sticker on the day the incident occurs. 

4.3 Residents will be given the opportunity to rectify the problem within one (1) working day, and the 
bin will then be collected. 

5. Contamination – Visible via camera in the hopper 

5.1 If contamination is identified while in the processing of emptying the contents into the collection 
vehicle, the resident will receive notification via mail specifying the problem and clarifying the 
acceptable recyclables. 

 
5.2 Second Occurrence 

If there is a second occurrence at a premises within one (1) month, the resident will receive 
notification via mail specifying the problem and clarifying the acceptable recyclables 

5.3 Third Occurrence 
If there is a third occurrence at a premises over a two (2) month period, the resident will 
receive notification via mail specifying the problem, clarifying the acceptable recyclables and 
warning of possible removal of services after any further incident over a specified period. 

 

5.4 Fourth Occurrence 
If there is a fourth occurrence at a premises, the resident will receive notification via mail 
specifying the problem, clarifying the acceptable recyclables and warning of possible 
removal of services following Council review. 

Council will review the history and the severity of the incidences, and if warranted will notify 
the ratepayer of the removal of the service.  
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18/18 – DRAFT INTERNET, EMAIL AND COMPUTER USAGE POLICY 
 
Reference:   File No. 86.02   
Responsible Officer: Executive Director Corporate and Community 
 
PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of this report is to place on public exhibition the Draft internet, email 
and computer usage policy.  This policy is to be considered by Council as it applies 
to Councillors as well as staff. 
 
REPORT 
 
The draft policy provides clear guidelines for the use of computers, internet, email 
and other electronic media and devices to allow effective use of Council 
resources and clear communication with Council both internally and externally.   
 
Elected Councillors and staff will be required to sign-off on this policy to certify that 
they understand and agree with the terms of the policy. 
 
Council has given employees and Councillors access to telecommunications, e-
mail, computer, internet and other facilities to assist them to communicate 
effectively in their roles with each other and others whom Council communicates.   
 
Council needs to have a policy as it goes some way to protect the Council 
(Corporate) from claims which may arise from the miss-use of the internet, emails 
and computer technology.  Council and its Councillors and employees may be 
legally liable if the facilities are used in an unlawful way. The following legislation is 
relevant: 

 NSW Anti-Discrimination Act 1977; 
 NSW Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998; 
 NSW State Records Act 1998; 
 Evidence Act 1995; 
 Federal Sex Discrimination Act 1984; 
 Federal Disability Discrimination Act 1992; 
 Federal Racial Discrimination Act 1975; 
 Federal Crimes Act 1900; 
 Federal Copyright Act 1968; 
 Federal Defamation Act 1974; 
 Defamation Act 2005 (NSW); 
 Employees Liability Act 1991 (NSW); and 
 Crimes Act 1914 (Cth). 

 
The guidelines in this policy are based upon the requirements of this legislation, so 
as to protect both Council and its Councillors and employees from legal action. 
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STATUTORY PROVISIONS 
 

 Local Government Act  
 NSW Anti-Discrimination Act 1977; 
 NSW Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998; 
 NSW State Records Act 1998; 
 Evidence Act 1995; 
 Federal Sex Discrimination Act 1984; 
 Federal Disability Discrimination Act 1992; 
 Federal Racial Discrimination Act 1975; 
 Federal Crimes Act 1900; 
 Federal Copyright Act 1968; 
 Federal Defamation Act 1974; 
 Defamation Act 2005 (NSW); 
 Employees Liability Act 1991 (NSW); and 
 Crimes Act 1914 (Cth). 

 

CONSULTATION 
 

It is recommended that the Draft Internet, Email and Computer Usage Policy be 
placed on public exhibition for 28 days. 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The Draft Internet, email and computer usage policy provides guidelines and 
standards for employees and Councillors when they are using technology to 
interact and communicate with each other and the community. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Significant legal costs may arise due to the misuse of information technology 
supplied by Council.  The policy is a tool to manage Council’s risk in this area. 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

Attachment 1 - Draft Internet, email and computer usage policy 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that Council; 
 

1. endorse the Hilltops Draft Internet, Email and Computer Usage Policy to be 
placed on public exhibition calling for submissions for 28 days; 

2. if there are substantial changes proposed for any reasons, a report be 
submitted to Council for consideration detailing the public exhibition 
outcomes and with further recommendations regarding adoption; and 

3. if there are no submissions received proposing changes, or there are no 
changes proposed for any other reasons, Council adopt the Hilltops Draft 
Internet, Email and Computer Usage Policy. 
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Document Control 

Policy Internet, Email and Computer 
Use Policy 

Policy Number           TBA 

Author/Reviewer Executive Director Corporate & 

Community 

Review Period and Date Reviewed within 12 months of 

election/4 yearly - September 

This policy shall be reviewed: - 

 This document will be reviewed within 12 months of an election, and thereafter at four yearly intervals, or as 
otherwise determined by Council. This will include the issue of a new Modal Plan by the NSW Ombudsman. 

 This policy commences as from the last date of adoption by Council as listed in the document history and 
replaces all previous versions. 

Document History 

Date Status Version Resolution Description
26 October 2017 Draft 0.1 Presented to Consultative Committee for review and 

endorsement
26 October 2017 Draft 0.2 Endorsed by Consultative Committee for review by 

the Policy Committee
28 February 2018 Draft 0.3 Presented to Hilltops Council for endorsement, 

public exhibition 28 days.
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1. Policy Objective 

The objective of this policy is to provide clear guidelines for the use of computers, internet, e-mail and other electronic 
media and devices to allow effective use of Council resources and clear communication with Council both internally and 
externally. 

Elected Councillors and employees will be required to sign-off on this policy at the commencement of their 
term/employment to certify that they understand and agree to comply with the terms of this policy. 

Council has given Councillors and employees access to telecommunications, e-mail, computer, internet and other 
facilities to assist them to communicate effectively with each other and others with whom Council communicates, and to 
use the information gathering and storage capabilities that the facilities provide. Council also recognises that 
occasionally, Councillors and employees may wish to use the facilities for private purposes, to meet family and 
community responsibilities. 

2. Policy Statement 

The unique nature of internet, e-mail and computer facilities is supported by this policy which has the purpose of; 

 Preserving the integrity and efficiency of the facilities by providing guidelines for Councillors and employees to 
clarify what constitutes appropriate conduct and use of the facilities; 

 Outlining the expectations Council has of the manner in which Councillors and employees will use the facilities, 
so that they enhance the professional and personal lives of Councillors and employees, while complying with 
the organisation’s obligations to maintain a workplace that is efficient, harmonious and without risk of 
discrimination or harassment resulting from improper use of the facilities; and 

 Outlining to Councillors and employees what will happen if they fail to abide by the guidelines contained in this 
policy. 

3. Definitions 

Council  means Hilltops Council 

Computer Equipment  means and includes any electronic equipment or computer software, provided to Councillors 
and employees for use in the performance of their duties, either in general or specific terms, 
including, but not limited to; 

 Computers, including PC’s, laptops/notebooks, tablets and handheld 
 devices; 
 Printers; 
 Scanners; 
 Digital cameras or any other digital imaging equipment; 
 All software and programs provided to facilitate work needs; 
 Network operating systems (eg Windows); 
 All network infrastructure including data cabling and transmission 
 equipment; 
 All forms of e-mail; 
 Internet access 
 Mobile phones connected to the internet and/or email 

Council’s Record  Incorporates Policies, Procedures and Protocols in place from time to time 
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Management Procedures  incorporates Policies, Procedures or Protocols in place from time to time which determine 
how business records are received, stored, actioned and referred throughout the 
organisation.  

Normal Working Duties  means and includes all activities associated with fulfilling the duties and obligations of the 
Employee’s Position Description. 

Privileges  means and includes the specific permission granted to access and/or use Computer 
Equipment including areas where electronic files may be 
stored, modified or viewed and the quality of such storage space which will be made 
available. 

Streaming  means Multimedia (audio and video) files that are available to play in a 
steady and continuous flow, almost immediately upon their downloading. 

Work Related Study  means and includes study and research approved by an employee’s relevant Director for 
the purpose of developing skills required in the performance of their position. 

Social Media  means a group of Internet-based applications that build on the ideological and 
technological foundations that allow the creation and exchange of user-generated content. 
Furthermore, social media depend on mobile and web-based technologies to create highly 
interactive platforms through which 
individuals and communities share, co-create, discuss, and modify user-generated 
content. 

Authorised Officer  means and includes the following positions; 
 General Manager 
 Executive Director of Corporate & Community  
 Director of Infrastructure 
 Director of Sustainable Growth 
 Chief Financial Officer 
 Manager Business & Governance 

4. Responsibilities 

This policy applies to all Hilltops Council employees, Councillors, work experience students and volunteers. 

5. Recommended Practices 

Use of facilities 

Council has provided the facilities primarily for business purpose and to enhance the productivity and quality of work. 
Private use of facilities in the case of staff should be restricted to breaks. 

Legal issues 

Council and its Councillors and employees may be legally liable if the facilities are used in an unlawful way. The following 
legislation is relevant: 

 NSW Anti-Discrimination Act 1977; 
 NSW Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998; 
 NSW State Records Act 1998; 
 Evidence Act 1995; 
 Federal Sex Discrimination Act 1984; 
 Federal Disability Discrimination Act 1992; 
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 Federal Racial Discrimination Act 1975; 
 Federal Crimes Act 1900; 
 Federal Copyright Act 1968; 
 Federal Defamation Act 1974; 
 Defamation Act 2005 (NSW); 
 Employees Liability Act 1991 (NSW); and 
 Crimes Act 1914 (Cth). 

The guidelines in this policy are based upon the requirements of this legislation, so as to protect both Council and its 
Councillors and employees from legal action. 

Authorisation of Use 

Employees and Councillors will be granted privileges to use computer equipment supplied by the Council, following 
confirmation of their employment/election and the required authorisation forms being completed by an authorised officer. 

6. System Security 

Responsibility of the Manager of Business & Governance in consultation with Councils IT employees  

It is the responsibility of the Manager of Business & Governance in consultation with Council’s IT employees to provide, 
maintain and monitor the necessary hardware and software (eg Anti-Virus) to minimise security risks. 

Passwords 

It is the responsibility of each employee and Councillor to maintain the confidentiality and security of their own password. 
Councillors and employees should ensure that they; 

 Log off the network or password lock their workstation whenever leaving it 
unattended for long periods of time, including attending meetings and lunch 
breaks; 

 Do not attempt to gain access to another employee’s or Councillor’s log-in id or password; 
and 

 Do not disclose passwords to any other persons. 

Persons who are not employed by Council (including Councillors) must not be given access to the Council’s corporate 
network under any circumstances, unless approval is first sought and obtained from the General Manager. This includes 
work experience students, volunteers, etc. Where approval to access equipment and software is conditionally given, 
such persons are not permitted to use an existing user’s log-in id or password. In such circumstances, an authorised 
officer will arrange a temporary account with the appropriate security privileges. 

Communications System Security 

To help avoid the spread of viruses, Councillors and employees must not by-pass Council’s network security by 
accessing the internet directly by modem or other unauthorised means, unless permission has been granted by an 
authorised officer. 

Councillors and employees using IT equipment with access to Council’s network and not utilising Council supplied IT 
equipment, must ensure that any file or data brought into Council from an external (to Council) source, is scanned with 
Council approved virus checking software. The Executive Director of Corporate & Community must be notified 
immediately, if any employee or Councillor suspects that a virus has been introduced into Council. 

Hardware, Software and Privileges 

Councillors and employees must not attempt to install or remove software or hardware onto Council’s Computer Network 
without prior approval and direction from an authorised officer. 
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Streaming 

Streaming material via Council’s network utilises bandwidth and slows network performance. Therefore, no network 
users are permitted to “stream” without authorised consent. 

As a requirement of the State Records Act, all Council information and/or data is to be permanently stored on Council’s 
servers for backup and security implications. Therefore, disk space on individual Council PC’s or Council laptops, should 
only be used as temporary storage, or for transitional purposes only. Please note that in general, Council PC’s or Council 
laptops are not backed up in any way. 

Councillors and employees must not attempt to access, copy, damage, delete, insert or alter any information held on 
Council’s Computer Equipment beyond the Privileges granted by an Authorised Officer for the performance of their 
normal working duties. 

7. E-mail Usage 

Privacy 

E-mail is made available to Councillors and employees primarily to enable Council to conduct its business 
communications efficiently. All e-mails sent or received from Council’s system remain the property of Council. For legal 
purposes, email has the same standing in court as paper documents. 

Councillors and employees should not expect that e-mail is confidential or private. Therefore, when sending confidential 
information (for example business information, client details, pricing, or any personal or private information about 
individuals), careful consideration should be given as to whether alternative means of communication are preferable. 

Whilst Council does not wish to become a censor, to ensure that the guidelines contained in this policy are followed, 
council retains the right to access or view users’ e-mail sent via the corporate network. Council will only access 
information created or stored on Council’s e-mail system for disciplinary procedures or where there is a valid business 
requirement. 

Management of E-mail Messages 

E-mail is a valid form of communication within Council. Councillors and employees should attempt to access their e-mail 
at least once per day. Councillors and employees must manage their e-mail mailbox personally by ensuring that e-mails 
received are actioned within acceptable times, unwanted e-mails are cleared, and business communications are 
registered in accordance with the State Records Act of 1998, e-mail messages are official records of Council’s business 
and the legislation requires Council to be accountable for that business. Transactions that provide evidence of business 
activities, which include but are not necessarily limited to; 

 What happened; 
 What was decided; 
 What advice was given; 
 Who was involved; 
 When it happened; and 
 Order of events and decisions. 

are required to be documented in the Records Management System to provide an official record. 

E-mail messages that document such activities, should be forwarded electronically to mail@hilltops.nsw.gov.au for 
registration into the Council Records Management System. 

When Councillors and employees go on leave, it will be their responsibility to ensure that arrangements have been put 
in place while they are on leave, so that their emails can still be processed or acknowledged in some way. 
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Standards for Outbound E-mail 

The content of e-mail signature files is to clearly state the identity of the e-mail originator. Councillors and employees 
should include their name, title, telephone number, email address and Council website address with a high-resolution 
image of Council’s logo on all e-mails. 

Example; 

<NAME> 

<POSITION TITLE> 

Locked Bag 5 

YOUNG NSW 2594 

<name>@hilltops.nsw.gov.au

Mobile XXXXXXXXXX 

Phone (02) 6380 1200 

Fax (02) 6385 3562 

Boorowa Office – 6-8 Market St 
BOOROWA 

Harden Office – 3 East St 
HARDEN 

Young Office – 189 Boorowa St 
YOUNG 

DISCLAIMER: The information contained in this email message and any accompanying files is, or may be, confidential. If you are not 
the intended recipient, any use, dissemination, reliance, forwarding, printing or copying of this email or any attached files is unauthorised. 
This email is subject to copyright. No part of it should be reproduced, adapted or communicated without the written consent of the 
copyright owner. If you have received this email in error, please advise the sender immediately by return email, or telephone and delete 
all copies. Hilltops Council does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of any information contained in this email or attached files. 
Unless otherwise stated, the opinions expressed in this email are those of the writer and do not necessarily represent those of Hilltops 
Council. Information contained in this email should not be relied upon where loss, damage or injury is possible. Internet communications 

are not secure and Hilltops Council does not accept legal responsibility for the contents of this message or attached files.

 Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail

Acceptable personal use of e-mail 

Council accepts that e-mail may on occasion be used for personal reasons. Acceptable personal use includes sending 
short personal e-mails preferably during lunch breaks or outside normal work hours. However, Councillors and 
employees must remember that the primary purpose of the e-mail system is to enhance business communication and 
hence, the overall effectiveness of the organisation. Excessive personal use of the e-mail can undermine that 
effectiveness and lead to disciplinary action. 

Unacceptable use of e-mail 

Councillors and employees must not access, or attempt to access, another employee’s or Councillor’s e-mail while in 
transmission or stored on a system without authorisation from the employee or Councillor whose e-mail is to be 
accessed, or an authorised officer. Any e-mails caught by virus cleaning software will no longer be considered private 
and will be open for interrogation by the General Manager, Directors or an Authorised Officer.  

Councillors and employees specifically must not use e-mail (including personal e-mail) to; 
 Conduct illegal activities; 
 Send e-mail messages that in any way could, or would be likely to bring Council’s name into disrepute; 
 Send e-mail messages (with or without attachments) which contain inappropriate or offensive material of a 

sexual, racial, libellous, defamatory, abusive, obscene or discriminatory nature; 
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 Distribute “junk mail” or electronic chain letters including letters seeking donations and those providing pyramid 
selling schemes or advertising; 

 Send unauthorised e-mails from another person’s e-mail address or impersonating another person; 
 Send e-mails which are likely to be perceived as harassment, intimidation or an unwanted invasion of privacy; 
 Send non-urgent e-mails (e.g. jokes) to large numbers of people (whether within Council or not) at any time; and 
 Send personal e-mail to any person who does not wish to receive it. If a recipient asks a user to stop sending 

him or her e-mail, their request must be observed. 

What you should do if you receive offensive e-mail 

If an employee or Councillor receives offensive e-mail from outside Council, they should immediately delete it. In the 
event that further material is received, the employee should advise their supervisor.  A councillor should advise the 
General Manager. 

Limitations 

Council has implemented a maximum size for allowable e-mail messages and also restricts e-mail messages that contain 
certain attachments or content which have been known to contain viruses from either entering or leaving Council. Users 
will be notified by (return) e-mail, when such limits have been exceeded. An authorised officer should be contacted on a 
case by case basis, if these limitations are found to be too restrictive. 

8. Internet Usage 

Access to sites 

Councillors and employees should be aware that internet sites accessed by them can record Council’s name. Council 
can monitor sites that Councillors and employees are accessing and it reserves the right to do so, to ensure that the 
guidelines contained in this policy are followed. Council reserves the right to block access to sites which it deems to be 
inappropriate. 

Sending information 

The internet is not a secure method of sending information. Therefore, when sending confidential information (for 
example business information, client details, pricing, or any personal or private information about individuals), careful 
consideration should be given as to whether alternative means of communication are preferable. 

Acceptable personal use of internet facilities 

Council accepts that the internet facilities may on occasion be used for personal use reasons. Acceptable personal use 
includes browsing the internet during lunch breaks or outside normal work hours. However, Councillors and employees 
must remember that the primary purpose of the internet facilities is to enhance business activities and hence, the overall 
effectiveness of the organisation. Excessive personal use of the internet facilities can undermine that effectiveness. 

Unacceptable use of internet facilities 

Councillors and employees specifically must not use the internet facilities to; 
 Intentionally access sites which contain pornography, or inappropriate or offensive material of a sexual, racial 

or discriminatory nature; 
 Solicit, download, store, or distribute pornography, inappropriate or offensive material of sexual, racial or 

discriminatory nature; 
 Access internet chat clients or internet relay chat networks; 
 Conduct gambling activities; 
 Conduct private transactions of a personal gain/profit nature, either directly or indirectly; 
 Conduct gaming activities during working hours; and 
 Stream music or programs as these activities utilise significant bandwidth and has a detrimental effect on 

Council’s activities. 
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Social Media 

Hilltops Council recognises that social media provides new opportunities for dynamic and interactive two-way 
communication which can complement existing communication and further improve information, access and delivery of 
key services. 

When establishing a social media account on behalf of Council, users must complete the Social Media Account Checklist 
(Appendix A) and submit to the relevant Director for approval and the General Manager for authorisation. 

All log in details and passwords must be supplied to records and stored in Council’s Record Management System in a 
confidential folder. 

9. Personal Use – General 

Acceptable Personal Use 

Notwithstanding the concessions made for acceptable personal use of e-mail and internet facilities in above sections, 
Council accepts that its Computer Equipment may on occasion be used for personal use reasons. Acceptable personal 
use includes the following, conducted during lunch breaks or outside normal work hours and consistent with all other 
sections of this policy; 

 The creation and storage of personal computer files, up to a total of 100 Megabytes at any one time, and which 
must be stored only in the section allocated for personal files on Council’s Corporate Network; and 

 The limited use of printers with the verbal (or written) agreement of an authorised officer. 

However, Councillors and employees must remember that the primary purpose of Council’s computer equipment is as 
a tool for business and hence, to enhance the overall effectiveness of the organisation. The provision and maintenance 
of computer equipment and consumables is a cost to Council’s business activities and therefore excessive personal use 
of these facilities can undermine the effectiveness of the organisation. 

Councillors and employees must not use Council’s computer equipment to maintain or support a personal business 
activity under any circumstances. 

Work Related Study Use 

Use of Council’s computer equipment, including e-mail and internet, may be granted to an individual Councillor and 
employee for work related study purposes by agreement with an authorised officer. 

This agreement must; 
 Be consistent with all sections of this policy. 

The agreement may: 
 Be for a fixed period; 
 Contain limits on the equipment available for use; 
 Contain limits on the time periods when study use may take place; 
 Require that records of use are to be maintained; 
 Detail the apportionment of costs associated with the usage; and 
 Permit variation by mutual agreement at any time. 

Agreements for Work Related Study Use may be revoked at any time by an authorised officer by written or verbal 
notification to the employee or Councillor. 
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Copyright 

All Councillors and employees must respect the copyright and any other intellectual property rights of third parties. 

Copyright protects the exclusive right of the copyright holder to copy, publish, perform, broadcast and sell copyrighted 
material. Councillors and employees must not download material from the internet or otherwise receive and use 
information that is owned by a third party unless they have the written permission of that party. 

Examples of possible breaches of copyright can include forwarding e-mails or copying or downloading copyright material 
(including computer programs, screensavers, sounds and images) that have copyright protection. 

As a general rule, under copyright law downloading from the internet for personal research is allowed. However, 
downloading material for distribution to others or for business purposes will require the permission of the third-party 
owner. 

10. Other Issues 

Workplace Health and Safety 

It is the responsibility of Council to ensure; 
 Councillors and employees are aware of any relevant issues pertaining to the correct handling and usage of 

computer hardware and software; and 
 That monitors meet current Australian safety standards. 

Councillors and employees must ensure: 
 That all cabling is arranged tidily so as not to present a health or operational hazard; and 
 That equipment is used in accordance with guidelines of this and other Policies and Procedures as may be 

adopted from time to time. 

Education and Training 

It is the responsibility of supervisors in the case of staff and the General Manager in the case of Councillors to ensure 
Councillors and employees are made aware of the contents and purpose of this policy, and compliance requirements of 
the policy. 

Monitoring and Auditing of Equipment, Services and Software 

Councillors and employees must be aware that; 
 Computer usage, including internet access and e-mail, will be monitored to ensure that the guidelines contained 

in this policy are followed. This includes monitoring personal usage of computer equipment during and out of 
normal work hours; 

 Logs may be kept indicating internet sites Councillors and employees have visited; and 
 Authorised officers may request such monitoring to take place with respect to an employee for which they are 

responsible, and may view such monitoring or logs as are available. 

11. Compliance with Policy 

Read the policy 

All Councillors and employees must read this policy carefully and observe its requirements. It is the employee’s and 
Councillor’s responsibility to ensure that they understand their obligations in relation to the policy. 

Councillors and employees must also sign the attached acknowledgement of understanding form prior to being granted 
access (or continuing access) to the facilities. 
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Councillors and employees must not sign unless they fully understand and agree to comply with all the terms of this 
policy. 
Conditions of employment 

Compliance with this policy is a condition of each employee’s employment with Council. A breach of any part of this 
policy may, depending on the circumstances, be regarded as a serious breach of any employee’s employment contract 
with Council. 

Breaches of the policy 

A failure to comply with this policy and any relevant directions given by management may result in the following action 
being taken against an employee or Councillor; 

 Counselling (including intensive training on this policy and the appropriate use of facilities); and/or 
 Disciplinary action regarding “inappropriate use” of the facilities, including cancellation of access to any or all of 

the facilities; and/or 
 Dismissal in cases of staff such as the access and/or distribution of material outlined in the unacceptable use of 

e-mail or unacceptable use of internet facilities sections of this policy. 
 Code of Conduct proceedings 

Variations 

The policies and procedures at Hilltops Council are the management tool developed to assist in operational 
requirements. This policy may be reviewed, varied or revoked according to these requirements. No change will take 
effect until it has been appropriately communicated to Councillors and Councillors and employees. 

Internet Disclaimer 

Upon accessing the internet via the Council’s network, you immediately release, discharge and indemnify Council of all 
liability and responsibility; 

 With respect to defamatory or other offensive material that you may access on the internet by reason of web 
searching and browsing by you; 

 Relating to any costs incurred associated with the use of on-line shopping services or any monetary transaction 
undertaken by the employee or Councillor not directly relating to Council business; 

 With respect to the unauthorised use of copyrighted material obtained via the internet. 

Commitment 

Councillors and employees are required to initially commit to this policy by signing this document to acknowledge that 
they have read the policy and agree to comply with its terms. 

References 
 NSW Anti-Discrimination Act 1977; 
 NSW Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998; 
 NSW State Records Act 1998; 
 Evidence Act 1995; 
 Federal Sex Discrimination Act 1984; 
 Federal Disability Discrimination Act 1992; 
 Federal Racial Discrimination Act 1975; 
 Federal Crimes Act 1900; 
 Federal Copyright Act 1968; 
 Federal Defamation Act 1974; 
 Defamation Act 2005 (NSW); 
 Employees Liability Act 1991 (NSW); and 
 Crimes Act 1914 (Cth). 
 Hilltops Council Code of Conduct 
 Hilltops Council Communications Policy 
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Appendices Appendix A – Social Media Account Checklist Appendix B – Councillor / Employee User Agreement

12. Appendix A - Social Media Account Checklist 

The following checklist is a good place to begin when considering setting up a social media account and determining its 
purpose. 

1. What will our account name be? 
 Can we get a name that aligns with our organisation-services? 
 Can we get a name that matches other social media accounts we already have? 
 All Council pages must commence with “Hilltops” followed by the position or department title (eg Hilltops Council 

Mayor) or a position or department title followed by “Hilltops Council” (eg General Manger Hilltops Council). 
 All Council social media pages are owned by Hilltops Council. 

2. What email account will it be linked to? 
 Can this email be accessed by multiple Councillors and employees or one person only? 
 If it is a corporate account will it block communication from the site? 

3. Who can post/publish items to the account? 
 Will publishing responsibility be restricted to an individual or team of people? 
 How will the messages be controlled, fact checked, spell checked? 
 Is it important that any communications have a similar ‘voice’ or style? 
 Will this be officially recognised as part of people’s work plans with time allocated to the activity? If so, how much 

time? 

4. What type of content can be published? 
 What will the account be used for primarily? 
 Will we post images or just text? 
 Will we post details of events/promotions for organisations outside of Council that we are not a partner with, or 

attending? 
 Will we post details of events/promotions for other areas of Council? 
 What about activities/groups that Councillors and employees are involved with outside of work? 
 What is our policy about naming Councillors and employees members online? 
 What do we do with information that may be critical of Council or politically sensitive e.g. new development 

application? 

5. Who is our target audience? 
 How will we reach them? 
 Why are we doing this? 

6. Who/what will we follow/friend or NOT? 
 Will we follow official Council accounts from our own Council? 
 Will we follow other Councils? 
 Will we follow local media? 
 Will we follow Councillors? 
 Will we follow individual members of Councillors and employees? 
 Will we follow members of the public? 
 Will we follow political parties? 
 What about legal service providers, businesses, emergency services, Government organisations, community 

groups, lobby groups, clubs etc.? 
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7. Who/what will we block and why? 
 What is our legal/moral obligation here? 
 Will we block illegal, offensive, defamatory material? Political/fundraising material? 
 Advertising/promotional material? 

8. Will we Direct Message followers/friends? 
 Will our communication/posting be public? – remember many of our followers/friends may be under 18 years of 

age. 

9. How will we track/monitor our postings/communication? 
 Will we use a third-party product? 
 What will our policy be about deleting posts? 
 Should copies be kept of deleted posts? 
 Do we need to archive posts? How often? How? 
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13.  Appendix B – Councillor / Employee User Agreement 

IT USER PROFILE CREATION/AUTHORISATION FORM
(FCR-523)

I _________________________________________  have read, understand and agree to comply with the terms 
of the Email and Internet and Computer Use Policy, which governs the use of Hilltops Council’s technology systems.  

I understand my responsibilities as a user on the Hilltops Council network.  

I further understand that any violation of the Email and Internet User Policy and Procedures is unethical and may 
constitute a criminal offence. Should I commit any violation, my access privileges may be revoked, disciplinary 
action and/or appropriate legal action may be taken.  

Councillor/employee Signature: ___________________________________ Date: _________________________

PLEASE MARK ALL RELEVANT BOXES

☐ Internet Access 

☐ Email Address 

_____________________________________________@ 

☐ Microsoft 365 Software profile 

☐ Network profile – access to ____________________ 
Department drives 

☐ Mobile Phone – DATA  Y / N  (_________GB p/mth) 

☐ Others eg. MapInfo, SIX Maps, COMMBIZ 

_______________________________________________ 

_______________________________________________ 

☐ CIVICVIEW 

☐ CIVICA 

☐ FUJITSU  
(please mark any that apply M for maintenance or 
E for enquiry)

Property – Land
Property – Rates
Applications/Registers
Correspondence
Customer Services
Work Orders
Ledgers/Jobs
Creditors/Debtors
Financial Parameters
Orders (purchase delegation $___________)
Assets
Payroll
Human Resources

I hereby authorise the abovementioned employee/Councillor to use the nominated computer software/profiles 

APPROVED BY DIRECTOR APPROVED BY GENERAL MANAGER

/      / /      / 

Completed by:  Date: 

Network User Name: ______________________________ Password: ___________________________________ 

Email prefix: _____________________________________ Password: ___________________________________ 
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18/19 – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR PERIOD 13/5/2016 TO 30/6/2017 
 
Reference:   File No. (B) 1.4.2   
Responsible Officer: General Manager 
 
PURPOSE 

 
The purpose of this report is to present the Audited Financials Statement to Council 
and support the presentation by Councils auditors Crowe Howarth. 
 
REPORT 
 
The Audit Reports for the Financial Statements for the period ended 30 June 2017 
have now been received and are presented in accordance with section 419 (1) 
of the Local Government Act 1993.  
 
A presentation will be made to the meeting by Mr Change Chow, Audit partner 
with Crowe Howarth. 
 
Council has provided public notice that the Financial Statements and Auditor’s 
Reports will be presented at this meeting in accordance with section 418 (3) of the 
Local Government Act 1993 and has invited public submissions on the audited 
financial statements. 
 
A summary of the consolidated Financial statements for the period ended 30 June 
2017 is provided below: 
 
Income Statement $’000 
Total Income from continuing operations 85,383 
Total expenses from continuing operations 83,616 
Operating result from Continuing operations 1,767 
  
Net result for the period (after net assets transferred 
from former Councils) 568,448 

  
Statement of Financial Position  
Current Assets 65,325 
Current liabilities (11,861) 
Non-current Assets 539,522 
Non-current Liabilities (24,538) 
Total Equity 568,448 

 
Council at its October Meeting, were presented with a draft Financial Statements 
that reported a net operating result from continuing operations of $7,057m.  The 
net change is $5,290m. 
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Councils auditors during the audit process found that there was not enough 
evidence to form an opinion on the provisions for restoration of Councils tips and 
quarries. The former Councils had provisions for restoration of tips and quarries at 
a combined total of $1,796m. Council was required to recalculate the provision 
for restoration which resulted in an increase in the provision of $5,168m. The 
remainder of corrections were minor in nature and effected income and 
expenses. 
 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

 
 Local Government Act 1993 Sec 413,418 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachment 1 - Financial statement for period ended 30 June 2017 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that Council, note the report. 
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Hilltops Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Contents

1. Understanding Council’s Financial Statements

2. Statement by Councillors and Management

3. Primary Financial Statements:

– Income Statement
– Statement of Comprehensive Income
– Statement of Financial Position
– Statement of Changes in Equity
– Statement of Cash Flows

4. Notes to the Financial Statements

5. Independent Auditor’s Reports:

– On the Financial Statements (Sect 417 [2])
– On the Conduct of the Audit (Sect 417 [3])

Overview

(i) These financial statements are General Purpose Financial Statements and cover the consolidated operations for
Hilltops Council.

(ii) Hilltops Council is a body politic of NSW, Australia – being constituted as a local government area
by proclamation and is duly empowered by the Local Government Act 1993  (LGA).

Council’s guiding principles are detailed in Chapter 3 of the LGA and includes:

principles applying to the exercise of functions generally by council,

principles to be applied when making decisions,

principles of community participation,

principles of sound financial management, and

principles for strategic planning relating to the development of an integrated planning and reporting framework.

A description of the nature of Council’s operations and its principal activities are provided in Note 2(b).

(iii) All figures presented in these financial statements are presented in Australian currency.

(iv) These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Council on 29 November 2017.
Council has the power to amend and reissue these financial statements.
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Hilltops Council 
 
General Purpose Financial Statements 
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017 
 

Understanding Council’s financial statements 

 
 

  
  page 2 
 

Introduction 
 
Each year, individual local governments across New 
South Wales are required to present a set of audited 
financial statements to their council and community. 
 
What you will find in the statements 
 
The financial statements set out the financial 
performance, financial position and cash flows of 
Council for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017. 
 
The format of the financial statements is standard 
across all NSW Councils and complies with both the 
accounting and reporting requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards and requirements as set 
down by the Office of Local Government. 
 
About the Councillor/Management Statement 
 
The financial statements must be certified by senior 
staff as ‘presenting fairly’ the Council’s financial 
results for the year and are required to be adopted 
by Council – ensuring both responsibility for and 
ownership of the financial statements. 
 
About the primary financial statements 
 
The financial statements incorporate five ‘primary’ 
financial statements: 
 
1. The Income Statement 
 

Summarises Council's financial performance for the 
year, listing all income and expenses. 
 
This statement also displays Council's original 
adopted budget to provide a comparison between 
what was projected and what actually occurred. 
 
2. The Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 

Primarily records changes in the fair value of 
Council's Infrastructure, Property, Plant and 
Equipment. 
 
3. The Statement of Financial Position 
 

A 30 June snapshot of Council's financial position 
indicating its assets, liabilities and “net wealth”. 
 
4. The Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

The overall change for the year (in dollars) of 
Council’s “net wealth”. 
 

5. The Statement of Cash Flows 
 

Indicates where Council's cash came from and 
where it was spent. This statement also displays 
Council's original adopted budget to provide a 
comparison between what was projected and what 
actually occurred. 
 
 

About the Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
The Notes to the Financial Statements provide 
greater detail and additional information on the five 
primary financial statements. 
 
About the Auditor’s Reports 
 
Council’s annual financial statements are required to 
be audited by the NSW Audit Office. In NSW the 
auditor provides 2 audit reports: 
 
1. an opinion on whether the financial statements 

present fairly the Council’s financial performance 
and position, and 

 

2. their observations on the conduct of the audit, 
including commentary on the Council’s financial 
performance and financial position. 

 
Who uses the financial statements? 
 
The financial statements are publicly available 
documents and must be presented at a Council 
meeting between seven days and five weeks after 
the date of the Audit Report. 
 
The public can make submissions to Council up to 
seven days subsequent to the public presentation of 
the financial statements. 
 
Council is required to forward an audited set of 
financial statements to the Office of Local 
Government. 
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Hilltops Council 

General Purpose Financial Statements 
for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017 

Statement by Councillors and Management 
made pursuant to Section 413(2)(c) of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (as amended) 

The attached General Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with: 

• the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (as amended) and the regulations made thereunder, 

• the Australian Accounting Standards and professional pronouncements, and 

• the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting . 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, these financial statements: 

• 

• 

present fairly the Council's operating result and financial position for the period 13 May 2016 
to 30 June 2017, and 

accord with Council's accounting and other records . 

We are not aware of any matter that would render these statements false or misleading in any way. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Council made on 25 October 2017. 

Brian Ing~ b~---
Mayor 

page 3 
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Hilltops Council

Income Statement
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$ ’000

Income from continuing operations
Revenue:
Rates and annual charges
User charges and fees
Interest and investment revenue
Other revenues
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes
Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Other income:
Net gains from the disposal of assets
Net share of interests in joint ventures and
associates using the equity method

Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment
Other expenses

Total expenses from continuing operations

Operating result from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net profit/(loss) from discontinued operations

Net operating result for the period

Gain on local government amalgamation

Assets and liabilities transferred from former councils

Net result for the period

Net operating result attributable to Council

Net operating result attributable to non-controlling interests

Net operating result for the period before grants and

contributions provided for capital purposes

Original budget as approved by Council – refer Note 16

Actual 

–                      

18,742             
28,309             

469                  

14,055             
1,754               
1,141               

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

1,767               

85,383             

1

–                        

3d

24

4e

4d

19,852             

1,767          

29 566,681           

568,448      

83,616             

19,606             

15,959             
2,079               

19,802             

–                      

(16,975)              

3e,f

4d

5

4b

4c

3b

19

4a

3e,f

20,913             

6,318               

Notes

3a

3c

568,448             
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Hilltops Council

Statement of Comprehensive Income
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$ ’000

Net result for the year (as per Income Statement)

Other comprehensive income:

Amounts which will not be reclassified subsequently to the operating result
Nil

Amounts which will be reclassified subsequently to the operating result
when specific conditions are met
Nil

Total other comprehensive income for the period

Total comprehensive income for the period

Total comprehensive income attributable to Council
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests

568,448      

–                      

Notes

568,448        

568,448           

–                   

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

Actual 
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Hilltops Council

Statement of Financial Position
 as at 30 June 2017

$ ’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as ‘held for sale’
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Investment property
Intangible assets
Other
Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Income received in advance
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Income received in advance
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Net assets

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves

Total equity

568,448      

568,448           

24,538             
7,006               

17,421             

111                  

36,399          

1,572               

–                      

9,532               

13,542             

65,325             

725                  

–                      

Actual 

10

10

10

10

10

20

7

14

19

8

6a

6b

22

Notes

9

7

6b

8

8

10

–                      

477                  

–                      

11,861             

3,345               

–                      
539,522           

73                    

568,448      

41,453             

                   2017 

6,467               

–                      

–                      

–                      

604,847        

8

10

10

25

–                      

539,522           

–                      

20
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Hilltops Council

Statement of Changes in Equity
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

13/5/16 to 30/6/17

$ ’000

Opening balance
a. Correction of prior period errors

b. Changes in accounting policies (prior year effects)

Revised opening balance

c. Net result for the year

d. Other comprehensive income

Nil

Total comprehensive income (c&d)

e. Distributions to/(contributions from) non-controlling interests

f. Transfers between equity

Equity – balance at end of the reporting period

Asset

–                     

revaluation Other Non-

equity

–                   

–                     –                     –                     

Retained reserve Council controlling Total
Notes earnings (Refer 20b) interest interest

20 (d) –                     –                     –                     –                     –                     

20 (c) –                     –                     –                     –                     –                     

568,448        –                   568,448        –                   

–                   –                   –                   –                   

–                   

–                     –                     –                     –                     

568,448        –                   

–                     –                     

568,448        –                   568,448        –                   

–                     –                     –                     

–                     

568,448        –                   568,448        –                   568,448        

–                     

–                   

reserves
(Refer 20b)

–                     

–                     

–                     
–                   

568,448        
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Hilltops Council

Statement of Cash Flows
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$ ’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts:

Rates and annual charges
User charges and fees
Investment and interest revenue received
Grants and contributions
Other
Payments:

Employee benefits and on-costs
Materials and contracts
Borrowing costs
Other

Net cash provided (or used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts:

Sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Deferred debtors receipts
Payments:

Purchase of investment securities
Purchase of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

Net cash provided (or used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Receipts:

Proceeds from borrowings and advances
Payments:

Repayment of borrowings and advances

Net cash flow provided (used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Plus: cash transferred on amalgamation of councils

Cash and cash equivalents – end of the year

Additional Information:

plus: Investments on hand – end of year

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments

Please refer to Note 11 for information on the following:
– Non-cash financing and investing activities
– Financing arrangements
– Net cash flow disclosures relating to any discontinued operations

9,109               

3,800               

(2,428)              

(7,187)              

4,259               

(37,137)         
(22,511)            

Actual 

91                    

Notes

(1,263)              
(23,424)            

(15,955)            

23,581             

46,114             

16,669             

54,995        

41,453             

11b

11a

6b

29

13,542        

4,433            

1,372            

(20,169)            

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

1,618               

40,198          

1,238               
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Hilltops Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Contents of the notes accompanying the financial statements

Details

Summary of significant accounting policies
Council functions/activities – financial information
Council functions/activities – component descriptions
Income from continuing operations
Expenses from continuing operations
Gains or losses from the disposal of assets
Cash and cash equivalent assets
Investments
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments – details
Receivables
Inventories and other assets
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Externally restricted infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment – current year impairments
Payables, borrowings and provisions
Description of (and movements in) provisions
Statement of cash flows – additional information
Commitments for expenditure
Statement of performance measures:
13a Local government industry indicators (consolidated)

13b Local government industry indicators (by fund)

Investment properties
Financial risk management
Material budget variations
Statement of developer contributions
Contingencies and other liabilities/assets not recognised
Interests in other entities

Financial result and financial position by fund
‘Held for sale’ non-current assets and disposal groups
Events occurring after the reporting date
Discontinued operations
Intangible assets
Reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration liabilities
Fair value measurement
Related party disclosures
Local Government amalgamation

Additional council disclosures

Council information and contact details

n/a  –  not applicable

29 70

47 n/a

55 n/a

50 n/a

59 n/a

51

57

56

28

Retained earnings, revaluation reserves, changes in accounting 
policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

27

73

60
59 n/a

59 n/a

61

59 n/a

70 n/a

10
21
22
23

7

8

9(a)

9(b)

30

29

34

43

54

47

Page

1

25

19

15

16

20

21

45

44

39

40

18

12

13

23

26

Note

22

14

10(a)

10(b)

17

6(a)

4

6(c)

9(c)

11

24

2(a)

3

2(b)

6(b)

5

46

37

33

34
35

42

40

41

38
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The principal accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated. 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 
 
The Local Government (Council Amalgamations) 
Proclamation 2016 (‘the Proclamation’) under the 
Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) transferred the 
assets and liabilities of 3 former councils: 
 
 Boorowa Council 
 Harden Shire Council 
 Young Shire Council 
 
to Hilltops Council as at 12 May 2016. 
 
Pursuant to the Proclamation, financial statements 
have been prepared for the period commencing on 
the date of establishment of Hilltops Council, being 
13 May 2016 and ending on 30 June 2017. 
 
Future reporting periods will be from 1 July to 30 
June of the relevant years. 
 
Assets and liabilities of Boorowa, Harden and Young 
have been recognised by the Hilltops Council at the 
carrying amount recorded by the former council. 
 
Hilltops Council believes the carrying amounts are 
not materially different from their fair values as at the 
date of transfer 12 May 2016. 
 

The fair value of the net assets has been shown as a 
gain on local government amalgamation in the 
income statement and further information is provided 
in Note 29. 
 
These general purpose financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting 
Interpretations, the Local Government Act 1993 
(NSW) and Regulations, and the Local Government 
Code of Accounting Practice and Financial 
Reporting. Council is a not for-profit entity for the 
purpose of preparing these financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 

(i) New and amended standards adopted by 
Council 

 
There have been no new accounting standards 
adopted in this year’s financial statements which 
have had any material impact on reported financial 
position, performance or cash flows.  
 
(ii) Early adoption of standards 
 
Council has not elected to apply any 
pronouncements before their operative date in the 
annual reporting period beginning 13 May 2016. 
 
(iii) Historical cost convention 
 
These financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, as modified by 
the revaluation of certain financial assets and 
liabilities and certain classes of property, plant and 
equipment and investment property. 
 
(iv) Significant accounting estimates and 

judgements 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in 
the process of applying the Council's accounting 
policies.  
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that 
may have a financial impact on the Council and that 
are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions  
 
Council makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year include: 
 
(i) Estimated fair values of infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment, 

 
(ii) Estimated tip remediation provisions. 
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Significant judgements in applying the Council's 
accounting policies 
 
Impairment of Receivables 
 
Council has made a significant judgement about the 
impairment of a number of its receivables in Note 7. 
 
(b) Revenue recognition 
 
Council recognises revenue when the amount of 
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the Council and 
specific criteria have been met for each of the 
Council’s activities as described below.  
 
Council bases its estimates on historical results, 
taking into consideration the type of customer, the 
type of transaction and the specifics of each 
arrangement. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
measured on major income categories as follows: 
 
(i) Rates, annual charges, grants and 

contributions 
 
Rates, annual charges, grants and contributions 
(including developer contributions) are recognised 
as revenue when the Council obtains control over 
the assets comprising these receipts. Developer 
contributions may only be expended for the 
purposes for which the contributions were required, 
but the Council may apply contributions according to 
the priorities established in work schedules. 
 
Control over assets acquired from rates and annual 
charges is obtained at the commencement of the 
rating year as it is an enforceable debt linked to the 
rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of 
the rates. 
 
Control over granted assets/contributed assets is 
normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) or 
upon earlier notification that a grant has been 
secured, and is valued at their fair value at the date 
of transfer. 
 
Where grants or contributions recognised as 
revenues during the financial year were obtained on 
condition that they be expended in a particular 
manner or used over a particular period and those 
conditions were un-discharged at reporting date, the 
unused grant or contribution is disclosed in Note 

3(g). The note also discloses the amount of unused 
grant or contribution from prior years that was 
expended on Council’s operations during the current 
year. 
 
A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is 
reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite 
service has not been provided at reporting date. 
 
(ii) User charges and fees 
 
User charges and fees (including parking fees and 
fines) are recognised as revenue when the service 
has been provided or when the penalty has been 
applied, whichever first occurs. 
 
(iii) Sale of infrastructure, property, plant and 

equipment 
 
The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined 
when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to 
the buyer. 
 
(iv)  Interest 
  
Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest rate at the date that interest is earned. 
 
(v)  Rent 
 
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 
 
(vi)  Dividend income 
 
Revenue is recognised when the Council’s right to 
receive the payment is established, which is 
generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 
 
(vii) Other income 
 
Other income is recorded when the payment is due, 
the value of the payment is notified, or the payment 
is received, whichever occurs first. 
 
(c) Principles of consolidation 
 
(i) The Consolidated Fund 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 409(1) 
of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW), all money 
and property received by Council is held in the 
Council’s Consolidated Fund unless it is required to 
be held in the Council’s Trust Fund. 
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Cash and other assets of the following entities have 
been included as part of the Consolidated Fund: 
 
 Sec 355 Committees of Council 
 South West Regional Waste Management Group 
 South West Rural Fire Service. 
 
(ii) The Trust Fund 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Section 411 of 
the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (as 
amended), a separate and distinct Trust Fund is 
maintained to account for all money and property 
received by the Council in trust which must be 
applied only for the purposes of, or in accordance 
with the trusts relating to those monies. Trust monies 
and property subject to Council’s control have been 
included in these reports. 
 
Trust monies and property held by Council but not 
subject to the control of Council have been excluded 
from these reports. A separate statement of monies 
held in the Trust Fund is available for inspection at 
the Council office by any person free of charge. 
 
(iii) County Councils 
 
Council is a member of the following county councils 
(which are bodies incorporated under the Local 
Government Act): 
 
 Southern Slopes County Council 

Control of Noxious Weeds – Hilltops and Yass Council 
are the constituent Councils 

 
 Goldenfields County Council 

Provision of Water to Harden and Young 
 

The governing body of each county council is 
responsible for managing its own affairs. 
 
Council is of the opinion that it neither controls nor 
significantly influences the above county council/s 
and accordingly these entities have not been 
consolidated or otherwise included within these 
financial statements. 
 
(iv) Interests in other entities 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Council has no interest in any subsidiaries. 
 
 

Joint arrangements 
 
Council has no interest in any joint arrangements. 
 
(d) Leases 
 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where 
Council, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases.  
 
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s 
inception at the fair value of the leased property or, if 
lower, the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net 
of finance charges, are included in other short-term 
and long-term payables. Each lease payment is 
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The 
finance cost is charged to the income statement over 
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period.  
 
The property, plant and equipment acquired under 
finance leases is depreciated over the asset's useful 
life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and 
the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that 
Council will obtain ownership at the end of the lease 
term. 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are not transferred to Council 
as lessee are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease. 
 
Lease income from operating leases where Council 
is a lessor is recognised as income on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 
 
(e) Impairment of assets 
 
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or 
are not yet available for use are not subject to 
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, 
or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  
 
Other assets are tested for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
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impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. 
 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets that suffered an impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at 
each reporting date. 
 
(f) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For Statement of Cash Flow presentation purposes, 
cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand; 
deposits held at call with financial institutions; other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value; 
and bank overdrafts.  
 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities on the Statement of Financial 
Position. 
 
(g) Inventories 
 
(i) Raw materials and stores, work in progress 

and finished goods 
 
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and 
finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.  
 
Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour, and 
an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on 
the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are 
assigned to individual items of inventory on basis of 
weighted average costs. Costs of purchased 
inventory are determined after deducting rebates 
and discounts.  
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. 
 
 

(ii)  Inventory held for distribution  
 
Inventory held for distribution is held at cost, adjusted 
where applicable for any loss of service potential. 
 
(iii) Land held for resale/capitalisation of 

borrowing costs 
 
Land held for resale is stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Cost is assigned by specific 
identification and includes the cost of acquisition, and 
development and borrowing costs during 
development. When development is completed 
borrowing costs and other holding charges are 
expensed as incurred. 
 
Borrowing costs included in the cost of land held for 
resale are those costs that would have been avoided 
if the expenditure on the acquisition and 
development of the land had not been made. 
Borrowing costs incurred while active development is 
interrupted for extended periods are recognised as 
expenses. 
 
(h) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) 

held for sale and discontinued 
operations 

 
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are 
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use.  
 
They are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for 
assets such as deferred tax assets; assets arising 
from employee benefits; financial assets; and 
investment properties that are carried at fair value 
and contractual rights under insurance contracts, 
which are specifically exempt from this requirement. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or 
subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal 
group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is 
recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value 
less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but 
not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss 
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously 
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current 
asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of 
de-recognition. 
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Non-current assets (including those that are part of a 
disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised 
while they are classified as held for sale. Interest 
and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale continue to 
be recognised. 
 
(i) Investments and other financial assets 
 
Classification 
 
Council classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity 
investments; and available-for-sale financial assets.  
 
The classification depends on the purpose for which 
the investments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its investments at 
initial recognition and, in the case of assets 
classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this 
designation at each reporting date. 
 
(i)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset 
is classified in this category if acquired principally for 
the purpose of selling in the short-term. Assets in 
this category are classified as current assets. 
 
(ii) Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included in 
current assets, except for those with maturities 
greater than 12 months after the reporting date 
which that are classified as non-current assets.  
 
Loans and receivables are included in other 
receivables (note 8) and receivables (note 7) in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment. Receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 days. 
 
Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not 
discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
 

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities that Council’s management has 
the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If 
Council were to sell other than an insignificant 
amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, the whole 
category would be tainted and reclassified as 
available-for-sale.  
 
Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-
current assets, except for those with maturities less 
than 12 months from the reporting date, that are 
classified as current assets. 
 
(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives 
that are either designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories. They are 
included in non-current assets unless management 
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 
months of the reporting date.  
 
Investments are designated as available-for-sale if 
they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or 
determinable payments and management intends to 
hold them for the medium to long term. 
 
Recognition and de-recognition 
 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on trade-date: the date on which Council 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.  
 
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at 
fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets 
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially 
recognised at fair value and transaction costs are 
expensed in the income statement.  
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and Council has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 
 
When securities classified as available-for-sale are 
sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments 
recognised in equity are included in the income 
statement as gains and losses from investment 
securities. 
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Subsequent measurement 
 
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity 
investments are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 
Changes in the fair value of other monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale 
are recognised in equity. 
 
Impairment 
 
Council assesses at the end of each reporting period 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  
 
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss 
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  
 
In the case of equity investments classified as 
available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline 
in the fair value of the security below its cost is 
considered an indicator that the assets are impaired. 
 
(i) Assets carried at amortised cost 
 
For loans and receivables the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that 
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate.  
 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a 
loan or held-to-maturity investment has a variable 
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract. As a practical 
expedient, the Council may measure impairment on 
the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an 
observable market price. 
 
Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an on-
going basis. Debts that are known to be uncollectible 
are written off by reducing the carrying amount 
directly. An allowance account (provision for 
impairment of receivables) is used when there is 

objective evidence that Council will not be able to 
collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivables.  
 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in 
payments (more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the receivable is impaired. 
The amount of the impairment allowance is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 
The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in 
the income statement within other expenses. When a 
receivable for which an impairment allowance had 
been recognised becomes uncollectible in a 
subsequent period it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against 
other expenses in the income statement. 
 
Investment Policy 
 
Council has an approved investment policy 
complying with Section 625 of the Local Government 
Act 1993 (NSW) and Clause 212 of the Local 
Government (General) Regulation 2005 (NSW).  
 
Investments are placed and managed in accordance 
with that policy and having particular regard to 
authorised investments prescribed under the 
Ministerial Local Government Investment Order. 
Council maintains an investment policy that complies 
with the Act and ensures that it, or its 
representatives, exercise the care, diligence and skill 
that a prudent person would exercise in investing 
Council funds. 
 
Council amended its policy following revisions to the 
Ministerial Local Government Investment Order (the 
Order) arising from the Cole Inquiry 
recommendations. Certain investments the Council 
holds are no longer prescribed; however, they have 
been retained under grandfathering provisions of the 
Order. These will be disposed of when most 
financially advantageous to Council. 
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(j) Fair value estimation – financial 
instruments 

 
The fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement or for disclosure purposes. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in 
active markets is based on quoted market prices at 
the reporting date. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques. Council uses a variety of 
methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at each reporting date. 
Other techniques, such as estimated discounted 
cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the 
remaining financial instruments. 
 
The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments 
of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of 
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rate that is 
available to the Council for similar financial 
instruments. 
 
(k) Infrastructure, property, plant and 

equipment (IPPE) 
 
Council’s assets have been progressively revalued 
to fair value in accordance with a staged 
implementation advised by the Office of Local 
Government. At reporting date, the following classes 
of IPPE were stated at their fair value: 
 
Externally valued: 
 
• Operational land  
• Community land (Harden Area Only) 

• Land improvements (Harden Area Only) 

• Buildings – specialised/non-specialised  
• Roads assets including roads, bridges and 

footpaths (Harden Area Only) 

• Bulk earthworks (Harden Area Only)  
• Stormwater drainage (Harden Area Only) 

• Swimming pools (Harden Area Only) 

• Other open space/recreational assets (Harden 
Area Only) 

 
 
 

Internally valued: 
 
• Community land (Boorowa and Young Area 

Only) 
• Land improvements 

• Other structures 

• Roads assets including roads, bridges and 
footpaths (Boorowa and Young Area Only) 

• Bulk earthworks (Boorowa and Young Area 
Only) 

• Stormwater drainage (Boorowa and Young Area 
Only) 

• Water and sewerage networks 

• Swimming pools (Boorowa and Young Area 
Only) 

• Other open space/recreational assets (Boorowa 
and Young Area Only) 

 
As approximated by depreciated historical cost: 
 
• Plant and equipment 
• Land improvements (Boorowa Area only) 

 
Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are 
measured at depreciated historical cost as an 
approximation of fair value. Council has assessed 
that any difference between fair value and 
depreciated historical cost is unlikely to be material.  
 
Water and sewerage network assets are indexed 
annually between full revaluations in accordance with 
the latest indices provided in the NSW Office of 
Water Rates Reference Manual. 
 
For all other asset classes, Council assesses at each 
reporting date whether there is any indication that a 
revalued asset’s carrying amount may differ 
materially from that which would be determined if the 
asset were revalued at the reporting date. If any such 
indication exists, Council determines the asset’s fair 
value and revalue the asset to that amount. Full 
revaluations are undertaken for all assets on a five-
year cycle. 
 
Increases in the carrying amounts arising on 
revaluation are credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve. To the extent that the increase reverses a 
decrease previously recognising profit or loss relating 
to that asset class, the increase is first recognised as 
profit or loss.  
 
Decreases that reverse previous increases of assets 
in the same class are first charged against 
revaluation reserves directly in equity to the extent of 
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the remaining reserve attributable to the class; all 
other decreases are charged to the Income 
Statement. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to Council and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the income statement during the financial 
period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
 
Land is not depreciated.  
 
Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the 
straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their 
residual values, over their estimated useful lives as 
follows: 
 
Plant and equipment 
- Office equipment 5 to 10 years 
- Office furniture 3 to 20 years 
- Computer equipment 4 years 
- Vehicles 5 to 10 years 
- Heavy plant/road making equipment 5 to 10 years 
- Other plant and equipment 5 to 25 years 
 
Other equipment 
- Playground equipment 5 to 15 years 
- Benches, seats etc. 5 to 20 years 
 
Buildings 
- Buildings: masonry 50 to 100 years 
- Buildings: other  20 to 40 years                       
 
Water and sewer assets 
- Dams and reservoirs 80 to 100 years 
- Bores 20 to 80 years 
 
- Reticulation pipes: PVC 70-80 years 
- Reticulation pipes: other 25 to 75 years 
- Pumps and telemetry 15 to 20 years 
 
Stormwater assets 
- Drains 80 to 100 years 
- Culverts 50 to 150 years 
- Flood control structures 80 to 100 years 
 
Transportation assets 
- Sealed roads: surface 10-50 years 
- Sealed roads: structure 50-150 years 
- Unsealed roads  7-20 years 
- Bridge: concrete  80- 100 years 
- Bridge: other  50 – 100 years 

- Road pavements 90 - 100 years 
- Kerb, gutter and footpaths 15 - 100 years 
 
Other infrastructure assets 
- Bulk earthworks Infinite 
 
- Swimming pools 25 - 60 years 
- Other open space/ 
  recreational assets  15 - 100 years 
 
- Other infrastructure  7  - 50  years 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are 
included in the income statement. 
 
(l) Investment property 
 
Investment property, principally comprising freehold 
office buildings, is held for long-term rental yields and 
is not occupied by the Council.  
 
Investment property is carried at fair value, which is 
based on active market prices, adjusted, if 
necessary, for any difference in the nature, location 
or condition of the specific asset. If this information is 
not available, Council uses alternative valuation 
methods such as recent prices in less active 
markets, or discounted cash flow projections. 
Changes in fair values are recorded in the income 
statement as part of other income. 
 
Properties that are under construction for future use 
as investment properties are regarded as investment 
properties. These are also carried at fair value unless 
the fair value cannot yet be reliably determined. 
Where that is the case, the property will be 
accounted for at cost until either the fair value 
becomes reliably determinable or construction is 
complete. 
 
(m) Payables 
 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Council prior to the end of 
financial year that are unpaid. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. 
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(n) Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net 
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in 
the income statement over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method.  
 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are 
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the 
extent that it is probable that some or all of the 
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is 
deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent 
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or 
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is 
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and 
amortised over the period of the facility to which it 
relates. 
 
Borrowings are removed from the Statement of 
Financial Position when the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The 
difference between the carrying amount of a 
financial liability that has been extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration 
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in other income or 
finance cost. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless 
Council has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting date. 
 
(o) Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any 
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of 
time that is required to complete and prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing 
costs are expensed. 
 
(p) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when Council has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
and the amount has been reliably estimated.  
 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of 
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any 
one item included in the same class of obligations 
may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date. The discount rate used to determine 
the present value reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
interest expense. 
 
(q) Employee benefits 
 
(i) Short-term obligations 
 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating 
sick leave expected to be wholly settled within 12 
months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related service are recognised 
in respect of employees' services up to the end of the 
reporting period and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  
 
The liability for annual leave and accumulating sick 
leave is recognised in the provision for employee 
benefits. All other short-term employee benefit 
obligations are presented as payables. 
 
(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations 
 
The liability for long service leave and annual leave 
that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 
months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related service is recognised 
in the provision for employee benefits and measured 
as the present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the end of the reporting period 
using the projected unit credit method.  
 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, experience of employee departures, 
and periods of service. Expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds with 
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terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
The obligations are presented as current liabilities in 
the Statement of Financial Position if the Council 
does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date, regardless of when the actual settlement is 
expected to occur. 
 
(iii) Retirement benefit obligations 
 
All employees of the Council are entitled to benefits 
on retirement, disability or death. Council contributes 
to various defined benefit plans and defined 
contribution plans on behalf of its employees. 
 
Defined Benefit Plans 
 
A liability or asset in respect of defined benefit 
superannuation plans would ordinarily be recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position, and 
measured as the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the reporting date plus unrecognised 
actuarial gains (less unrecognised actuarial losses) 
less the fair value of the superannuation fund’s 
assets at that date and any unrecognised past 
service cost.  
 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
based on expected future payments that arise from 
membership of the fund to the reporting date, 
calculated annually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method.  
 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, experience of employee departures, 
and periods of service. However, when this 
information is not reliably available, Council 
accounts for its obligations to defined benefit plans 
on the same basis as its obligations to defined 
contribution plans, i.e. as an expense when it 
becomes payable. 
 
Defined Contribution Plans  
 
Contributions to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an expense as they become payable. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
future payments is available. 
 
 
 

(r) Land under roads 
 
Land under roads acquired after 1 July 2008 is 
recognised in accordance with AASB 116 – Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  
 
Land under roads is land under roadways and road 
reserves including land under footpaths, nature strips 
and median strips. 
 
Council has elected not to recognise land under 
roads acquired before 1 July 2008 in accordance 
with AASB 1051 Land Under Roads. 
 
Land under roads acquired after 1 July 2008 is 
recognised in accordance with AASB 116 Property, 
Plant and Equipment. 
 
(s) Self-insurance 
 
Council does not self-insure. 
 
(t) Intangible assets 
 
Council has not classified any assets as intangible. 
 
(u) Crown reserves 
 
Crown Reserves under Council’s care and control 
are recognised as assets of the Council. While 
ownership of the reserves remains with the Crown, 
Council retains operational control of the reserves 
and is responsible for their maintenance and use in 
accordance with the specific purposes to which the 
reserves are dedicated. 
 
Improvements on Crown Reserves are also recorded 
as assets, while maintenance costs incurred by 
Council and revenues relating to the reserves are 
recognised within Council’s Income Statement. 
 
(v) Rural fire service assets 
 
Under section 119 of the Rural Fire Services Act 
1997 (NSW), “all fire fighting equipment purchased or 
constructed wholly or from money to the credit of the 
Fund is to be vested in the council of the area for or 
on behalf of which the firefighting equipment has 
been purchased or constructed”.  
 
Until such time as discussions on this matter have 
concluded and the legislation changed, Council will 
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recognise rural fire service assets including land and 
buildings, but will not recognise plant and vehicles. 
 
(w) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense. 
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to the 
taxation authority is included with other receivables 
or payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The 
GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities which that are 
recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority 
are presented as operating cash flows. 
 
(x) New accounting standards and 

interpretations issued not yet effective 
 
Certain new accounting standards and 
interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for the current reporting period and which 
have not been applied. 
 
Council does not consider that these standards are 
likely to have a material impact on the Council's 
future financial statements, financial position, 
financial performance or cash flows 
 
(y) Rounding of amounts 
 
Unless otherwise indicated, amounts in the financial 
statements have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars. 
 
(z) Disclaimer 
 
Nothing contained within these statements may be 
taken to be an admission of any liability to any 
person under any circumstance. 
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Note 2(a). Council functions/activities – financial information

 General purpose income 1

1. Includes: rates and annual charges (incl. ex-gratia), untied general purpose grants and unrestricted interest and investment income.

 Functions/activities

Income from 
continuing 
operations

Expenses 
from 

continuing 
operations

Operating 
result from 
continuing 
operations

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

–                     

83,616            

6,842              
52                   

(4,055)             

(163)                

Income, expenses and assets have been directly

attributed to the following functions/activities.

Details of these functions/activities are provided in Note 2(b).

Grants 
included in 

income from 
continuing 
operations

Total assets 
held (current & 

non-current)

Actual

 Share of gains/(losses) in associates

 continuing operations

24,566            

 and joint ventures (using the equity method)

 Operating result from

 Economic affairs

 Total functions and activities

85,383            

7,244              

60,817            

–                     

604,847          

–                     

6,384              

–                     

604,847          

–                     11,333            

40,827            

7,407              

–                     

(22,799)           

–                     

29,494            

64                   

83                   

–                     

1,767              

24,566            

(658)                

(970)                

(267)                

83,616            

–                     

4                     

(5,902)             

49                   

403,021          

21,185            877                 

60,437            

1,222              788                 

3,054              

1,539              

9                     

–                     

6,336              

3                     

635                 

(12,554)           

51,571            

50,040            

(376)                

(678)                

194                 

19,952            

14,963            

(1,129)             

565                 (82)                  

(10,928)            Transport and communication

 Mining, manufacturing and construction 483                 

9,621              

8,587              

20,549            

2,122              

5,869              

16,816            

1,152              

5,723              

 Housing and community amenities

 Water supplies

 Recreation and culture

 Sewerage services

7,929              

4,262              

1,814              

16                    Community services and education

11,625            

475                 

283                 

 Health

 Environment

1,449              

99                   

 Public order and safety

 Governance

 Administration

771                 

Actual

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

21,703            

–                     

6,740              

1,129              

$ ’000 

Actual

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

Actual Actual

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 
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Note 2(b). Council functions/activities – component descriptions

Details relating to the Council’s functions/activities as reported in Note 2(a) are as follows:

GOVERNANCE

ADMINISTRATION

PUBLIC ORDER AND SAFETY

HEALTH

ENVIRONMENT

COMMUNITY SERVICES AND EDUCATION

HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AMENITIES

WATER SUPPLIES
SEWERAGE SERVICES

RECREATION AND CULTURE

MINING, MANUFACTURING AND CONSTRUCTION

TRANSPORT AND COMMUNICATION

ECONOMIC AFFAIRS

Includes camping areas and caravan parks; tourism and area promotion; industrial development promotion; sale
yards and markets; real estate development; commercial nurseries; and other business undertakings.

Includes administration and education; social protection (welfare); migrant, Aboriginal and other community
services and administration (excluding accommodation – as it is covered under ‘housing and community
amenities’); youth services; aged and disabled persons services; children’s’ services, including family day care;
child care; and other family and children services.

Includes public cemeteries; public conveniences; street lighting; town planning; other community amenities,
including housing development and accommodation for families and children, aged persons, disabled persons,
migrants and Indigenous persons.

Includes public libraries; museums; art galleries; community centres and halls, including public halls and
performing arts venues; sporting grounds and venues; swimming pools; parks; gardens; lakes; and other
sporting, recreational and cultural services.

Includes building control, quarries and pits, mineral resources, and abattoirs.

Urban local, urban regional, includes sealed and unsealed roads, bridges, footpaths, parking areas, and
aerodromes.

Includes noxious plants and insect/vermin control; other environmental protection; solid waste management,
including domestic waste; other waste management; other sanitation; and garbage, street cleaning, drainage
and stormwater management.

Includes costs relating to Council’s role as a component of democratic government, including elections,
members’ fees and expenses, subscriptions to local authority associations, meetings of Council and policy-
making committees, public disclosure (e.g. GIPA), and legislative compliance.

Includes corporate support and other support services, engineering works, and any Council policy compliance.

Includes Council’s fire and emergency services levy, fire protection, emergency services, beach control,
enforcement of regulations and animal control.

Includes immunisation, food control, health centres etc.
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations

$ ’000

(a) Rates and annual charges

Ordinary rates
Residential
Farmland
Mining
Business

Total ordinary rates

Special rates
Stormwater levy

Total special rates

Annual charges   (pursuant to s.496, s.496A, s.496B, s.501 & s.611)

Domestic waste management services
Stormwater management services
Water supply services
Sewerage services
Waste management services (non-domestic)
Section 611 charges
Recycling
Greenwaste
Other

Total annual charges

TOTAL RATES AND ANNUAL CHARGES

Council has used the following year valuation provided by the NSW Valuer General in calculating its rates
– Former Boorowa Council area – 2015
– Former Harden Shire Council area – 2014
– Former Young Shire Council area – 2013

(b) User charges and fees

Specific user charges   (per s.502 – specific ‘actual use’ charges)

Water supply services
Sewerage services
Waste management services (non-domestic)
Other

Total user charges

8                   

1,589            

187               

19                 

99                 

10                 

8,915            

20,913      

4,569            

184               

45                 

4,519            

Actual 

4,244            

1,519            

6,200            

11,982          

Notes

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

16                 

16                 

3                   

2                   

2,569            
3,970            

299               



Financial Statements 2017

page 24

Hilltops Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Note 3. Income from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(b) User charges and fees

Other user charges and fees
(i) Fees and charges – statutory and regulatory functions (per s.608)

Building regulation
Inspection services
Planning and building regulation
Private works – section 67
Regulatory/ statutory fees
Regulatory fees
Section 149 certificates (EPA Act)
Section 603 certificates
Tapping fees
Town planning
Animal
Environment protection

Total fees and charges – statutory/regulatory

(ii) Fees and charges – other (incl. general user charges (per s.608))

Caravan park
Cemeteries
Gravel pits
Lease rentals
Leaseback fees – Council vehicles
Library and art gallery
Park rents
Recycling income (non-domestic)
RMS (formerly RTA) charges (state roads not controlled by Council)
Swimming centres
Tourism
Waste disposal tipping fees
Water connection fees
Truckwash
Water plan fees
Septic tank fees
Sewer plan fees
Sewer connection fees
Cemetery interment
Other

Total fees and charges – other

TOTAL USER CHARGES AND FEES

Actual 

Notes

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

8,260            

3                   

2                   

389               

1                   

33                 

21                 

1,226            

92                 

13                 
16                 

91                 

9                   
5,902            

3                   
1,056            

29                 

7                   

14,055      

19                 

32                 

275               

405               

123               
401               

11                 
52                 
35                 

218               

24                 

102               

22                 

77                 

3                   

20                 
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(c) Interest and investment revenue (including losses)

Interest
  – Interest on overdue rates and annual charges (incl. special purpose rates)
  – Interest earned on investments (interest and coupon payment income)
  – Interest on deferred debtors
  – Interest (other)
TOTAL INTEREST AND INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest revenue is attributable to:
Unrestricted investments/financial assets:
Overdue rates and annual charges (general fund)
General Council cash and investments

Restricted investments/funds – external:
Development contributions
  – Section 94
  – Section 64
Water fund operations
Sewerage fund operations
South West Regional Waste Management Group

Total interest and investment revenue recognised

(d) Other revenues

Rental income – other council properties
Fines
Fines – parking
Fines – other
Legal fees recovery – rates and charges (extra charges)
Legal fees recovery – other
Commissions and agency fees
Diesel rebate
Insurance claim recoveries
Sales – general
Promotion and trade fairs
Insurance incentives and rebates
Reimbursements other councils
Dividend southern phone
Sale of scrap metal
Section 355 committee
Sale of garbage bins
Insurance incentive rebates
Training incentives
Worker health and safety incentives
Workers compensation reimbursement
Other
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE

28                 

38                 
22                 

25                 
4                   

102               

10                 

173               

13                 

176               

77                 

81                 

1,754        

27                 

41                 

217               

248               

49                 

124               

1,754            

6                   

1,127            

124               

Notes

69                 

1,141        

21                 

51                 

19                 
84                 

37                 

9                   

2                   

15                 

1                   

Actual 
 13/5/16

 to 30/6/17 

18                 

1,611            
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(e) Grants

General purpose (untied)
Financial assistance – general component
Financial assistance – local roads component
Pensioners’ rates subsidies – general component

Total general purpose

Specific purpose
Pensioners’ rates subsidies:
  – Water
  – Sewerage
  – Domestic waste management
Water supplies
Sewerage services
Bushfire and emergency services
Economic development
Employment and training programs
Flood restoration
Heritage and cultural
Library – per capita
LIRS subsidy
Recreation and culture
Street lighting
Transport (roads to recovery)
Transport (other roads and bridges funding)
Youth services
Health programs
New Council Implementation Funds
Stronger Community Funds
Other
Fire and emergency services
Flood study
Technology IPAD

Total specific purpose
Total grants

Grant revenue is attributable to:

– Commonwealth funding
– State funding

13,696       

1                –                
29              –                

581            

–                

7,141         

–                
79              

–                

–                

–                

76              

123            

–                
7                

–                

–                

–                

5,000         

–                
31              

–                

–                

104            

12              

9,622         

25              

604            
52              

23,318       

23,318       

11,985       

99              

229            

–                

4                

–                

109            

194            

–                11,333       

2,548         

2,808         
9                

64              

3                

1,462         –                

–                

435            

–                3,998         
–                

–                

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

Operating 

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

Capital 

17,509       

–                

302            
17,207       

17,509       

–                

–                

–                
15,000       

17,509       
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(f) Contributions

Developer contributions:
(s93 & s94 – EP&A Act, s64 of the LGA):

S 94 – contributions towards amenities/services
S 94A – fixed development consent levies
S 64 – water supply contributions
S 64 – sewerage service contributions

Total developer contributions

Other contributions:
Bushfire services
Community services
Other councils – joint works/services
Recreation and culture
Roads and bridges
RMS contributions (regional roads, block grant)
Sewerage (excl. section 64 contributions)
Water supplies (excl. section 64 contributions)
Waste
Health equipment
Other
Other

Total other contributions
Total contributions

TOTAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

57              

77              

28,309    

4,889         

19              
23              

–                

4,991       

–                

33              

4                

102            

102            

–                
2,316         

–                

64              
2,361         

–                

–                

12              

17

Operating 

–                

645            

73              
57              

Capital 

113            
345            

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

1,233       

–                

–                

18,742    

13              

–                

1                
442            

102            

–                

2                

588            

–                

Notes
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(g) Unspent grants and contributions

Certain grants and contributions are obtained by Council on condition
that they be spent in a specified manner:

Unexpended at the close of the previous reporting period (former Councils)

Add: grants and contributions recognised in the current period but not yet spent:

Less: grants and contributions recognised in a previous reporting period now spent:

Net increase (decrease) in restricted assets during the period

Unexpended and held as restricted assets

Comprising:

  – Specific purpose unexpended grants

  – Developer contributions

  – Other contributions 1,045         

21,930     

3,226         

1,953         

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

Actual 

(1,347)        

21,930       

18,704       

20,051       

18,932       
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Note 4. Expenses from continuing operations

$ ’000

(a) Employee benefits and on-costs

Salaries and wages
Travel expenses
Employee leave entitlements (ELE)
Superannuation
Workers’ compensation insurance
Fringe benefit tax (FBT)

Payroll tax
Training costs (other than salaries and wages)
Protective clothing
WH&S expenses
Other

Total employee costs
Less: capitalised costs
TOTAL EMPLOYEE COSTS EXPENSED

Number of ‘full-time equivalent’ employees (FTE) at year end

(b) Borrowing costs

(i) Interest bearing liability costs
Interest on overdraft
Interest on loans

Total interest bearing liability costs
Less: capitalised costs

Total interest bearing liability costs expensed

(ii) Other borrowing costs
Discount adjustments relating to movements in provisions (other than ELE)
  – Remediation liabilities

Total other borrowing costs
TOTAL BORROWING COSTS EXPENSED 6,318        

23                 

–                   

5,168            

1,150            

2,420            

87                 
234               

21,351          

134               

Notes

(1,499)           
19,852      

1,149            

94                 

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

522               

1                   

6                   

1,886            

15,871          

221                

26

5,168            

–                   

1,150            

Actual 

74                 
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Note 4. Expenses from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(c) Materials and contracts

Raw materials and consumables
Contractor and consultancy costs
  – Contractor and consultancy costs
  – RTA works
  – Private works
  – Contractors
  – Security services
  – IT support services
  – Engineering
  – Town planning
  – Regional landfill receival charges
  – Infrastructure capital works
  – Waste haulage
Auditors remuneration (1)

Legal expenses:
  – Legal expenses: planning and development
  – Legal expenses: debt recovery
  – Legal expenses: other
Operating leases:
  – Operating lease rentals: minimum lease payments (2)

Water acquisition costs
Water purchase
Swimmimg pool
Other

Total materials and contracts
Less: capitalised costs
TOTAL MATERIALS AND CONTRACTS

1. Auditor remuneration
a. During the year, the following fees were incurred for services provided by

 the other Council’s Auditors (and the Auditors of other consolidated entities):

(i) Audit and other assurance services
     – Audit and review of financial statements: Council’s Auditor
     – Internal audit
Total remuneration of other Council's Auditors

Total Auditor remuneration

2. Operating lease payments are attributable to:

Other

35                 

43                 

22,511          
1,432            

201               

42                 

2,682            
43                 

42                 

Notes

87                 

624               

19,802      
(12,319)         

7                   

122               

293               

58                 

23                 

42                 

43                 

15                 

2                   

Actual 

4                   

1,095            

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

32,121          

454               

1,368            

44                 

966               

43                 

12                 
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Note 4. Expenses from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(d) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Depreciation and amortisation
Plant and equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings
Land improvements (depreciable)
Infrastructure:
  – Buildings – non-specialised
  – Buildings – specialised
  – Other structures
  – Roads
  – Bridges
  – Footpaths
  – Stormwater drainage
  – Water supply network
  – Sewerage network
  – Swimming pools
  – Other open space/recreational assets
Other assets
  – Library books
Asset reinstatement costs

Total gross depreciation and amortisation costs
Less: capitalised costs

Total depreciation and amortisation costs

Impairment
Infrastructure:
  – Roads

Total impairment costs

TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT COSTS EXPENSED

287               

217               
6,228            

580               
122               

40                 

15,959      

18,038      

1,971            

9 & 26

Actual 

62                 

Notes

354               
1,555            
1,269            

169               

529               

2,079            

15,959          

87                 
51                 
2                   

–                   

2,436            

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

2,079        
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Note 4. Expenses from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(e) Other expenses

Advertising
Bad and doubtful debts
Bank charges
Cleaning
Computer software charges
Contributions/levies to other levels of government
  – Emergency services levy (includes FRNSW, SES, and RFS levies)

  – NSW fire brigade levy
  – NSW rural fire service levy
  – Waste levy
  – Southern Slopes Noxious Weeds County Council
  – South West Regional Library
  – South Western rural fire zone
Councillor expenses – mayoral fee
Councillor expenses – councillors’ fees
Councillors’ expenses (incl. mayor) – other (excluding fees above)
Donations, contributions and assistance to other organisations (Section 356)

  – Donations, contributions and assistance
  – Local Government Association
  – South West Regional Library
  – Southern Slopes Weeds Authority
  – Other memberships and subscriptions
  – ROC membership
  – Section 355 committees and community events
  – Water utilities alliance
  – Shires Association
  – Southern Slopes Noxious Weeds Authority
  – SW Regional Library
  – Donations, contributions and assistance
Electricity and heating
Fair value decrements – I,PP&E 
Fire control expenses
Insurance
Office expenses (including computer expenses)

Postage
Printing and stationery
Street lighting
Subscriptions and publications
Telephone and communications
Tourism expenses (excluding employee costs)

continued on next page…

144               

882               

4                   

45                 

254               

13,052          

9                   

149               

177               

744               

186               
321               

5                   

247               

19                 
71                 
53                 

9(a)

92                 

101               

12                 

36                 

263               

49                 

57                 

278               

Notes

32                 

49                 

83                 

239               

Actual 

10                 

27                 

87                 

408               

81                 

252               

20                 

101               

1                   

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

(2)                  

1                   
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Note 4. Expenses from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(e) Other expenses (continued)

Valuation fees
Valuation fees – land rates
Licence fees
Lease property
Insurance premiums (excluding motor vehicle)
Promotion and trade fairs
Computer support costs
Other

Total other expenses
Less: capitalised costs
TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

Note 5. Gains or losses from the disposal of assets

$ ’000

Property   (excl. investment property)

Proceeds from disposal – property
Less: carrying amount of property assets sold/written off

Net gain/(loss) on disposal

Plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal – plant and equipment
Less: carrying amount of plant and equipment assets sold/written off

Net gain/(loss) on disposal

Infrastructure
Proceeds from disposal – infrastructure
Less: carrying amount of infrastructure assets sold/written off

Net gain/(loss) on disposal

NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

Actual 

Notes

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

19,606      

469           

47                 
14                 
33                 

–                   

698               
83                 

46                 
4                   

Notes

Actual 

49                 

(108)              

27                 

(108)              

(22)                

550               

1,189            

19,606          

(639)              

–                   

42                 

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 
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Note 6a. – Cash assets and Note 6b. – investments

$ ’000

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6a)
Cash on hand and at bank
Cash-equivalent assets 1

  – Deposits at call
  – Short-term deposits

Total cash and cash equivalents

Investments (Note 6b)
  – Long term deposits
  – Listed equity securities

Total investments
TOTAL CASH ASSETS, CASH
EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

1 
Those investments where time to maturity (from date of purchase) is < 3 mths.

Cash, cash equivalents and investments were
classified at year end in accordance with
AASB 139 as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
a. ‘At fair value through the profit and loss’

Investments
a. ‘Held to maturity’
Investments

Refer to Note 27. Fair value measurement for information regarding the fair value of investments held.

Actual 

Non-current 

13,542       

383            

–                

–                

41,453       

41,453       

54,995    

–                

–                

Current 

–                

–                

–                

Actual 

1,909         

41,450       

11,250       

41,453       

Notes

–             

13,542       

–                3                

–                
–                

2017
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Note 6c. Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments – details

$ ’000

Total cash, cash equivalents
and investments

attributable to:

External restrictions (refer below)

Internal restrictions (refer below)

Unrestricted

13/5/16 to 30/6/17

$ ’000

Details of restrictions

External restrictions – included in liabilities
Specific purpose unexpended loans – general (A)

External restrictions – included in liabilities

External restrictions – other
Developer contributions – general (D)
Developer contributions – water fund (D)
Developer contributions – sewer fund (D)
RMS (formerly RTA) contributions (E)
Specific purpose unexpended grants (F)
Water supplies (G)
Sewerage services (G)
Domestic waste management (G)
Stormwater management (G)
Grants received in advance
Waste transfer station
Regional waste group
Regional fire zone
Other contributions
Other

External restrictions – other

Total external restrictions

A Loan moneys which must be applied for the purposes for which the loans were raised. 
D Development contributions which are not yet expended for the provision of services and amenities in accordance

with contributions plans (refer Note 17). 
E RMS contributions which are not yet expended for the provision of services and amenities in accordance with

those contributions. 
F Grants which are not yet expended for the purposes for which the grants were obtained. (refer Note 1 (b)) 
G Water, sewerage, domestic waste management (DWM) and other special rates/levies/charges are externally

restricted assets and must be applied for the purposes for which they were raised.

(15)             11              

7,377         

–                
–                –                

589            

–                

(26)             

700            

Actual 

23,498       

3,353         8,660         

–                

(307)           

(5)               

107            603            

5                

762            

151            

(72)             21              
–                787            

26              –                
93              –                

(2,469)        

25              (72)             

–                

126            

(424)           

22,798       

23,498       (5,634)        

25              

(5,387)        8,955         

(164)           

1,310         

–                

164            

151            

(1,833)        

710            

8,955         

–                

–                

20              

Transferred 
from former 

Councils

77              

1,672         

126            

20,177       

19,230       

5,269         
7,776         

237            –                

(247)           

–                

1,763         
237            

600            

2,532         

(247)           

–                

947            

1,218         

1,149         

700            

740            

925            

–                

947            

54,995       

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

Actual 

54,995    

–                

–             

Non-current 

–                
–                

Current 

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

30,757       

Transfers to 
restrictions

Transfers 
from 

restrictions 
Closing  
balance

2,326         
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Note 6c. Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments – details (continued)

13/5/16 to 30/6/17

$ ’000

Internal restrictions
Plant and vehicle replacement
Infrastructure replacement
Employees leave entitlement
Carry over works
Financial assistance grant advance payment
Incomplete works reserve
Implementartion Funding
Stronger Councils Funds
Quarries and pit restoration
Housing and community
Community services
Corporate support reserves
Depot improvements
Economic affairs
Health
Public order and safety
Recreational and cultural
Roads and other transport reserves
Stormwater upgrade
Town improvement

Total internal restrictions

TOTAL RESTRICTIONS

272            –                (264)           8                

32,783     

30,757       (5,989)        

12              

81              –                (81)             –                
32              –                (32)             

Transferred 
from former 

Councils
Transfers to 
restrictions

Closing  
balance

5,000         

–                
(148)           

(138)           

15,000       

–                

(11,623)    

(1,017)        

–                (50)             

–                

–                

(25)             

(1,592)        

14,118       

99              

3,178         

83              

–                

–                

–                
–                

1,422         

54,255     

54              –                (54)             
25              

(12)             

24,140       

–                

–                

–                

552            

33,095     

10              
111            

12,606       

–                

–                
50              

–                

3,665         

60              

–                

3,050         

–                

2,139         

–                
–                

1,122         

–                

552            

(28)             

–                –                
1,560         

(10)             

247            

(60)             

128            

702            702            

Transfers 
from 

restrictions 

–                

3,388         2,039         

–                
3,769         3,769         

(882)           
(1,335)        

–                

243            
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Note 7. Receivables

$ ’000

Purpose
Rates and annual charges
Interest and extra charges
User charges and fees
Private works
Contributions to works
Accrued revenues
  – Interest on investments
  – Other income accruals
Amounts due from other councils
Deferred debtors
Government grants and subsidies
Net GST receivable
Contributions
Other debtors

Total

Less: provision for impairment

Rates and annual charges
User charges and fees
Other debtors

Total provision for impairment – receivables

TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES

Externally restricted receivables
Water supply
 – Rates and availability charges
 – Other
Sewerage services
 – Rates and availability charges
 – Other
Domestic waste management
Stormwater management

Total external restrictions
Internally restricted receivables
Nil

Unrestricted receivables

TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES

Notes on debtors above:
(i)   Rates and annual charges outstanding are secured against the property.
(ii)  Doubtful rates debtors are provided for where the value of the property is less than the debt outstanding.
      An allowance for other doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that a receivable is impaired.
(iii) Interest was charged on overdue rates and charges at 8.50% (2016 8.50%).

Generally all other receivables are non-interest bearing.
(iv) Please refer to Note 15 for issues concerning credit risk and fair value disclosures.

393            
55              

–                26              

207            

29              

–                

–                

Current 

–                

–                

–                

Non-current 

–                1,555         

–                

–                

–                

–                

5,604         

–                
–                

–                

–                

352            
–                

603            

–                

–                

26              

–                

253            –                
5                

9,619         

–                

–             

–                
(35)             
(35)             

348            

(87)             

–                
103            

168            

9,532      

–                

7,710         

9,532      
–                

108            

(17)             

–             

1,822         

8                

903            –                

Notes

2017

695            
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Note 8. Inventories and other assets

$ ’000

(a) Inventories

(i) Inventories at cost
Stores and materials
Trading stock

Total inventories at cost

(ii) Inventories at net realisable value (NRV)
Nil

TOTAL INVENTORIES

(b) Other assets

Prepayments
TOTAL OTHER ASSETS

Externally restricted assets
There are no restrictions applicable to the above assets.

Refer to Note 27. Fair value measurement for information regarding the fair value of other assets held.

Non-current 

–                

–             

–                

713            

73           –             

Notes

–                73              

725         

725            

Current 

12              –                

2017
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Note 9a. Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

Asset class

$ ’000

 Capital work in progress 916               –                   916               532         458         –             –               –             (1,128)     (4)                –             –             774               –                   774               
 Plant and equipment 27,534          14,930          12,604          3,960      –             (639)        (2,436)       –             –             (41)              (4)            –             28,044          14,600          13,444          
 Office equipment 928               668               260               55           –             –             (87)            –             –             –                 –             –             921               693               228               
 Furniture and fittings 718               324               394               9             18           –             (51)            –             –             –                 –             –             799               429               370               
 Land:

   –  Operational land 6,528            –                   6,528            15           –             (18)          –               –             –             89               –             –             6,614            –                   6,614            
   –  Community land 7,936            –                   7,936            48           –             –             –               –             –             (89)              –             –             7,895            –                   7,895            
 Land improvements – non-depreciable 71                 –                   71                 –             –             –             –               –             –             –                 –             –             71                 –                   71                 
 Land improvements – depreciable 50                 11                 39                 23           –             –             (2)              –             –             –                 –             –             73                 13                 60                 
 Infrastructure:

   –  Buildings – non-specialised 19,831          12,009          7,822            22           –             –             (529)          –             –             –                 –             –             19,853          12,538          7,315            
   –  Buildings – specialised 72,560          34,812          37,748          584         373         –             (1,971)       –             194         286             –             73,584          36,370          37,214          
   –  Other structures 7,246            3,609            3,637            237         9             (9)            (217)          –             76           –                 –             –             7,547            3,814            3,733            
   –  Roads 327,608        98,416          229,192        4,339      3,898      (95)          (6,228)       (2,079)     347         –                 –             –             334,367        104,993        229,374        
   –  Bridges 50,904          23,889          27,015          826         –             –             (580)          –             –             –                 –             –             51,730          24,469          27,261          
   –  Footpaths 7,183            1,997            5,186            207         –             (5)            (122)          –             –             –                 –             –             7,372            2,106            5,266            
   –  Bulk earthworks (non-depreciable) 95,261          –                   95,261          –             –             –             –               –             29           –                 –             –             95,290          –                   95,290          
   –  Stormwater drainage 28,131          16,246          11,885          242         –             (3)            (354)          –             30           –                 –             –             28,400          16,600          11,800          
   –  Water supply network 101,669        60,025          41,644          733         5             –             (1,555)       –             –             –                 –             (373)        70,233          29,779          40,454          
   –  Sewerage network 84,647          32,868          51,779          4,159      48           –             (1,269)       –             51           (939)            –             (12,679)   69,275          28,125          41,150          
   –  Swimming pools 8,037            3,511            4,526            33           –             –             (169)          –             –             –                 –             –             8,070            3,680            4,390            
   –  Other open space/recreational assets 8,683            3,418            5,265            5             196         –             (287)          –             401         698             –             –             10,028          3,750            6,278            
 Other assets:

   –  Library books 445               255               190               –             62           –             (62)            –             –             –                 –             –             507               317               190               

Reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration 
assets (refer Note 26):

   –  Tip assets 304               299               5                   –             –             –             (2)              –             –             –                 –             –             304               301               3                   
   –  Quarry assets 639               253               386               –             –             –             (38)            –             –             –                 –             –             639               291               348               
TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE,
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIP.

Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).

Refer to Note 27. Fair value measurement for information regarding the fair value of other infrastructure, property, plant and equipment.

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
impairment

Net 
carrying 
amount

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
impairment

WIP
transfers

Adjustments
and transfers

Additions
new assets

Additions
renewals

Carrying 
value

of disposals

Depreciation 
expense

857,829            307,540            550,289            16,029       (769)          (15,959)       (2,079)       5,067         539,522            (13,052)     822,390            282,868            –                –                    (4)              

as at 30/6/2017

Revaluation 
decrements

to P&L

Impairment  
loss 

(recognised
in P/L)

Other
movements Net 

carrying 
amount

IPP&E transferred from former Councils

as at 13/5/2016

Asset movements during the reporting period
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Note 9b. Externally restricted infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

Note 9c. Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment – current year
                 impairments

$ ’000

Impairment losses recognised in the Income Statement:

Road Impairment

Total impairment losses

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS – GAINS/(LOSSES) in P/L

–                                 
70,233                        

Net carrying
amount

Actual

2017

570                             –                                 570                             

203                             

1,289                          

Gross carrying 
amount

126                             

99                               

126                             
156                             
44                               

159                             

468                             
55                               

624                             

Actual 

1,757                          

(2,079)       4(d)

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

159                             44                               

169                             

Notes

691                             
177                             

44                               

40,950                        

(2,079)           

Accumulated depn. 
and impairment

–                                 

(2,079)           

40,455                        

203                             

29,778                        

169                             

386                             92                               294                             

169                             

41,150                        
72,157                        29,974                        42,183                        

 Plant and equipment

 Land

   – Operational land

598                             

1,926                          

71,251                        

 Buildings

69,275                        28,125                        

709                             775                             

30,301                        

1,484                           Total other restrictions

TOTAL RESTRICTED I,PP&E

195                             

 Infrastructure

$ ’000

 Class of asset

 Water supply

 WIP

 Plant and equipment

 Office equipment

 Land

   – Operational land

 Total sewerage services

 Domestic waste management

 Plant and equipment

 Infrastructure

 Total water supply

 Sewerage services

 Total DWM

SWRWMG

Plant and equipment

Other Structures 18                               

61,143                        83,952                        145,095                      
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Note 10a. Payables, borrowings and provisions

$ ’000

Payables
Goods and services – operating expenditure
Goods and services – capital expenditure
Accrued expenses:
  – Borrowings
  – Salaries and wages
  – Other expenditure accruals
Security bonds, deposits and retentions
Other

Total payables

Income received in advance
Payments received in advance

Total income received in advance

Borrowings
Loans – secured 1

Total borrowings

Provisions
Employee benefits:

Annual leave
Sick leave
Long service leave
Other leave
RDO leave

Sub-total – aggregate employee benefits

Asset remediation/restoration (future works)

Total provisions

TOTAL PAYABLES, BORROWINGS AND PROVISIONS

(i) Liabilities relating to restricted assets

Externally restricted assets

Water
Sewer

Liabilities relating to externally restricted assets
Internally restricted assets

Nil
Total liabilities relating to restricted assets
Total liabilities relating to unrestricted assets

TOTAL PAYABLES, BORROWINGS AND PROVISIONS

1. Loans are secured over the general rating income of Council
    Disclosures on liability interest rate risk exposures, fair value disclosures and security can be found in Note 15.

161            
181            

–                

–                

–                

–                
2,266         

3,345         

–                

1,572         

477            

17,421       

279            

2017

2                

Notes

1,778         

–                

634            

11,890       

2017

6,860         

12,648       

11,519       
342            

11,861    

12,648       

Current 

Non-current 

54              

–                

–                

18              

477            

111            

109            
–                

Current 

–                

584            

100            

24,538    

7,006         6,467         

32              

26

17,421       

3,903         
–                20              

12,648       

24,538    

Non-current 

100            

1,572         

6,367              146                 

11,861    

–                

146            

342            

44              
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Note 10a. Payables, borrowings and provisions (continued)

$ ’000

(ii) Current liabilities not anticipated to be settled within the next twelve months

The following liabilities, even though classified as current, are not expected
to be settled in the next 12 months.

Provisions – employees benefits
Payables – security bonds, deposits and retentions

Note 10b. Description of and movements in provisions

13/5/16 to 30/6/17

a. Asset remediation, reinstatement and restoration provisions represent the present value estimate of future costs 

Council will incur in order to remove, restore and remediate assets and/or activities as a result of past operations.

Additional 
provisions

4,282         

6,960            

Class of provision

5,168            

Unused 
amounts 
reversed

Remeasurement 
effects due to 

discounting

Gratuities

Asset remediation

2016

1,816            (20)                

2017            

–                

–                   –                   

Closing
balance

as at 30/6/17

–                   

Decrease due to 
payments

–                   5,168            

–                   
(20)                

(4)                  

–                   

Opening
balance
(former 

Councils)

–                   (4)                  
20                 

6,960            

TOTAL

1,796            

4,282         

Actual
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Note 11. Statement of cash flows – additional information

$ ’000

(a) Reconciliation of cash assets

Total cash and cash equivalent assets
Less bank overdraft

Balance as per the Statement of Cash Flows

(b) Reconciliation of net operating result
     to cash provided from operating activities

Net result from Income Statement
Adjust for non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation
Net losses/(gains) on disposal of assets
Impairment losses recognition – I,PP&E
Losses/(gains) recognised on fair value re-measurements through the P&L:
  – Write offs relating to the fair valuation of I,PP&E
Unwinding of discount rates on reinstatement provisions

+/- Movement in operating assets and liabilities and other cash items:

Decrease/(increase) in receivables
Increase/(decrease) in provision for doubtful debts
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in other assets
Increase/(decrease) in payables
Increase/(decrease) in accrued interest payable
Increase/(decrease) in other accrued expenses payable
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in employee leave entitlements
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions

Net cash provided from/(used in)

operating activities from the Statement of Cash Flows

(c) Non-cash investing and financing activities

Nil

(d) Financing arrangements

Nil

3,592            

Notes

5,168            

1,767            

(65)                

156               

2,079            

(101)              
(4)                  

6a

(113)              

13,052          

13,542          

–                   

Actual 

10

(469)              

2017               

15,959          

(380)              
166               

(409)              

13,542          

40,198          

(200)              
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Note 12. Commitments for expenditure

$ ’000

(a) Capital commitments (exclusive of GST)

Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not
recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings
Bridge

Total commitments

These expenditures are payable as follows:

Within the next year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Total payable

(b) Finance lease commitments

Nil

(c) Operating lease commitments (non-cancellable)

a. Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases at the
             reporting date, but not recognised as liabilities are payable:

Within the next year
Later than one year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments

b. Non-cancellable operating leases include the following assets:
Contingent rentals may be payable depending on the condition of items or usage during the lease term.

Conditions relating to operating leases:
– All operating lease agreements are secured only against the leased asset.
– No lease agreements impose any financial restrictions on Council regarding future debt etc.

–                   

1,497            

568               
929               

1,497            

24                 

–                   

–                   

Notes

1,497            

2017               

–                   

Actual 

24                 
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Note 13a. Statement of performance measurement – indicators (consolidated)

$ ’000

Local government industry indicators – consolidated

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue (1) excluding capital

grants and contributions less operating expenses

Total continuing operating revenue (1) excluding capital

grants and contributions

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue (1)

excluding all grants and contributions

Total continuing operating revenue (1)

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external restrictions (2)

Current liabilities less specific purpose liabilities (3, 4)

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result (1) before capital excluding interest

and depreciation/impairment/amortisation

Principal repayments (Statement of Cash Flows)

plus borrowing costs (Income Statement)

5. Rates, annual charges, interest and
    extra charges outstanding percentage
Rates, annual and extra charges outstanding

Rates, annual and extra charges collectible

6. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash equivalents

plus all term deposits

Payments from cash flow of operating and

financing activities

Notes

(1) Excludes fair value adjustments and reversal of revaluation decrements,

     net gain/(loss) on sale of assets and the net share of interests in joint ventures and associates.
(2) Refer Notes 6-8 inclusive.

     Also excludes any real estate and land for resale not expected to be sold in the next 12 months.
(3) Refer to Note 10(a).
(4) Refer to Note 10(a)(ii) – excludes all payables and provisions not expected to be paid in the next 12 months (incl. ELE).

>0.00%-6.64%
66,172      

>1.5x

6.76%

x12

25,546      

>2x

12.11 
mths

Indicator

37,863      

4,539        

54,992      
> 3 mths

Benchmark

19,964      

8,746        

< 5% 
Metro
<10% 
Rural

(4,392)      

2017

1,727        

7,237        

40,005      

Amounts

2017

84,914      
>60.00%

2.28x

5.53x

44.59%
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Note 13b. Statement of performance measurement – indicators (by fund)

$ ’000

Local government industry indicators – by fund 

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue (1) excluding capital

grants and contributions less operating expenses

Total continuing operating revenue (1) excluding capital

grants and contributions

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue (1)

excluding all grants and contributions

Total continuing operating revenue (1)

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external restrictions (2)

Current liabilities less specific purpose liabilities (3, 4)

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result (1) before capital excluding interest

and depreciation/impairment/amortisation

Principal repayments (Statement of Cash Flows)

plus borrowing costs (Income Statement)

5. Rates, annual charges, interest and
    extra charges outstanding percentage
Rates, annual and extra charges outstanding

Rates, annual and extra charges collectible

6. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash equivalents

plus all term deposits

Payments from cash flow of operating and

financing activities

Notes

(1) - (4) Refer to Notes at Note 13a(i) above.
(5) General fund refers to all of Council’s activities except for its water and sewer activities which are listed separately.

WaterGeneral 5

3.01x

2017

2.06x

>0.00%

>1.5x

> 3 mthsx12

-8.82%

2017

< 5% 
Metro
<10% 
Rural

>2x

85.41%

2017

5.53x

16.40%

58.68x

11.14 
mths

Sewer Benchmark

97.28% >60.00%

636.00x

48.80x

9.77%13.45%5.31%

2653.00 
mths

876.00 
mths

35.92%

-294.23%
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Note 14. Investment properties

Council has not classified any land or buildings as ‘investment properties’.

Note 15. Financial risk management

$ ’000

Risk management

Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including (1) price risk, (2) credit risk, (3) liquidity risk
and (4) interest rate risk.

The Council’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Council.

Council does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign
currency risk.

Financial risk management is carried out by Council’s finance section under policies approved by the Council.

A comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of Council’s financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the financial statements is presented below.

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
 – ‘Held to maturity’
Receivables

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Payables
Loans/advances

Total financial liabilities

Fair value is determined as follows:

– Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables – are estimated to be the carrying value that approximates 

   market value.

– Borrowings and held-to-maturity investments – are based upon estimated future cash flows discounted by the current

  mkt interest rates applicable to assets and liabilities with similar risk profiles, unless quoted market prices are available.

– Financial assets classified (i) ‘at fair value through profit and loss’ or (ii) ‘available-for-sale’ – are based upon quoted

  market prices (in active markets for identical investments) at the reporting date or independent valuation.

Refer to Note 27. Fair value measurement for information regarding the fair value of financial assets and liabilities.

13,542     

3,839       3,456       

Actual 

64,527     

9,863       

13,542     

41,543     

2017         

9,532       

2017         

Fair ValueCarrying Amount

18,993     18,993     

41,453     

22,832     

64,948     

22,449     
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Note 15. Financial risk management (continued)

$ ’000

Council’s objective is to maximise its return on cash and investments whilst maintaining an adequate level of
liquidity and preserving capital.

Council’s finance area manages the cash and Investments portfolio with the assistance of independent advisors.

Council has an investment policy which complies with the Local Government Act 1993  and Minister’s
investment order. This policy is regularly reviewed by Council and it’s staff and an investment report is tabled
before Council on a monthly basis setting out the portfolio breakup and its performance.

The risks associated with the investments held are:

– Price risk – the risk that the capital value of Investments may fluctuate due to changes in market prices,
  whether there changes are caused by factors specific to individual financial instruments or their issuers
  or are caused by factors affecting similar instruments traded in a market.

– Interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could affect returns and income.

– Credit risk – the risk that the investment counterparty will not complete their obligations particular to a
  financial instrument, resulting in a financial loss to Council – be it of a capital or income nature.

Council manages these risks (amongst other measures) by diversifying its portfolio and only purchasing
investments with high credit ratings or capital guarantees.

Council also seeks advice from independent advisers before placing any funds in cash equivalents and
investments.

(a) Market risk – price risk and interest rate risk

The following represents a summary of the sensitivity of Council’s Income Statement and accumulated surplus
(for the reporting period) due to a change in either the price of a financial asset or the interest rates applicable.

It is assumed that the change in interest rates would have been constant throughout the reporting period. 

13/5/16 to 30/6/17

Possible impact of a 10% movement in market values

Possible impact of a 1% movement in interest rates

(2,245)        
(224)           224            (224)           

2,245         
Equity 

Increase of values/rates

Profit Equity 

224            
2,245         (2,245)        

Profit 

Decrease of values/rates
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Note 15. Financial risk management (continued)

$ ’000

(b) Credit risk

Council’s major receivables comprise (i) rates and annual charges and (ii) user charges and fees.

The major risk associated with these receivables is credit risk – the risk that debts due and payable to Council
may not be repaid in full.

Council manages this risk by monitoring outstanding debt and employing stringent debt recovery procedures.
It also encourages ratepayers to pay their rates by the due date through incentives.

Credit risk on rates and annual charges is minimised by the ability of Council to secure a charge over the land
relating to the debts – that is, the land can be sold to recover the debt. Council is also able to charge interest
on overdue rates and annual charges at higher than market rates which further encourages the payment of debt.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers,
specific industry sectors and/or regions.

The level of outstanding receivables is reported to Council monthly and benchmarks are set and monitored for
acceptable collection performance.

Council makes suitable provision for doubtful receivables as required and carries out credit checks on most
non-rate debtors.

There are no material receivables that have been subjected to a re-negotiation of repayment terms.

A profile of Council’s receivables credit risk at balance date follows:

(i) Ageing of receivables – %
Current (not yet overdue)
Overdue

(ii) Ageing of receivables – value
Rates and annual charges Other receivables

Current Current
< 1 year overdue 0 – 30 days overdue
1 – 2 years overdue 31 – 60 days overdue
2 – 5 years overdue 61 – 90 days overdue
> 5 years overdue > 91 days overdue

(iii) Movement in provision for impairment
      of receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year (former Councils)
+ new provisions recognised during the year
– amounts already provided for and written off this year
Balance at the end of the year

0%

Rates and 

Rates and 

2017            

1,400         
226            

152            
4                

392            
687            

100%

1,555         

100% 0%

2017            

100%

147            

(69)             

347            
939            

Other 

100%

charges 

annual 

receivables 

8,064         

87              

5,359         

2017            

Other 

122            

receivables charges 

annual 

–                
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Note 15. Financial risk management (continued)

$ ’000

(c) Liquidity risk

Payables and borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk – the risk that insufficient funds may be on hand to
meet payment obligations as and when they fall due.

Council manages this risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and liquidity levels and maintaining an
adequate cash buffer.

Payment terms can (in extenuating circumstances) also be extended and overdraft facilities utilised as required.

The contractual undiscounted cash outflows (ie. principal and interest) of Council’s payables and borrowings
are set out in the maturity table below:

$ ’000

13/5/16 to 30/6/17

Trade/other payables

Loans and advances

Total financial liabilities

Borrowings are also subject to interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could adversely
affect funding costs and debt servicing requirements. Council manages this risk through the diversification of
borrowing types, maturities and interest rate structures.

The following interest rates were applicable
to Council’s borrowings at balance date:

Trade/other payables
Loans and advances – fixed interest rate

Note 16. Material budget variations

In accordance with the Supplementary Code 25, this note is not required for new Councils.

693       

values

to no

Subject

2,361    

2,361    

–           693       

≤ 1 Year > 5 Yrs2-3 Yrs

693       3,456    

22,449  

4.83%

Average

3,456         0.00%

2017

12,481  

carrying

ActualTotal

–           

payable in:

outflows

12,481  

1-2 Yrs

cash

3-4 Yrs

1,846    

23,364  

4-5 Yrs

–           –           

–           

maturity

2,252    

–           –           

1,846    

1,885    1,846    1,846    

22,449       
18,993       

interest rate

Carrying

22,671  18,993  2,252    1,885    

value
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Note 17. Statement of developer contributions

$ ’000

Council recovers contributions, raises levies and enters into planning agreements on development works that are subject to a development consent issued by Council.

All contributions must be spent/utilised for the specific purpose they were levied and any interest applicable to unspent funds must be attributed to remaining funds.

The following tables detail the receipt, interest and use of the above contributions and levies and the value of all remaining funds which are ‘restricted’ in their future use.

SUMMARY OF CONTRIBUTIONS AND LEVIES

Roads

Total contributions

Expenditure

borrowing

–                   

restricted

(to)/from

during

(304)              27                 

92                 

1,953            

–                   

–                   

Held asInternal

660               

1,125            

(115)              

(71)                

assetin year

–                   

736               

(189)              660               

–                   

465               –                   

year

–                   

PURPOSE

–                   

S94 Funds
transferred from 
former Councils

earned

Contributions

received during the year

Interest

–                   S64 contributions

315               

313               

–                   

179               

S94 not under plans

Total S94 revenue under plans 834               

519               

S94 contributions – under a plan 519               

–                   747               33                 

568               

6                   

Non-cash

–                   

10                 

17                 

–                   

(375)              

Cash

(189)              

–                   

17                 313               

–                   

–                   

–                   

255               S94A levies – under a plan

1,548            

92                 

622               

–                   

–                   

–                   

–                   

–                   

–                   

Cumulative 
internal 

borrowings 
due/(payable)
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Note 17. Statement of developer contributions (continued)

$ ’000

S94 CONTRIBUTIONS – UNDER A PLAN

CONTRIBUTION PLAN (former Harden)

Roads

S94A LEVIES – UNDER A PLAN

CONTRIBUTION PLAN (former Boorowa)

Roads
Community facilities

CONTRIBUTION PLAN (former Harden)

Other

17                   –                     (189)                –                     519                 

–                     313                 

313                 Total

–                     

140                 

–                     

–                     

140                 

325                 

(to)/from

borrowing

Held as

(to)/from

restricted

Held as

asset

duringearned

InternalExpenditure

year

during

17                   660                 

660                 

Held as

borrowing

Interest

asset

restricted

–                     

Internal

Cash

(189)                

Non-cash

S94 Funds
transferred from 
former Councils

earnedreceived during the yearPURPOSE
(to)/from

519                 

Expenditure

in year

–                     

Contributions

32                   

received during the year

PURPOSE

129                 

40                   

received during the year

–                     

Total

Total

Contributions

PURPOSE
Non-cash

113                 

8                     

year

3                     –                     

in year

Contributions

Cash

Interest

Interest

–                     

–                     

148                 

38                   –                     

year

2                     

(13)                  

asset

185                 

restricted

–                     

277                 

Non-cashCash

38                   

8                     

(13)                  

Expenditure

–                     

113                 2                     

duringearned

Internal

–                     

borrowing

in year

–                     

5                     

140                 

–                     

–                     

–                     

–                     

Cumulative 
internal 

borrowings 
due/(payable)

Cumulative 
internal 

borrowings 
due/(payable)

–                     

–                     

–                     

Cumulative 
internal 

borrowings 
due/(payable)

S94 Funds
transferred from 
former Councils

S94 Funds
transferred from 
former Councils
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Note 17. Statement of developer contributions (continued)

$ ’000

S94A LEVIES – UNDER A PLAN

Young

Community facilities

S94 CONTRIBUTIONS – NOT UNDER A PLAN

(former Young)

Drainage
Parking

PURPOSE

Total 92                   –                     –                     

Contributions

65                   

27                   

–                     

–                     –                     102                 (102)                –                     –                     

–                     –                     

Interest Expenditure

92                   

65                   

27                   

asset

–                     

(to)/from

–                     

Internal

borrowingduring

–                     

–                     

year

–                     –                     

–                     

earned

in yearCash

–                     

Non-cash

received during the year

PURPOSE
Contributions Interest Expenditure Internal Held as

received during the year earned during borrowing restricted

Cash Non-cash in year

Total 102                 –                     –                     (102)                –                     –                     

year (to)/from asset

–                     

–                     

–                     

Held as

restricted

–                     

Cumulative 
internal 

borrowings 
due/(payable)

–                     

–                     

–                     

Cumulative 
internal 

borrowings 
due/(payable)

–                     

–                     

S94 Funds
transferred from 
former Councils

S94 Funds
transferred from 
former Councils
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Note 18. Contingencies and other assets/liabilities not recognised

$ ’000

The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for (ii) Statewide Limited
recognition in the Statement of Financial Position, but

their knowledge and disclosure is considered relevant Council is a member of Statewide Mutual, a mutual
to the users of Council’s financial report. pool scheme providing liability insurance to local

government.

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED: Membership includes the potential to share in either

the net assets or liabilities of the fund depending on
1. Guarantees its past performance. Council’s share of the net

assets or liabilities reflects Council’s contributions to
(i) Defined benefit superannuation the pool and the result of insurance claims within
     contribution plans each of the fund years.

Council participates in an employer-sponsored The future realisation and finalisation of claims
defined benefit superannuation scheme, and makes incurred but not reported to 30/6 this year may result
contributions as determined by the superannuation in future liabilities or benefits as a  result of past
scheme’s trustees. events that Council will be required to fund or share

in respectively.
Member councils bear responsibility of ensuring there

are sufficient funds available to pay out the required (iii) StateCover Limited
benefits as they fall due.

Council is a member of StateCover Mutual Limited
The schemes most recent full actuarial review and holds a partly paid share in the entity.
indicated that the net assets of the scheme were

not sufficient to meet the accrued benefits of the StateCover is a company providing workers
schemes defined benefit member category with compensation insurance cover to the NSW local
member councils required to make significantly government industry and specifically Council.
higher contributions in future years.

Council has a contingent liability to contribute further
The Local Government Superannuation Scheme equity in the event of the erosion of the company’s
however is unable to provide Council with an accurate capital base as a result of the company’s past
estimate of its share of the net deficit and accordingly performance and/or claims experience or as a result
Council has not recorded any net liability from it’s of any increased prudential requirements from APRA.
defined benefit scheme obligations in accordance

with AASB 119. These future equity contributions would be required

to maintain the company’s minimum level of net
Future contributions made to the defined benefit assets in accordance with its licence requirements.
scheme to rectify the net deficit position will be

recognised as an expense when they become (iv) Other guarantees
payable – similar to the accounting for defined

contributions plans. Council has provided no other guarantees other than

those listed above.
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Note 18. Contingencies and other assets/liabilities not recognised (continued)

$ ’000

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED (continued): (iii) Potential land acquisitions due to planning 

2. Other liabilities
Council has classified a number of privately owned

(i) Third party claims land parcels as local open space or bushland.

The Council is involved from time to time in various As a result, where notified in writing by the various
claims incidental to the ordinary course of business owners, Council will be required to purchase these
including claims for damages relating to its services. land parcels.

Council believes that it is appropriately covered At reporting date, reliable estimates as to the value
for all claims through its insurance coverage and of any potential liability (and subsequent land asset)
does not expect any material liabilities to eventuate. from such potential acquisitions has not been

possible.
(ii) S94 plans

Council levies section 94/94A contributions upon ASSETS NOT RECOGNISED:
various development across the Council area through
the required contributions plans. (i) Land under roads

As part of these plans, Council has received funds As permitted under AASB 1051, Council has elected
for which it will be required to expend the monies in not to bring to account land under roads that it
accordance with those plans. owned or controlled up to and including 30/6/08.

As well, these plans indicate proposed future (ii) Infringement notices/fines
expenditure to be undertaken by Council, which will
be funded by making levies and receipting funds in Fines and penalty income, the result of Council 
future years or where a shortfall exists by the use of issuing infringement notices is followed up and 
Council’s general funds. collected by the Infringement Processing Bureau.

These future expenses do not yet qualify as liabilities Council’s revenue recognition policy for such
as of the reporting date, but represent Council’s income is to account for it as revenue on receipt.
intention to spend funds in the manner and timing
set out in those plans. Accordingly, at year end, there is a potential asset

due to Council representing issued but unpaid
infringement notices. 

Due to the limited information available on the status,
value and duration of outstanding notices, Council is
unable to determine the value of outstanding income.

Note 19. Interests in other entities

Council has no interest in any controlled entities, joint arrangements or associates.
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Note 20. Retained earnings, revaluation reserves, changes in accounting
                policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

$ ’000

(a) Retained earnings

Movements in retained earnings were as follows:
a. Net result for the year

Balance at end of the reporting period

(b) Revaluation reserves

     Council has no reportable equity reserves.

(c) Correction of error/s relating to a previous reporting period

     Council made no correction of errors during the current reporting period.

(d) Voluntary changes in accounting policies

     Council made no voluntary changes in any accounting policies during the year.

568,448        

Notes 2017               

Actual 

568,448    
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Note 21. Financial result and financial position by fund

Income Statement by fund

$ ’000

Continuing operations
Income from continuing operations
Rates and annual charges
User charges and fees
Interest and investment revenue
Other revenues
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes
Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Other income
Net gains from disposal of assets

Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment
Other expenses

Total expenses from continuing operations
Operating result from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net profit/(loss) from discontinued operations

Net operating result for the year

Gain on local government amalgamation

Assets and liabilities transferred from former councils

Net result for the year

Net result attributable to each council fund

Net result attributable to non-controlling interests

Net operating result for the year before grants and contr     
and contributions provided for capital purposes

1 General fund refers to all Council’s activities other than Water, Sewer and Other

   NB. All amounts disclosed above are gross – that is, they include internal charges and recoveries made between 

   the funds.

253          

14,741     

Actual 

64            

Actual 

2,569       

49            
420          

1,278       
4,620       

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

–              
–              

Actual 

9,015       

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

3,603       

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

–              34            
26,055     

Water

–              

478,623   

General1

959          

16,818     

17,985     

4,920       

11,647     
1,182       

8,026       

103          

16,227     

Sewer

364          

(11,898)  

8,587       56,598     
(561)       

707          

13,683   

659          17,980     

105          

Other

83            

–              

543        

–              

13,683   

–              

–              

–               

(664)          

2,079       

2,107       

51,390     

2,156       

15            

1              

–              

70,281     

136          
–              

27            

3,052       

747          

1,693       

–              

2              
1,434       

–              

(561)       543        

–               

543           

543          

1,093       

(4,297)       

(11,898)  

37,892     

2,483       
–              

Actual 

1,613       

–               

–              

174          

–              

1,107       

4,050       12,489     

(12,557)     

5,608       

–              51,951     49,790     464,940   

543        51,390   37,892   478,623 
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Note 21. Financial result and financial position by fund (continued)

Statement of Financial Position by fund
$ ’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Investment property
Intangible assets
Other

Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Income received in advance
Borrowings
Provisions

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions

Total non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves

Total equity

1 General Fund refers to all Council’s activities other than Water, Sewer and Other
   NB. All amounts disclosed above are gross – that is, they include internal receivables and payables between the funds.

51,390   

51,571     

–              

100          

3,447       

–              –              –              477          

General1

6,801       

2,673       

–              

–              

7,491       

2017         

335          

Actual 

Other

Actual 

2017         

Water

Actual 

Sewer

1,251       

Actual 

–              

–              

3,447       

3,447     

12,648     

50,040     

81            

23,409     

50            

161          

–              

11,890     12,648     

51,390     

476,380 

–              

–              

–              

42,183     

2,652       
29,084     

–              

–              
–              –              

10,621     

6,718       

–              

–              

–              

181          

12,809     

–              

–              

–              

2017         

2,338       

–              

–              5,651       

–              

–              

455          

73            
44,174     

–              

2017         

1,751       

4,773       

–              
–              

–              
–              

–              

499,789   

3,134       111          

–              
42,183     

–              
–              

–              

–              

7,857       

725          

–              

774          
–              

40,950     

–              

455,615   

455,615   

–              

774          

–              

–              

–              

–              

–              

–              

–              
6,336       

11,519     

–              

–              

40,950     

–              

–              
7,006       

476,380   

51,390   

37,231     

181          

–              

–              –              

–              

–              

37,231   

111          
–              

1,572       

37,231   476,380 

–              

3,447     
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Note 22. ‘Held for sale’ non-current assets and disposal groups

$ ’000

Council did not classify any non-current assets or disposal groups as ‘held for sale’.

Note 23. Events occurring after the reporting date

Events that occur between the end of the reporting period (30 June 2017) and the date when the financial
statements are ‘authorised for issue’ have been taken into account in preparing these statements.

Council has adopted the date of receipt of the Auditors’ Report as the applicable ‘authorised for issue’ date
relating to these General Purpose Financial Statements.

Accordingly, the ‘authorised for issue’ date is 29/11/17.

Events that occur after the reporting period represent one of two types:

(i) Events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting period
These financial statements (and the figures therein) incorporate all ‘adjusting events’ that provided evidence
of conditions that existed at 30 June 2017.

(ii) Events that provide evidence of conditions that arose after the reporting period
These financial statements (and figures therein) do not incorporate any ‘non-adjusting events’ that have
occurred after 30 June 2017 and which are only indicative of conditions that arose after 30 June 2017.

Council is unaware of any material or significant ‘non-adjusting events’ that should be disclosed.

Note 24. Discontinued operations

Council has not classified any of its operations as ‘discontinued’.

Note 25. Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance.

Council is unaware of any control over intangible assets that warrant recognition in the financial statements,
including either internally generated and developed assets or purchased assets.

Actual 
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Note 26. Reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration liabilities

$ ’000

Council has legal/public obligations to make restore, rehabilitate and reinstate the following assets/operations:

Asset/operation

Tips and quarries
Jugiong common gravel pit
Goorama gravel pit
Sheas gravel pit
Collins gravel pit
Thompson's roadside gravel pit
Waste depots and transfer stations
Quarries and gravel pits

Balance at end of the reporting period

Under AASB 116 – Property, Plant and Equipment, where the use of an asset results in the obligation to dismantle
or remove the asset and restore the site on which the asset stands, an estimate of such costs is required to be
included in the cost of the asset.

An equivalent liability must be recognised under AASB 137 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets.

The provision has been calculated by determining the present value of the future expenditures expected to be
incurred. The discount rate used is the risk free borrowing rate applicable to Council.

Reconciliation of movement in provision for year:

Balance at beginning of year (former Councils)
Amortisation of discount (expensed to borrowing costs)

Expenditure incurred attributable to provisions
Total – reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration provision

Amount of expected reimbursements

Of the above provisions for reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration works, those applicable to garbage
services and waste management are able to be funded through future charges incorporated within Council’s
annual domestic waste management charge.

12 48                 
11 49                 

5,465            
316               

5,168            

937               

6,960        

year of

(4)                  

1,796            

52                 

6,960         

2017               

Estimated

restoration

38                 
15

10(a)

11

55                 3

NPV of 
provision       
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Note 27. Fair value measurement

$ ’000

The Council measures the following asset and liability classes at fair value on a recurring basis:

– Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
– Financial assets and liabilities

The fair value of assets and liabilities must be estimated in accordance with various accounting standards for
either recognition and measurement requirements or for disclosure purposes.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires all assets and liabilities measured at fair value to be assigned to a
‘level’ in the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access
              at the measurement date. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
              either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

(1) The following table presents all assets and liabilities that have been measured and recognised at
     fair values: 

13/5/16 to 30/6/17

Recurring fair value measurements

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Plant & Equipment
Office Equipment, Furniture anf Fittings
Operational Land
Community Land
Land Improvements
Buildings - Specialised
Buildings Non-Specialised
other structures
Roads
Bridges
Footpaths
Bulk Earthworks
Stormwater Drainage
Water Supply Nerwork
Sewer Network
Swimming Pools
Other open space/recreational assets
Library Books
Reinstatements
Total infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

4,390        4,390        
30/06/17 –               –               41,150      41,150      

30/06/15 –               –               11,800      11,800      

30/06/13 –               37,214      

30/06/15 –               –               95,290      95,290      

30/06/13 –               –               3,733        3,733        
30/06/15 –               

30/06/17 –               –               

30/06/13 –               –               6,278        6,278        
30/06/17 –               –               190           190           

30/06/13 –               –               

40,454      40,454      

–               229,374    229,374    

–               5,266        5,266        

30/06/17 –               –               351           351           
–              43,828     494,920   538,748   

30/06/13 –               6,614        –               6,614        
12/05/16 –               –               7,895        7,895        
30/06/11 –               –               131           131           
30/06/13 –               –               7,315        7,315        

30/06/15 –               –               27,261      27,261      
30/06/15 –               

30/06/17 –               –               598           598           

–               

Fair value measurement hierarchy
Level 1

prices in observable

–               13,444      

37,214      

inputs inputs

Significant

Level 3 Total

valuation active mkts

30/06/17 –               13,444      

Date Quoted Significant

Level 2

of latest unobservable
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(2) Transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value hierarchies 
 
During the year, there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value hierarchies for recurring fair 
value measurements. 
 
 
(3) Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 and level 3 fair values 
 
Where Council is unable to derive fair valuations using quoted market prices of identical assets (i.e. level 1 
inputs), Council instead utilises a spread of both observable inputs (level 2 inputs) and unobservable inputs 
(level 3 inputs). 
 
The fair valuation techniques Council has employed while utilising level 2 and level 3 inputs are as follows: 
 
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
 
Plant and equipment 
 
Council’s Plant and equipment incorporates 
• Major plants- graders, loaders, rollers, trucks, tractors,  
• Fleet Vehicles- Cars, Utes etc. 
• Minor Plant – Pumps, Chainsaws, brush cutters, mowers, concrete mixers, movie projectors. 

 
Council fair values plant and equipment using level 3 inputs. The observable Level 3 inputs used 
• Quoted price for similar assets 
• Purchase price 
• Useful life of asset 
• Current replacement Cost 
 
The ‘Cost Approach’ is used to value Plant & Equipment  
 
Furniture and fittings 
 
Council’s Furniture & Fittings incorporates 
• Furniture and fittings- Desks, Chairs, Display Systems  

 

Council fair values furniture fittings using level 3 inputs. The observable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Quoted prices for similar assets 
• Current replacement cost 
• Purchase prices 
• Useful life on asset 
 

The ‘Cost Approach’ is used to value Furniture & Fittings. 
 
Property, office equipment 
 
Council’s Office Equipment incorporates: 
• Office Equipment: copiers, telephone system, projectors, fridges etc. 

 
Council fair values office equipment using level 3 inputs. The observable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Quoted prices for similar assets 
• Current replacement cost 
• Purchase prices 
• Useful life on asset 
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Infrastructure – Roads/Bulk Earthworks 
 
The road carriageway is defined as the trafficable portion of a road, between but not including the kerb and 
gutter and would include any paved makers parking places along side roadside. 
 
Council’s Road Asset Data contains detailed dimensions and specification for all Council roads. 
 
Council fair values, road infrastructure using Level 3 inputs at a component level. 
 
The ‘Cost Approach’ is used to value roads by componentising the assets into significant parts and then rolling 
up these component values to provide and overall road valuation (for each road segment) within Council’s 
Asset System. 
 
Level of componentisation adopted by Council is in accordance with AASB 116, OLG Circular 09-09 and the 
Institute if Public Work Engineers International Infrastructure Management Manual (IIMM) 
 
The unobservable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Pattern of Consumption 
• Components 
• Useful life and residual value 
• Asset Condition 
• Dimensions and Specification 
• Remaining Life of Carriageway 
• Unit Rates. 
 
There were no changes in valuation technique from prior year. 
 
Infrastructure - Bridges 
 
A bridge is defined as all structures that convey a road, a footpath or a cycleway across any other physical 
feature (including waterways and other roads) but do not include culverts. 
 
Council Road Asset Data contains detailed dimensions and specification for all Council’s bridges. 
 
Council fair values, bridges (non- componentised) using Level 3 inputs. 
 
The unobservable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Pattern of Consumption 
• Components 
• Residual value 
• Asset Condition 
• Dimensions and Specification 
• Unit Rates. 
 
In addition, the value of bridges takes into consideration the various type of structures such as: 
• Bridge Deck/ Superstructure 
• Bridge Abutments/Foundations 
• Bridge rails and hand rails 

 
There were no changes in valuation technique from prior year. 
The ‘Cost Approach’ is used to values bridges. 
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Infrastructure - Footpaths 
 
A footpath is defined as all footways (including those shared with a cycleway) sealed or non-sealed. 
Council Road Asset Data contains detailed dimensions and specifications for all Council footpaths. 
 
Council fair values, footpaths (non-componentised) using Level 3 inputs. 
 
The unobservable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Pattern of Consumption 
• Components 
• Residual value 
• Asset Condition 
• Dimensions and Specification 
• Unit Rates. 
 
In additions, the value of footpaths takes into consideration the various type of structure such as: 
• Length 
• Construction Materials 
 
The ‘Cost Approach’ is used to value footpaths. 
 
Infrastructure - Drainage 
 
Council’s Drainage Assets comprises pits, pipes, culverts, open channels, headwalls used to collect and 
remove stormwater. 
Council carries fair values drainages assets (non-componentised) using Level 3 inputs. 
 
The unobservable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Pattern of Consumption 
• Components 
• Residual value 
• Asset Condition 
• Dimensions and Specification 
• Unit Rates. 
 
In addition, the value of drainage assets takes into consideration the various type if structure such as 
• Pipe Diameter 
• Pit Type 
• Water Quality Device Type 
• Culverts and Headwall Constructions Type. 
 
The ‘Cost Approach’ is used to value drainage assets. 
 
Property: - Operational Land 
 
Council’s “Operational” land by definition has no special restriction other than those that may apply to any 
piece of land. 
 
Council carries fair values operational land by an External Valuer every 5 years (last valuation being 2013) 
using Level 2 inputs. 
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The unobservable Level 2 inputs used include: 
• Land Area 
• Rate per square Metre 
• Planning and Other Restrictions 
• Description of Land 
 
The ‘Market Approach’ is used to value the Operational Land. 
 
Property: - Community Land 
 
Council’s “Community” land (including owned by Council, the Crown and various other Government Agencies 
that is managed by Council) by definition is land intended for public access and use or where other restrictions 
applying to the land create some obligation to maintain public access (such as a trust deed, dedication under 
section 94 of the Environment Planning and Assessment Act 1979). This gives rise to the restrictions in the 
Act, intended to preserve the qualities of the land. 
 
Community Land: 
• Cannot be sold 
• Cannot be leased, licensed, or any other estate granted over the land for more than 21 years and 
• Must have a plan of management for it. 
 
In relation to Community Land the Division of Local Government has reviewed its positions on the use of the 
Valuer General’s Valuations of community land and in association with the Local Government Accounting 
Advisory Group, the Division has determined that community land may be valued as follows. 

• The NSW Valuer General’s valuations may be used under revaluation model to represent fair value for 
the revaluation of community land under clause 31 of AASB 116. 

 
Council fair values community land using unobservable Level 3 inputs based on inputs on either the UCV 
(Unimproved Capital Value) provided by the Valuer General or an average unit rate based on the UCV and 
allocated by Council against those properties where the Valuer General did not provide a UCV. 
 
The ‘Cost Approach’ is used to value Community land. 
 
Land improvements 
 
Council’s Land improvements incorporates  
• Sprinkler & Watering Systems 
• Cemetery Irrigation 

 
Council carries fair values of land reserves using level 3 inputs. 
 
The unobservable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Pattern of consumption 
• Asset Condition 
• Dimensions and Specification 
 
The cost approach is used to value the land improvements 
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Property- Buildings (specialised and non-specialised) 
 
Council Buildings incorporates Council administration buildings, Libraries, Public Amenities, Sporting Club 
Houses, Kiosks and Amenities, Depot Buildings and workshops, Halls & Community Centres and Rural Fire 
Service Buildings. 
 
Council carries fair values building using level 3 inputs. Valuations are generally carried out by an external 
Valuer using the cost approach. This approach estimates the replacement cost for each building by 
componentising the building (for complex structures) into significant parts with different useful life and taking in 
to account a range of factors. Buildings are physically inspected and unit although rates based on square 
meters could be supported from the market evidence, extensive professional judgement, and condition and 
consumption rates etc. impact significantly on the final value determination of fair value. As such these assets 
are classified as having being valued using Level 3 inputs. 
 
The unobservable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Consumption rate 
• Future Economic Benefits 
• Condition 
• Useful Life of an asset 

 
The ‘Cost Approach’ is used to value specialised buildings 
 
Other structures, swimming pools, open space and recreation: 
 
Council’s other structures incorporates the following types of assets; 
• Significant single assets such as swimming pools, playgrounds, floodlighting system, tennis courts, tennis 

shelters, grandstands etc. and 
• Aggregated lower value assets such as recreational / park infrastructures (picnic tables, seats, bollards, 

fences BBQs etc.) 
 
Council carries fair value of other structures assets (non-componentised) using Level 3 inputs. Such 
valuations are under taken by Council Staff or by an external valuer depending on the structure. 
 
The unobservable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Pattern of Consumption  
• Residual Value 
• Asset Condition 
• Components 
• Dimensions and specifications 
• Unit Rates. 

 
The “Cost Approach’ is used to value other structures 
 
Water supply network 
 
Council’s Water Supply Network incorporates: 
• Water Lines 
• Water Meters 
• Pumping Stations 
• Reservoirs 

 
Council carries fair value of water supply assets using Level 3 inputs. Such valuations are under taken by 
Council Staff using the NSW Water and Sewerage Reference Rates Manual. 
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The unobservable Level 3 inputs used include: 
• Pattern of Consumption  
• Residual Value 
• Asset Condition 
• Components 
• Dimensions and specifications 
• Unit Rates. 

 
The “Cost Approach’ is used to value other structures 
 
Sewerage network 
 
Council’s Sewerage Network incorporates: 
 

• Sewer Lines 
• Pump Stations 
• Sewer Treatment Plant 
 
Council carries fair value of water supply assets using Level 3 inputs. Such valuations are under taken by 
Council Staff using the NSW Water and Sewerage Reference Rates Manual. 
 
The unobservable Level 3 inputs used include: 
 

• Pattern of Consumption  
• Residual Value 
• Asset Condition 
• Components 
• Dimensions and specifications 
• Unit Rates. 
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Note 27. Fair value measurement (continued)

$ ’000

(4). Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

a. The following tables present the changes in level 3 fair value asset classes.

Balance on transfer from former Councils
Purchases (GBV)
Disposals (WDV)
Depreciation and impairment
Fair Value Changes
Other movement 

Closing balance – 30/6/17

continued on next page…

(379)        (379)          
(13,052)     

(16,067)   (16,067)     
(751)        

506,013   

495,694   

19,930      

(13,052)   

495,694   

19,930     
506,013    

(751)          

TotalIPP & E
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(4). Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) 
 
b. Significant unobservable valuation inputs (for level 3 asset classes) & their relationship to fair value. 
 
The following table summarises the quantitative information relating to the significant unobservable inputs 
used in deriving the various level 3 asset class fair values. 
 
I,PP&E 
 

 

Class 
 

Fair 
value 
(30/6/17) 
$’000 

 

Valuation technique/s 
 

Unobservable inputs 

Plant & Equipment $13,652 Cost used to approximate fair value Gross Replacement cost, useful 
life, residual value 

Office Equipment $429 Cost used to approximate fair value Gross Replacement cost, useful 
life, residual value 

Community land $7,896 Land Values obtained from NSW 
Valuer General 

Land Value, Land area 

Land Improvements $131 Cost used to approximate fair value Asset Condition, remaining life, 
residual value 

Building Specialised $37,225 Cost used to approximate fair value Cost per sq metre, consumption 
rate. Condition, useful life 

Other Structures $3,732 Cost used to approximate fair value Asset Condition, remaining life, 
residual value 

Roads $229,373 Cost used to approximate fair value Asset Condition, remaining life, 
residual value 

Bridges $27,261 Cost used to approximate fair value Asset Condition, remaining life, 
residual value 

Footpaths $5,266 Cost used to approximate fair value Asset Condition, remaining life, 
residual value 

Bulk Earthworks $95,290 Cost used to approximate fair value Cost per sq Metre 
Stormwater 
Drainage 

$11,800 Cost used to approximate fair value Asset Condition, remaining life, 
residual value 

Water Supply 
Network 

$40,455 Cost used to approximate fair value, 
NSW Reference Rates Manual 

Unit rates, pattern of consumption, 
components, useful life, residual 
value, asset condition 

Sewerage Network $41,150 Cost used to approximate fair value, 
NSW Reference Rates Manual 

Unit rates, pattern of consumption, 
components, useful life, residual 
value, asset condition 

Swimming Pool $4,419 Cost used to approximate fair value Cost per unit 
Tip Assets $5 Cost used to approximate fair value Unit Rates 
Quarry Assets $346 Cost used to approximate fair value Unit Rates 

 
c. The valuation process for level 3 fair value measurements 
 

The valuation processes used for Level 3 assets are described above. The valuation processes are decided 
by management with valuation movements reviewed by assets and finance staff. 
 
(5). Highest and best use 
 

All of Council’s non-financial assets are considered to being utilised for their highest and best use. 
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Note 28. Related party disclosures

$ ’000

This note doesn’t not apply to Hilltops Council due to the reporting period commencing prior to 1/7/2017

Note 29. Local Government amalgamation

$ ’000

The local government (Council Amalgamations) Proclamation 2016 (‘the Proclamation’) under the Local 
Government Act 1993 (NSW) transferred the assets and liabilities of the former councils Boorowa Council, 
Harden Shire Council and Young Shire Council to Hilltops Council as at 12 May 2016.

Gain on local government amalgamation

Assets and liabilities transferred from former councils
Accounting policy adjustments

a. Assets and liabilities transferred from former councils

(i) Carrying amount of assets and liabilities transferred

Assets and liabilities of:

- Boorowa Shire Council
- Harden Shire Council and
- Young Shire Council
- South West Regional Library

have been recognised by Council.

Council believes the carrying amounts are not materially different from their fair values as at the date of
transfer 13 May 2016.

The fair value of the net assets has been shown as a gain on local government amalgamation in the income
statement and further information is provided on the next page.

b –                      
566,681           

Actual

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

566,681           

Notes

a
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Note 29. Local Government amalgamation (continued)

$ ’000

a. Assets and liabilities transferred from former councils (continued)

(i) Carrying amount of assets and liabilities transferred (continued)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets
Other
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables (excluding bank overdraft)
Bank overdraft
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Income received in advance
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets transferred

–               –                110               

649           –                1,974            

5,354     
161,174 

3,025       

167           –                525               

9,313            
25,498          
13,149          

3,579        
15,050      
7,402        

226            
–                
2                

–                –                   

26,323      228            48,724          
125           –                239               

194            550,290        

22,298    38            32,333        
220,246  384          566,681      

13,791      –                17,501          

–               
–               

216,221    

–                

204               –                

–                –                   
–                

–               

1,679        
–               

–                   –                

–               –                –                   

–                
–                

5,988            

2,204            
33              6,436            

194            550,290        

2,329       
2,679        

216,221    
242,544  422          599,014      

156,045   
166,528 

–                

8,507        

5                

38              14,832          

204          
196          

2,278       
3,958       

–              

–              
–              

–              
–              

177,830   
–              
–              
–              

329          
1,446       

–              

–               
13,142      

3,882       
4,048       
2,255       

195          
103          

10,483     

–              
–              
–              

156,045   

–               
–               

4,149        

4,643     
184,877 

Harden

1,626       
6,400       
3,490       

163          
11            

11,690     

–              

177,830   
189,520 

1,280       

110          
–              

311          
264          
685          

Gain on local 
government 

amalgamation

–                   
–                   

–                   

15,417          

Boorowa Young

South 
West 

Regional 
Library

–              
–              

1,964       
1,061       

554          
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Note 29. Local Government amalgamation (continued)

$ ’000

(ii) Adjustments between former council carrying amount of assets and fair values recognised

Council made no adjustments to the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities received as part of the 
amalgamation in order.

(iii) Rates and Non-Reciprocal Grants income

The rates and non-reciprocal grants revenue for the period from 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2016
were recorded in the financial statements of the former councils in accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions.

The assets transferred to Council include a portion of rates and non-reciprocal grants that were received but 
related to the period after the former councils ceased to exist.
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Note 30. Council information and contact details

Principal place of business:
189 Boorowa Street
Young NSW 2594

Contact details
Mailing address: Opening hours:
Locked Bag 5 8.30am - 5.00pm Monday to Friday
Young NSW 2594

Telephone: 02 63801200 Internet:
Facsimile: 02 63801299 Email:

Officers Elected members
GENERAL MANAGER MAYOR
Anthony McMahon Brian Ingram

RESPONSIBLE ACCOUNTING OFFICER COUNCILLORS
Judy Jordan Tony Wallace (Deputy mayor)

Greg Armstrong
PUBLIC OFFICER Tony Flanery
Lee Furness John Horton

Chris Manchester
AUDITORS Rita O'Connor
NSW Audit Office Margaret Roles

Matthew Stadtmiller
Wendy Tuckerman
John Walker

Other information
ABN: 31 984 256 429

www.hilltops.nsw.gov.au
mail@hilltops.nsw.gov.au

http://www.hilltops.nsw.gov.au/
mailto:mail@hilltops.nsw.gov.au


 

 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the general purpose financial statements 

Hilltops Council 

 

To the Councillors of the Hilltops Council 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Hilltops Council (the Council), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the income statement, the statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the period 
13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and the Statement by Councillors and Management. 

In my opinion, 

• the Council’s accounting records have been kept in accordance with the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 1993, Chapter 13, Part 3, Division 2 (the Division) 

• the financial statements: 

- have been presented, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of this 
Division 

- are consistent with the Council’s accounting records 

- present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Council as at 
30 June 2017, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the period 
13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017 in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards  

• all information relevant to the conduct of the audit has been obtained 

• no material deficiencies in the accounting records or financial statements have come to light 
during the audit. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report.  

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 

• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 
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Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of councils 

• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 
opinion.  

The Councillors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements  

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 1993, and for such 
internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Councillors must assess the Council’s ability to continue as a 
going concern except where the Council will be dissolved or amalgamated by an Act of Parliament. The 
assessment must disclose, as applicable, matters related to going concern and the appropriateness of 
using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take based on 
the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. 
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  

• on the Original Budget information included in the Income Statement, Statement of Cash Flows, 
Note 2(a) and Note 16 budget variation explanations 

• on the attached Special Schedules 

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial statements 
on any website where they may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 

 

 

 

Steven Martin 
Assistant Auditor-General, Financial Audit 
 
29 November 2017 
SYDNEY 
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Brian Ingram  
Mayor 
Hilltops Council 
Locked Bag 5 
YOUNG  NSW  2594 

 
29 November 2017 

 

Dear Cr Ingram 

 

Report on the Conduct of the Audit  

for the Period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017  

Hilltops Council 

 
We have audited the general purpose financial statements of Hilltops Council (the Council) for the 
period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017 as required by section 415 of the Local Government Act 1993 
(the Act). We expressed an unmodified opinion on the Council’s general purpose financial statements. 

This Report on the Conduct of the Audit (the Report) for the Council for the period 13 May 2016 to 
30 June 2017 is issued in accordance with section 417 of the Act. Section 417(3) requires us to 
consider and report on matters pertinent to the Council’s financial statements and audit. This Report 

should be read in conjunction with our audit opinion on the general purpose financial statements 
issued under section 417(2) of the Act. 

INCOME STATEMENT 

The operating results represent council’s activities for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017. 

Operating result 

  2017  

  $’000  

Rates and annual charges  20,913  

Grants and contributions (capital and operational)  47,051  

Operating result for the period  1,767  

Net result for the period (after assets and liabilities 
transferred from former Councils) 

 568,448  

Net operating result before capital amounts  (16,975)  

Contact: Lawrissa Chan 

Phone no: 02 9275 7255 

Our ref: D1730455/1740 
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The following comments are made in respect of Council’s operating result for the period: 

 Council’s operating surplus for the period was $1.8 million. The operating result for the period 
included revenue from rates and annual charges of $20.9 million, user charges and fees of 
$14.1 million, grants and contributions of $47.1 million and expenses for employee benefits and 
on-costs of $19.9 million and materials and contracts of $19.9 million. 

 Council recorded a net result for the period after assets and liabilities transferred from former 
councils of $568 million. 

 The net operating result before capital contributions was a deficit of $17.0 million. 

 Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes were $28.3 million. Grant income 
included a $5.0 million Merger Implementation Grant and $15 million Stronger Communities 
Grant, which are both non-recurring. In addition, Council received $11.1 million Financial 
Assistance Grants, of which $3.7 million related to 2017–18 and booked as income 
in June 2017. 

 Council’s depreciation and amortisation expense for the period ended 30 June 2017 was 
$16 million. 

 There was a fair value decrement of $12.7 million from the valuation of the sewerage network 
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 Council recorded a net increase in 
cash and cash equivalents of 
$4.4 million in 2017 before cash 
transferred on amalgamation. Cash 
transferred on amalgamation of 
former Councils was $9.1 million. 

 Net cash provided by operating 
activities amounted to $40.2 million. 
Council recorded $16.7 million cash 
receipts from user charges and fees, 
$46.1 million cash receipts from 
grants and contributions, 
$23.4 million in cash payments for 
materials and contracts and 
$20.2 million in cash payments on 
employee benefits and on-costs. 

 Net cash used in investing activities 
totalled $37.1 million. This is largely 
due to $22.5 million in payments for 
the purchase of infrastructure, 
property, plant and equipment and  
$16 million for the purchase of 
investment securities. 

 

 

 
  

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

2017

$

Period ended 30 June

Statement of Cash Flows
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FINANCIAL POSITION 
Cash and Investments 

Restricted Cash and Investments 2017 Commentary 

 $’000  

External restrictions 23,498  Externally restricted cash and investments are 
restricted in their use by externally imposed 
requirements. Externally restricted cash includes 
$1.1 million of specific purpose unexpended grants. 

 Internally restricted cash and investments have been 
restricted in their use by resolution or policy of Council 
to reflect identified programs of works and any forward 
plans identified by Council. Internally restricted cash 
includes: 

- $14.1 million for Stronger council funds 

- $3.7 million for Implementation funding 

- $3.8 million for the Financial Assistance Grant 
advance payment 

- $3.2 million for employee leave entitlements 

- $2 million for infrastructure replacement 

Internal restrictions 30,757 

Unrestricted 740 

Cash and investments 54,995 

   
 

Debt 

 The Council had borrowings of $19.0 million at 30 June 2017. All loans are secured over general rating 
income of Council. 

 

PERFORMANCE RATIOS 

Operating performance ratio 

 The ‘operating performance ratio’ 

measures how well Council 
contained operating expenditure 
within operating revenue (excluding 
capital grants and contributions, fair 
value adjustments, and revaluation 
decrements). The benchmark set by 
the Office of Local Government 
(OLG) is greater than 0 per cent. 

 The operating performance ratio was 
-6.64% which is below the industry 
benchmark of 0%. 

 The operating performance ratio was 
impacted by the receipt of 
$3.7 million Financial Assistance 
Grants for 2017–18 received 
in June 2017 and $5.0 million for the 
New Council Implementation Fund 
received during the year. 
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Own source operating revenue ratio 

 The ‘own source operating revenue 

ratio’ measures Council’s fiscal 

flexibility and the degree to which it 
relies on external funding sources 
such as operating grants and 
contributions. The benchmark set by 
OLG is greater than 60 per cent. 

 The own source operating revenue 
ratio of 44.59% is below the industry 
benchmark of 60%.  

 This is largely due to the level of 
grant activity at Council during the 
period. Council received $15 million 
for the Stronger Communities Fund, 
$5.0 million for the New Council 
Implementation Fund and $3.7 million 
Financial Assistance Grant for 2017-
18, which was recorded as income 
in June 2017. 

 

 

 

Unrestricted current ratio 
 

 The ‘unrestricted current ratio’ is 

specific to local government and 
represents Council’s ability to meet 

its short-term obligations as they fall 
due. The benchmark set by OLG is 
greater than 1.5 times. 

 The Council’s liquidity ratio of 5.53 
times is greater than the industry 
benchmark minimum of > 1.5 times. 

 This indicates that Council has 
sufficient liquidity to meet its current 
liabilities as and when they fall due. 

 
 

Debt service cover ratio 
 

 The ‘debt service cover ratio’ 

measures the operating cash to 
service debt including interest, 
principal and lease payments. The 
benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than 2 times. 

 This Council’s debt service cover 

ratio of 2.28 times is greater than the 
industry benchmark of > 2 times.  

 Council generates sufficient cash 
from its operations to fund its debt 
obligations. 
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Rates and annual charges outstanding ratio 

 The ‘rates and annual charges 

outstanding ratio’ assesses the 

impact of uncollected rates and 
annual charges on Council’s liquidity 

and the adequacy of debt recovery 
efforts. The benchmark set by OLG 
is less than 10 per cent for rural 
councils. 

 The Council’s rates and annual 

charges outstanding ratio of 6.76% is 
within the benchmark for rural 
councils of < 10%. 

This indicates that Council’s rate 

recovery measures are effective in 
collecting and reducing outstanding 
debts.  

 

 

Cash expense cover ratio 
 

 This liquidity ratio indicates the 
number of months the Council can 
continue paying for its immediate 
expenses without additional cash 
inflow. The benchmark set by OLG is 
greater than three months. 

 The Council’s cash expense cover 
ratio was 12.11 months, which is 
above the industry benchmark of 
> 3 months. 

 This indicates that Council had the 
capacity to cover 12.11 months of 
cash expenditure without additional 
cash inflows at 30 June 2017. 

 

 

Building and infrastructure renewals ratio 
 

 The ‘building and infrastructure 
renewals ratio’ represents the rate at 
which assets are being renewed 
relative to the rate at which they are 
depreciating. 

 The ratio of 78.57 per cent is below 
the industry benchmark of greater 
than 100 per cent. 

 Council need to be aware of the 
deteriorating impact on infrastructure 
assets if this underperformance is 
sustained over an extended period. 
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Other Matters 
Legislative compliance  

Our audit procedures did not identify any instances of non-compliance with legislative requirements or 
a material deficiency in the Council’s accounting records or financial reports. The Council’s: 

 accounting records were maintained in a manner and form to allow the general purpose financial 
statements to be prepared and effectively audited 

 staff provided all accounting records and information relevant to the audit. 
 

 

 

 

Steven Martin 
Assistant Auditor-General, Financial Audit 
 
29 November 2017 
SYDNEY 
 
cc: Anthony McMahon, General Manager 

Andrew Fletcher, Chair of Audit and Risk Improvement Committee 
 Judy Jordan, Chief Financial Officer 
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Hilltops Council

Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Contents

1. Statement by Councillors and Management

2. Special Purpose Financial Statements:

Income Statement – Water Supply Business Activity
Income Statement – Sewerage Business Activity
Income Statement – Other Business Activities

Statement of Financial Position – Water Supply Business Activity
Statement of Financial Position – Sewerage Business Activity
Statement of Financial Position – Other Business Activities

3. Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements

4. Auditor’s Report

Background

These Special Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared for the use by both Council and the Office of
Local Government in fulfilling their requirements under National Competition Policy.

The principle of competitive neutrality is based on the concept of a ‘level playing field’ between persons/entities
competing in a market place, particularly between private and public sector competitors.

Essentially, the principle is that government businesses, whether Commonwealth, state or local, should operate
without net competitive advantages over other businesses as a result of their public ownership.

For Council, the principle of competitive neutrality and public reporting applies only to declared business activities.

These include (a) those activities classified by the Australian Bureau of Statistics as business activities being
water supply, sewerage services, abattoirs, gas production and reticulation, and (b) those activities with a turnover
of more than $2 million that Council has formally declared as a business activity (defined as Category 1 activities).

In preparing these financial statements for Council’s self-classified Category 1 businesses and ABS-defined
activities, councils must (a) adopt a corporatisation model and (b) apply full cost attribution including tax-equivalent
regime payments and debt guarantee fees (where the business benefits from Council's borrowing position by
comparison with commercial rates).

(iv)

9

8
7

(i)

(ii)

18

(iii)

6
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Hilltops Council 

Special Purpose Financial Statements 
for the period 13rorayzo1 e to 30 June 2017 

Statement by Councillors and Management 
made pursuant to the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting 

The attached Special Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with: 

• 

• 

• 

• 

the NSW Government Policy Statement 'Application of National Competition Policy to 
Local Government', 

the Division of Local Government Guidelines 'Pricing and Costing for Council Businesses -
A Guide to Competitive Neutrality', 

the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting, 

the NSW Office of Water Best-Practice Management of Water and Sewerage Guidelines . 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, these financial statements: 

• 

• 

present fairly the operating result and financial position for each of Council's declared business 
activities for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017, and 

accord with Council's accounting and other records . 

We are not aware of any matter that would render these statements false or misleading in any way. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Council made on 25 October 2017. 

SPFS 2017 

Anthony McMah n 

General Manag r 

@sf::2-ic_e_r __ _ 
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Hilltops Council

Income Statement of Council's Water Supply Business Activity
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$ ’000

Income from continuing operations
Access charges
User charges
Fees
Interest
Grants and contributions provided for non-capital purposes
Profit from the sale of assets
Share of profit from equity accounted investment
Other income
Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Water purchase charges
Calculated taxation equivalents
Debt guarantee fee (if applicable)
Other expenses
Total expenses from continuing operations
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations before capital amounts

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations after capital amounts

Surplus (deficit) from discontinued operations
Surplus (deficit) from all operations before tax

Less: corporate taxation equivalent (30%) [based on result before capital]

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

Plus Assets and liabilities transferred from former councils
Plus adjustments for amounts unpaid:
– Taxation equivalent payments
– Debt guarantee fees
– Corporate taxation equivalent
Less:
– Tax equivalent dividend paid
– Surplus dividend paid
Closing retained profits

Return on capital %
Subsidy from Council

Calculation of dividend payable:
Surplus (deficit) after tax
Less: capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions)

Surplus for dividend calculation purposes
Potential dividend calculated from surplus

2,569               
4,534               

86                    
253                  
83                    

364                  

34                    
7,923               

1,093               
2                      

959                  
2,483               
4,050               

–                      
–                      
–                      

8,587               

–                        
–                        

(664)                 

103                  
(561)                 

–                      
(561)                 

–                      

–                        
–                        

Actual 
 13/5/16

 to 30/6/17 

–                        

–                        
–                        

51,390               

-1.6%
1,637                 

(561)                 

51,951               

(561)                   
(103)                   

–                      
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Hilltops Council

Income Statement of Council's Sewerage Business Activity
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$ ’000

Income from continuing operations
Access charges
User charges
Liquid trade waste charges
Fees
Interest
Grants and contributions provided for non-capital purposes
Profit from the sale of assets
Share of profit from equity accounted investment
Other income
Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Calculated taxation equivalents
Debt guarantee fee (if applicable)
Other expenses
Total expenses from continuing operations
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations before capital amounts

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations after capital amounts

Surplus (deficit) from discontinued operations
Surplus (deficit) from all operations before tax

Less: corporate taxation equivalent (30%) [based on result before capital]

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

Plus Assets and liabilities transferred from former councils
Plus/less: prior period adjustments
Plus adjustments for amounts unpaid:
– Taxation equivalent payments
– Debt guarantee fees
– Corporate taxation equivalent
Less:
– Tax equivalent dividend paid
– Surplus dividend paid
Closing retained profits

Return on capital %
Subsidy from Council

Calculation of dividend payable:
Surplus (deficit) after tax
Less: capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions)

Surplus for dividend calculation purposes
Potential dividend calculated from surplus

–                      

–                        
37,231               

-28.1%
12,854               

(11,898)              
(659)                   

–                        

–                      
12,489             
16,818             

(12,557)            

4,261               

(661)                   

–                        
–                        
–                        

–                        

–                        

–                      

–                      
(11,898)            

–                      

(11,898)            

49,790               

3,603               
364                  
15                    
41                    

174                  

659                  
(11,898)            

64                    
–                      

–                      

747                  
707                  

1,182               
1,693               

Actual 
 13/5/16

 to 30/6/17 
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Hilltops Council

Income Statement of Council's Other Business Activities
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$ ’000

Income from continuing operations
Access charges
User charges
Fees
Interest
Grants and contributions provided for non-capital purposes
Profit from the sale of assets
Share of profit from equity accounted investment
Other income
Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Calculated taxation equivalents
Debt guarantee fee (if applicable)
Other expenses
Total expenses from continuing operations
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations before capital amounts

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations after capital amounts

Surplus (deficit) from discontinued operations
Surplus (deficit) from all operations before tax

Less: corporate taxation equivalent (30%) [based on result before capital]

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

Plus Assets and liabilities transferred from former councils
Plus adjustments for amounts unpaid:

– Taxation equivalent payments

– Debt guarantee fees

– Corporate taxation equivalent
Add:

– Subsidy paid/contribution to operations
Less:

– TER dividend paid

– Dividend paid
Closing retained profits

Return on capital %

Subsidy from Council

–                      –                      

188                  

n/a

–                        

–                      
–                      

–                        

–                        

–                        

–                        

–                        

–                        

188                    

–                      

163                    

543                  

–                      
543                  

543                  
–                      

2,716                 

–                        

–                        

2,073               

380                  

(163)                 

1,530               
1                      
–                      
–                      

–                      1                      

136                  

–                      

69                    
–                      

–                      

Actual 
 13/5/16

 to 30/6/17 

83                    

–                      

–                      

–                      
–                      
–                      

49                    
2,024               

–                      

–                      

27                    

1,365               

83                    

70.3%

3,259               

–                        

–                        

–                      

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

Actual 

–                      

14                    
83                    

–                      

–                        

–                        

–                      

–                      
–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

South West 
Rural Fire Zone

Category 2

South West 
Regional Waste 

Management 
Group

Category 2
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Hilltops Council

Statement of Financial Position – Council's Water Supply Business Activity
 as at 30 June 2017

$ ’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using equity method
Investment property
Intangible assets
Other
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft
Payables
Income received in advance
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Other reserves

TOTAL EQUITY
–                      

–                      

–                      
–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

51,390        

100                  

–                      

–                      

51,390             

51,390        

Actual 

2017                  

51,571             

–                      

2,652               

–                      
–                      

–                      

40,950             
–                      

–                      

40,950             

6,718               
1,251               

10,621             
–                      

–                      
81                    

181                  

181                  

–                      
–                      
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Hilltops Council

Statement of Financial Position – Council's Sewerage Business Activity
 as at 30 June 2017

$ ’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Total current Assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using equity method
Investment property
Intangible assets
Other
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft
Payables
Income received in advance
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Other reserves

TOTAL EQUITY
–                      

–                      

–                      

42,183             

12,648             

37,231        

37,231        

37,231             

–                      

–                      

–                      

12,648             

–                      
–                      

455                  
5,651               

–                      

42,183             
–                      

–                      

–                      

1,751               

2017                  

–                      

Actual 

12,809             

–                      

–                      

161                  

7,857               

50,040             

–                      

–                      
111                  

50                    
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Hilltops Council

Statement of Financial Position – Council's Other Business Activities
 as at 30 June 2017

$ ’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Total Current Assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using equity method
Investment property
Intangible assets
Other
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft
Payables
Income received in advance
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Other reserves
TOTAL EQUITY

–                      –                      

–                      

188                  

3,259               

3,259          

–                      

–                      

–                      

188                  

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

188             

–                      

774                  
3,259               

Actual 

–                      
158                  

2017                  

11                    

177                  

–                      

–                      –                      
–                      
–                      

–                      

–                      
–                      

188             

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      
–                      

3,259          

–                      

–                      
–                      

–                      

–                      

774                  

–                      

–                      

–                      

2,485               

–                      

–                      

188                  

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

–                      

Actual 

–                      
–                      

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

South West 
Rural Fire Zone

Category 2

South West 
Regional Waste 

Management 
Group

Category 2

2,327               

2017                  
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Hilltops Council

Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Contents of the notes accompanying the financial statements
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Note 1. Significant accounting policies 
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A statement summarising the supplemental 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
Special Purpose Financial Statements (SPFS) for 
National Competition Policy (NCP) reporting 
purposes follows. 
 
These financial statements are SPFS prepared for 
use by Council and the Office of Local Government. 
For the purposes of these statements, the Council is 
a non-reporting not-for-profit entity. 
 
The figures presented in these Special Purpose 
Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the recognition and measurement 
criteria of relevant Australian Accounting Standards, 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and Australian 
Accounting Interpretations. 
 
The disclosures in these Special Purpose Financial 
Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW), the Local 
Government (General) Regulation, and the Local 
Government Code of Accounting Practice and 
Financial Reporting. 
 
The statements are prepared on an accruals basis. 
They are based on historic costs and do not take into 
account changing money values or, except where 
specifically stated, current values of non-current 
assets. Certain taxes and other costs, appropriately 
described, have been imputed for the purposes of 
the National Competition Policy. 
 
National Competition Policy 
 
Council has adopted the principle of ‘competitive 
neutrality’ in its business activities as part of the 
National Competition Policy which is being applied 
throughout Australia at all levels of government. 
  
The framework for its application is set out in the 
June 1996 NSW government policy statement titled 
'Application of National Competition Policy to Local 
Government'. 
  
The Pricing and Costing for Council Businesses, A 
Guide to Competitive Neutrality issued by the Office 
of Local Government in July 1997 has also been 
adopted. 
  
The pricing and costing guidelines outline the 
process for identifying and allocating costs to 

activities and provide a standard for disclosure 
requirements. 
  
These disclosures are reflected in Council’s pricing 
and/or financial reporting systems and include 
taxation equivalents, Council subsidies, return on 
investments (rate of return), and dividends paid. 
 
Declared business activities 
 
In accordance with Pricing and Costing for Council 
Businesses – A Guide to Competitive Neutrality, 
Council has declared that the following are to be 
considered as business activities: 
 
Category 1 
 
(where gross operating turnover is over $2 million) 
 
a. Hilltops Water Supply 

 

Provision of reticulated water to the community of 
Hilltops. 

 
b. Hilltops Sewerage Services 

 

Provision of sewerage services to the community of 
Hilltops. 

 
Category 2 
 
(where gross operating turnover is less  than $2 million) 
 
a. South West Slopes Regional Waste 

Management Group 

 
b. South West Rural Fire Service 

 

 
Monetary amounts 
 
Amounts shown in the financial statements are in 
Australian currency and rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars, except for Note 2 (Water Supply 
Best-Practice Management Disclosures) and Note 3 
(Sewerage Best-Practice Management Disclosures). 
 
As required by the NSW Office of Water (Department 
of Primary Industries) the amounts shown in Note 2 
and Note 3 are disclosed in whole dollars. 
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Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements 
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017 
 

Note 1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
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(i) Taxation-equivalent charges 
 
Council is liable to pay various taxes and financial 
duties. Where this is the case, they are disclosed as 
a cost of operations just like all other costs. 
  
However, where Council does not pay some taxes 
which are generally paid by private sector 
businesses, such as income tax, these equivalent tax 
payments have been applied to all Council-
nominated business activities and are reflected in 
Special Purpose Financial Statements. 
 
For the purposes of disclosing comparative 
information relevant to the private sector equivalent, 
the following taxation equivalents have been applied 
to all Council-nominated business activities (this 
does not include Council’s non-business activities): 
 
Notional rate applied (%) 
 
Corporate income tax rate – 30% 
 
Land tax – the first $549,000 of combined land 
values attracts 0%. For the combined land values in 
excess of $549,001 up to $3,357,000 the rate is 
1.6% + $100. For the remaining combined land value 
that exceeds $3,357,000 a premium marginal rate of 
2.0% applies. 
 
Payroll tax – 5.45% on the value of taxable salaries 
and wages in excess of $750,000. 
 
In accordance with the Department of Primary 
Industries Water (DPIW), a payment for the amount 
calculated as the annual tax equivalent charges 
(excluding income tax) must be paid from water 
supply and sewerage business activities. 
 
The payment of taxation equivalent charges, referred 
to in the NSW Office of Water Guidelines to as a 
‘dividend for taxation equivalent’, may be applied for 
any purpose allowed under the Local Government 
Act, 1993. 
  
Achievement of substantial compliance to the NSW 
Office of Water Guidelines is not a prerequisite for 
the payment of the tax equivalent charges, however 
the payment must not exceed $3 per assessment. 
 
Income tax 
 
An income tax equivalent has been applied on the 
profits of the business activities. 

Whilst income tax is not a specific cost for the 
purpose of pricing a good or service, it needs to be 
taken into account in terms of assessing the rate of 
return required on capital invested. 
  
Accordingly, the return on capital invested is set at a 
pre-tax level - gain/(loss) from ordinary activities 
before capital amounts, as would be applied by a 
private sector competitor. That is, it should include a 
provision equivalent to the corporate income tax rate, 
currently 30%. 
 
Income tax is only applied where a gain/ (loss) from 
ordinary activities before capital amounts has been 
achieved. 
  
Since the taxation equivalent is notional – that is, it is 
payable to Council as the ‘owner’ of business 
operations - it represents an internal payment and 
has no effect on the operations of the Council. 
Accordingly, there is no need for disclosure of 
internal charges in the SPFS. 
 
The rate applied of 30% is the equivalent company 
tax rate prevalent at reporting date. No adjustments 
have been made for variations that have occurred 
during the year. 
 
Local government rates and charges 
 
A calculation of the equivalent rates and charges 
payable on all category 1 businesses has been 
applied to all land assets owned or exclusively used 
by the business activity. 
 
Loan and debt guarantee fees 
 
The debt guarantee fee is designed to ensure that 
council business activities face ‘true’ commercial 
borrowing costs in line with private sector 
competitors. 
  
In order to calculate a debt guarantee fee, Council 
has determined what the differential borrowing rate 
would have been between the commercial rate and 
Council’s borrowing rate for its business activities. 
 
(ii) Subsidies 
 
Government policy requires that subsidies provided 
to customers, and the funding of those subsidies, 
must be explicitly disclosed. 
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Subsidies occur when Council provides services on a 
less-than-cost-recovery basis. This option is 
exercised on a range of services in order for Council 
to meet its community service obligations. 
  
Accordingly, ‘subsidies disclosed’ (in relation to 
National Competition Policy) represents the 
difference between revenue generated from ‘rate of 
return’ pricing and revenue generated from prices set 
by Council in any given financial year. 
  
The overall effect of subsidies is contained within the 
Income Statement of each reported business activity. 
 
(iii) Return on investments (rate of return) 
 
The NCP policy statement requires that councils with 
Category 1 businesses ‘would be expected to 
generate a return on capital funds employed that is 
comparable to rates of return for private businesses 
operating in a similar field’. 
  
Such funds are subsequently available for meeting 
commitments or financing future investment 
strategies. 
 
The actual rate of return achieved by each business 
activity is disclosed at the foot of each respective 
Income Statement. 
 
The rate of return is calculated as follows: 
 
Operating result before capital income + interest expense 
 

Written down value of I,PP&E as at 30 June 
 
As a minimum, business activities should generate a 
return equal to the Commonwealth 10 year bond rate 
which is 2.38% at 30/6/17. 
 
(iv) Dividends 
 
Council is not required to pay dividends to either 
itself (as owner of a range of businesses) or to any 
external entities. 
 
Local government water supply and sewerage 
businesses are permitted to pay an annual dividend 
from its water supply or sewerage business surplus. 
 
Each dividend must be calculated and approved in 
accordance with the DPIW guidelines and must not 
exceed: 
 

(i) 50% of this surplus in any one year, or 
 

(ii) the number of water supply or sewerage 
assessments at 30 June 2017 multiplied by $30 
(less the payment for tax equivalent charges, not 
exceeding $3 per assessment). 

  
In accordance with the DPIW guidelines a Dividend 
Payment form, Statement of Compliance, Unqualified 
Independent Financial Audit Report and Compliance 
Audit Report are required to be submitted to the 
DPIW. 
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Hilltops Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Note 2. Water supply business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

1. Calculation and payment of tax-equivalents
[all local government local water utilities must pay this dividend for tax equivalents]

Calculated tax equivalents

Number of assessments multiplied by $3/assessment

Amounts payable for tax equivalents [lesser of (i) and (ii)]

Amounts actually paid for tax equivalents

2. Dividend from surplus
50% of surplus before dividends
[calculated in accordance with Best-Practice Management for Water Supply and Sewerage Guidelines]

Number of assessments multiplied by $30/assessment, less tax equivalent
charges/assessment

Cumulative surplus before dividends for the 3 years to 30 June 2017, less the
cumulative dividends paid for the 2 years to 13 May 2016 and 30 June 2015

2017 Surplus

Maximum dividend from surplus [least of (i), (ii) and (iii) above]

Dividend actually paid from surplus [refer below for required pre-dividend payment criteria]

Are the overhead reallocation charges to the water business fair and reasonable? a

3. Required outcomes for 6 criteria
[to be eligible for the payment of a ‘dividend from surplus’, all the criteria below need a ‘YES’]

Completion of strategic business plan (including financial plan)

Full cost recovery, without significant cross subsidies
[refer item 2 (a) in table 1 on page 22 of the Best-Practice Guidelines]

– Complying charges [item 2 (b) in table 1]

– DSP with commercial developer charges [item 2 (e) in table 1]

– If dual water supplies, complying charges [item 2 (g) in table 1]

Sound water conservation and demand management implemented

Sound drought management implemented

Complete performance reporting form (by 15 September each year)

a. Integrated water cycle management evaluation

b. Complete and implement integrated water cycle management strategy

(v)

(vi)

–                      

n/a

2017                  

–                      

59,280             

(639,400)          

5,928               

–                      

(iv)

(ii)

(664,000)      

(iv)

(iii)

(i)

(iv)

(iii)

(iii)

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(v)

(i)

(vi)
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Hilltops Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Note 2. Water supply business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements (continued)

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

National Water Initiative (NWI) financial performance indicators

Total revenue (water)
Total income (w13) – grants for the acquisition of assets (w11a) – interest income (w9)

– Aboriginal Communities W&S Program income (w10a)

Revenue from residential usage charges (water)
Income from residential usage charges (w6b) x 100 divided by the sum of

[income from residential usage charges (w6a) + income from residential

access charges (w6b)]

Written down replacement cost of fixed assets (water)
Written down current cost of system assets (w47)

Operating cost (OMA) (water)
Management expenses (w1) + operational and maintenance expenses (w2)

Capital expenditure (water)
Acquisition of fixed assets (w16)

Economic real rate of return (water)
[total income (w13) – interest income (w9) – grants for acquisition of assets (w11a) –

operating costs (NWI F11) – current cost depreciation (w3)] x 100 divided by

[written down current cost of system assets (w47) + plant and equipment (w33b)]

Capital works grants (water)
Grants for the acquisition of assets (w11a)

Notes: 1. References to w (e.g. w12) refer to item numbers within Special Schedules 3 and 4 of

Council’s Annual Financial Statements.

2. The NWI performance indicators are based upon the National Performance Framework

Handbook for Urban Performance Reporting Indicators and Definitions.

a refer to 3.2 (2) on page 15 of the Best-Practice Management of Water Supply 

and Sewerage Guidelines, 2007

NWI F26 –                      $’000

NWI F11

NWI F17 %

NWI F14 $’000

-0.69%

430                  

6,113               $’000

$’000NWI F9

2017                  

7,426               

NWI F4 %

40,455             

$’000

61.95%

NWI F1
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Hilltops Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Note 3. Sewerage business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

1. Calculation and payment of tax-equivalents
[all local government local water utilities must pay this dividend for tax equivalents]

Calculated tax equivalents

Number of assessments multiplied by $3/assessment

Amounts payable for tax equivalents [lesser of (i) and (ii)]

Amounts actually paid for tax equivalents

2. Dividend from surplus

50% of surplus before dividends
[calculated in accordance with Best-Practice Management for Water Supply and Sewerage Guidelines]

Number of assessments x ($30 less tax equivalent charges per assessment)

Cumulative surplus before dividends for the 3 years to 30 June 2017, less the
cumulative dividends paid for the 2 years to 13 May 2016 and 30 June 2015

2017 Surplus

Maximum dividend from surplus [least of (i), (ii) and (iii) above]

Dividend actually paid from surplus [refer below for required pre-dividend payment criteria]

Are the overhead reallocation charges to the sewer business fair and reasonable? a  

3. Required outcomes for 4 criteria  
[to be eligible for the payment of a ‘dividend from surplus’, all the criteria below need a ‘YES’]

Completion of strategic business plan (including financial plan)  

Pricing with full cost-recovery, without significant cross subsidies  
[refer item 2 (a) in table 1 on page 22 of the Best-Practice Guidelines]

Complying charges Residential [item 2 (c) in table 1]  

Non-residential [item 2 (c) in table 1]  

Trade waste [item 2 (d) in table 1]  

DSP with commercial developer charges [item 2 (e) in table 1]  

Liquid trade waste approvals and policy [item 2 (f) in table 1]  

Complete performance reporting form (by 15 September each year)  

a. Integrated water cycle management evaluation  

b. Complete and implement integrated water cycle management strategy  

–                      

3,198               

–                      

2017                  

n/a

–                      

(11,484,900)     

(i)

(iv)

(iii)

(ii)

(iii)

(12,557,000)  

(i)

(ii) 31,980             

(iv)

(c)

(iv)

(v)

(iii)

(i)

(ii)

(a)

(b)

(vi)
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Hilltops Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Note 3. Sewerage business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements (continued)

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

National Water Initiative (NWI) financial performance indicators

Total revenue (sewerage)
Total income (s14) – grants for acquisition of assets (s12a) – interest income (s10)

– Aboriginal Communities W&S Program income (w10a)

Written down replacement cost of fixed assets (sewerage)
Written down current cost of system assets (s48)

Operating cost (sewerage)
Management expenses (s1) + operational and maintenance expenses (s2)

Capital expenditure (sewerage)
Acquisition of fixed assets (s17)

Economic real rate of return (sewerage)
[total income (s14) – interest income (s10) – grants for acquisition of assets (s12a)

– operating cost (NWI F12) – current cost depreciation (s3)] x 100 divided by

[written down current cost (i.e. WDCC) of system assets (s48) + plant and equipment (s34b)]

Capital works grants (sewerage)
Grants for the acquisition of assets (12a)

National Water Initiative (NWI) financial performance indicators
Water and sewer (combined)

Total income (water and sewerage)
Total income (w13 + s14) + gain/loss on disposal of assets (w14 + s15)

minus grants for acquisition of assets (w11a + s12a) – interest income (w9 + s10)

Revenue from community service obligations (water and sewerage)
Community service obligations (NWI F25) x 100 divided by total income (NWI F3)

Capital expenditure (water and sewerage)
Acquisition of fixed assets (w16 + s17)

Economic real rate of return (water and sewerage)
[total income (w13 + s14) – interest income (w9 + s10) – grants for acquisition of assets

(w11a + s12a) – operating cost (NWI F11 + NWI F12) – current cost depreciation (w3 + s3)] x 100

divided by [written down replacement cost of fixed assets (NWI F9 + NWI F10)

+ plant and equipment (w33b + s34b)]

Dividend (water and sewerage)
Dividend paid from surplus (2 (v) of Note 2 + 2 (v) of Note 3)

Dividend payout ratio (water and sewerage)
Dividend (NWI F20) x 100 divided by net profit after tax (NWI F24)

$’000

581                  

41,150             

4,166               

2.52%

1,811               

13                    

2017                

NWI F3 $’000 11,592             

NWI F8 % 1.21%

NWI F19

NWI F21

NWI F20

%

%

–                      $’000

0.00%

0.94%

443                  NWI F16 $’000

NWI F27

NWI F18

NWI F15 $’000

%

$’000

NWI F2

NWI F10

NWI F12

$’000

$’000
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Hilltops Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Note 3. Sewerage business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements (continued)

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

National Water Initiative (NWI) financial performance indicators
Water and sewer (combined)

Net debt to equity (water and sewerage)
Overdraft (w36 + s37) + borrowings (w38 + s39) – cash and investments (w30 + s31)

x 100 divided by [total assets (w35 + s36) – total liabilities (w40 + s41)]

Interest cover (water and sewerage)
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) divided by net interest

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT):

Operating result (w15a + s16a) + interest expense (w4a + s4a) – interest income (w9 + s10)

– gain/loss on disposal of assets (w14 + s15) + miscellaneous expenses (w4b + w4c + s4b + s4c)

Net interest:

Interest expense (w4a + s4a) – interest income (w9 + s10)

Net profit after tax (water and sewerage)
Surplus before dividends (w15a + s16a) – tax equivalents paid (Note 2-1 (iv) + Note 3-1 (iv))

Community service obligations (water and sewerage)
Grants for pensioner rebates (w11b + s12b)

Notes: 1. References to w (eg. s12) refer to item numbers within Special Schedules 5 and 6 of

Council’s Annual Financial Statements.

2. The NWI performance indicators are based upon the National Performance Framework Handbook

for Urban Performance Reporting Indicators and Definitions.

a refer to 3.2 (2) on page 15 of the Best-Practice Management of Water Supply 

and Sewerage Guidelines, 2007

NWI F25 $’000

NWI F24

NWI F23

NWI F22 %

782                  

140                  

3                      

(13,040)            

302                  

$’000

-4.65%

2017                



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Report on the special purpose financial statement

Hilltops Council

To the Councillors of the Hilltops Council

Opinion

I have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements (the financial statements) of
Hilltops Council’s (the Council) Declared Business Activities, which comprise the statement of financial
position of each Declared Business Activity as at 30 June 2017, the income statement of each
Declared Business Activity for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017, notes comprising a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information for the Business Activities declared
by Council, and the Statement by Councillors and Management.

The Declared Business Activities of the Council are:

• Hilltops Water Supply

• Hilltops Sewerage Services

• South West Slopes Regional Waste Management Group

• South West Rural Fire Service.

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Council’s declared Business Activities as at 30 June 2017, and their financial performance for the
period 13 May 2016 to June 2017, in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards described
in Note 1 and the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting (LG Code).

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report and in particular, the Emphasis of
Matter referring to the basis of accounting.

Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’

section of my report.

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the:

• Australian Auditing Standards

• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of New
South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an
Auditor-General

• mandating the Auditor-General as the auditor of councils

• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.
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I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting  

Without modifying my opinion, I draw attention to Note (1) to the financial statements which describes 
the basis of accounting. The financial statements have been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling 
Council’s financial reporting responsibilities under the LG Code. As a result, the financial statements 

may not be suitable for another purpose.   

The Councillors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements  

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
and for determining that the accounting policies, described in Note 1 to the financial statements, are 
appropriate to meet the requirements in the LG Code. The Councillors’ responsibility also includes 
such internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Councillors must assess the Council’s ability to continue as a 

going concern except where the Council will be dissolved or amalgamated by an Act of Parliament. 
The assessment must disclose, as applicable, matters related to going concern and the 
appropriateness of using the going concern basis of accounting, as it affects the Council’s Declared 
Business Activities. 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. 

The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  

• on the best practice management disclosures in Notes 2 and 3 of the financial statements 

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 
statements on any website where they may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 

 

 

 

Steven Martin 
Assistant Auditor-General, Financial Audit 
 
29 November 2017 
SYDNEY 
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedules
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Contents

Special Schedules1

Net Cost of Services

Statement of Long Term Debt (all purposes)

Statement of Internal Loans (Sect. 410(3) LGA 1993)

Water Supply Operations – incl. Income Statement
Water Supply – Statement of Financial Position

Sewerage Service Operations – incl. Income Statement

Sewerage Service – Statement of Financial Position

Notes to Special Schedules 3 and 5

Report on Infrastructure Assets

Permissible Income Calculation

1 Special Schedules are not audited (with the exception of Special Schedule 8).

Background

These Special Schedules have been designed to meet the requirements of special purpose users such as;

the NSW Grants Commission
the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS),
the NSW Office of Water (NOW), and
the Office of Local Government (OLG).

The financial data is collected for various uses including;

the allocation of Financial Assistance Grants,
the incorporation of Local Government financial figures in national statistics,
the monitoring of loan approvals,
the allocation of borrowing rights, and
the monitoring of the financial activities of specific services.






14Special Schedule 7

13

12

(ii)





(i)




Special Schedule 8 19

Special Schedule 6
Special Schedule 5 9

Page

2

4

5

Special Schedule 1

Special Schedule 2(a)
n/a

Special Schedule 4

Special Schedule 2(b)

Special Schedule 3
8
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 1 – Net Cost of Services
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$’000

Governance

Administration

Public order and safety

Beach control
Enforcement of local government regulations
Animal control
Other
Total public order and safety

Health

Environment
Noxious plants and insect/vermin control
Other environmental protection
Solid waste management
Street cleaning
Drainage
Stormwater management
Total environment

Community services and education
Administration and education
Social protection (welfare)
Aged persons and disabled
Children’s services
Total community services and education

Housing and community amenities
Public cemeteries
Public conveniences
Street lighting
Town planning
Other community amenities
Total housing and community amenities

Water supplies

Sewerage services

–                           

–                           
–                           

Expenses from. 
continuing. 
operations. Non-capital.

42                         

–                           

4                           
115                       

Capital.

Income from
continuing operations

–                           

99                         

9                           
–                           

5,595                    

740                       

5,723                    

201                       

31                         

–                           

–                           

–                           13                         

–                           

745                       

16                         
8                           

8,587                    

99                         

3,603                    16,816                  659                       

–                           

(13)                        

(211)                      
(249)                      

(302)                      
(195)                      

(189)                      
–                           

–                           

–                           

308                       

1,152                    

7,825                    

6,740                    

1,281                    

6,224                    

–                           –                           
(678)                      

–                           (376)                      

31                         

475                       

126                       
–                           

1,449                    
–                           

15,479                  

667                       

Function or activity

–                           

Fire service levy, fire protection, emergency 
services

–                           

197                       

294                       
1,047                    

Net cost.
of services.

(42)                        
–                           

(583)                      

(74)                        

(5,902)                   
(303)                      

1,129                    –                           –                           (1,129)                   

(53)                        –                           
–                           

14,963                  

–                           

73                         

249                       

86                         

283                       

249                       

8                           
–                           

104                       

–                           
–                           

2,122                    

519                       

262                       
189                       

10,417                  

11,625                  
307                       

–                           

–                           
–                           

(78)                        

–                           

(658)                      

(970)                      

(267)                      

–                           
–                           

–                           

(12,554)                 

–                           

(249)                      

(4,822)                   
–                           

–                           

–                           
(192)                      

(262)                      

–                           
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 1 – Net Cost of Services (continued)
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$’000

Recreation and culture
Public libraries
Museums
Art galleries
Community centres and halls
Performing arts venues
Other performing arts
Other cultural services
Sporting grounds and venues
Swimming pools
Parks and gardens (lakes)
Other sport and recreation
Total recreation and culture

Fuel and energy

Agriculture

Mining, manufacturing and construction

Building control
Other mining, manufacturing and construction
Total mining, manufacturing and const.

Transport and communication
Urban roads (UR) – local
Urban roads – regional
Sealed rural roads (SRR) – local
Sealed rural roads (SRR) – regional
Unsealed rural roads (URR) – local
Unsealed rural roads (URR) – regional
Bridges on UR – local
Bridges on SRR – local
Bridges on URR – local
Bridges on regional roads
Parking areas
Footpaths
Aerodromes
Other transport and communication
Total transport and communication

Economic affairs
Camping areas and caravan parks
Other economic affairs
Total economic affairs

Totals – functions

General purpose revenues (1)

NET OPERATING RESULT (2)

(1) Includes: rates and annual charges (including ex gratia, excluding water and sewer), non-capital general purpose (2) As reported in the Income Statement

     grants, interest on investments (excluding externally restricted assets) and interest on overdue rates and annual charges

Income from
continuing operations

–                           
–                           –                           

395                       

465                       

–                           

83,616               

–                        

20,549                  7,660                    

7,407                    
7,211                    

66,641               

7,244                    

217                       196                       

24,566               

83,616               

7,027                    

–                        

42,075               

–                           
–                           

18,742               

–                           

–                           

–                           

58                         
–                           

–                           

–                           
–                           

–                           

465                       
36                         

189                       21                         

135                       

334                       

–                           –                           

1,961                    

Function or activity

483                       

–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

9                           –                           

–                           

–                           

508                       

–                           

–                           

205                       

–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

169                       

–                           
–                           

–                           

508                       5,869                    
–                           3                           

1,306                    

–                           –                           

–                           

565                       

396                       

–                           –                           
7,673                    4,850                    

–                           

–                           

Non-capital.

–                           

Expenses from. 
continuing. 
operations.

1,318                    

1,512                    
1,357                    

187                       

21                         

65                         
–                           

1,446                    
6,734                    

–                           
–                           

1,191                    42                         

3,587                    

474                       

357                       

–                           

(110)                      

(962)                      

–                           
(122)                      

–                           

(4,055)                   

–                           –                           

–                           

Capital.

–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

1,940                    
–                           1,264                    

18,742               

(201)                      
(5,470)                   

–                           
(334)                      

1,767                 

–                        

(22,799)              

(163)                      

21                         

(10,928)                 
(465)                      

(184)                      

–                           

–                           

(36)                        

–                           

–                           

24,566               

1,013                    
4                           

–                           

(548)                      
(4)                          

478                       

(135)                      

–                           

(82)                        

(647)                      

(457)                      

–                           

Net cost.
of services.

(205)                      

78                         

–                           

(160)                      

(1,149)                   

(2,823)                   

–                           

3                           
(1,318)                   

Share of interests – joint ventures and 
associates using the equity method
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 2(a) – Statement of Long Term Debt (all purpose)
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$’000

S
pe

 
 

pag
 

Notes: excludes (i) internal loans and (ii) principal inflows/outflows relating to loan re-financing.

           This schedule is prepared using the face value of debt obligations, rather than fair value (which are reported in the GPFS).

–              

–              
Deferred payments

–              
–              

2,204       

–              

15,417     

–              
Total long term debt –              –              

Total debt

–              

17,621     

–              

3,800       2,428       1,572       

–              

18,993     

–              –              –              

17,421     

–              

1,149       –              

–              

–              –              
–              

Other long term debt
Ratepayers advances –              –              –              

–              
Government advances –              
Finance leases –              

–              

Financial institutions 2,204       15,417     17,621     –              3,800       

–              3,800       

–              

–              2,428       

2,428       

2,204       15,417     Total loans
–              

17,621     
Other –              –              

Other State Government –              –              –              
–              

NSW Treasury Corporation

Public subscription –              –              

–              –              –              
–              

18,993     

–              

Debt redemption 
during the year

From 
revenue

Sinking 
funds

1,149       1,572       17,421     
–              
–              
–              

Principal outstanding at the end 
of the year

Total
Non-

current

–              –              

–              –              

–              

–              

–              –              

18,993     1,572       
–              

1,149       17,421     

–              –              

New 
loans 
raised 
during 

the yearClassification of debt

Loans (by source)
Commonwealth Government

Current

–              –              –              

Transfers 
to sinking 

funds

Interest 
applicable 

for year
Current

Non-
current

Total

Principal outstanding at 
beginning of the year (former 

Councils)



Special Schedules 2017

page 5

Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 3 – Water Supply Income Statement
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$’000

A Expenses and income
Expenses

1. Management expenses
a. Administration
b. Engineering and supervision

2. Operation and maintenance expenses
– dams and weirs
a. Operation expenses
b. Maintenance expenses

– Mains
c. Operation expenses
d. Maintenance expenses

– Reservoirs
e. Operation expenses
f.  Maintenance expenses

– Pumping stations
g. Operation expenses (excluding energy costs)
h. Energy costs
i.  Maintenance expenses

– Treatment
j.  Operation expenses (excluding chemical costs)
k. Chemical costs
l.  Maintenance expenses

– Other
m. Operation expenses
n.  Maintenance expenses
o.  Purchase of water

3. Depreciation expenses
a. System assets
b. Plant and equipment

4. Miscellaneous expenses
a. Interest expenses
b. Revaluation decrements
c. Other expenses
d. Impairment – system assets
e. Impairment – plant and equipment
f. Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program
g. Tax equivalents dividends (actually paid)

5. Total expenses 8,221               

Actuals 

332                  

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

–                      

519                  

15                    

1,586               

555                  

(43)                   

228                  

–                      

19                    

–                      

1                      
55                    

187                  

–                      
39                    

143                  

4,050               
13                    

2                      
372                  

8                      

–                      

–                      
140                  

–                      
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 3 – Water Supply Income Statement (continued)
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$’000

Income

6. Residential charges
a. Access (including rates)
b. Usage charges

7. Non-residential charges
a. Access (including rates)
b. Usage charges

8. Extra charges

9. Interest income

10. Other income
10a. Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program

11. Grants
a. Grants for acquisition of assets
b. Grants for pensioner rebates
c. Other grants

12. Contributions
a. Developer charges
b. Developer provided assets
c. Other contributions

13. Total income

14. Gain (or loss) on disposal of assets

15. Operating result

15a. Operating result (less grants for acquisition of assets)

19                    

3,744               
2,300               

Actuals 

(561)                 

268                  

77                    

(561)                 

–                      

135                  

7,660               

800                  

–                      

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

234                  

76                    

–                      

–                      

–                      

7                      
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 3 – Water Supply Income Statement (continued)
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$’000

B Capital transactions
Non-operating expenditures

16. Acquisition of fixed assets
a. New assets for improved standards
b. New assets for growth
c. Renewals
d. Plant and equipment

17. Repayment of debt

18. Totals

Non-operating funds employed

19. Proceeds from disposal of assets

20. Borrowing utilised

21. Totals

C Rates and charges

22. Number of assessments
a. Residential (occupied)
b. Residential (unoccupied, ie. vacant lot)
c. Non-residential (occupied)
d. Non-residential (unoccupied, ie. vacant lot)

23. Number of ETs for which developer charges were received

24. Total amount of pensioner rebates (actual dollars)

550                  
30                    

ET

39,509$           

–                      

Actuals 

–                      

–                      

–                      

108                  

424                  

1,288               

–                      

430                  

–                      

 13/5/16
 to 30/6/17 

6                      
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 4 – Water Supply Statement of Financial Position
 Includes internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 as at 30 June 2017

$’000

ASSETS
25. Cash and investments

a. Developer charges
b. Special purpose grants
c. Accrued leave
d. Unexpended loans
e. Sinking fund
f. Other

26. Receivables
a. Specific purpose grants
b. Rates and availability charges
c. User charges
d. Other

27. Inventories

28. Property, plant and equipment
a. System assets
b. Plant and equipment

29. Other assets

30. Total assets

LIABILITIES
31. Bank overdraft
32. Creditors

33. Borrowings

34. Provisions
a. Tax equivalents
b. Dividend
c. Other

35. Total liabilities

36. NET ASSETS COMMITTED

EQUITY
37. Accumulated surplus
38. Asset revaluation reserve
39. Other reserves

40. TOTAL EQUITY

Note to system assets:
41. Current replacement cost of system assets

42. Accumulated current cost depreciation of system assets
43. Written down current cost of system assets

Actuals 

Current 

–                      –                      

Actuals 

–                      –                      

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

Actuals 

Total 

–                      

–                      –                      

40,455             

8,852               

903                  
–                      

Non-current 

–                      

–                      

100                  

–                      

–                      

348                  

–                      

–                      

8,852               –                      

903                  

40,950             

–                      

–                      
–                      

–                      

10,621             

40,455             

–                      –                      
–                      –                      

–                      

–                      518                  

42,645             

40,455               

70,233               

(29,778)              

8,745               

51,390             

51,390             

181                  

81                    

518                  

348                  

–                      

–                      

51,571             

–                      

40,950             10,440             

–                      

–                      –                      –                      

–                      

81                    

–                      
–                      

–                      
–                      

–                      

495                  

–                      100                  

495                  

–                      

–                      
–                      

181                  
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 5 – Sewerage Service Income Statement
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$’000

A Expenses and income
Expenses

1. Management expenses
a. Administration
b. Engineering and supervision

2. Operation and maintenance expenses
– mains
a. Operation expenses
b. Maintenance expenses

– Pumping stations
c. Operation expenses (excluding energy costs)

d. Energy costs
e. Maintenance expenses

– Treatment
f. Operation expenses (excl. chemical, energy, effluent and biosolids management costs)

g. Chemical costs
h. Energy costs
i.  Effluent management
j.  Biosolids management
k. Maintenance expenses

– Other
l.    Operation expenses
m. Maintenance expenses

3. Depreciation expenses
a. System assets
b. Plant and equipment

4. Miscellaneous expenses
a. Interest expenses
b. Revaluation decrements
c. Other expenses
d. Impairment – system assets
e. Impairment – plant and equipment
f. Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program
g. Tax equivalents dividends (actually paid)

5. Total expenses

–                      
1                      

13                    

4                      

25                    
795                  

123                  

–                      

12,678             

–                      

330                  

707                  

–                      

–                      
–                      

46                    

216                  

16,818             

227                  
328                  

12                    
34                    

–                      

1,279               

Actuals 
 13/5/16

 to 30/6/17 

–                      
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 5 – Sewerage Service Income Statement (continued)
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$’000

Income

6. Residential charges (including rates)

7. Non-residential charges
a. Access (including rates)
b. Usage charges

8. Trade waste charges
a. Annual fees
b. Usage charges
c. Excess mass charges
d. Re-inspection fees

9. Extra charges

10. Interest income

11. Other income
11a. Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program

12. Grants
a. Grants for acquisition of assets
b. Grants for pensioner rebates
c. Other grants

13. Contributions
a. Developer charges
b. Developer provided assets
c. Other contributions

14. Total income

15. Gain (or loss) on disposal of assets

16. Operating result

16a. Operating result (less grants for acquisition of assets)

3,846               

Actuals 
 13/5/16

 to 30/6/17 

–                      

15                    
–                      

–                      

98                    
50                    

16                    

64                    
581                  

4,920               

–                      

73                    

(11,898)            

(12,479)            

–                      

173                  

3                      

1                      

–                      
–                      
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 5 – Sewerage Service Income Statement (continued)
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$’000

B Capital transactions
Non-operating expenditures

17. Acquisition of fixed assets
a. New assets for improved standards
b. New assets for growth
c. Renewals
d. Plant and equipment

18. Repayment of debt

19. Totals

Non-operating funds employed

20. Proceeds from disposal of assets

21. Borrowing utilised

22. Totals

C Rates and charges

23. Number of assessments
a. Residential (occupied)
b. Residential (unoccupied, ie. vacant lot)
c. Non-residential (occupied)
d. Non-residential (unoccupied, ie. vacant lot)

24. Number of ETs for which developer charges were received

25. Total amount of pensioner rebates (actual dollars)

849                  

13                    

–                      

–                      

28,520$           

–                      

152                  
65                    

–                      

–                      

Actuals 
 13/5/16

 to 30/6/17 

ET

13                    
–                      

–                      
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 6 – Sewerage Service Statement of Financial Position
 Includes internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 as at 30 June 2017

$’000

ASSETS
26. Cash and investments

a. Developer charges
b. Special purpose grants
c. Accrued leave
d. Unexpended loans
e. Sinking fund
f. Other

27. Receivables
a. Specific purpose grants
b. Rates and availability charges
c. User charges
d. Other

28. Inventories

29. Property, plant and equipment
a. System assets
b. Plant and equipment

30. Other assets

31. Total assets

LIABILITIES
32. Bank overdraft
33. Creditors

34. Borrowings

35. Provisions
a. Tax equivalents
b. Dividend
c. Other

36. Total liabilities

37. NET ASSETS COMMITTED

EQUITY
38. Accumulated surplus
39. Asset revaluation reserve
40. Other reserves

41. TOTAL EQUITY

Note to system assets:
42. Current replacement cost of system assets

43. Accumulated current cost depreciation of system assets
44. Written down current cost of system assets

7,696               

–                      

111                  

–                      
–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

161                  12,648             

50                    

–                      
–                      

37,231             

12,809             

50                    
–                      
–                      

–                      

–                      

31,700             

41,150               

69,275               

(28,125)              

5,531               

37,231             

29,535             

111                  

–                      

–                      

–                      

50,040             

41,150             

42,183             

85                    

12,648             

–                      

–                      

12,648             

–                      
–                      1,033               

41,150             

7,857               

–                      

1,033               

18                    
85                    –                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

985                  

352                  

–                      

–                      
985                  

–                      

–                      

18                    –                      

Actuals 

–                      
–                      –                      

–                      
–                      

Non-current Current 

6,417               –                      
–                      

–                      

–                      

Total 

Actuals 

–                      
–                      

–                      

6,417               

352                  

Actuals 
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Hilltops Council

Notes to Special Schedules 3 and 5
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

Administration (1) Engineering and supervision (1)

(item 1a of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprises the following: (item 1b of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprises the following:

•  Administration staff: • Engineering staff:
− Salaries and allowance − Salaries and allowance
− Travelling expenses − Travelling expenses
− Accrual of leave entitlements − Accrual of leave entitlements
− Employment overheads. − Employment overheads.

• Meter reading • Other technical and supervision staff:
− Salaries and allowance

• Bad and doubtful debts − Travelling expenses
− Accrual of leave entitlements

• Other administrative/corporate support services − Employment overheads.

Operational expenses   (item 2 of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprise the day to day operational expenses
excluding maintenance expenses.

Maintenance expenses   (item 2 of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprise the day to day repair and maintenance
expenses. (Refer to Section 5 of the Local Government Asset Accounting Manual regarding capitalisation
principles and the distinction between capital and maintenance expenditure).

Other expenses   (item 4c of Special Schedules 3 and 5) includes all expenses not recorded elsewhere.

Revaluation decrements   (item 4b of Special Schedules 3 and 5) is to be used when I,PP&E decreases in FV.

Impairment losses   (item 4d and 4e of Special Schedules 3 and 5) are to be used when the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount (refer to page D-31).

Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program   (item 4f of Special Schedules 3 and 5) is to be
used when operation and maintenance work has been undertaken on behalf of the Aboriginal Communities
Water and Sewerage Program. Similarly, income for item 11a of Special Schedule 3 and item 12a of Special
Schedule 5 are for services provided to the Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program and is not
part of Council’s water supply and sewerage revenue.

Residential charges   

(2) (items 6a, 6b and item 6 of Special Schedules 3 and 5 respectively) include all income
from residential charges. Item 6 of Schedule 3 should be separated into 6a access charges (including rates if
applicable) and 6b usage charges.

Non-residential charges   

(2) (items 7a, 7b of Special Schedules 3 and 5) include all income from non-residential
charges separated into 7a access charges (including rates if applicable) and 7b usage charges.

Trade waste charges   (item 8 of Special Schedule 5) include all income from trade waste charges separated
into 8a annual fees, 8b usage charges and 8c excess mass charges and 8d re-inspection fees.

Other income   (items 10 and 11 of Special Schedules 3 and 5 respectively) include all income not recorded
elsewhere.

Other contributions   (items 12c and 13c of Special Schedules 3 and 5 respectively) including capital contributions
for water supply or sewerage services received by Council under Section 565 of the Local Government Act .

Notes:
(1) Administration and engineering costs for the development of capital works projects should be reported as part of the
    capital cost of the project and not as part of the recurrent expenditure (ie. in item 16 for water supply and item 17 for
    sewerage, and not in items 1a and 1b).

(2) To enable accurate reporting of residential revenue from usage charges, it is essential for councils to accurately
    separate their residential (item 6) charges and non-residential (item 7) charges.
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets as at 30 June 2017
 as at 30 June 2017

$’000

Sewer Buildings 25                 11                 3                10              293               386               0% 0% 95% 5% 0%

Emergency Services 11                 –                   39              5                2,270            3,629            18% 49% 31% 2% 0%

Caravan Park –                   –                   3                29              417               686               23% 0% 77% 0% 0%

Aged Care Facilities –                   –                   –                –                725               1,456            100% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Medical Centre –                   –                   72              51              2,871            3,138            100% 0% 0% 0% 0%

125            

14%

66%

2%

10%

64              

20%

24.0%7,742            19.5%

2                

104            
93,437          15.9%

9.7%1,512            

596            

85              

4,403            

1,512            125            

Other

0%

0%2,782            1%

3%

14%

6%

0%

37%

21%

5

3%

Child Care

Buildings – Commercial

Library
Cultural Facilities

3

Buildings – non-specialised

0%

28.9%

104               1,537            12              

100%

–                   0%

42              36              
105            81              

1%

45%

17%

21%

10%

21%

4

12              

19%

7%

0%

5%

5,028            

46%

44%

9,593            1%

400               
1,683            

0%0%

16%

20%

28%

18,067          

18              26%27              

12              

44%

12%4,357            

39%

2.0%

10%

38%

41%

–                   

Other              

Sub-total
19%

4,883            
312               

–                   

18%

9%

70%

37%

17,735          43%

40              

Asset category

Public Halls 96              91              

Required Actual replacement

cost (GRC)maintenancea
to satisfactory

Estimated cost

agreed level of

service set by

Council

–                   
8                   

23                 
144               

–                   

541               

21

225               

40.0%

Other structures

Sub-total

Asset class

Administration

to bring assets

Estimated cost

2016/17to bring to the 2016/17 Gross

standard maintenance

18              

Works Depot

Sporting Facilities

Buildings

22% 10% 7%7,547            

4,509            
848               

1,461            

33%

10              

16,096          

842               
16              

43              

156            

28.9%

8,271            
2,396            

497               
44,529          

3,557            
176               

4,064            

24%

0%

607               

607               
–                   

3,733            
structures SWRWMG –                   1                –                195               100% 0% 0% 0% 0%

86              

100               
45                 
–                   

31                 
362               601            24.4%

260               

6.8%

Assets in condition as a percentage of gross 
replacement cost

Net carrying

amount

12,059          
2,537            
3,657            
1,718            
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets as at 30 June 2017 (continued)
 as at 30 June 2017

$’000

8% 20%1,927            
0% 0%

58%

14.8%

Water supply                    1,817            
3,232            

network
Sewerage                       

Reservoirsnetwork

Pump Stations

10%

11,991          0%

1,392         
1,955         

1.3%

0%14%

11%47,807          37%

22% 26%

100%

3%43%

8,686            7% 85%

6%

2%

0%

0% 0%86%

24,845          4% 29% 0%

4,100            
0%

484,859        

64%

7.0%31.9% 18.0%32.0%11.1%69,991          

4%

–                

7,981            

12              

5,332         

3,446            

–                

51              

475            

2,691         

125            

3%

26.0%

Pump Stations

Water Supply network

8                   

–                
58              

735            8,231            
26                 

Other
5,109         

518            

Street Furniture

Sub-total

99                 

20%24%

735            71              

Kerb & Gutter
Bulk earthworks

46              

Culverts

–                   

10                 
–                   

65                 

–                   
1,337            

Footpaths

Causeways
319               –                306            

–                

99                 

9%

283               
3,402            

109,552        
174,357        

2,461         
7% 1%

3%44%Roads

68%

3%

5%

15,491          

Sealed Roads Surface

21%

26%

8%

27%

67%

Road Pavement

20%

698               
564               

–                   

0%

Bridges

83,641          
120,125        
27,261          
5,266            
7,935            

95,290          
361               

325               
21%3%

43%

50%

33.1% 5.5%

1,295            0%

63              

45                 38,327          71              

21%

62%

13%

9,706            
2%

15%

25% 24%

34.0%

0%

8%3,792            

7%

6,578            

3,799            
13                 

Treatment Plant
Sewerage network

Other

2,450            

Sub-total

44              194               

2,385            
40,454          

23,422          

772               
357,191        

3,156            

646            
58              

509            3,221            27.0%

532               

239            
63% 0%19,059          

0%

10%

5%

772            

61              

41%

76                 
266               

1,585            

18                 
356            

0%

20%

369            

75%

4%

32%

0.2%

21              120            
40.4%41,150          65,891          

85              

5%

Sub-total
Reclaimed Water

0%

–                

–                   

71%

25%

5%

5%

1%

1%7,372            

0%

0%

51,729          

95,290          9% 23%

13,311          
3,229            

592               
1,616            
1,578            

–                   
–                   
–                   

724            

7                42              
79              24              

28,571          
4,598            
4,900            

17.7%

24%

1,225            

36%14% 42%

828               

856               
4,881            

Estimated cost Estimated cost
Assets in condition as a percentage of gross 

replacement costto bring assets to bring to the 2016/17 2016/17 Gross

to satisfactory agreed level of Required Actual Net carrying replacement

Asset class Asset category standard service set by maintenancea
maintenance amount cost (GRC) 1 2 3 4 5

Council
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets as at 30 June 2017 (continued)
 as at 30 June 2017

$’000

Notes:
a Required maintenance is the amount identified in Council’s asset management plans.

Infrastructure asset condition assessment ‘key’

Excellent No work required (normal maintenance)
Good Only minor maintenance work required
Average Maintenance work required
Poor Renewal required
Very poor Urgent renewal/upgrading required

55%

5

0%

replacement

16%

6%

drainage

5

204               

23                 

209            

Stormwater                              

maintenancea

62%

Gross

145               
18                 
23                 

163               24,489          

maintenance

ActualRequiredto satisfactory

standard

–                

Open space/                                   
21%recreational Other

11,800          

4,390            
6,278            

299               100%Other
186               

–                   –                –                   

Net carrying

amount

7%728               
–                5                –                   100%156               

28,400          Sub-total 34.1%

59              

–                   

Asset category

Storwater Pits

to bring to the

Council

Estimated cost

agreed level of

service set by 3cost (GRC)

425            96              

3%

12%

9,312            
1,628            

549               
147               
164               

0%

40              377            
3%

2016/17

0%

0%

61% 22%

14              

Swimming pools 1,092            
132               

292               

14%

2016/17

29%

21

34% 16%

30.9% 26.2% 9.4% 8.0%10,668          
–                   

0%

20%

292               

6.7% 3.3%55.9%

0%4%

18%

377            0.0%119            

4

assets Sub-total

8,070            31% 1%

to bring assets

Asset class

Pollutant Traps
Stormwater Headwalls

Stormwater drainage
2,728            

–                1                65%

1,224            634            186            18,098          25.5%

90              10,028          

18                 

Estimated cost

8,040         7,865         768,418        26.0% 30.2% 32.4% 6.6% 4.8%8,168            

Assets in condition as a percentage of gross 
replacement cost

4

3

2

1

509,525        TOTAL – ALL ASSETS 26,776          
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets (continued)
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$ ’000

Infrastructure asset performance indicators * 
consolidated

1. Infrastructure renewals ratio
Asset renewals (1)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

2. Infrastructure backlog ratio
Estimated cost to bring assets to a satisfactory standard
Net carrying amount of infrastructure assets

3. Asset maintenance ratio
Actual asset maintenance
Required asset maintenance

4. Cost to bring assets to agreed service level
Estimated cost to bring assets to an agreed service level set by Council
Gross replacement cost

Notes

* All asset performance indicators are calculated using the asset classes identified in the previous table.

(1) Asset renewals represent the replacement and/or refurbishment of existing assets to an equivalent 
                       capacity/performance  as opposed to the acquisition of new assets (or the refurbishment of old assets) that
        increases capacity/performance.

8,168        
768,418    

Indicator

26,776      
6.46%

414,295    

2017 2017

12,069      
78.57%

15,360      

Amounts

8,040        

1.06%

7,865        
0.98
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets (continued)
 for the period 13 May 2016 to 30 June 2017

$ ’000

Infrastructure asset performance indicators
by fund

1. Infrastructure renewals ratio
Asset renewals (2)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

2. Infrastructure backlog ratio
Estimated cost to bring assets to a satisfactory standard
Net carrying amount of infrastructure assets

3. Asset maintenance ratio
Actual asset maintenance
Required asset maintenance

4. Cost to bring assets to agreed service level
Estimated cost to bring assets to
an agreed service level set by Council
Gross replacement cost

Notes

(1) General fund refers to all of Council’s activities except for its water and sewer activities which are listed separately.

(2) Asset renewals represent the replacement and/or refurbishment of existing assets to an equivalent 
                       capacity/performance  as opposed to the acquisition of new assets (or the refurbishment of old assets) that
        increases capacity/performance.

47.14% 327.74% 57.25%

Water Sewer General (1)

2017 2017 2017

1.02 0.66 1.01

20.35% 7.83% 4.61%

5.43% 2.41% 0.44%
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 8 – Permissible Income Calculation
 for the year ended 30 June 2018

$’000

Notional general income calculation (1)

Last year notional general income yield
Plus or minus adjustments (2)

Notional general income

Permissible income calculation

Special variation percentage (3)

Or rate peg percentage
Or crown land adjustment (incl. rate peg percentage)

Less expiring special variation amount
Plus special variation amount

Or plus rate peg amount
Or plus Crown land adjustment and rate peg amount

Sub-total

Plus (or minus) last year’s carry forward total
Less valuation objections claimed in the previous year
Sub-total

Total permissible income

Less notional general income yield
Catch-up or (excess) result

Plus income lost due to valuation objections claimed (4)

Less unused catch-up (5)

Carry forward to next year

q = o – p

r

s

t = q + r – s

b

d

e

f

j = c x f

i = c x e

h = d x (c – g)

c = (a + b)

p 12,788             

a

(100)                 

Calculation

2017/18

–                      

(100)                 

–                      

l

m

n = (l + m)

o = k + n

g

k = (c + g + h + i + j)

–                      
33                    

12,688             

–                      
–                      

33                    

187                  
–                      

12,655             

1.50%
–                      

12,417             

 Total 

–                      

Calculation

2017/18

7,054               

Former Young 
Shire Council

51                    
12,468             

0.00%
1.50%
0.00%

–                      

52                    
7,106               

7,351               
(100)                 

38                    
–                      

38                    

7,251               

–                      
107                  

–                      
7,213               

(5)                     

–                      
–                      

43                    
–                      

2,909               

(5)                     

(18)                   
2,866               

Former Harden 
Shire Council

0.00%
1.50%
0.00%

–                      
(100)                 

–                      –                      
–                      

(3)                     

2,904               

2,907               
(3)                     

–                      

Calculation

2017/18

2,479               
17                    

2,496               

Former Boorowa 
Council

–                      
–                      

–                      

Calculation

2017/18

2,884               

–                      
3                      

2,533               

2,530               
3                      

0.00%
1.50%
0.00%

–                      
–                      

37                    
–                      

2,533               

–                      
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Hilltops Council

Special Schedule 8 – Permissible Income Calculation (continued)
 for the year ended 30 June 2018

$’000

Notes

(1) The notional general income will not reconcile with rate income in the financial statements in the corresponding year. The statements are reported on an accrual accounting basis

which include amounts that relate to prior years’ rates income.

(2) Adjustments account for changes in the number of assessments and any increase or decrease in land value occurring during the year. The adjustments are called

‘supplementary valuations’ as defined in the Valuation of Land Act 1916 .

(3) The ‘special variation percentage’ is inclusive of the rate peg percentage and where applicable Crown land adjustment.

(4) Valuation objections are unexpected changes in land values as a result of land owners successfully objecting to the land value issued by the Valuer-General. Councils can claim

the value of the income lost due to valuation objections in any single year.

(5) Unused catch-up amounts will be deducted if they are not caught up within 2 years. Usually councils will have a nominal carry forward figure. These amounts can be adjusted for

in setting the rates in a future year.

(6) Carry forward amounts which are in excess (an amount that exceeds the permissible income) require ministerial approval by order published in the NSW Government Gazette in

accordance with section 512 of the Local Government Act 1993. The OLG will extract these amounts from Council’s Special Schedule 8 in the financial data return (FDR) to

administer this process.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Special Schedule No. 8

Hilltops Council

To the Councillors of Hilltops Council

Opinion

I have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statement comprising the reconciliation of
total permissible general income (Special Schedule No. 8) of Hilltops Council (the Council) for the year
ending 30 June 2018.

In my opinion, Special Schedule No. 8 of Hilltops Council for 30 June 2018 is prepared, in all material
respects in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice
and Financial Reporting (LG Code) issued by the Office of Local Government (OLG), and is in
accordance with the books and records of the Council.

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report, and in particular the Emphasis of
Matter paragraph, which describes the basis of accounting.

Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Special Schedule No.8’

section of my report.

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the:

• Australian Auditing Standards

• ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110

‘Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants’ (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of New
South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an
Auditor-General

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of councils

• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting

Without modifying my opinion, I draw attention to the notes and explanations in Special Schedule
No. 8 that instruct councils in its preparation so it complies with OLG’s requirements as described in 

the LG Code. As a result, Special Schedule No. 8 may not be suitable for another purpose.
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Councillors’ Responsibility for Special Schedule No. 8  

The Councillors of the Council are responsible for the preparation of Special Schedule No. 8 in 
accordance with the LG Code. The Councillors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as the 
Councillors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Special Schedule No. 8 that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing Special Schedule No.8, the Councillors must assess the Council’s ability to continue as a 

going concern except where the Council will be dissolved or amalgamated by an Act of Parliament. 
The assessment must disclose, as applicable, matters related to going concern and the 
appropriateness of using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of Special Schedule No. 8 

My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance whether Special Schedule No. 8 as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on Special Schedule No.8. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of Special Schedule No.8 is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar8.pdf. 
The description forms part of my auditor’s report.  

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited Special Schedule 
No.8 on any website where they may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from Special Schedule No 8. 
 

 

 

 

Steven Martin 
Assistant Auditor-General, Financial Audit 
 
29 November 2017 
SYDNEY 
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18/20 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS AS AT 30 NOVEMBER 2017 
 

Reference:   File No. (B) 1.3.4   
Responsible Officer: Chief Financial Officer 
 
PURPOSE 

 
A monthly report detailing all Council investments in accordance with Clause 212 
of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 
 
REPORT 
 
A list of Council’s cash and investments as at 30 November 2017, and the source 
of the cash invested is detailed below. 
 
Institution S & P 

Rating 
Date 
Lodged 

Maturity 
Date 

Interest 
Rate Value 

Commonwealth Bank A-1+ 26-Sep-17 26-May-18 2.75%   1,000,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 28-Sep-17 30-Jan-18 2.53%      500,000  
Bank of Queensland  A-2 21-Jul-17 13-Feb-18 2.65%      800,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 24-May-17 20-Dec-17 2.52%      500,000  
ME Bank A-2 26-May-17 20-Feb-18 2.65%      500,000  
ME Bank A-2 26-May-17 25-May-18 2.70%      500,000  
Commonwealth Bank A-1+ 28-May-17 28-Apr-18 2.50%      500,000  
Newcastle PBS A-2 13-Jun-17 12-Jun-18 2.70%      250,000  
Bendigo Bank A-2 28-Jun-17 20-Dec-17 2.50%      250,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 11-Aug-17 11-Dec-17 2.44%      500,000  
ME Bank A-2 30-Aug-17 30-Jan-18 2.50%      500,000  
Commonwealth Bank A-1+ 30-Aug-17 30-Apr-18 2.70%   1,750,000  
Bendigo Bank A-2 31-Aug-17 28-Feb-18 2.50%      750,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 07-Sep-17 10-Jan-18 2.52%      500,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 07-Sep-17 07-Feb-18 2.52%      500,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 28-Sep-17 27-Mar-18 2.58%      250,000  
St George Bank A-1+ 19-Oct-17 19-Apr-18 2.61%   3,800,873  
ME Bank A-2 22-Nov-17 22-Mar-18 2.42%      500,000  
St George Bank A-1+ 21-Oct-17 21-Apr-18 2.55%   9,000,000  
Bananacoast C U   16-Nov-17 22-May-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
Auswide Bank Ltd A-3 13-Apr-17 18-Apr-18 2.80%   1,500,000  
MyState (*P-2 ) 06-Jun-17 06-Dec-17 2.70%   2,000,000  
MyState (*P-2 ) 01-Jun-17 01-Dec-17 2.70%   2,000,000  
SA Police Credit Union   29-Jun-17 25-Jan-18 2.75%   2,000,000  
ME Bank A-2 18-Oct-17 18-Jan-18 2.42%   2,000,000  
Beyond Bank A-2 12-Oct-17 11-Jan-18 2.40%   2,000,000  
AMP Bank A-1 13-Jul-17 13-Dec-17 2.60%   5,000,000  
MyState (*P-2 ) 06-Sep-17 06-Mar-18 2.55%   2,000,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 20-Sep-17 20-Sep-18 2.58%   2,000,000  
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MyState (*P-2 ) 10-Oct-17 10-Apr-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
St George Bank A-1+ 19-Oct-17 19-Apr-18 2.61%   3,800,873   

Total Term Deposits 
  

 1,151,747  
 
Bank and Cash Managed Fund 

   
 

Bendigo Bank   Ongoing          218,782  
Commonwealth   Ongoing          414,151  
NSW Treasury Corp   Ongoing              7,842  
NAB General Fund   Ongoing          125,166  
Commonwealth   Ongoing       1,717,398  
IMB at Call   Ongoing              5,000  
NAB At call   Ongoing              7,961  
Commonwealth on call   Ongoing       2,675,375   

Total Bank and Cash Management   5,171,675  
Total Cash and Investments 

  
56,323,422  

*- Moodys Rating  
 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

 
Council investments comply fully with section 625 of the Local Government Act, 
1993, Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 paragraph 212 and Council’s 
Investment Policy. 
 
Certified by Judy Jordan, Responsible Accounting Officer on the 14 December 
2017. 
 
POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Investment Policy was adopted by Hilltops Council on the 24 May 2016. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The actual interest income earned for the financial year is 59% of the budget. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that the Statement of cash and investments as at 30 November 
2017 be received. 
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18/21 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 
 

Reference:   File No. (B) 1.3.4   
Responsible Officer: Chief Financial Officer 
 

PURPOSE 
 

A monthly report detailing all Council investments in accordance with Clause 212 
of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 
 

REPORT 
 

A list of Council’s cash and investments as at 31 December 2017, and the source 
of the cash invested is detailed below: 
 

Institution S & P 
Rating 

Date 
Lodged 

Maturity 
Date 

Interest 
Rate 

Value 

Commonwealth Bank A-1+ 26-Sep-17 26-May-18 2.75%   1,000,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 28-Sep-17 30-Jan-18 2.53%     500,000  
Bank of Queensland  A-2 21-Jul-17 13-Feb-18 2.65%     800,000  
ME Bank A-2 26-May-17 20-Feb-18 2.65%     500,000  
ME Bank A-2 26-May-17 25-May-18 2.70%     500,000  
Commonwealth Bank A-1+ 28-May-17 28-Apr-18 2.50%     500,000  
Newcastle PBS A-2 13-Jun-17 12-Jun-18 2.70%     250,000  
ME Bank A-2 30-Aug-17 30-Jan-18 2.50%     500,000  
Commonwealth Bank A-1+ 30-Aug-17 30-Apr-18 2.70%  1,750,000  
Bendigo Bank A-2 31-Aug-17 28-Feb-18 2.50%      750,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 07-Sep-17 10-Jan-18 2.52%      500,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 07-Sep-17 07-Feb-18 2.52%      500,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 28-Sep-17 27-Mar-18 2.58%      250,000  
St George Bank A-1+ 19-Oct-17 19-Apr-18 2.61%   3,800,873  
ME Bank A-2 22-Nov-17 22-Mar-18 2.42%    500,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 11-Dec-17 11-Jul-18 2.51%  500,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 20-Dec-17 20-Jul-18 2.52%   500,000  
Bankwest A-1+ 22-Dec-17 16-May-18 2.55%      250,000  
Bankwest A-1+ 22-Dec-17 21-Jun-18 2.55%      500,000  
St George Bank A-1+ 21-Oct-17 21-Apr-18 2.55%   9,000,000  
Bananacoast C/ Union UR 16-Nov-17 22-May-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
Auswide Bank Ltd A-3 13-Apr-17 18-Apr-18 2.80%   1,500,000  
MyState A2/BBB 06-Dec-17 06-Jun-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
MyState A2/BBB 01-Dec-17 01-Jun-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
SA Police Credit Union UR 29-Jun-17 25-Jan-18 2.75%   2,000,000  
ME Bank A-2 18-Oct-17 18-Jan-18 2.42%   2,000,000  
Beyond Bank A-2 12-Oct-17 11-Jan-18 2.40%   2,000,000  
AMP Bank A-1 13-Dec-17 13-Mar-18 2.30%   5,000,000  
MyState A2/BBB 06-Sep-17 06-Mar-18 2.55%   2,000,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 20-Sep-17 20-Sep-18 2.58%   2,000,000  
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MyState A2/BBB 10-Oct-17 10-Apr-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
St George Bank A-1+ 19-Oct-17 19-Apr-18 2.61%   3,800,873   

Total Term Deposits 
  

51,651,747  
Bank and Cash Managed Fund 

    

Bendigo Bank   Ongoing            57,998  
Commonwealth   Ongoing              2,084  
NSW Treasury Corp   Ongoing              7,893  
NAB General Fund   Ongoing            53,917  
Commonwealth   Ongoing       1,183,828  
IMB at Call   Ongoing            5,000  
NAB At call   Ongoing              7,961  
Commonwealth on call   Ongoing       2,680,603   

Total Bank and Cash Management   3,999,283  
Total Cash and Investments 

  
55,651,030  

 

Councils portfolio compared favourably to the interbank overnight cash rate of 
1.5%, with all deposits returning at least 1.05% higher. 
 

Credit Quality Compliance 
The table below represent a visual picture of the risk rating of Councils portfolio.  

 
 

STATUTORY PROVISIONS 
 

 Council investments comply fully with section 625 of the Local Government 
Act, 1993, Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 paragraph 212 
and Council’s Investment Policy. 

 

Certified by Judy Jordan, Responsible Accounting Officer on the 14 February 2018. 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The Investment Policy was adopted by Hilltops Council on the 24 May 2016. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Council interest income budget is $977,206, income earned to date is $708,183.11 
(72%). A conservative increase of $220,000 will be included in the December QBR 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the Statement of cash and investments as at 31 December 
2017 be received. 



HILLTOPS COUNCIL ORDINARY MEETING AGENDA 

28 February 2018 

Held in the Hilltops Council, Boorowa Chamber, 6-8 Market Street, Boorowa 

69 
 
 

18/22 – QUARTERLY BUDGET REVIEW STATEMENT (QBRS) 
 

Reference:   File No. (B) 1.4.3    
Responsible Officer: Chief Financial Officer 
 

PURPOSE 
 

To present a summary of Council’s financial position at the end of each quarter, 
and to report on progress made against the original budget adopted by 
Council which can be found in the Operational Plan. 
 

REPORT 
 

Staff have conducted a review of the budget and have identified several items 
that should be adjusted to reflect current expectations. Several budget variations 
have been recommended, as detailed in the reports.  
 

The table below includes all changes from original budget to current budget 
review. 
 
 Estimate Net 

Operating result 
(‘000) 

Estimate result 
prior to Capital 
grants and 
Contributions 
(‘000) 

Estimate cash and 
investments 
(‘000) 

Original Budget $7,362 deficit $9,329 deficit $31,688 
Revote $7,463 deficit $9,480 deficit $22,471 
September QBR $7,071 deficit $9,408 deficit $23,015 
December QBR $5,598 deficit $9,173 deficit $21,924 

 
Council had several budgeted works not completed in 2016/2017 budget totalling 
$101k in operational works and $8,903 in capital works, these have been carried 
forward in the Revote column. Council will be further investigating the priorities 
around both the carry forwards and the planned works for this year with the 
potential that some works are deferred to future years, this will be included in the 
March quarterly budget reviews. 

Council interest on investment budget was a conservative figure which assumed 
that the amount of carryover expenditure would have occurred prior to this 
financial year, an increase of $210,000 reflects this increase of funds held. 
Additionally, Council in determining the budget received advice that the cost 
of street lighting would increase by 300%, this increase hasn’t been realised and 
as such Council has had a reduction in street lighting budget allocation for the 
year of $350,000.  

Other material variations to the estimated result have been included in the 
attachments. 
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STATUTORY PROVISIONS 
 
Clause 203(1) of the Local Government (General) Regulation requires that, not 
later than 2 months after the end of each quarter, excluding the June quarter, the 
responsible accounting officer must submit a budget review statement to Council.  
 
The format of the review must be consistent with the minimum requirements 
contained in the Quarterly Budget Review Statement Guidelines provided by the 
Division of Local Government. 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO INTEGRATED PLANS 
 
The quarterly budget review statement is a tool to monitor Council’s progress 
against the operational plan and the ongoing management of Council’s budget. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachment 1 - December quarterly budget review statement. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

1. That the December quarterly budget review be received and noted; and 
2. That the budget recommendations detailed within the December quarterly 

budget review be adopted. 
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I li[,l,tqps 
Report by Responsible Accounting Officer 

The following statement is made in accordance with Clause 203(2) of the Local Government (General) Regulations 2005: 

Quarterly Budget Review Statement 

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017 

It is my opinion that the quarterly budget review statement for Hilltops Council for the quarter ended 31 December 2017 indicates that Council's projected financial position as at 
30 June 2018 will be satisfactory, having regard to the projected estimates of income and expenditure and the original budgeted income and expenditure. 

, b~' -~1,('"(""'.)~ 
JGdy-dordarl 
Responsib) Accounting Officer 

Signed: 21 February 2018 
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Consolidated 
Operational 

Plan
Revised 
Budget Actual

Income & Expenses Budget Review 2018 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR
Mar 
QBR 2018 Notes 2018

Income from continuing operations
Rates and annual charges 20,537,324 - 23,699 - - 20,561,023 4,368 1 20,565,391 20,571,473 
User charges and fees 14,244,148 - - - - 14,244,148 (6,443) 2 14,237,705 6,223,897 
Interest and investment revenue 977,206 - - - - 977,206 210,000 1,187,206 498,501 
Other revenues 2,527,975 - (873) - - 2,527,102 19,154 3 2,546,256 1,216,961 
Grants and contributions provided for operating 
purposes 9,822,384 - 96,713 - - 9,919,097 156,283 4 10,075,380 3,237,979 
Grants and contributions provided for capital 
purposes 1,966,594 50,000 320,000 - - 2,336,594 1,238,747 5 3,575,341 957,276 
Net gain from the disposal of assets - - - - - - - - - 

Total Income 50,075,631 50,000 439,539 - - 50,565,170 1,622,109 52,187,279 32,706,087 

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs 17,601,706 - 8,223 - - 17,609,928 113,529 6 17,723,457 8,581,745 
Borrowing costs 1,028,535 - - - - 1,028,535 (74,208) 7 954,327 580,015 
Materials and contracts 19,448,850 151,000 111,318 - - 19,711,168 367,411 8 20,078,579 6,949,418 
Depreciation and amortisation 13,572,642 - - - - 13,572,642 - 13,572,642 - 
Other expenses 5,786,069 - (71,788) - - 5,714,281 (257,913) 9 5,456,368 2,462,844 
Net loss from the disposal of assets - - - - - - - - - 

Total Expenses 57,437,802 151,000 47,753 - - 57,636,554 148,819 57,785,373 18,574,022 

Net Operating Result (7,362,171) (101,000) 391,787 - - (7,071,384) 1,473,290 (5,598,094) 14,132,065 

Net operating result before grants and 
contributions provided for capital purposes (9,328,765) (151,000) 71,787 - - (9,407,978) 234,543 (9,173,435) 13,174,789 

Approved Changes

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected year 
end result
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Community
Operational 

Plan
Revised 
Budget Actual

Income & Expenses Budget 2018 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR
Mar 
QBR 2018 Notes 2018

Income
Community Services 11,369 - 1,127 - - 12,496 1,425 13,921 4,277 
Emergency Management 370,143 50,000 - - - 420,143 - 420,143 268,085 
Airports 1,120 - - - - 1,120 - 1,120 1,011 
Community Centres 57,237 - - - - 57,237 - 57,237 26,183 
Library Services 130,652 - - - - 130,652 - 130,652 12,301 
Parks and Gardens, Playground
Public Cemeteries 292,105 - - - - 292,105 - 292,105 126,962 
Public Toilets
Sporting Facilities 104,083 - - - - 104,083 712,427 816,510 59,776 
Swimming Pool 103,120 - - - - 103,120 - 103,120 47,428 

Total income 1,069,829 50,000 1,127 - - 1,120,956 713,852 - 1,834,808 546,023 

Expenditure
Community Services 302,436 - 41 - - 302,477 3,107 305,584 36,224 
Emergency Management 1,130,764 - 1 - - 1,130,766 - 1,130,766 464,500 
Airports 56,488 - - - - 56,488 - 56,488 21,796 
Community Centres 557,986 - 114 - - 558,100 (3,482) 554,618 103,378 
Library Services 708,292 - - - - 708,292 - 708,292 216,596 
Parks and Gardens, Playground 696,402 - - - - 696,402 - 696,402 333,839 
Public Cemeteries 530,011 - - - - 530,011 3,000 533,011 239,747 
Public Toilets 397,990 - - - - 397,990 13,696 411,686 130,683 
Sporting Facilities 1,578,921 - - - - 1,578,921 37,633 1,616,554 524,208 
Swimming Pool 921,790 - 16,675 - - 938,465 38,975 977,440 372,639 

Total expenses 6,881,080 - 16,831 - - 6,897,912 92,929 6,990,841 2,443,610 

Net operating result (5,811,251) 50,000 (15,704) - - (5,776,956) 620,923 (5,156,033) (1,897,587) 

Approved Changes

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected year 
end result
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Economic
Operational 

Plan
Revised 
Budget Actual

Income & Expenses Budget Review 2018 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR
Mar 
QBR 2018 Notes 2018

Income
Caravan Park 184,726 - - - - 184,726 - 184,726 116,698 
Other Business Undertakings 2,722,644 - - - - 2,722,644 10,894 2,733,538 917,236 
Commercial Real Estate 375,257 - - - - 375,257 (9,100) 366,157 190,454 
Economic Development And Tourism 214,797 - (2,000) - - 212,797 - 212,797 99,837 
Total Income 3,497,424 - (2,000) - - 3,495,424 1,794 3,497,218 1,324,225 

Expenditure
Caravan Park 193,294 - 282 - - 193,576 1,500 195,076 73,818 
Other Business Undertakings 2,416,683 - 644 - - 2,417,327 - 2,417,327 1,300,858 
Commercial Real Estate 402,792 - 3,333 - - 406,125 - 406,125 131,778 
Economic Development And Tourism 1,163,438 15,000 8,063 - - 1,186,501 25,635 1,212,136 545,651 
Total expenses 4,176,207 15,000 12,322 - - 4,203,529 27,135 4,230,664 2,052,105 

Net operating result (678,783) (15,000) (14,322) - - (708,105) (25,341) - (733,446) (727,880) 

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected year 
end result

Approved Changes
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Environmental
Operational 

Plan
Revised 
Budget Actual

Income & Expenses Budget Review 2018 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR
Mar 
QBR 2018 Notes 2018

Income
Urban Drainage / Flood Mitigation 113,507 - 1,039 - - 114,546 27 114,573 115,298 
Waste Management 3,393,338 - 29,027 - - 3,422,365 (24,182) 3,398,183 2,978,968 
Regional Waste Group 2,021,124 - - - - 2,021,124 - 2,021,124 266,835 
Environment - - - - - - - - 203,880 
Building Control 260,338 - - - - 260,338 - 260,338 163,307 
Development Control 730,557 - - - - 730,557 80,097 810,654 413,097 
Animal Control 38,107 - - - - 38,107 - 38,107 21,955 
Environmental Health 127,768 - - - - 127,768 (450) 127,318 32,051 
Regulatory And Ranger 20,800 - - - - 20,800 - 20,800 19,092 

Total Income 6,705,538 - 30,066 - - 6,735,604 55,492 - 6,791,096 4,214,483 

Expenditure
Urban Drainage / Flood Mitigation 533,084 - - - - 533,084 - 533,084 31,864 
Waste Management 3,746,426 - 18,117 - - 3,764,543 104,252 3,868,795 1,312,793 
Regional Waste Group 1,755,073 - - - - 1,755,073 - 1,755,073 229,659 
Environment 427,118 - - - - 427,118 7,594 434,712 403,888 
Building Control 341,483 - - - - 341,483 22,269 363,752 148,072 
Development Control 1,406,920 - - - - 1,406,920 92,602 1,499,522 384,263 
Animal Control 297,487 - - - - 297,487 (2,785) 294,702 99,681 
Environmental Health 541,238 - - - - 541,238 - 541,238 240,317 
Regulatory And Ranger 29,632 - - - - 29,632 - 29,632 9,553 

Total expenses 9,078,460 - 18,117 - - 9,096,577 223,932 - 9,320,509 2,860,090 

Net operating result (2,372,922) - 11,949 - - (2,360,973) (168,440) - (2,529,413) 1,354,393 

Approved Changes

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected year 
end result
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Governance and Leadership
Operational 

Plan
Revised 
Budget Actual

Income & Expenses Budget Review 2018 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR
Mar 
QBR 2018 Notes 2018

Income
Civic leadership - - - - - - - - - - 
General purpose revenue 15,376,770 - 58,222 - - 15,434,992 215,952 15,650,944 14,246,936 
Management and accountability 88,068 - - - - 88,068 (9,323) 78,745 65,522 
Corporate support 234,913 - - - - 234,913 (9,500) 225,413 100,244 
Technical services 33,836 - - - - 33,836 - 33,836 15,474 
Total income 15,733,587 - 58,222 - - 15,791,809 197,129 15,988,938 14,428,176 

Expenditure
Civic leadership 3,918,015 - 4,618 - - 3,942,066 18,458 3,960,524 894,143 
General purpose revenue
Management and accountability 1,412,563 - (47,246) - - 1,345,884 (136,716) 1,209,168 615,650 
Corporate support 4,604,680 - 17,002 - - 4,621,682 144,705 4,763,845 2,565,498 
Technical services 614,017 136,000 47,731 - - 797,748 36,339 834,087 788,553 
Total expenses 10,549,275 136,000 22,105 - - 10,707,380 62,786 10,767,624 4,863,844 

Net operating result 5,184,312 (136,000) 36,117 - - 5,084,429 134,343 - 5,221,314 9,564,332 

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected year 
end result

Approved Changes

Quarterly Budget Review Page 6



Quarterly Budget Review Statement Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017 for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Infrastructure
Operational 

Plan
Revised 
Budget Actual

Income & Expenses Budget Review 2018 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR
Mar 
QBR 2018 Notes 2018

Income
Roads 9,258,591 - 359,087 - - 9,617,678 504,937 10,122,615 2,268,239 
Water 7,631,944 - (16,534) - - 7,615,410 123,437 7,738,847 4,846,489 
Sewer 4,262,158 - 9,571 - - 4,271,729 7,468 4,279,197 4,075,751 
Plant management 1,916,559 - - - - 1,916,559 18,000 1,934,559 1,002,701 
Total income 23,069,252 - 352,124 - - 23,421,376 653,842 24,075,218 12,193,180 

Expenditure
Roads 13,779,805 - 18,454 - - 13,798,259 (298,572) 13,499,687 3,391,969 
Water 7,793,134 - (4) - - 7,793,130 64,900 7,858,030 2,189,971 
Sewer 3,993,919 - (5,914) - - 3,988,005 (24,291) 3,963,714 1,070,830 
Plant management 1,185,921 - (34,159) - - 1,151,762 - 1,151,762 (298,397) 
Total expenses 26,752,779 - (21,623) - - 26,731,156 (257,963) 26,473,193 6,354,373 

Net operating result (3,683,527) - 373,747 - - (3,309,780) 911,805 (2,397,975) 5,838,807 

Approved Changes

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected year 
end result
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Income & Expenses Budget Review
Budget variations being recommended include the following material items:

Notes Details
1 4,368     Rates and Annual Charges

172 Stormwater
4,103 Domestic Waste

93 other Small adjustment

2 (6,443) User Fees and Charges
10,894 Saleyard fees - Includes 2016/2017 Fees 
(9,100) Dwelling Rent - Dwelling untenanted for a period

(27,500) Domestic Waste Charges - Over estimate of income
18,000 Staff Vehicle Lease backs 

1,263 Private Works water Fund
3 210,000 Interest and investment revenue

210,000   Increase in investment due to higher than anticipated funds

4 19,154 Other revenues
28,927 Insurance Claim income for Shade structures in Boorowa
(9,323) Rebates and Incentive Insurances - Lower than anticipated

(450) Other small adjustments 

5 156,283 Grants and Contributions for Operating purposes
1,425 Youth week grant Received

40,097 Grant - Flood Study Boorowa
(9,500) Employment Scheme - Overestimate

124,261 Office of Water Grant - IWCM

6 1,238,747 Grants and Contributions for Capital purposes
272,040 Fixing Country Roads program extension granted for increase in scope 
232,897 HVSPP program extension granted for increase in scope 
715,000 Showground Boorowa Grants and Capital Contributions 
(25,000) Roberts park project Gym Equipment project - 

(6,500) Grant income Recreation facilities that did not progress
40,000 Developer Contribution greater than anticipated
10,310 Sewer - Contributions greater than anticipated
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Income & Expenses Budget Review
Budget variations being recommended include the following material items:

Notes Details

7 113,529 Employee benefits and on-costs
20,000 Pool Lifesaver wages - reflects changes in operating model (incl extended hours Boorowa)
12,392 Wages associated with increase costs for maintenance at Swimming Pools.
50,000 Transfer Station wages - underestimate
(7,295) Training budget diverted to WHS expenses
15,000 Payroll Tax - Underestimate
13,506 Additional Road maintenance Costs

9,926 Administration changes across a wide range of functional areas

8 (74,208) Borrowing Costs
(74,208) Correction of split from Interest to Principal

9 401,231 Materials and contracts
8,000 Christmas Decorations Council resolution 17/324
6,583 Swimming pools - materials and contracts higher than anticipated

50,000 Business Case Goldenfields Connection to Boorowa
6,000 WHS equipment funded from Savings in training

40,097 Flood Plan costs finalisation Boorowa
21,000 Additional safety maintenance costs bitumen tanks
33,820 Insurance claim expenses shade structures Boorowa
50,000 Waste management Strategy
20,332 Economic Development Strategy and Business surveys
40,000 Contract staff to assist with Development Applications and Building

7,594 Emissions reporting software
(5,202) Animal Control master Plan - project deferred
2,500 Water consumption greater than anticipated for in community facilities

31,514 Additional Road maintenance Costs
36,200 Contributions Plan review S94
29,540 Heavy Vehicle Route Study
23,253 Minor changes across a broad range of functional areas
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Income & Expenses Budget Review
Budget variations being recommended include the following material items:

Notes Details
10 (291,733) Other expenses

(19,750) Insurance
13,696 Village Maintenance contributions - not paid in 16/17
(7,417) Savings on office cost for Economic development 
20,000 Audit costs - reflects difficulties across three finance systems

(15,000) Bank charges - reflects savings on costs 
25,000 Civica Software Mtce - increase in fee for aging Fujitsu 2000+ software
20,000 Civica Software Mtce - increase in due to upgrade of Authority Product

134,400 Information Technology Support - Reflects costs of service contract as per Council report of 9 August 2017
(75,314) Information Technology systems - savings used to find support contract

(350,000) Street Lighting - Over estimate of costs based on assumed price hike
(37,348) Administration costs savings identified across many functional areas
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Actual
Original 
Budget

Revised 
Budget

Budget Balance Sheet 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-18 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR Mar QBR 30-Jun-18

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 54,994,803 31,688,904 (9,217,538) 544,087 - - 23,015,453 (1,091,303) 21,924,150 
Receivables 9,532,279 9,532,278.89 - - - - 9,532,279 - 9,532,279 
Inventories 725,713 725,713 725,713 - 725,713 
Other 73,098 73,098 - - - - 73,098 - 73,098 

- 
Total Current Assets 65,325,893 42,019,995 (9,217,538) 544,087 - - 33,346,544 (1,091,303) 32,255,241 

Non-Current Assets
Receivables - - - - - - - - - 
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 539,522,792 554,953,049 9,116,538 (152,300) - - 563,917,287 1,737,952 565,655,239 

Total Non-Current Assets 539,522,792 554,953,049 9,116,538 (152,300) - - 563,917,287 1,737,952 565,655,239 
Total Assets 604,848,686 596,973,044 (101,000) 391,787 - - 597,263,831 646,649 597,910,480 

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Payables 3,932,597 3,982,343 - - - - 3,982,343 - 3,982,343 
Borrowings - - - - - - - - 
Provisions - - - - - - - - - 

Total Current Liabilities 3,932,597 3,982,343 - - - - 3,982,343 - 3,982,343 

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 18,992,978 18,330,469 - - - - 18,330,469 826,641 19,157,110 
Provisions 13,473,155 13,572,447 - - - - 13,572,447 - 13,572,447 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 32,466,133 31,902,916 - - - - 31,902,916 826,641 32,729,557 
Total Liabilities 36,398,730 35,885,259 - - - - 35,885,259 826,641 36,711,900 

Net Assets 568,449,956 561,087,785   (101,000)      391,787       -                   -                   561,378,572  (179,992)      561,198,580  

Equity
Retained Earnings 568,449,956 561,087,785 561,378,572 - 562,851,862 
Revaluation Reserves - - - - 

Total Equity 568,449,956 561,087,785 - - - - 561,378,572 - 562,851,862 

Approved Changes

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected 
year end 

result
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

0

3 18 10 11 12 13 14

Delivery 
Plan

Revised 
Budget

Actual 
YTD

Capital Budget Review Statement 2018 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR Mar QBR 2018 Notes 2018

Capital expenditure - by class
capex1 Plant and equipment 3,833,271 514,116 - - - 4,347,387 67,000 1 4,414,387 1,820,639 

capex2 Office equipment 75,901 39,700 - - - 115,601 23,221 2 138,822 52,729 
capex3 Buildings 294,900 3,195,160 (11,700) - - 3,478,360 871,500 3 4,349,860 834,653 
capex8  Other structures 430,597 1,944,390 - - - 2,374,987 15,982 4 2,390,969 338,067 
capex4  Roads, bridges and footpaths 8,769,134 1,790,812 320,000 - - 10,879,946 710,249 5 11,590,195 3,969,533 

capex5 Water supply network 1,337,852 1,595,300 (469,600) - - 2,463,552 - 2,463,552 492,126 
capex6 Sewerage network 1,053,190 170,200 9,000 - - 1,232,390 - 1,232,390 47,448 
capex7 Other assets 206,258 14,860 - - - 221,118 - 221,118 128,633 

Stronger Regions Funding 14,128,995 - - - - 14,128,995 50,000 6 14,178,995 754,476 
Total 30,130,098 9,264,538 (152,300) - - 39,242,336 1,737,952 40,980,288 8,438,304 

Capital expenditure - by type
new New 1,736,028 1,815,452 36,000 - - 3,587,480 (51,558) 3,535,922 411,756 
upg Upgrade 14,588,995 1,245,910 - - - 15,834,905 50,000 15,884,905 1,395,497 

ren Renewal 13,805,076 6,203,176 (188,300) - - 19,819,952 1,739,510 21,559,462 4,829,042 

Total 30,130,098 9,264,538 (152,300) - - 39,242,336 1,737,952 40,980,288 6,636,295 

Capital funding
f1 Rates and other untied funding 4,269,121 2,469,020 (11,700) - - 6,726,441 133,324 6,859,765 1,412,697 

f2 Capital grants and contributions 18,959,367 320,022 320,000 - - 19,599,389 760,249 20,359,638 3,438,320 

f3 Externally restricted reserves 4,321,713 4,087,900 (460,600) - - 7,949,013 900,000 8,849,013 1,040,700 

f4 Internally restricted reserves 3,807,097 2,535,596 - - - 6,342,693 73,743 6,416,436 2,546,587 

c12 Income from sale of land (100,000) - - - - (100,000) (196,364) (296,364) - 
c10 Income from sale of plant and equipment (1,127,200) (148,000) - - - (1,275,200) - (1,275,200) - 

Total 30,130,098 9,264,538 (152,300) - 39,242,336 1,670,952 40,913,288 8,438,304 

Approved Changes

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected year 
end result
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0 Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Capital Budget Review
Budget variations being recommended include the following material items:
Notes Details

1 67,000 Plant & Equipment
67,000 Replacement of ATV's and sprayer units - Noxious Weeds

2 23,221 Office Equipment
2,460 Councillors IPAD - costs higher than anticipated

20,761 Council meeting Web streaming Equipment
3 871,500 Buildings

16,500 Improvement at Kruger medical Centre - Part funded from Contribution
900,000 Boorowa Showground Development 
-45,000 Solar project to be combined with Stronger Council project

4 15,982 Other structures
-25,000 Roberts park Project - Works completed by trust. See also reduction in Capital Grants income
15,982 Cemetery Investigations funded from unexpended grants
25,000 Rotaract park - Correction of allocation including uncompleted reserve funds

5 710,249 Roads, bridges and footpaths
504,937 Murringo Rd projects funded from Fixing Country Roads and HVSPP grants
320,332 Lirs Funded Lovell Street/ Whiteman Avenue works
-45,020 Regional Roads Bitumen funds reallocated to Pavement maintenance
-70,000 Regional Roads Bitumen funds reallocated Stronger Regions Projects and $20k to shoulder repairs

6 50,000 Stronger Regions Funding
50,000 Boorowa Roadworks - Funds reallocated from Regional Roads

-7,000 trinity Centre Refurbishment 
7,000 Reallocation of the above money to garage for Flexicare as per Council minute

-897,000 Harden Sports Fields
250,000 Roberts park
350,000 Tennis Courts
180,000 Racecourse
114,000 Mcleans Oval

3,000 Tim Doolan Oval
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Original Budget
Revised 
Budget

Budget Cash-Flow Statement 2018 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR Mar QBR 2018
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts:

Rates and annual charges 20,537,324 - 23,699 - - 20,561,023 4,368 20,565,391 
User charges and fees 14,244,148 - - - - 14,244,148 (6,443) 14,237,705 
Investment and interest revenue received 977,206 - - - - 977,206 210,000 1,187,206 
Grants and Contributions 11,788,978 50,000 416,713 - - 12,255,691 1,395,030 13,650,721 
Other 2,527,975 - (873) - - 2,527,102 19,154 2,546,256 
Payments: - - - - - - - - 
Employee benefits and on-costs (17,502,414) - (8,223) - - (17,510,636) (113,529) (17,624,165) 
Materials and contracts (19,448,850) (151,000) (111,318) - - (19,711,168) (367,411) (20,078,579) 
Borrowing costs (978,789) - - - - (978,789) 74,208 (904,581) 
Other (5,786,069) - 71,788 - - (5,714,281) 257,913 (5,456,368) 

- 
Net cash provided (or used in) operating activities 6,359,509 (101,000) 391,787 - - 6,650,296 1,473,290 8,123,586 

Cash flows from investing activities

Receipts: - 
Sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 1,127,200 148,000 - - - 1,275,200 - 1,275,200 
Deferred debtors receipts - - - - - - - - 
Payments: - - - - - - - - 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (30,130,098) (9,264,538) 152,300 - - (39,242,336) (1,737,952) (40,980,288) 

Net cash provided (or used in) investing activities (29,002,898) (9,116,538) 152,300 - - (37,967,136) (1,737,952) (39,705,088) 

Cash flows from financing activities

Receipts:

New loans

Payments:

Repayment of borrowings and advances (662,509) - - - - (662,509) (826,641) (1,489,150) 

Net cash provided (or used in) investing activities (662,509) - - - - (662,509) (826,641) (1,489,150) 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash (23,305,899) (9,217,538) 544,087 - - (31,979,350) (1,091,303) (33,070,653) 
Cash at the beginning of the year 54,994,803 31,688,904 22,471,366 23,015,453 23,015,453 54,994,803 54,994,803 
Cash at the end of the year 31,688,904 22,471,366 23,015,453 23,015,453 23,015,453 23,015,453 21,924,150 

Approved Changes

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected 
year end 

result
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Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Actual
Original 
Budget

Revised 
Budget

Cash & Investments 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-18 Revotes Sept QBR Dec QBR Mar QBR 30-Jun-17 Notes

Externally restricted cash & investments
Section 94A Contributions 1,217,870 1,188,457 - - - - 1,188,457 40,000 1 1,228,457 
Developer Contributions - Water 710,433 787,227 - - - - 787,227 - 787,227 
Developer Contributions - Sewer 25,144 48,841 - - - - 48,841 8,976 1 57,817 
Specific Purpose Unexpended Grants & 
Contributions 1,558,809 1,558,809 (296,250) - - - 1,262,559 (517,666) 2 744,893 
Unexpended Loan Funds 721,061 721,061 (459,900) - - - 261,161 (239,752) 3 21,409 
Water Supplies 8,659,727 8,477,736 (1,595,300) 453,070 - - 7,335,506 58,537 4 7,394,043 
Sewerage Scheme 7,377,111 7,083,817 (175,200) 6,485 - - 6,915,102 (4,269) 4 6,910,833 
Domestic Waste Management 151,412 365,669 (30,000) 53,678 - - 389,347 (41,432) 4 347,915 
Waste Transfer Station 236,542 236,542 - - - - 236,542 (236,542) 5 - 
Stormwater infrastructure renewal 125,887 125,887 - - - - 125,887 - 125,887 
Regional Waste Group 2,326,352 2,709,909 - - - - 2,709,909 - 2,709,909 
Regional Fire Zone 11,084 11,084 - - - - 11,084 298 11,382 
Other Externally restrictions 786,935 786,935 - - - - 786,935 - 786,935 
Total externally restricted 23,908,367 24,101,974 (2,556,650) 513,233 - - 22,058,557 (931,850) 21,126,707 

- 
Internally restricted cash & investmentsInternally restricted cash & investments
Plant Replacement 701,307 240,220 - 34,159 - - 274,379 (94,454) 6 179,925 
Incomplete Works Reserve 1,122,289 1,122,289 (196,200) - - - 926,089 (302,851) 7 623,238 
Infrastructure replacement 2,137,205 1,879,527 (1,201,000) - - - 678,527 - 678,527 
Stronger Community Funds 14,117,949 - - - - - - - - 
Implementation Funding 3,255,000 - - - - - - - - 
Waste Reserve 840,547 840,547 - - - - 840,547 - 840,547 
Employee Leave Entitlements 3,178,278 3,178,278 - - - - 3,178,278 - 3,178,278 
Quarries & Pit Restoration 551,408 569,424 - - - - 569,424 - 569,424 
Other internal Reserves 4,442,508 673,391 (510,060) - - - 163,331 16,848 10 180,179 

Total internally restricted 30,346,491 8,503,676 (1,907,260) 34,159 - - 6,630,575 (380,457) 6,250,118 

Unrestricted cash & investments 739,944 (916,746) (5,673,679) 221,004 (5,452,675) 

Total cash & investments 54,994,803 31,688,904 (4,463,910) 547,392 - - 23,015,453 (1,091,303) 21,924,150 

Approved Changes

Recommended 

changes for 
Council 

resolution

Projected 
year end 

result
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Boorowa Council Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Cash and Investments Budget Review

Budget variations being recommended include the following material items:

Notes Details

1 48,976 Developer Contributions Higher than anticipated contributions

2 (0) Specific Purpose Unexpended 
Grants & Contributions

Funds provided in previous years for operational and capital projects

(3,746) Operational Costs -Victoria street revegetation works
(27,232) Country Passenger grant

(201,688) Transfer Station Grant Boorowa 
(285,000) Showground Development Boorowa

3 (320,332) Unexpended Loan Funds LIRS funding for Road improvements in Young Area
80,580 Correction of Sportsground funding from LIRS

4 12,836 Water, Sewer and Domestic 
Waste Funds

Reflects changes in funding required for the maintenance and improvements of water, Sewer and Domestic 
Waste areas

 
5 (236,542) Transfer Station Funds Funds allocated in previous years for Transfer station in Boorowa released for Boorowa transfer station project
 

6 18,000 Plant Reserve Additional Lease contributions
 (112,454) Depot works Young area

7 (141,276) Uncompleted Works Reserves Release of funds were revoted projects funded from revenue 
(25,000) Reallocation to Childcare and Preschool - to complete works associated with trade waste requirements
(15,982) Funds put aside for Cemetery investigation works in Young
(36,200) Funds put aside for Town Planning S94 contribution plan
(28,995) Funds put aside for LEP Heavy Vehicle Consultant
(55,398) Release of funds held for medical Health hub
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Boorowa Council Quarterly Budget Review Statement

for the quarter ended 31 December 2017

Part A - Contracts Listing (contracts entered in to during the quarter)

Contract detail and purpose Contract value Start date
Duration of 

contract
Budgeted 

(Y/N)

Council is required to report on Contracts entered in to within the quarter under review for contracts over $50,000. Contracts to be listed are those entered in to during the
quarter that have yet to be fully performed, excluding contractors that are on Council's Preferred supplier list. Contracts for employment are not required to be included.

Part B - Consultancy and Legal Expenses

Expenditure YTD Budgeted Notes

Consultacies
UPSS Assessment/Testing/Monitoring Y
Information technology 19,804 Y
Internal auditor 5,871 Y
Town planning 16,015 Y
Heritage Advosir 14,454 Y
Design & Drafting 10,330 Y
Water Security 7,722 Y
Intergrated Water Cycle Management System 66,612 Y
Health & Building inspections relief 29,662 Y
Financial Accounting Services 14,960 Y
Ground Water Monitoring (Lamdfill Sites) 4,180 Y
Migration Study (Blackard Gully) 3,636 Y

 Groundwater Vulnerability - Y

Legal fees
Contract Revision Service 31,426 Y
Town planning 14,908 Y
Debt collection (recoverable legal fees) 33,519 Y
Other 5,658 Y

A consultant is a person or organisation engaged under contract on a temporary basis to provide recommendations or high level specialist or professional advice to
decision-making by management. Generally it is the advisory nature of the work that differentiates a consultant from other contractors.

Contractor

Expense

Definition of a consultant:

Notes
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18/23 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS AS AT 31 JANUARY 2018 
 

Reference:   File No. (B)1.3.4   
Responsible Officer: Chief Financial Officer 
 

PURPOSE 
 

A monthly report detailing all Council investments in accordance with Clause 212 
of the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005. 
 

REPORT 
 

A list of Council’s cash and investments as at 31 January 2018, and the source of 
the cash invested is detailed below. 
 

Institution S & P 
Rating 

Date 
Lodged 

Maturity 
Date 

Interest 
Rate 

Value 

Commonwealth Bank A-1+ 26-Sep-17 26-May-18 2.75%   1,000,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 31-Jan-18 10-May-18 2.46%      500,000  
Bank of Queensland  A-2 21-Jul-17 13-Feb-18 2.65%      800,000  
ME Bank A-2 26-May-17 20-Feb-18 2.65%      500,000  
ME Bank A-2 26-May-17 25-May-18 2.70%      500,000  
Commonwealth Bank A-1+ 28-May-17 28-Apr-18 2.50%      500,000  
Newcastle PBS A-2 13-Jun-17 12-Jun-18 2.70%      250,000  
Commonwealth Bank A-1+ 30-Aug-17 30-Apr-18 2.70%   1,750,000  
Bendigo Bank A-2 31-Aug-17 28-Feb-18 2.50%      750,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 07-Sep-17 07-Feb-18 2.52%      500,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 28-Sep-17 27-Mar-18 2.58%      250,000  
St George Bank A-1+ 19-Oct-17 19-Apr-18 2.61%   3,800,873  
ME Bank A-2 22-Nov-17 22-Mar-18 2.42%      500,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 11-Dec-17 11-Jul-18 2.51%      500,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 20-Dec-17 20-Jul-18 2.52%      500,000  
Bankwest A-1+ 22-Dec-17 16-May-18 2.55%      250,000  
Bankwest A-1+ 22-Dec-17 21-Jun-18 2.55%      500,000  
ME Bank A-2 30-Jan-18 26-Jul-18 2.60%      500,000  
St George Bank A-1+ 21-Oct-17 21-Apr-18 2.55%   9,000,000  
Bananacoast C/Union NR 16-Nov-17 22-May-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
Auswide Bank Ltd A-3 13-Apr-17 18-Apr-18 2.80%   1,500,000  
MyState A2/BBB 06-Dec-17 06-Jun-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
MyState A2/BBB 01-Dec-17 01-Jun-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
AMP Bank A-1 13-Dec-17 13-Mar-18 2.30%   5,000,000  
MyState A2/BBB 06-Sep-17 06-Mar-18 2.55%   2,000,000  
National Australia Bank  A-1+ 20-Sep-17 20-Sep-18 2.58%   2,000,000  
MyState A2/BBB 10-Oct-17 10-Apr-18 2.60%   2,000,000  
St George Bank A-1+ 19-Oct-17 19-Apr-18 2.61%   3,800,873  
Police Credit Union NR 09-Jan-18 11-Jul-18 2.69%   2,000,000  
Beyond Bank A2/BBB 11-Jan-18 11-Apr-17 2.40%   2,000,000  
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ME Bank A-2 18-Jan-18 18-Apr-18 2.40%   2,000,000  
             

Total Term Deposits 
  

47,151,747  
Bank and Cash Managed Fund 

    

Bendigo Bank   Ongoing              6,646  
Commonwealth Bank   Ongoing          477,017  
NSW Treasury Corp   Ongoing              7,909  
NAB General Fund   Ongoing            51,561  
Commonwealth Bank   Ongoing          658,109  
IMB at Call   Ongoing              5,000  
NAB At call   Ongoing              7,961  
Commonwealth on call   Ongoing          934,587   

Total Bank and Cash Management   2,148,791  
Total Cash and Investments 

 
49,300,537  

 

Councils portfolio compared favourably to the interbank overnight cash rate of 
1.5%, with all deposits returning at least 1.05% higher. 
 

Credit Quality Compliance 
The table below represent a visual picture of the risk rating of Councils portfolio.  

 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

 

 Council investments comply fully with section 625 of the Local Government 
Act, 1993, Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 paragraph 212 
and Council’s Investment Policy. 

 

Certified by Judy Jordan, Responsible Accounting Officer on the 14 February 2018. 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The Investment Policy was adopted by Hilltops Council on the 24 May 2016. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

Council revised interest income budget is $1,187,206, income earned to date is 
$808,281 (68%).  
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that the Statement of cash and investments as at 31 January 
2018 be received. 
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18/24 – JOINT REGIONAL PLANNING PANEL NOMINATIONS 
 

Reference:   File No. F154.08  

Responsible Officer: Director Sustainable Growth 
 

PURPOSE 
 

This report provides information to Councillors on the outcomes of the call for 
expressions of interest for community membership of the Southern Joint Regional 
Planning Panel. 
 

REPORT 
 

Joint Regional Planning Panels (JRPPs) were introduced in 1 July 2009 to strengthen 
decision making and provide independent, merit-based decision making on 
regionally significant development applications (DAs) and certain other planning 
matters.  JRPPs are the appropriate determination authority for certain types of 
development which include:  

 development with a capital investment value (CIV) over $20 million, 
 development with a CIV over $5 million which is: 

o council related, 
o lodged by or on behalf of the Crown (State of NSW), 
o private infrastructure and community facilities, or 
o eco-tourist facilities, 

 extractive industries, waste facilities and marinas that are designated 
development, 

 certain coastal subdivisions, 
 development with a CIV between $10 million and $20 million which are 

referred to the regional panel by the applicant after 120 days, 
 modifications to regional development under Section 96 (2) of the 

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (the Act), and 
 crown development applications (with a CIV under $5 million) referred to 

the regional panel by the applicant or local council after 70 days from 
lodgement as undetermined, including where recommended conditions 

 are in dispute. 
 

Whilst the panel is the determining authority, the relevant Council staff undertake 
the assessment of the application and provide a report to the JRPP for 
consideration.  As part of its deliberations the JRPP may undertake a site inspection 
and hold a meeting that is open to the public to hear submissions, for and against, 
the matters under consideration.  
 

There are four JRPPs operating outside of the Sydney area; the Southern Joint 
Regional Planning Panel, covers Hilltops Council area.  Each JRPP consists of five 
members; three members, including the Chair, appointed by the Minister (State 
members) and two members nominated by the relevant council (Council 
members).  The council members joining the State members to form a Planning 
Panel will change, depending on the council area in which the matter under 
consideration is located. 
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In accordance with the terms of membership for JRPPs one of the Council 
members must have qualifications and/or experience in any one of the areas of 
planning, architecture, heritage, the environment, urban design, land economics, 
traffic and transport, law, engineering or tourism.  Expertise may be demonstrated 
by having formal qualifications in the nominated fields, or by having relevant skills, 
knowledge and practical experience in these areas. In participating on the panel, 
members need to be aware of any conflict of interest they may have and where 
such a conflict may be perceived should remove themselves from the panel for 
the matter being considered.  It is therefore prudent to have alternate members 
in case such a conflict should arise or a member be unable to attend for any 
reason. 
 

As a consequence of the proclamation of the Hilltops Council on 12 May 2016, all 
previous sitting members of the NSW Joint Regional Planning Panel – Southern, 
from the former Councils, ceased to have a seat on this panel.  The panel consists 
of three members appointed by the Minister for Planning and two representatives 
nominated by Council.  In July 2016, Hilltops Council appointed two external 
interim nominees to the panel, being Mr Chris Berry (Planning Director, Yass 
Council) and Mr Bill West (Councillor, Cowra Council) 
 

An expression of interest was called for membership in February 2017 and two 
nominations were received.  This situation did not allow for alternate members to 
be substituted should a conflict of interest arise; accordingly, no appointments 
were made.  As with all committees, a newly elected Council has the opportunity 
to review the membership and is encouraged to do so within the first 12 months of 
its election.  Nominations for expressions of interest for Council committees were 
called in November 2017. Five expressions of interest were received for 
membership to the Southern Joint Regional Planning Panel. Of the five, one has 
confirmed that the nomination to this committee was not their intent.  
 

The four nominees (and their relevant skills/experience) are as follows: 
 Penny Day, based within the Harden community, town planner, lawyer, 

architect, former expert member Southern JRPP (appointed by the Minister), 
excess of 20 years planning and architecture experience; 

 Craig Filmer, based within the Young community, environmental health 
scientist, major in building surveying, A1 accredited building certifier, 33 
years’ experience in health, building and planning; 

 Jim Ryan, based within the Harden community, civil engineer experience in 
hydrology, hydroelectric, irrigation and water supply, Landcare 
involvement, farming experience; 

 John White, based within the Young community, local employer, 
passionate industry owner. 

 

Of the four nominations, three have demonstrated experience and qualifications 
sufficient to meet the panel membership requirements set out above, making 
each of them eligible as one of the community members for Hilltops.  Given that 
only one of the two nominated panel members needs to have the 
aforementioned qualifications, skills, experience or knowledge the other 
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nominated member may, but does not need to, possess them.  Accordingly, 
should Council so desire there is no reason why all four nominees could not 
become panel members, either as primary or alternates. 
 
STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

 
Part 2A, Division 3, Environmental Planning & Assessment Act, 1979. 
 
CONSULTATION 

 
Expressions of Interest were called from across the Hilltops Local Government Area 
for membership to Council committees, the nominations for membership to the 
Southern Regional Joint Planning Panel formed part of this process.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council, determine the Council members for the Southern 
Regional Joint Planning Panel from the nominations of expressions of interest. 
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